CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

PROCLAMATION

WHEREAS, September 17, 2023, marks the two-hundred-thirty-sixth anniversary of the
framing of the Constitution of the United States of America by the Constitutional Convention,
and

WHEREAS, it is fitting and proper to accord official recognition to this magnificent
document and its memorable anniversary, to the patriotic celebrations which will
commemorate it; and

WHEREAS, Public Law 915 guarantees the issuing of a proclamation each year by the
President of the United States of America designating September 17 through 23 as
Constitution Week.

NOW THEREFORE |, Scott Carlson, Mayor of North Mankato, by virtue of the power
vested in me as Mayor of the City of North Mankato, do hereby proclaim September 17
through 23 as:

CONSTITUTION WEEK

And ask our citizens to reaffirm the ideals the Framers of the Constitution had in 1787 by vigilantly
protecting the freedoms guaranteed to us through this guardian of our liberties.

Dated this 5" day of September 2023.

Scott Carlson, Mayor

City of North Mankato
1001 Belgrade Avenue * North Mankato, MN 56003 < Telephone 507-625-414] ﬁ
|@lsov INK|_ An Equal Opportunity - Affirmative Action Employer 20% Post-Consumer Wasts



COUNCIL MINUTES August 21, 2023 f

Pursuant to the due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the North Mankato City Council was
held in the Municipal Building Council Chambers on August 21, 2023. Mayor Carlson called the
meeting to order at 7:00 p.m., asking everyone to join the Pledge of Allegiance. The following were
present for roll call: Council Members Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson, Oachs, Finance Director Ryan,
Community Development Director Fischer, Public Works Director Arnold, City Planner Lassonde, and
Administrative Services Manager-City Clerk Van Genderen. Absent: City Administrator McCann.

Approval of Agenda

Council Member Qachs moved, seconded by Council Member Steiner, to approve the
agenda as presented. Vote on the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson, Oachs, and Carlson, aye,
no nays. Motion carried.

Approval of Council Minutes from August 7, 2023, Council Meeting.

Council Member Steiner moved, seconded by Council Member Qachs, to approve the
August 7, 2023, Council Meeting Minutes. Vote on the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson,
Qachs, and Carlson, aye, no nays. Motion carried.

Approval of Council Work Session Minutes from August 7, 2023, Council Work Session.

Council Member Oachs moved, seconded by Council Member Whitlock, to approve the
August 7, 2023, Council Work Session Minutes. Vote on the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson,
QOachs, and Carlson, aye, no nays. Motion carried.

Public Comments

Lynette Peterson, 1032 Marie Court, appeared before Council and stated she was on the
Mankato West Pack the Stands event team and would like the City to forego the 10% concession share
for the event as the event will be a fundraiser for the Blaisdell family who has a child going through
medical difficulties.

Tom Hagen, 927 Lake Street, appeared before Council and stated he should have verified his
claim that the City Administrator in St. Peter only has the authority to spend or contract up to $3,000.
he indicated he was wrong, and the limit is $25,000. He indicated he thought the City Administrator
limits should not exceed $25,000.

Consent Agenda
Council Member Steiner moved, seconded by Council Member Peterson, to approve the
Consent Agenda.
A. Bills and Appropriations.
B. Res. No. 55-23 Accepting Donations/Contributions/Grants.
C. Approved Appointing Council Member Oachs to the Regional Economic Development
Alliance.
D. Approved an Audio Permit for MAPS All Staff Welcome at Wheeler Park on August 31,
2023, from 7 a.m. to noon.
E. Approved an Audio Permit for the Block Party at 1920 Lee Boulevard South Central
College on Monday, August 28™ from 5 pm to 8 pm.

Vote on the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson, and Carlson, aye, Oachs abstain, no nays.
Motion carried.



COUNCIL MINUTES August 21, 2023 2

Business Items

Res. No. 56-23 Authorizing Execution of a Development Agreement and Approval of a
Business Subsidy.

Community Development Director Fischer reported that the agreement is in relation to the
1111 Range Street property that the Port Authority owns and is in the process of selling to 1111
Holdings of Mankato, LLC. The City has authorized the creation of a TIF and TIF Plan regarding the
redevelopment of the property. He noted Tammy Omdal from Northland Securities was present along
with Adam Niblick and Maren Magill from Taft Law Firm, who joined via Zoom.

Community Development Director Fischer invited Ms. Omdal to present information
concerning the agreement. Ms. Omdal noted that she was working as a financial advisor for the City.
Ms. Omdal reported that the City established TIF District 2-2 on July 17, 2023. The request for the
TIF District came from a potential developer, 1111 Holdings of Mankato, LLC. The developer
planned to redevelop an existing sub-standard building and construct approximately 60 new apartment
units and 30,000 square feet of commercial space, including restaurants and retail space. Ms. Omdal
noted that with a TIF, property taxes will be based on base valuation, the value that existed before
development, and will not be captured for TIF. The difference between the base (current) value and the
new taxable value is approximately $11.3 million. The estimated taxable market value after
completion is $14.4 million. The taxes on the captured value will generate tax increment to assist the
project. The total estimated project/financing costs to be paid from tax increment is estimated at
$5,414,853. The TIF will reimburse up to $2,616,000 of land and site improvements paid by the
developer on a pay-go basis for a maximum term of 26 years. Ms. Omdal noted that without the
proposed TIF, the project as presented would not have happened through private development.
Council Member Steiner moved, seconded by Council Member Qachs, to Adopt Res. No. 56-23
Authorizing Execution of a Development Agreement and Approval of a Business Subsidy. Vote
on the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson, Qachs, and Carlson, aye, no nays. Motion carried.

Set a Public Hearing for September S, 2023, to Consider Amendments to City Code
156.053 (3) (a).

Community Development Director Fischer reported that the amendment is associated with
specific curbs required in parking lots. Currently, the City Code requires a B-style curb, but staff has
found that it may not be the best option for all parking lots. Staff requests that the Council set a public
hearing to discuss allowing alternative curb styles.

Council Member Steiner moved, seconded by Council Member Qachs, to Set a Public
Hearing for September 5, 2023, to Consider Amendments to City Code 156.053 (3) (a). Vote on
the motion Whitlock, Steiner, Peterson, Oachs, and Carlson, aye, no nays. Motion carried.

Receive Comprehensive Plan Draft,

City Planner Lassonde appeared before the Council to review the Comprehensive Plan update
process and results. He stated that the Comprehensive Plan sets forth a vision and goals for the City’s
future, informs policy decisions, assists with residents’ understanding of policy decisions made by the
City, and guides developers.

City Planner Lassonde reviewed the planning process, which included public input with
Comprehensive Plans for in-person and virtual open houses, targeted stakeholder outreach, and
significant input from several previous planning efforts.



COUNCIL MINUTES August 21, 2023 3

City Planner Lassonde noted that all chapters were updated with the most recent information
available, updated responses to current issues and opportunities, updated vision, and updated goals,
policies, and objectives.

City Planner Lassonde reviewed the significant updates in each of the chapters. He noted that
in Chapter 2: Vision, the Strategic Plan process was integrated into the plan. Chapter 3: Land Use and
Growth Management expanded growth areas in the Future Land Use Plan, incorporated targeted
locations for higher density residential uses, and innovative housing solutions. Chapter 4: Housing
Guild on the 2021 Housing Study targets and includes a revisit of the 2016 Rental Density Study.
Chapter 5: Economic Development added targeted areas for new development and redevelopment
updates, and a goal to understand the link between multi-family housing and commercial amenities.
Chapter 6: Transportation is more fully developed using City data and MAPO 2045 LRTP guidance
and incorporates ideas from the Future Transportation Preparedness Study (2022). Chapter 7: Utilities
included new objectives to expand water supply, treatment, and storage systems to accommodate
development demands. Chapter 8: Parks, Trails, and Recreation incorporates ideas for new park
locations and the pedestrian bridge over Highway 14, shows proposed trail connections throughout the
community, and discusses the need to manage wildlife in the City. Chapter 9: Business District
redevelopment expanded from the Central Business District to incorporate all business districts in the
City and discusses the need to proactively plan new business districts in the community. Chapter 10:
Community Design promotes the use of alternative energy sources.

City Planner Lassonde reported that the plan would go back out for public review from August
22" through August 30™ and return to the City Council for adoption on September 5, 2023.

Open Forum
None.

City Administrator and Staff Comments

Community Development Director Fischer invited everyone to the Community Block Party
hosted by SCC on August 28" from 5 p.m. to 8 p.m.

Community Development Director Fischer stated that the final day of the Swim Facility is
Sunday, August 27" from noon to 6:00 p.m.

Community Development Director Fischer noted that Adult Fall Softball is now open for
registration through the end of August. League play begins September 13,

Community Development Director Fischer reminded residents that City Hall and the Library
will be closed on Labor Day, Monday, September 4™ and garbage and recycling will be delayed one
day.

Mayor and Council Comments

Council Member Peterson requested an update on the roundabout completion date. Public
Works Director Arnold stated that the roundabout should be completed by Labor Day weekend.

Council Member Peterson requested an update on if the pool would be fixed in the fall or next
spring. Public Works Director Arnold stated they would investigate this fall and, if possible, fix this
fall. If it is not possible to fix it in the fall, it will be resolved in the spring.

Council Member Oachs noted at the last ASA board meeting that the annual audit was
presented. She said the board seemed to be on a good path, and improvements will hopefully begin in
the spring.

Mayor Carlson noted he attended the 169 Corridor Meeting and was excited about their work.



COUNCIL MINUTES August 21, 2023

Mayor Carlson commented that he attended the Redwood Falls ribbon cutting for the new
Veteran’s Cemetery.

At 7:29 p.m., on a motion by Council Member Oachs, seconded by Council Member
Steiner, the Council Meeting was adjourned.

Mayor

City Clerk



COUNCIL WORK SESSION August 21, 2023

Under due call and notice thereof, a Council Work Session of the North Mankato City Council
was held in the Council Chambers on August 21, 2023. Mayor Carlson called the meeting to
order at 5:30 p.m. The following were present for roll call: Council Members Whitlock, Steiner,
and Oachs, Finance Director Ryan, Community Development Director Fischer, Public Works
Director Arnold, and City Clerk Van Genderen. Council Member Peterson arrived at 5:42 p.m.
Absent: City Administrator McCann.

Budget Work Session: Tax History & Distribution, Relevant Strategic Plans, and Proposed
2024 Tax Levy

Finance Director Ryan reported that North Mankato's estimated taxable market value
(TMV) is $1.6 billion for 2024—an increase of approximately 8%, or $118 million. The total
tax capacity increased by approximately $1.4 million. Based on the presented tax levy that
included all of the Department Head requests, the 2024 tax levy would be at $9.15 million,
which is an increase of 18% and $1.4 million in new revenue for the City. The increase in funds
would be allocated increases in the debt service fund by $177,000, the tax abatement levy would
increase by $3,000, and the new capital levy would be created for $1,485,000. The estimated tax
rate is 47.568%, a 3.54 percentage point increase from 2023. North Mankato is comprised of 5
major tax classifications, including residential, commercial, industrial, agricultural, and tax-
exempt properties. The top 10 highest contributing tax entities in North Mankato contribute to
7.04% of the total levy, or approximately $609,979. The average North Mankato homeowner
pays roughly $1,273.44 in city taxes. About 84% of all residents contributing to the tax levy have
an estimated property value between $100,000 and $400,000.

Finance Director Ryan noted that the Council would not be asked to determine a
maximum levy until the September 18, 2023, Council Meeting. At that time, the Council will set
a max levy; they always have the option to decrease the levy when it is certified to the County in
December.

Finance Director Ryan reviewed the 2023 Tax Levies for comparable cities and noted that
out of 18 comparable cities, North Mankato is number the 8™ lowest for a tax levy. At the same
time, North Mankato is the fifth lowest regarding tax rates using the same comparable cities. In a
review of the same comparable cities and their utility rates, North Mankato is the 3 lowest at an
$87.36 average monthly utility bill.

Finance Director Ryan reviewed the 2024 Levy Discussion held by the Council at the
August 7, 2023, Council Work Session. Staff was directed to prioritize the budget requests with
Urgent, High, Medium, and Low priority. The Urgent and High priorities would increase the tax
rate by 3.54%. If you include the medium priority requests, the tax levy will increase by 8.355%.
Items included in the urgent category included an increase to the seal coating budget, an increase
in the street mill and overlay, a general equipment increase of $100,000, two street trucks for
$120,000, a parks truck for $60,000, an increase in the bus transit budget, an increase in the ASA
budget, 2 water trucks for $60,000, stormwater repair budget increase of $100,000 and
installation of drainage for the Splashpad at $175,000. The total for Urgent requests was
approximately $1.4 million.

Items included in the high priority included an environmental technology position for
$117,308.00, a full-time administrative support specialist for the police department for
$107,953.00, increased pay for crossing guards of $32,000, a $110,344.00 increase to police
uniforms, training, and hiring fees for officers, a $3,000 increase for heat in the evidence room,
the Fire pump truck for $800,000, reroofing the Fire Station for $160,000, purchasing used plow



COUNCIL WORK SESSION August 21, 2023

for $90,000, a parks mower for $90,000, 2 UTVs for $40,000, Wheeler Park parking lot
improvements for $65,000, Spring Lake Park Shelter renovations for $30,000 and Spring Lake
Bridge replacement for $40,000, improved library electronics for $10,000 and the repair of the
pool liner for $50,000, purchasing a leak locater for $22,000, a sewer truck for $60,000 and a
truck for the environmental technician for $60,000.

Mayor Carlson requested further clarification of priorities from the Public Works
Department. Public Works Director Arnold indicated that the Environmental Technician was a
high priority to help the City stay on track with MS4 requirements. He noted he believed the
equipment needed to be updated due to continued increases in equipment repair. He said that
due to restrictions on state contracts, the City has been unable to purchase new vehicles in the
past two years. Public Works Director Arnold stated that 1/3™ of the fleet is over 20 years old,
and 2/3rds is over 15 years old. Discussion was held concerning a replacement program.
Council Member Peterson requested additional information on the fleet to evaluate the request
further. Discussion was held concerning obtaining additional information on government leasing
programs. Finance Director Ryan noted that the Fire Department had determined that they could
sell their current pumper truck for approximately $15,000 to $30,000. It was noted that the Fire
Department continues to look for grants to help pay for the equipment, and the Fire Relief
Association will help pay for a portion of the pumper. It was also noted that the cost could be
spread over more than one year due to the time it takes to outfit a pumper truck.

Finance Director Ryan also mentioned that two positions were moved from high to
medium. Those positions were the IT Coordinator and the Drug Force Task Agent. The IT
Coordinator has become more of a need as the City continues to grow, IT problems become more
complicated, there is an anticipated increase in IT needs, and staff want someone who can
quickly respond to questions and issues. Pantheon would continue to provide behind-the-scenes
support, but the IT Coordinator would manage day-to-day needs. The need for the DTF agent
was discussed at the previous meeting. '

Finance Director Ryan requested guidance on how to proceed before setting the
maximum levy in September. Mayor Carlson asked if the budget includes estimates for the
increases due to the police labor agreements. Finance Director Ryan stated they have an estimate
and have included that in the department budget. Mayor Carlson noted he supported the idea of
additional staff and providing an agent to DTF but would like to consider waiting and preparing
for future years.

The City Council requested an explanation of the prioritization of the requests. Finance
Director Ryan stated she would work with Department Heads to provide additional detail into
how the items were prioritized. City Council agreed to have Finance Director Ryan put together
different options and were interested in a 4 to 4.5% Rate increase.

Council Member Steiner moved, seconded by Council Member Oachs, to adjourn the
Council Work Session at 6:15 p.m.

Mayor

City Clerk



The Free Press

MEDIA

418 S Second Street, Mankato, MN 56001
www.mankatofreepress.com phone: (507) 344-6314

THE LAND

Affidavit of Publication

STATE OF MINNESOTA,
COUNTY OF BLUE EARTH, °%

Steve Jameson, being duly sworn, on oath states as follows:

1. 1 am the publisher of The Free Press, or the publisher's
designated agent. | have personal knowledge of the facts
stated in this Affidavit, which is made pursuant to Minnesota
Statutes §331A.07.

2. The newspaper has complied with all of the requirements
to constitute a qualified newspaper under Minnesota law,
including those requirements found in Minnesota Statutes
§331A.02.

3. The dates of the month and the year and day of the week
upon which the public notice attached/copied below was
published in the newspaper are as follows:

The printed notice which is attached was cut from the
columns of said newspaper, and was printed and published
the following dates: 08/26/23, and printed below is a copy of
the lower case alphabet from A to Z, both inclusive, which
is hereby acknowledged as being the size and kind of type

used in the composition and publication of the notice:
abcdefghijkimnoparsluvwsyz

4. The Publisher's lowest classified rate paid by commercial
users for comparable space as determined pursuant to
§331A.06, is as follows: 25 22

5. Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes §580.033 relating

to the publication of mortgage foreclosure notice: The
newspaper's known office is located in Blue Earth County.
The newspaper complies with the conditions described

in §580.033, subd. 1, clause (1) or (2). If the newspaper's
known office of issue is located in a county adjoining the
county where the mortgaged premises or some part of the
mortgaged premises described in the notice are located, a
substantial portion of the newspaper's circulation is in the
latter county.

FURTHER YOUR AFFIANT SAITH NOT.

o Sl

Steve Jameson, Publisher

Sworn to and subscribed before me, this day
08/26/2023

Public Notice
August 26, 2023
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
COUNTY OF NICOLLET
STATE OF MINNESOTA
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN
that the City Council of the City
of North Mankato, Minnesota,
will hold a public hearing on
Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at a
meeting of the Council beginning
at approximately 7:00 p.m. at the
North Mankato Municipal Build-
ing, 1001 Belgrade Avenue, North
Mankato, Minnesota, to consider
amendments to Chapter 156.053
(3) (). To view the complete
ordinance, please contact the

City Clerk.

All interested persons may
appear at the public hearing and
present their views orally or in
writing.

Dated: This 21st day of August
2023.

BY ORDER OF THE NORTH
MANKATO CITY COUNCIL
April Van Genderen
City Clerk

N /) gg’“‘ﬂ‘%x SHARON L TOLAND
/ ) | NOTARY PUBLIC - MINNESOTA
/ 1NN/ I/ ] CA %@“‘;ﬁ 7 MY COMMISSION EXPIRES 01/31/26

Nétary Public




NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
COUNTY OF NICOLLET
STATE OF MINNESOTA

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City Council of the City of North Mankato, Minnesota, will hold a
public hearing on Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at a meeting of the Council beginning at approximately 7:00 p.m.
at the North Mankato Municipal Building, 1001 Belgrade Avenue, North Mankato, Minnesota, to consider
amendments to Chapter 156.053 (3) (a). To view the complete ordinance, please contact the City Clerk.

All interested persons may appear at the public hearing and present their views orally or in writing.

Dated: This 21% day of August 2023.
BY ORDER OF THE NORTH MANKATO CITY COUNCIL

/s/April Van Genderen
April Van Genderen
City Clerk



(a) All residential, commercial and industrial parking areas, driveways and access drives shall
be surfaced with either a concrete or a bituminous surface. All parking lots in any zoning district
designed to accommodate more than 6 vehicles, shall include B style curb and gutter. The City
of North Mankato may approve an alternate curb and gutter style based on project specific
conditions. A drainage plan may be required for review by the Building Official. The owner of the
property shall maintain all parking areas, driveways and access drives in a well-kept condition.




Check Report

By Vendor Name
Date Range: 9/5/23

NORTHD. . ..o o
MANKATO N |

MINNESOTA

Vendor Number . - Vendor Name
Bank Code: APBNK-APBNK

Payment Date Payment Type Discount Amount Payment Amount Number

00009 ¢ © A-1KEY CITY LOCKSMITHS, INC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 25.00 97945
00029 AG SPRAY EQUIPMENT 09/05/2023 Regular 0 162.25 97946
02960 AMERITAS LIFE INSURANCE CORP 08/24/2023 Regular 0 138.08 97942
02434 AUSTIN'S AUTO REPAIR CENTER, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 44.79 97947
03976 BALLMAN ROOFING & COATING 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,202.47 97948
03837 BECKER, ETHAN 09/05/2023 Regular 0 100.00 97949
02169 BLUE LINE SHARPENING & SALES 09/05/2023 Regular 0 66.00 97950
: 00194 BRICK HOUSE GRAPHICS 09/05/2023 Regular 0 670.62 97951
00228 CARR'S TREE SERVICE 09/05/2023 Regular 0 5,075.00 97952
-03592 "t CHANKASKA CREEK 09/05/2023 Regular 0 240.00 97953
- 00255 CITY OF MANKATO 09/05/2023 Regular 0 11,548.91 97954
04051 CRUZ, DONNY . 08/22/2023 Regular 0 39.14 97929
04006 DAHLHEIMER BEVERAGE GREEN ISLE 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,042.75 97955
03838 DDA HUMAN RESOURCES, INC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 6,500.00 97956
00344 DIAMOND VOGEL PAINT CENTER 09/05/2023 Regular 0 21.59 97957
00348 DIRT MERCHANT, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 903,969.49 97958
00401 EXPRESS SERVICES, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 2,245.43 97959
04055 GARCIA, JOSE 08/22/2023 Regular 0 16.46 97930
00505 GREATER MANKATO DIVERSITY COUNCIL 09/05/2023 Regular 0 500.00 97960
00508 GREEN TECH RECYCLING, LLC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 599.50 97961
03989 GUARANTEED ELECTRIC SERVICE, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 784.45 97962
00534 HART'S AUTO SUPPLY 09/05/2023 Regular 0 840.00 97963
00595 HY-VEE, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 473,97 97964
00639 KIBBLE EQUIPMENT LLC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 333,52 97965
03174 LAKES SPORTS BAR & GRILL 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,627.81 97966
00746 LAW ENFORCEMENT LABOR SERVICES, INC.  08/24/2023 Regular 0 869.16 97936
04054 LEGGETT, ADAM 08/22/2023 Regular 0 40.27 97931
03624 MANKATO SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA 08/22/2023 Regular 0 9,500.00 97935
. 00849 MAYBA 08/24/2023 Regular 0 394.20 97944
. 00875 METRO SALES, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 283.67 97967
00929 MINNESOTA FIRE SERVICE CERTIFICATION BO/ 09/05/2023 Regular 0 252.00 97968
00905 MINNESOTA STATE FIRE DEPT ASSOCIATION ~ 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,575.00 97969
02895 MOTEL 6 09/05/2023 Regular 0 8,042.90 97970
04053 NICKELS, JEFF 08/22/2023 Regular o] 33,48 97932
04049 NORTH COUNTRY CHEVROLET 08/21/2023 Regular 0 67,710.24 97926
01057 NORTH MANKATO MOTOR VEHICLE REGISTRA 09/05/2023 Regular 0 42,50 97971
01076 OLD DOMINION BRUSH 09/05/2023 Regular 0 5,295.55 97972
04004 PERFORMANCE FOODSERVICE - MARSHALL ~ 09/05/2023 Regular 0 372,72 97974
03748 PERFORMANCE FOODSERVICE . 09/05/2023 Regular 0 986.38 97973
01106 PETTY CASH 09/05/2023 Regular 0 5.46 97975
01133 POWERPLAN/RDO EQUIPMENT 09/05/2023 Regular 0 3,083.36 97976
01170 RAMY TURF PRODUCTS 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,710.00 97977
04050 RASCON, RAUL 08/22/2023 Regular 0 10.14 97933
03563 SAFE-FAST, INC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 391.08 97978
02819 SETTER & ASSOCIATES LLC 09/05/2023 Regular 0 6,650.00 97979
01279 SHINE-WAY JANITORIAL SERVICE, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 3,245.00 97980
01320 SPRING TOUCH LAWN SPECIALIS 09/05/2023 Regular 0 13,341.80 97981
04057 ST PETER, JOHN ‘ 09/05/2023 Regular 0 30.00 97982
03254 TAFT ; 09/05/2023 Regular 0 68,456.50 97983
01409 TOPPERS 8 TRAILERS PLUS 09/05/2023 Regular 0 3.00 97984
01433 TYLER TECHNOLOGIES 09/05/2023 Regular 0 600.00 97985
01445 UNITED WAY INC 08/24/2023 Regular 0 248.57 97941
03307 VINNIES MINN. SNO PENTICO ICE & MFG 09/05/2023 Regular 0 1,929.84 97986
03311 W. LORENTZ AND SONS CONSTRUCTION, INC. 09/05/2023 Regular 0 12,716.94 97987
04052 WILFAHRT, MARK 08/22/2023 Regular 0 67.51 97934
00007 A&B TRANSMISSIONS 08/11/2023 Bank Draft 0 3,584.00 DFT0008414
00101 AT&T MOBILITY 08/23/2023 Bank Draft 0 137.86 DFT0008415



00241
02026
00733
00910
00910
00910
00910
01083
01083
01083
01335
01335
03279
02591
03221
00551
00016

=~ 01090
‘00105

© 00172
00174
00176
00216
02757
03886
02706
00434
03076
01098
00680
00657
00691
00776
03352
00793
02644

00796
04056
00825
00874
00902
03022
00970
00975
00985
00997
01052
02005
01402
01198
01211
03971
01263
01281
01419
03191
01478
03442
02003

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS
INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL
LAKES GAS CO #10

MINNESOTA VALLEY TESTING LAB, INC.
MINNESOTA VALLEY TESTING LAB, INC.
MINNESOTA VALLEY TESTING LAB, INC.
MINNESOTA VALLEY TESTING LAB, INC.
OVERDRIVE, INC.
OVERDRIVE, INC.
OVERDRIVE, INC.
STAPLES ADVANTAGE
STAPLES ADVANTAGE
STERICYCLE INC

UNITED TEAM ELITE
ZIBSTER

A.H. HERMEL COMPANY
ADAMS, NICOLE
AMERICAN SOLUTIONS FOR BUSINESS

AUTO VALUE MANKATO

BOHRER, TOM

BOLTON & MENK, INC,

BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY

C & S SUPPLY CO, INC.

CINTAS

CLOUDPERMIT INC

CORE & MAIN LP

FLINT HILLS RESOURCES LP

FREYBERG MANAGEMENT

GILLETTE GROUP/PEPSI-COLA

J.J. KELLER & ASSOCIATES, INC,

JT SERVICES

KENNEDY & KENNEDY LAW OFFICE

LLOYD LUMBER CO.

LUXE QUARTERLIES

M & M SIGNS, INC.

MACQUEEN EMERGENCY GROUP
MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT, INC, .

MAES, JACOB

MANKATO MOTOR COMPANY
MENARDS-MANKATO

MINNESOTA IRON & METAL CO

MINNESOTA PAVING & MATERIALS

MOBILE GLASS SERVICE

MORGAN, SHAWN

MOSS & BARNETT

MTI DISTRIBUTING CO

NORTH CENTRAL INTERNATIONAL
PANTHEON COMPUTERS

POMPS TIRE

RETROFIT COMPANIES, INC.

RIVER BEND BUSINESS PRODUCTS

RIVER BEND LEASING

SCHWICKERT'S TECTA AMERICA LLC

SIGN PRO

TRAVERSE DES SIOUX LIBRARY COOPERATIVE
US SOLAR

VIKING FIRE & SAFETY LLC

WASMUND, LARRY

MINNESOTA DEPT OF REVENUE

08/23/2023
08/24/2023
08/23/2023
08/18/2023
08/24/2023
08/23/2023
08/28/2023
08/04/2023
08/25/2023
08/28/2023
08/15/2023
08/23/2023
08/21/2023
08/23/2023
08/27/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
09/07/2023
08/24/2023

Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
Bank Draft
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
EFT
Bank Draft

OODQGOOGOOOODDOODOODQDOOOClQQDODOOOODDCIQOOOOODDDOOGOODQOGODD

276.43
53.00
133.64
85.80
85.80
70.95
145.20
933.26
951,96
123.75
64.99
267.15
28.94
1,095.00
32.00
7,753.29
199.29
51.45
434.45
440.00
53,692.00
108.00
232.27
271.06
16,000.00
487.60
27,538.50
57.00
2,100.00
1,625.50
4,440.00
7,051.93
321.99
2,049.24
120.00
343.69
411.40
100.00
2,638.03
292.05
36.00
1,490.82
331.76
384.18
1,368.50
1,688.40
2,670.62
8,960.07
443.47
529.83
447.49
424,88
532.00
80.00
1,922.58
6,716.64
109.55
500.00
25.00

DFT0008416
DFT0008417
DFT0008418
DFT0008419
DFT0008437
DFT0008438
DFT0008439
DFT0008420
DFT0008440
DFT0008441
DFT0008421
DFT0008442
DFT0008422
DFT0008423
DFT0008443
6679
6680
6681
6682
6683
6684
6685
6686
6687
6688
6689
6690
6691
6692
6693
6694
6695
6696
6697
6698
6699
6700
6701
6702
6703
6704
6705
6706
6707
6708
6709
6710
6711
6712
6713
6714
6715
6716
6717
6718
6719
6720
6721
DFT0008435

1,311,644.76

116



All Council

The above manual and regular claims lists for 9/5/23 are approved by:

{

. SCOTT CARLSON- MAYOR

SANDRA OACHS- COUNCIL MEMBER

= JAMES WHITLOCK- COUNCIL MEMBER

WILLIAM STEINER- COUNCIL MEMBER

" MATT PETERSON- COUNCIL MEMBER

Authorization Signatures



RESOLUTION NO. 57-23

RESOLUTION APPROVING DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS/GRANTS

WHEREAS, the Minnesota Statute 465.03 and 465.04 allow the governing body of any city, county,
school district or town to accept gifts for the benefit of its citizens in accordance with terms prescribed by the
donor;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH
MANKATO, MINNESOTA, that the following donations/contributions/grants are approved as follows:

Donor Restriction Amount
Mary Kosberg Book Donation $140.00
Anonymous Special Program Donation $32.00
Beth Christensen Backpack Books $100.00
Anonymous Backpack Books $25.00
Total $297.00

Adopted by the City Council this 5th day of September 2023.

Mayor

City Clerk



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
Application for Street Closure, Special Event and Festival Permit

Instructions: Request for community events to be held on City owned ire Ci izai i i

com helc Property, require City authorization and involvement from City Departments.
P!ease oomplete; the appu':ca_tvon_ below, and submit with required fees at least 30-days before the event, Once the application has been submitted
City staff will review the application and contact the organizers for a meeting. '

Applicant Information

ﬁaLme of Applicant; . . Organization: Phone Number:
OO Oy — 1 A0 =09 —1aun
Address: S
N N e B L VO Y | I 7. P T 1 Do aant/.
LA '.\WIIUL:.IIDY \ /0 LS A V1) W, W VA0 O VLA 1
E‘f‘arht C:)nfact: N Cell Phone Number:
RAVAS% (|9 R —] L _ 1
Event Spor%cr (if different than organization): 661* %0% ) U(,{l./{ [
L 1
Is the organization or Event Sponsor a 501 {c) (3)?
[ Yes
No

If yes, please attach verification of 501 (c) (3) status.

Event Information

st i don ‘HDULﬁ funy

1 st Choice Location Date (s):

L 1 N
2 nd Choice Location Date (s):

L I | —1

Requesting the use of a Park Shelter for your event? A Park Shelter application will need to be completed. Please contact Vicki at 507-625-4141
to complete the application and submit the $100.00 park shelter reservation fee, Below are the shelters available for rental,

[ Spring Lake Park Shelter #1
O Spring Lake Park Shelter #2 (includes Gazebo)
O Wheeler Park Shelter.

Event Start Time: 6‘00 M Event End Time: \0 00 VM
L - |

Setup Date () Time (s): q \q \b\% Tear Down Date (s)Time(s):
) 1 |

Expected Number of Altendees.

\00- 12D




Event Description: Please check the type of event (check all that apply) and write a brief description of your event, in the space provided.
[ Walk/Fun Run/Race (Please include Parade Permit Application, fee, and Map)

[ Parade (Please include Parade Permit Applicatlon, fee, and map)

[J Art Fair/Festival

[ Bike Ride

[ Cuyjtural Event
/B%lher event

Brief Description of Event;

BRI QR O (gl R [TTGfon CI0PF

Event Features

Alcohol (Select One)

[ Catered event, licensee holding caterer's permit to provide food and liquor. Under caterer's permit, the caterer is
responsible for ID/wristband, security and ensuring there is no second party transfer. Please indicate caterer:

O Temporary 3.2 Percent Malt Liquor License, only issued to charitable, religious or nonprofit organizations for events not
to exceed four (4) consecutive days. Application needs to be submitted with foe and requires City Council approval.

O Temporary Intoxicating liquor license, only issued to charitable, religious or nonprofit organizations in existence for at
least three (3) years for events not to exceed four (4) consecutive days. Application needs to be submitted with fee
and requires City Council approval and Alcohol and Gambling Enforcement Division approval. Needs to be submitted

tp the state 30-days prior to the event.
/Z/Noo alcohal,

Security
O indicate if security is being provided s, who and ho' ny?

/E/ i urity is provided, the city re the ri requi e on the revie
event,

Natural Disaster Preparedness

Describe how you will monitar weather condltions; how you plan to evacuate psople In the event of dangerous conditions: and the name and
contact information of the person respansible for making the decision to halt the event becauss of the weather.

Giontl oo W 0wy PUIIHANg
Moo wwouodo

Concessions and Vendors

Food & Beverages All food vendors, regardless of their status must have a valid Food and Beverage License issued by the Minnesota
Vs Department of Health. You, as the applicant, are responsible for verifying that all vendors providing food or
beverage during your event have obtained the proper license.

[J No



Vendors Concession or vendor permits may only be approved for non-profit group events. A separate permit application
0 Yes must be completed and submitted along with a $25.00 fee per day. A park cleanup depasit of $100.00 is also

required.
o

A list of all vendors and their contact information must be submitted before the event.

Amplified Sound (if applicable)
/
Loud Speakers, Public Address System, or Amplifying Equipment. Reguires Audio Permit and a $25.00 fee.

Animals

Will animals be included and if so, provide specifics as to type of animals and how the animals will be accessible by the public (pony rides, petting
z00, etc...)

[ Yes
e

Please note... the owners of the animals will be required to provide a certificate of insurance in an amount not less than $1.5 million per occurrence
naming the City of North Mankato as an additional insured prior to the event.

Please provide the name and address of animal owners,

Tents and Canopies (if applicable)

O Are you planning to use tents or canopies? If yes, they must be clearly identified on the Site Map including the location
and size/dimensions. The event organizer is liable for any damage caused to property/facility and must obtain approval
prior to installation. A gopher one call must be made before the event.

Event Logistics

If you are planning to erect, install, or use any of these structures, please identify the location of all structures on your Site Map. Include size and
quantities. The event organizer is liable for any damages caused to property/facility and must obtain approval prior to Installation of items below.
NOTE: ltems are provided by the event; not the City.

Stages and Platforms How many stages? Please describe the stage/platform.

(R
e

Public Restrooms
O Yes

Will your event include the use of portable tollets/sinks? If yes, how many? It is the responslibility of the event
| ] coordinator to contract with a
provider for portable toilets/sinks.

Temporary restrooms can be placad 24 hours prior to the event and need to be removed within 24 hours following the event. All portable toilets must
be located on a hard surface, which may include asphalt, concrete, or plywood.




Plcnic Tables

Do you want any additional picnic tables?

[ Yes
No

How many and location (s).

Refuse (Garbage and Recycling)

The event is responsible for cleaning up after an event. The applicant shall properly dispose of debris from the event. If the street or park department
determines cleanup is inadequate, the cost for the public works to cleanup will be charged to the applicant. Cleanup shall be completed within three
(3) hours of the end of the event.

The City will provide refuse containers for events. The number and placement will be determined by number of participants.

Road Closures or use of Public Right-of-Way

Are you requesting to close a :

Street
[ Parking Lane
[ Sidewalk

O Alley
[ Other

All requests must be submitted at least 30 days before the event. Some closures may require review by the Traffic and Safety Committee.

Applicants must contact affected property owners, 14 days prior to the closure, City staff will review the event and ensure proper barricades/cones
are used to manage the event.

Applicant must malntain a 20 feet clear fire lane. At no point is the street to be blocked with vehicles inside the fire lane area.

Traffic Control
O Yes
o
Do you Require Cones or Barricades?
[ Cones

/Qﬁa’mcades

Please indicate the number of cones and barricades and indicate on the map the location of all cones and barmicades.

A axn (000D

Are you requesting assistance from City staff to set up or man the intersections? If you are requesting assistance, please indicate the number of
Police Reserve or City staff and the location you would llke to have the assistance. Please be aware that the City may not be able to provide
assistance and reserves the right to deny assistance.

No Parking

Requesting no parking? Please indicate the streets/blacks.




EVENT MAP
Site Map (Required)

Please attach a site map clearly indicaling the setup of the event. The site map should indicate the relative location of the following: all sources of
amplified sound and direction of sound; tents/canopies with sizes, stages, promotional vehicles, inflatables, portable tailets, refuse containers, fencing,
barricades, and other structures; location of alcohol (in a fenced off area), food and merchandise service/sale; and proposed streel closures. All site
maps are subject to approval.

HOLD HARMLESS AGREEMENT AND INSURANCE INFORMATION

The applicant covenants to save, defend, hold harmless, and indemnify the City of North Mankato and all its officers, departments, agencies, agents,
and employees (collectively the "City") from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, injuries, fines, penalties, cosls (including court costs and
attorney's fees), charges, liability, or exposure, however caused, resulting from, arising out of, or in any way connected with the applicant's event
herein described.

The City, in its discretion, may require the Applicant to obtain liability insurance for any special event. If liability insurance is required, the following
requirements apply:

1. Minimum of $1,000,000 in commercial general liability insurance.

2, Applicant's Insurance shall be primary.

3. Insurance shall cover liability for injury death and property damage including coverage for alcohol related claims, if alcohol will be served.
4. The insurance policy must be Issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in Minnesota acceptable to the City.

5. The City must be named as an additional insured on the policy.

6. At least ten (10) days prior to the event, the applicant must give to the City a Certificate of Insurance showing the required coverage.

APPLICANT SIGNATURE

| attest that the above information is true and accurate and | have signed this application on behalf of the applicant. | certify under penaities of perjury
that | am authorized to execute contracts and other instruments and legally bind the Applicant.

SIGNAT RE._ N ]
PRINTED NAME: 4 1

o Wi oo ]
Date Submitte to the E"Z _

| AP AVAN/AS) ]

Street Supggntendent Signatur pproval Date: /
.
' [ 8/ 30N |

Police Chief Signature and Approval Date:
st C¥Iz51Zz5 |
-




Permit #: 2021 Start time:
Date: I R Stop time:

Location:

Event Name: O(Y\\M‘\’Dﬂ RO(X\ D{L‘('\'U(
name: \\QOAIN BIAOAD

address: 10 Q(V\\mmn Lang 5
Phone: =51 %0?) WM\I '\m"%}ofPeople:

rd
Use of Tents (or anything requiring staking) JZ{ No [J Yes "If Yes, Please contact Gopher State One Call
800-252-1166 one week prior to event.

Notes:
PLEASE INCLUDE A MAP OF THE AREA.
g . . * If Yes, Pleass fill out Audio Permit.
Audio (requires audio permit) O No }{ Yes
o I, the undersigned, have recsived the Audio Permit Instructions and understand that failure to comply with the audio instructions

may terminate the event and prevent future ability to obtain an audio permit.

SIGNED: QJJ{ X fQ_Q/ D). 9‘373)3

Appligant Date

O APPROVED 0O DENIED

City Clerk Date




NORTH Vs

MANKATO »~ Audio Permit 2021
MINNESOTA  —
1001 Belgrade Avenue Park Permit 2021

North Mankato, MN 56003

507-625-4141 Fax: 507-625-4151
www.northmankato.com

Audio Permit
About:
An audio permit is required for anyone operating outdoor amplified sound (i.e., a loudspeaker, public
address system, or sound amplifying equipment). All Audio Permits must be approved by the Council. The
sound system cannot be operated before 7:00 am or after 10:00 pm. There is a $25 fee.

Audio Permit Responsibilities:
® An onsite event coordinator must be available by mobile during the event.
* An applicant will provide a schedule of any music or entertainment proposed to occur during the
event.

e Abeginning and end time must be supplied on the application, and the event coordinator must
ensure compliance.

e Applicants must comply with City Code Ordinance 90.045 and Minnesota Rules Chapter 7030, which
limits noise.

e Noise levels cannot exceed 60 dBA more than 50 percent of the time.

What happens if there is a noise complaint?

® A North Mankato Patrol Officer will meet with the complainant and evaluate and measure the noise
using a decibel reader at the location of the complainant.

* If the noise is found out of compliance, the Patrol Officer will contact the onsite event coordinator,
and the amplified sound must be turned down.

¢ If the onsite event coordinator does not comply, the event will be immediately terminated, and the
group will be disbursed.

e Failure to comply will affect future ab|I|ty to obtain an audio permlt

| LIVE MUSIC/BAND pae of event:_ 1 9. 2%
DJ/KARAOKE MACHINE BEGIN TIME: % o
] OTHER: 10

END TIME:
LOCATION / SHELTER: AY\\WA'{DW \LBNQ

EVENT NAME: (\Y\\\’Yﬂo\’\ Gl oy
ONSITE COORDINATOR: PRINT NAME:__\V\ 0 G J\ VAYAAD
MOBILE NUMBER: C—Dm OB - UM ]

/1_,“.'1/,THE UNDERSIGNED, HAVE RECEIVED THE AUDIO PERMIT AND UNDERSTAND THAT FAILURE TO
COMPLY WITH THE AUDIO POLICY MAY TERMINATE THE EVENT AND PREVENT FUTURE ABILITY TO OBTAIN
AN AUDIO PERMIT.

SIGNATURE:,_ W oate__ B0

CITY CLERK: L_IDENIED ] APPROVED
] ook -‘z?%oéuas CJonLNE  [1$25.00 FEE STAFF INTIALS




Juneau Ct

c
-
c
[=]
-
o
=)
—
<<

Arlington Ct




BUSINESS/CANNABINOID LICENSE

NORTH
MANKATO W

MINNESOTA
BUSINESS NAME: 1105 Holdings LLC
DBA Range Street Liquor
BUSINESS OWNER: Max DeMars

BUSINESS LOCATION: 1105 RANGE STREET
NORTH MANKATO, MN 56003

RANGE STREET LIQUOR
1105 RANGE STREET
NORTH MANKATO, MN 56003

POST IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE-NON-TRANSFERABLE

CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

1001 Belgrade Avenue North Mankato, MN 56003
Phone: (507-625-4141) FAX (507) 625-4151

License Type: CANNABINOID

Mayor

BUSINESS LICENSE NUMBER: CAN 000004-2023
Effective Date: SEPTEMBER 5, 2023

Expiration Date: = DECEMBER 31, 2023




MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
North Mankato & LELS
Police Officers

This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into by and between the City of North Mankato
("City") and Law Enforcement Labor Services, Inc. (LELS) (hereafter "Union").

WHEREAS, the City and the Union are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA")
covering employees in the classification of Police Officer; and

WHEREAS, the City wishes to compensate lateral hires with experience in other law enforcement
agencies at a higher pay rate.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City and the Union hereby stipulate and agree as follows:

1.

New full-time Police Officers hired on or after September 18, 2023, with at least six (6)
years of continuous, sworn, full-time law enforcement experience at other law enforcement

agencies, shall receive:

a. A pay rate of “Senior Patrol” as defined in the existing CBA at time of hire.

b. Forty-five (45) hours of accrued banked vacation leave at time of hire in addition
to vacation leave accruals outlined in the CBA.

c. Forty-five (45) hours of accrued banked sick leave at time of hire in addition to sick
leave accruals outlined in the CBA.

Existing Police Officers with the City who have a total of six (6) years of continuous,
sworn, full-time law enforcement experience between service with the City and with other
law enforcement agencies shall:

a. Be advanced to the pay grade of “Senior Patrol” as defined in the existing CBA
effective on September 18, 2023 or the first day of the first payroll period following
completion of said service requirement, whichever occurs later.

This Memorandum of Agreement is based upon the unique circumstances of the present
case and shall not constitute a precedent or be used as a future past practice in negotiations
or with respect to any other matter, claim or dispute arising between the City and the Union
or any member of the bargaining unit covered by the collective bargaining agreement
between the City and the Union. It is understood that the terms of this Memorandum of
Agreement are without precedent or prejudice to future cases involving other employees.

This Memorandum of Agreement represents the complete and total agreement of the
parties.

1o0f2



The following execution indicates an agreement between the parties to the specific terms

S
as set forth in this Memorandum of Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Memorandum of Agreement on the
dates set forth by their respective signatures.

LAW ENFORCEMENT LABOR SERVICES

@——’——' OF-)7-202 23

NORTH MANKATO

- Dated o . Dated
72 8-17-23
Dated o Dated

20f2



NORTH /».
MANKATO W

MINNESOTA
1001 Belgrade Avenue
North Mankato, MN 56003
507-625-4141 Fax: 507-625-4151
www.northmankato.com

Audio Permit
About:
An audio permit is required for anyone operating outdoor amplified sound (i.e., a loudspeaker, public address system,
or sound amplifying equipment). All Audio Permits must be approved by the Council. The sound system cannot be
operated before 7:00 am or after 10:00 pm. There is a $25 fee.

Audio Permit Responsibilities:

e Anonsite event coordinator must be available by mobile during the event.

¢ An applicant will provide a schedule of any music or entertainment proposed to occur during the event.

e  Abeginning and end time must be supplied on the application, and the event coordinator must ensure
compliance.

e  Applicants must comply with City Code Ordinance 90.045 and Minnesota Rules Chapter 7030 which limits
noise.

¢ Noise levels cannot exceed 60 dBA more than 50 percent of the time.

What happens if there is a noise complaint?

* A North Mankato Patrol Officer will meet with the complainant and evaluate and measure the noise using a
decibel reader at the location of the complainant.

e Ifthe noise is found out of compliance, the Patrol Officer will contact the onsite event coordinator, and the
amplified sound must be turned down.

e Ifthe onsite event coordinator does not comply, the event will be immediately terminated, and the group will
be disbursed.

e Failure to comply will affect future ability to obtain an audio permit.

AMPLIFIED SOUND: LIVE MUSIC/BAND DATE OF EVENT: Sepiember 30, 2023
L] DJ/KARAOKE MACHINE BEGIN TIME: 3:00 pm
L1 OTHER: S END TIME:  10:00 pm

LOCATION / SHELTERZ 1516 Lor Ray Dr. North Mankato

EVENT NAME: Lor Ray Live (this is a small backyard gathering)
ONSITE COORDINATOR: PRINT NAME: Meghan Velasquez and Kevin Velasquez

MOBILE NUMBER: 515-450-0934 and 507-382-4105

I, THE UNDERSIGNED, HAVE RECEIVED THE AUDIO PERMIT AND UNDERSTAND THAT FAILURE TO COMPLY
WITH THE AUDIO POLICY MAY TERMINATE THE EVENT AND PREVENT FUTURE ABILITY TO OBTAIN AN AUDIO
PERMIT.

PRINT NAME: Kevin Velasquez SIGNATURE: /
DATE; 08/11/23 EMAIL: keVIm/su@gmall com

POLICE CHIEF:
CITY CLERK: Clpeniep ] APPROVED
[J Book [ poLice CIoNLINE ﬁszs.oo FEE STAFF INTIALS )

o 8|13



VELASQUEZ AUDIO PERMIT APPENDIX A

SCHEDULE OF MUSIC/ENTERTAINMENT

September 30, 2023

Location: 1516 Lor Ray Drive

Event Begin Time:  3:00 P.M

Live Music — Colby Straka — approximately 6 PM — 8 PM
Event End Time: 10:00 P.M.

{B1903221.1}



MINNESOTA RIVER VALLEY DRUG TASK FORCE
JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT

This Joint Powers Agreement is made by and between the political subdivisions organized and
existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota, hereafter collectively referred
to as “Parties,” and individually as “Party” which are signatories to this “Agreement.” This
Agreement supersedes any Joint Powers Agreements or amendments effective prior to the date
of this Agreement. This Agreement is effective as of the date all ten participating Parties
Members have executed this Agreement.

In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and subject to the
provisions of Minn. Stat. § 471.59 the following Parties:

Cities Counties

City of Mankato Blue Earth County
City of North Mankato Martin County
City of St. James Watonwan County
City of St. Peter Nicollet County
City of Madelia

City of Fairmont

Also referred to herein as “Participating Member(s)” hereto agree as follows:

1. PURPOSE: The purpose of this Agreement is to provide law enforcement resources for
narcotics law enforcement in the jurisdictions of the Participating Members which are
party to this Agreement. The Parties recognize that there are benefits for a coordinated
Task Force approach for narcotics law enforcement, and to share in resources.

2, METHOD: The Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force (“Task Force™) is a group of
law enforcement officers working together under the direction of the Board of Directors
for the purpose of narcotics laws enforcement within the boundaries of the Participating
Members to this agreement.

Any peace officer assigned to or working with this Task Force is hereby deputized by the
governing body of the Participating Member that they enter pursuant to this Agreement
for the period of time that they are operating pursuant to and under the authority of this
Agreement.

Law enforcement officers may enter the territory of a Participating Member with full
police powers in the following circumstances and under the following conditions:

A. Any investigation relating to the narcotics enforcement mission of the Task Force.

B. Any investigation relating to a crime in progress or criminals in flight observed by
a peace officer assigned to or working with the Task Force.

Page 1 0of 8



BOARD OF DIRECTORS: The Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force shall be
governed by a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of the Sheriff or
Chief of Police of each Participating Member or a substitute law enforcement officer
designated by the Sheriff or Chief of Police to serve in his/her place. Each board member
shall have one vote. A prosecuting attorney appointed by the Blue Earth County
Attorney shall also be a Board member and shall have one vote.

RECEIPT OF FORFEITURE ASSETS: All assets generated through seizure/forfeiture
in narcotics law enforcement cases conducted by Task Force officers or Participating
Members shall be forwarded to the Task Force and shall remain the property of the Task
Force until such time as the entire Task Force is dissolved. Such forfeited assets shall be
forwarded to the Task Force whether derived from an investigation by Task Force officer,
by Task Force officers in conjunction with other law enforcement agencies, or by law
enforcement agencies of Participating Members acting independently of Task Force
officers.

DISTRIBUTION OF FORFEITURE FUNDS: Any asset seizures related to Task
Force investigation that results in state court-ordered forfeitures must be disbursed
according to Minnesota Statute 609.5315, Subd. 5:

Minnesota Statute 609.531S, Subd. 5: Distribution of Money. The money or

proceeds from the sale of forfeited property, after payment of seizure,

storage, forfeiture, and sale expenses, and satisfaction of valid liens against
the property must be distributed as follows:

A. 70 percent of the money proceeds must be forwarded to the
appropriate property agency for deposit as a supplement to the
agency’s operating fund or similar fund for the use in law
enforcement,

B. 20 percent of the money or proceeds must be forwarded to the
county attorney or other prosecuting agency that handled the
forfeiture for deposit as a supplement to it’s operating fund or
similar fund for prosecutorial purposes, and

C. the remaining ten percent of the money or proceeds must be
forwarded within 60 days after resolution of the forfeiture to the
state treasury and credited to the general fund. Any local police
relief association organized under Chapter 423 which received or
was entitled to receive the proceeds of any sale made under this
section before the effective date of Laws 1988, Chapter 665, Sections
1 to 17, shall continue to receive and retain the proceeds of these
sales.

Under this section, three (3) checks shall be written. The check to the State Treasurer
should be sent to:

TREASURER’S OFFICE

303 SHERBURNE AVE.
ST. PAUL, MN 55155

Page 2 of 8



And contain reference to Minnesota Statute 609.5315, Subd. 5.

The remaining checks shall be written and delivered to the appropriate law enforcement
and prosecuting agency.

6. DEFEND AND INDEMNIFY: The Task Force shall fully defend, indemnify and
hold harmless the Parties against all claims, losses, liability, suits, damages, judgments,
costs and expenses, or lawsuits for damages arising from or related to the acts of the Task
Force members and their agents in the performance of the duties contemplated by this
Agreement, or by reason of the action or inaction of the Board and/or employees and/or
the agents of the Task Force. This Agreement to indemnify and hold harmless does not
constitute a waiver by any participant of limitations on liability provided under
Minnesota States Statutes, Section 466.04.

To the full extent permitted by law, actions by the parties pursuant to this Agreement are
intended to be and shall be construed as a “cooperative activity” and it is the intent of the
parties that they shall be deemed a “single governmental unit” for the purposes of
liability, all as set forth in Minnesota Statutes, Section 471.59, subd. 1a(b).

Nothing herein shall be construed to provide insurance coverage or indemnification to an
officer, employee, or volunteer of any member for any act or omission for which the
officer, employee, or volunteer is guilty of malfeasance in office, willful neglect of duty
or bad faith.

Each Participating Member shall be responsible for damages to or loss of its own
equipment. Each Participating Member waives the right to, and agrees that it will not,
bring any claim or suit against the Task Force or any other Participating Member for
damages to or loss of its equipment arising out of participation in or assistance with Task
Force operations or activities, even if the damages or losses were caused wholly or
partially by the negligence of any other Participating Members of its officers, agents,
employees, or volunteers.

The Parties of this Agreement are not liable for the acts or omissions of the other
participants to this Agreement except to the extent to which they have agreed in writing
to be responsible for acts or omissions of the other Parties.

However, the parties other than the appointed jurisdiction that serves as fiduciary
responsibilities agree to save and hold harmless the jurisdiction and its officers, agents,
employees, and members, from all claims, suits, or actions of whatsoever nature resulting
from or arising out of any failure by the other parties or their subcontractors, agents, or
employees to comply with any restrictions placed on use of funds by any governmental
entity which are disbursed to them by the jurisdiction pursuant to this agreement.

Under no circumstances shall a Participating Member be required to pay on behalf of
itself or other Participating Members, any amount in excess of the limits of liability
established in Minn. Stat. Chapter 466, applicable to any third party claim or action. The

Page 3 0of 8



10.

statutory limits of liability for some, or all, of the Participating Members may not be
added together or stacked to increase the maximum amount of liability for any third party
claim or action.

EXPENDITURES: Any expenditure over $1,500.00 requires approval of the Board of
Directors, and any narcotics “buy” over $1,000.00 requires prior approval of the Task
Force Commander.

FISCAL AGENT: The County of Blue Earth shall serve as fiscal agent. The Blue Earth
County Sheriff will serve as the authorized signatory for any official documents, financial
records, grant documents, etc., as approved by Board of Directors. The finance director
for Blue Earth County shall receive and disburse funds and keep financial records. As
fiscal agent, Blue Earth County is authorized to initiate civil court actions, at the request
of the Board of Directors, in furthering of Task Force goals.

SUPERVISION: The day-to-day supervision of the Task Force shall be provided by a
Task Force Commander who is appointed by majority vote of the Board of Directors.

The Task Force Commander assigned to the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force
will act as the daily coordinator of the Task Force officers and agents assigned from
Participating Members. .

Duties of the Task Force Commander will include:

A. Provide effective leadership and administrative coordination of the Minnesota
River Valley Drug Task Force.
B. Direct officer/agent assignments and manpower as necessary on a daily basis for

given investigations.

Direct field operations.

Strengthen communications and cooperation with other law enforcement agencies

in and outside of the geographic region.

E. Provide effective training programs for participating personnel, the costs of which
shall be absorbed by the Participating Member employing the officer in question
with prior approval from the officer’s employer.

F; Act as a liaison with the Command Staff as well as Investigative Divisions of all
Participating Members concerning significant case developments, overtime,
disciplinary problems, and other performance.

SRS

PERSONNEL:

A. Each Participating Member is responsible for providing its respective personnel
with salaries, benefits, and overtime in accordance with FLSA regulations and
departmental policy.

B. Each Participating Member of the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force shall
be responsible for acts of its participating officers/agents and shall incur any
liabilities arising out of the service and activities of those officers while
participating in the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force. Personnel assigned

Page 4 of 8



11.

12.

13,

14.

to the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force shall have the same duties,
powers, privileges, responsibilities, immunities, and jurisdictions as conferred
upon them as officers of their own jurisdictions.

C. Temporary recall of personnel and/or equipment by a Participating Member will

be coordinated with the Task Force Commander.

A two-year or longer assignment of personnel is preferred.

All personnel assigned to the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force shall be

coordinated by the Task Force Commander and shall be subject to the directive of

that Commander regardless of position or rank in their respective agencies.

E; Management from Participating Member, with the input of the Minnesota River
Valley Drug Task Force, will handle all actions of a disciplinary nature
concerning law enforcement personnel from their Participating Member.

G. Each Participating Member will maintain workers’ compensation insurance or
self-insurance coverage, covering its own personnel while they are assigned to the
Task Force or are otherwise participating in or assisting with Task Force
operations or activities. Each Participating Member waives the right to, and
agrees that it will not, bring any claim or suit against the Task Force or any other
Participating Member for any worker’s compensation benefits paid to its own
employee or dependents, that arise out of participation in or assistance with Task
Force operations or activities, even if the injuries were caused wholly or partially
by the negligence of any other Participating Member or its officers, agents,
employees, or volunteers.

™o

EQUIPMENT: The Task Force or the Participating Member will provide all equipment
needed for the operation of the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force. In the event of
negligence by a Task Force employee, the individual employee and/or Participating
Member may be responsible for the repair or replacement of the equipment. Vehicles
assigned to the Task Force officers will be provided by the Task Force. Insurance for
these vehicles will be the responsibility of the Participating Member providing the Task
Force officer. Participating Members are expected to properly equip officers/agents
assigned to the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force with equipment necessary to
complete the effective investigations and safe enforcement operations.

REPORTS: Officers assigned to the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force will use
Task Force specific report forms for supplemental reports. The Task Force Commander
will develop an annual report that will be sent to all Participating Members in the Task
Force.

MEDIA: All media releases concerning arrests and investigations conducted by the
Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force shall be coordinated by the Task Force
Commander and the chief of police or sheriff of the Participating Members.

FUNDING: Each Participating Member agrees to provide whatever resources are agreed
to in a yearly proposal to be set by the Board. Those resources may be personnel and/or
financial in nature and ‘are designed to assist in the operation of the Task Force.
Resources may also be provided in kind (e.g. furnishing office space) at the discretion of
the Board of Directors. The Task Force fiscal agent at this time is Blue Earth County.

Page 50of 8



15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

They shall be charged with the responsibility of keeping all financial records, filing
required reports in connection with any grant funding, and complying with any required
or requested financial audits.

TERMINATION: Any Participating Member may terminate the terms of this agreement
by giving thirteen (13) months’ written notice to the other Participating Members. Notice
of intent to terminate this Agreement must be given no later than December 1 of the year
proceeding the year of designated termination.

DISSOLUTION: The Task Force may be dissolved by majority vote of the Board of
Directors. Any Task Force assets shall be divided among the Participating Members in
the Task Force at the time of dissolution. Distribution will be based on populations of
Participating Members. (Simplified example: If Task Force assets are $100,000.00 and
combined populations of Participating Members is 100,000, and Mankato population is
30,000 and Blue Earth County is 30,000 not counting the City of Mankato, then Mankato
receives $30,000.00 and Blue Earth County receives $30,000.00, etc.) Non-liquid asset
values shall be determined by the fiscal agent.

INSURANCE: The Task Force shall obtain and maintain liability insurance and the
liability insurance must be consistent with the risk exposure of the Task Force under the
state tort liability limits found in Chapter 466 of the Minnesota Statutes.

AMENDMENTS: This agreement may be amended only in writing and upon the consent
of the governing bodies of all of the Participating Members.

COUNTERPARTS: This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each
of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same
instrument. Counterparts shall be filed with the fiscal agent.

RECORDS, ACCOUNTS AND REPORTS: The books and records of the Minnesota
River Valley Drug Task Force shall be subject to the provisions of Minn. Stat. Ch. 13 and
Minn. Stat. § 16C.05, Subd. 5.

Each signer certifies that the governing body of the Participating Member which they
represent has passed a resolution authorizing entry into this Joint Exercise of Powers
Agreement and that the signer has the authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of
the Participating Member.

Page 6 of 8



Participating Cities:

Date:

City of Mankato Director of Public Safety

Date:

Mankato City Manager

R

Date:

City of North Mankato Chief of Police

Date:

North Mankato City Administrator

Date:

City of St. James Chief of Police

Date:

St. James Mayor

Date:

City of St. Peter Chief of Police

Date:

St. Peter City Administrator

Date:

City of Madelia Chief of Police

Date:

Madelia City Administrator

Date:

City of Fairmont Chief of Police

Date:

Fairmont City Administrator

Page 7 of 8

)"/30 /Z3




Participating Counties:

Date:
Blue Earth County Sheriff

Date:
Blue Earth County Board Chair

Date:
Martin County Sheriff

Date:
Martin County Board Chair

Date:
Watonwan County Sheriff

Date:
Watonwan County Board Chair

Date:
Nicollet County Sheriff

Date:

Nicollet County Board Chair

Page 8 of 8




CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

NORTH /».
MANKATO »™

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12A

Dept: Community Deyv. I

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

Chapter 156 Zoning Code.

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Ordinance No. 160 Fourth Series, An Ordinance Amending Title XV: Land Usage

review the proposed changes.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Community Development Director Fischer will

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Adopt Ordinance No. 160 Fourth Series, An Ordinance Amending Title XV:
Land Usage Chapter 156 Zoning Code.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract — Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay

Steiner Other (specify)

Peterson

Oachs

Whitlock

Carlson

|:’ Workshop

Regular Meeting
:] Special Meeting

]
]

[ ]

Refer to:

Table until:

Other:




ORDINANCE NO. 160
FOURTH SERIES
CITY OF NORTH MANKATO,
NICOLLET COUNTY, MINNESOTA
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XV: LAND USAGE CHAPTER 156 ZONING
CODE

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of North Mankato is the official governing
body of the City of North Mankato, Minnesota (“The City™); and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the proposed changes to Chapter 156 Zoning
Code Chapter 156.053 (3) (a), Construction and Maintenance.

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
does hereby ordain as follows:

Title XV: Land Usage, Chapter 156.053 (3) (a) is hereby repealed and replaced in its
entirety.

§Chapter 156.053 (3)(a) All residential, commercial and industrial parking areas,
driveways and access drives shall be surfaced with either a concrete or a bituminous surface. All
parking lots in any zoning district designed to accommodate more than 6 vehicles, shall include
B style curb and gutter. The City of North Mankato may approve an alternate curb and gutter
style based on project specific conditions. A drainage plan may be required for review by the
Building Official. The owner of the property shall maintain all parking areas, driveways and
access drives in a well-kept condition.

Effective Date. This section becomes effective on the date of its publication or upon the
publication of Ordinance No. 160 Fourth Series.

Passed and Adopted by the City Council of the City of North Mankato, this 5™ day of September,
2023.

Mayor
ATTEST:

City Clerk



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

NORTH /».

Nl
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION MANKATO »

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12B

Dept: Community Dev.

"Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Resolution Adopting the Comprehensive Plan 2023.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: City Planner Lassonde will review the
Comprehensive Plan and any comments received during the final public comment period.

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Adopt Resolution Adopting the Comprehensive Plan 2023.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay

Steiner Other (specify)

Peterson

Oachs

Whitlock

Carlson

|:] Workshop
Regular Meeting

|:| Special Meeting

|:| Refer to:

[ ] Tableunts

|:’ Other:




RESOLUTION NO. 58-23

RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2023

WHEREAS, the legislature of the State of Minnesota has, by enacting M.S.A. Sections
462.351-462.364, established the policy and procedure under which the City of North Mankato
may create a comprehensive plan; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 462.355 of the act, a municipality may carry on
comprehensive municipal planning activities for guiding the future development and
improvement of the municipality and may prepare, adopt, and amend a comprehensive
municipal plan and implement such a plan by resolution and other official actions in accordance
with the provisions of the act; and

WHEREAS, the City of North Mankato adopted a comprehensive plan on March 2, 2015,
and it was determined that the comprehensive plan should be updated in accordance with
Section 462.355 of the act; and

WHEREAS, the City of North Mankato has conducted a comprehensive planning process,
which encouraged and provided an opportunity for all of its citizens to voice their desires for the
future of the community; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, on August 10, 2023, reviewed, approved, and
recommended to the City Council that they adopt the updated Comprehensive Plan 2023; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of North Mankato has reviewed the
recommendation forwarded by the Planning Commission and wishes to adopt the updated
Comprehensive Plan.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF NORTH MANKATO,
MINNESOTA: that the City of North Mankato updated Comprehensive Plan 2023 is adopted as
the master plan for the physical development of the community.

Adopted by the Council this 51" day of September 2023.

Mayor

ATTEST:

City Clerk



City of North Mankato

2023 Comprehensive Plan

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank everyone who participated in the visioning and creation of this Comprehensive
Plan. Your comments, insights, and local knowledge of the community were invaluable assets
throughout the planning process. Not included in this list, but nonetheless critical to the success of this
planning effort, were many others who provided background information, attended meetings, or
contributed by other means.

A special thanks to:

North Mankato City Council North Mankato Planning City Staff
Commission

Scott Carlson (Mayor) Don Westphal Kevin McCann, City

Bill Steiner Jason Beal Administrator

Jim Whitlock Nick Meyer Michael Flscherf Community
Development Director

Sandra Oachs Jason Ceminsky .
Matt Lassonde, City Planner

Matt Peterson Randy King

Stephanie Stoffel Consultant

Grant Poehler
Bolton & Menk, Inc.




CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 1: Introduction

PURPOSE OF THE PLAN

The purpose of the Comprehensive Plan is to serve as a vision Major Plans, Studies, and Efforts
and roadmap for where the community is headed. The ideas Guiding the Development of this
and goals expressed in this plan are intended to be a reflection Plan:

of the community’s values and the desire for what North e North Mankato

Mankato is to become. Each chapter of the Comprehensive Comprehensive Plan (2015)

Plan provides the “big picture” of several important topics that

. . . . e Parks Plan (2015)
are intertwined and have an impact on quality of life in North

Mankato. It is the intention that this plan will be used on a day- Belgrade Avenue Master Plan
to-day basis by city staff, the City Council, and other (2017)

commissions and stakeholders to help inform important policy Commerce Drive Area
decisions, such as decisions involving infrastructure and Development Plan (2019)

development, the acquisition and sale of public land, capital
improvements, zoning and regulatory changes, and

North Mankato ADA Transition

Plan (2019)
communicating a consistent vision. It is anticipated that
residents may use the plan to determine property use, Nicollet County
understand decisions made by the City, and make Comprehensive Plan (2020)
improvements to property in a manner consistent with the Mankato/North Mankato
plan. Developers may use the plan as a way to make decisions (MAPO) 2045 Long Range

based on the goals and identified improvements. Transportation Plan (2020)

The plan is intended to cover approximately a 20-year time Northwest Growth Area Plan

period and may be amended and updated from time to time as (2020)
conditions change. Webster Avenue Area Plan
(2021)
PLANNING PROCESS
North Mankato Housing Study
The 2023 Comprehensive Plan Update began in 2021, using the (2021)
inaugural 2015 Comprehensive Plan as a starting point. Staff Highway 169 Corridor Study
updated chapters of the 2015 Plan with the latest data and new (2022)

information referenced from the many plans guiding
community development. Many of the major plans, studies,
and efforts referenced during the development of this plan are
listed to the right. Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge
Feasibility Study (2022)

Future Transportation
Preparedness Study (2022)

Valuable input was also gathered from those in the community
through virtual and in-person open houses, a booth at the
community Farmer’s Market, and focused outreach to specific Brewing New Ideas for North
stakeholders within the City. Input was also gleaned from other Mankato (2023)

planning efforts running simultaneously with this update
process including the Lookout Drive Corridor Study and the
Lookout Drive Area Plan.

Lookout Drive Area Plan (2023)

Greater Mankato 2040:
Transforming Tomorrow
Together

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION PURPOSE OF THE PLAN
1



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

As each chapter of the plan was developed, drafts were individually presented and commented on at
Planning Commission meetings. The plan was reviewed by both the Planning Commission and City
Council at their respective regular meetings in mid-2023. The Plan was adopted by the City Council on
September 4, 2023 (Tentative; Update upon adoption).

Figure 1-1. In-person public open house held in late
May 2023.

ORGANIZATION OF THE PLAN

The Comprehensive Plan provides a “big picture” look at several important areas that have an impact on
quality of life for North Mankato. The Comprehensive Plan covers the following chapters:

Chapter 1: Introduction — This chapter provides an overview of what the Comprehensive Plan is
and its purpose. It discusses the process for developing the plan and how it is organized.

Chapter 2: Vision — This chapter outlines the vision for the community that is intended to be
expressed through all other chapters.

Chapter 3: Land Use — This chapter establishes existing and future land use for all property in
the City. It also identifies future growth areas.

Chapter 4: Housing — This chapter provides an overview of existing housing conditions and a
plan for maintaining and developing quality future housing stock.

Chapter 5: Economic Development — This chapter provides an analysis of the existing economic
climate and opportunities for economic growth and redevelopment areas.

Chapter 6: Transportation — This chapter analyzes the existing transportation system and future
improvements, mostly as it relates to auto-oriented transportation. Non-motorized
transportation is discussed further in Chapter 8: Parks, Trails, and Recreation.

Chapter 7: Utilities — This chapter examines the existing system and future improvements to
public utilities as it relates to the water, wastewater, and stormwater systems.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION ORGANIZATION OF THE PLAN
2



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 8: Parks, Trails, and Recreation — This chapter examines the existing park and trail
system, as well as recreational opportunities and establishes planning criteria, guidelines and
standards for future development of these amenities.

Chapter 9: Business District Redevelopment — This chapter examines opportunities to
reimagine the impact business districts throughout North Mankato can have and discusses
redevelopment of underutilized parcels, an improved pedestrian realm, parking availability, and
a healthy business mix.

Chapter 10: Community Design — This chapter addresses how people perceive and interact with
the built environment. Community design addresses topics such as scale, architecture, and
development patterns.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION ORGANIZATION OF THE PLAN
3



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 2: Vision

IMPORTANCE OF A VISION

The Comprehensive Plan is a tool used to guide the future growth and development of the City of North
Mankato. Without a plan, communities may get trapped in a “small window view” or “project window”
and forget that individual decisions affect the future of the community. In daily administration of the
City, it can become easy to focus on individual projects and not the entire picture of a community’s
future. Successful communities recognize each development or redevelopment decision contributes to
advancing their vision. The keystone to this Comprehensive Plan is a Vision Statement which offers a
broad and enduring view of what North Mankato seeks to become.

Vision gives the community a stated goal of what their future will be and is paramount in managing the
growth and development within the community. Vision is a framework to be used by policy makers,
appointees, and staff members to make decisions on the future growth and development of the
community. Finally, vision protects and ensures decisions are not made in an isolated manner that
detracts or endangers the community’s ability to achieve its plans for the future.

OVERARCHING VISION STATEMENT

North Mankato’s vision builds off the strengths of the community, public input, and the City’s Strategic
Plan process. The overarching vision statement captures the “big-picture” aspirations of the City.
Specific visions for each of the elements of the Comprehensive Plan are provided in each of the other
chapters of this Plan, along with specific goals and objectives on how to attain those visions.

All chapters and aspects of this Comprehensive Plan work to achieve the Vision and the vision themes
for North Mankato.

A VISION FOR NORTH MANKATO

North Mankato is a superior place to play, work, live, and thrive.

CORE VALUES
C: Care for the Community
O: Outstanding Service
R: Respect for Resources
E: Equality
CHAPTER 2: VISION IMPORTANCE OF A VISION

4



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 3: Land Use & Growth Management

INTRODUCTION

The Land Use & Growth

Management Chapter is a roadmap

that helps guide City officials and staff on

how to make policy decisions related to land use and

future growth. These policies may influence the type, location and density of future development within
the community. This chapter is intended to result in orderly and efficient development that utilizes land
efficiently and makes the most of the community’s resources. It offers guidance on key initiatives for the
community which is consistent with the City’s vision and goals. The City has used its various planning
efforts that guide land use to inform this chapter, ensuring it accommodates growth and applies the
desired qualities of the community.

Another important aspect of this chapter is that it serves as the foundation for reviewing the City’s
Zoning Ordinances, Zoning Map, Subdivision Regulations and other implementation tools.
Implementation of the Land Use Plan produces several important implications:

e Uses. Every parcel is placed into a specific land use category. Each category includes a
description of the type of land use or uses intended for that category. This description should
match with the types and forms of development currently found in North Mankato and desired
for the future.

e Relationships. Much like a jigsaw puzzle, the true picture comes from how each piece fits
together into a whole. The Land Use Plan guides how elements of the built and natural
environment come together in North Mankato. These relationships will determine how North
Mankato will look, function and feel.

e Actions. The Land Use Plan sets the framework for public actions and investments. Utilities,
streets, parks, and facilities are all influenced by the form and pace of development.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT INTRODUCTION
5



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

PREVIOUS AND ONGOING LAND USE RELATED PLANS AND EFFORTS

Several past and ongoing efforts focused on land use in North Mankato have been reviewed as part of
developing this chapter. Those efforts are listed below.

North Mankato Comprehensive Plan (2015)

The precursor to the 2023 North Mankato Comprehensive Plan Update, this plan provides the initial
comprehensive land use analysis and inventory for the City of North Mankato.

Belgrade Avenue Master Plan (2017)

Belgrade Avenue serves as a gateway to North Mankato and is a critical part of the community. The
Belgrade Avenue Master Plan identifies redevelopment, streetscaping, and placemaking opportunities
throughout the CBD.

Commerce Drive Area Development Plan (2019)

The 2019 Commerce Drive Area Development Plan process identified a vision for the corridor that
includes fostering a greater diversity of businesses, fostering business relationships, emphasizing the
importance of the corridor for the City, increasing walkability through streetscaping and land use
density, and providing redevelopment scenarios for future consideration. All of these aspirations would
combine to strengthen Commerce Drive as a destination.

Northwest Growth Area Plan (2020)

The Northwest Growth Area is located adjacent to the US Highway 14/County State Aid Highway (CSAH)
41 interchange northwest of existing City of North Mankato limits. The Plan provides a guide for
development in the area to ensure the right mix of uses is planned and integrated in a way that
complements those already being developed and at a capacity that the area can support.

Webster Avenue Area Plan (2021)

The Webster Avenue Area Plan examines land uses surrounding Webster Avenue identifying a
redevelopment and revitalization strategy based on a shared vision of the area.

North Mankato Housing Study (2021)

The North Mankato Housing Study provides a snapshot of housing in North Mankato, measuring
residential development for all densities, identifying deficiencies, and establishing goals for future
development to ensure North Mankato is capturing its share of housing construction among neighboring
communities.

Lookout Drive Area Plan (2023)

The Lookout Drive Area Plan ran concurrently with the Lookout Drive Corridor Study to identify a vision
for land use surrounding Lookout Drive. The plan identifies future opportunities for housing, economic
development, non-motorized transportation, and area design.

Greater Mankato 2040: Transforming Tomorrow Together (2023)

In April of 2023, Greater Mankato Growth (Greater Mankato’s chamber of commerce) began the
Greater Mankato 2040 (GM2040) planning and visioning project aimed at exploring the future strategic
positioning of the Greater Mankato region in a fast-changing world. Housing availability, talent creation
and retention, and next generation livability were identified as Key Drivers for transformation.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT PREVIOUS AND ONGOING LAND USE RELATED PLANS
AND EFFORTS
6



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

Existing Land Use Characteristics

Figure 3-1 illustrates the location, amount, and types of existing land uses in the City of North Mankato
in 2023. The inventory reflects general development patterns and is intended for general planning
purposes only. Table 3-1 summarizes the amount and type of existing land uses in North Mankato.

Table 3-1. Summary of Existing Land Use 2023

Existing Land Use m Net Percent of City

Low Density Residential 1,317 41.4%
Low Density Small Lot Residential 92 2.9%
Medium Density Residential 190 6.0%
High Density Residential 75 2.3%
General Commercial 85 2.7%
Neighborhood Commercial (Includes the CBD) 12 0.4%
Institutional 229 7.2%
Light Industrial 84 2.6%
Heavy Industrial 354 11.1%
Open Space/Park 479 15.1%
Vacant/Undeveloped 265 8.3%

Total 3,182 100%
*Gross acres determined by City staff based on Nicollet County parcel data and North Mankato land use
designations.

The following provides a general description of each of the existing land uses in North Mankato.
A. Low Density Residential

Low Density Residential is the largest land use within the City of
North Mankato in terms of total acres, making up almost half
of the City’s area with 1,317 acres or 41.4%. This land use is
largely characterized by single-family homes with densities of 1
to 5 dwelling units per acre. One of the greatest strengths of
the City of North Mankato is the quality and variety of its
single-family homes, which helps make it such an attractive
community for families. The City has an abundance of older
single-family homes, mostly in Lower North, that have been
well preserved and provide a classic “small town” feel to these
neighborhoods. Alternatively, there has been an abundance of
new single-family and two-family home construction, mostly in
Upper North, which provides a more modern style of home.
Ensuring older housing stock continues to be well maintained is
a priority, as is the ongoing efforts to add new housing units.
This balance between old and new ensures a quality and
variety of housing stock is available throughout the City.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
7






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

B. Low Density Small Lot Residential

Low Density Small Lot Residential makes up 92 acres or 2.9%
of the City’s area. It includes single-family detached dwellings
on smaller lots with smaller side yard setbacks as those used
in the Low Density Residential land use areas. Densities
targeted in this category average 1 to 8 per acre. The only
zoning district that would correspond to this land use
designation is the R-1S, One Family Dwelling, Small Lot
District. It is expected that single-family development in this
category will offer entry level housing opportunities.

C. Medium Density Residential

Medium Density Residential makes up 190 acres or 6.0% of
the total acreage in the City. Medium Density Residential is
mostly characterized by townhome style development,
duplexes, and small-scale apartment and condo buildings with
densities of 5 to 10 dwelling units per acre.

D. High Density Residential

High Density Residential land use consists of all forms of multi-
family attached housing units such as apartment buildings and
condominiums. High density residential has densities of over
10 dwelling units per acre. In 2023, roughly 75 acres or 2.3%
of North Mankato was classified as high-density residential
use. High Density Residential units may be rental units or may
be owner- occupied and can provide housing options for all
income levels. In some cases, high-density residential units in
North Mankato are exclusively for seniors, while in other
cases there are no limitations for who can live in the
development.

E. Neighborhood Commercial

Neighborhood Commercial uses generally serve the nearby
surrounding areas and are intended to allow residents to
meet some of their basic needs within a close proximity to
where they live. These uses are generally smaller in nature
and may be mixed in with residential uses. Examples of some
Neighborhood Commercial uses might include bakeries, drug
stores, banks, coffee shops, post offices and similar types of
uses. Roughly 12 acres or 0.4% of North Mankato is classified
as Neighborhood Commercial land use.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
9



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

F. General Commercial

The General Commercial designation is
intended for more intense commercial uses
that may draw from a wider geographic
area. It includes a broad range of
commercial uses that are generally larger in
size, require more parking spaces, and may
not be compatible adjacent to residential
uses in some cases. Examples of General
Commercial uses might include department
stores, restaurants, offices, health care
services and similar types of uses. Many
residents currently travel to Mankato to
meet most of the needs generally served by
this land use category. In 2023, roughly 85
acres or 2.7% of North Mankato was
classified as General Commercial use.

G. Light Industrial

The Light Industrial land use includes all
forms of businesses with manufacturing,
distribution, warehousing or other
industrial uses that are less intense and
may have fewer negative impacts to
surrounding properties generally associated
with industrial uses such as noise, odor,
dust or low-quality aesthetics. Light
Industrial land use makes up approximately
84 acres or 2.6% of the City.

H. Heavy Industrial

Similar to the Light Industrial land use
category, Heavy Industrial land uses are all
forms of businesses with manufacturing,
distribution, warehousing or other
industrial uses. Heavy Industrial uses may
be more intense than the types of uses in
the Light Industrial land use category and
may be less compatible with residential and
commercial uses. Heavy Industrial Land
uses may exhibit more of the impacts
generally associated with industrial uses
such as noise, odor, or dust or storage of
equipment. Heavy Industrial land use
makes up approximately 354 acres or
11.1% of the City.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
10



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

I.  Public/Institutional

Public/Institutional uses make up
approximately 229 acres or 7.2% of area in
North Mankato. These uses include all
government buildings, schools (including
colleges), libraries, and religious institutions.
These types of uses are generally mixed in
with residential or commercial uses.

J.  Park and Open Space

The Park and Open Space category contains
public parks and open spaces and all
property owned by the City that is preserved
as natural land. Approximately 479 acres or
15.1% of land in 2023 is allocated to the
Park Open Space land use. Park and Open
Space uses are intended to provide a variety
of recreational opportunities for all
residents of the community. The City of
North Mankato is generally well served by
the amount and placement of existing park
facilities.

K. Vacant/Undeveloped

Vacant/undeveloped land refers to land that
is in an undeveloped state, but that is
guided and zoned for future development.
In 2023, roughly 265 acres or 8.3% of North
Mankato consisted of vacant/undeveloped
land.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
11



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

KEY LAND USE ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES

With over 3,180 acres of land, an analysis of the existing land use illustrates several important issues
about current and future development:

Land Supply and Demand
A. Infill Development and Annexation

The “vacant/undeveloped” category includes all of the non-developed land uses within City
limits. Most remaining vacant land supply is located north of Highway 14, including several
properties in the northwest that are guided for industrial/commercial uses and land located in
north-northeast portions of the City that is guided for low-density residential use.

Opportunities exist for potential annexation of land beyond City limits as much of the land is
currently agricultural, very flat, and quite suitable for development. The Northwest Growth Area
Study provides land use guidance for this area as the City considers future land annexation. To
continue the orderly growth of the City, the City should work with Belgrade Township to initiate
an orderly annexation agreement as a proactive measure for the future annexation of property
adjacent to the City.

B. Commercial and Industrial Development

Commercial and industrial uses represent 16.8% of total land use (18.4% of non- vacant uses)
and there are significant development opportunities for these uses in the northwest portion of
the city.

Most of the existing commercial uses in the community would generally be characterized as
neighborhood commercial uses that serve the immediate surrounding area. North Mankato is
lacking in community-scale, general commercial uses and residents typically travel to the City of
Mankato for these types of goods and services. Considering general commercial uses as well as
new neighborhood commercial nodes will be necessary as the community continues to grow
north-northwest, especially as residents are pushed farther from Mankato commercial uses.
North Mankato may be able to attract the types of businesses that residents currently travel to
Mankato for, such as larger retailers, as this growth occurs.

The City has a strong and growing industrial presence. Industrial uses supply a significant
number of jobs for residents. The City anticipates, and data supports, that continued growth of
industrial uses westward, north of Highway 14 will be successful. Heavy industrial uses should
be evaluated for compatibility with adjacent land uses. Controls should be in place to protect
against negative impacts to neighboring property. The Northwest Growth Area Study begins to
consider solutions to this with a residential/commercial/industrial flex zone that would guide
the transition from low-density residential to industrial.

C. Redevelopment

The City also has some redevelopment opportunities identified in small area plans developed for
key locations throughout the City. The City should continue to evaluate the community to
ensure the highest and best of land is pursued through strategic redevelopment of underutilized
and/or blighted properties to enhance City character.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT KEY LAND USE ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES
12



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Development and Neighborhood Character
A. Lower North

As mentioned in the 2015 Comprehensive Plan, the older housing stock in Lower North Mankato
provides a small-town character that isn’t found in Upper North. Homes were developed prior
to the 1960s on a typical grid pattern and many have been well maintained, preserving the
historic character. The Central Business District on Belgrade Avenue is also part of Lower North
Mankato. Continuing to preserve the small-town feel of Lower North and the CBD will be both
challenging and should be a priority in the future. The City has established design guidelines for
the CBD to maintain character and encourage cohesive architectural design, however, more will
need to be done to encourage property owners to find value in preservation and contribute to
that end.

B. Upper North

Areas west of Lake Street developed later and generally follow more of a suburban style layout
with a series of arterials and residential streets. These newer residential subdivisions tend to
have winding streets, which result in varying lot shapes and sizes. Cul-de-sacs are also common
in many of these neighborhoods. Generally, these newer subdivisions have larger lots and are
desirable for families. The City should continue to provide strong family oriented residential
neighborhoods but also consider needs for increased higher-density neighborhoods.

C. Housing Density

The largest land use category in the City is low density residential. Data from the 2021 North
Mankato Housing Study states that North Mankato represents 23% of the population of Greater
Mankato but is capturing 32% of single-family housing construction. This indicates the City is
strong in this category and is capturing more than its share. It’s anticipated this trend will
continue in the near term. The four residential categories account for 52.6% of the total land
use in the City. Residential uses make up 57.4% of all non-vacant land use.

The 2015 Future Land Use Plan lacked guidance for higher-density multi-family development.
According to the 2021 Housing Study, the City was only capturing 15% of single-family attached
and 6% of multi-family in the Greater Mankato housing market. A large inventory of low density,
single-family homes has drawn a significant number of residents to the community who prefer
large-lot, low density neighborhoods and are opposed to higher density residential
development. Greater Mankato Growth, the area’s chamber of commerce, has also suggested
that a lack of available work-force housing is deterring some industries from locating in North
Mankato.

The City will need to thoroughly examine new locations for higher-density, multi-family
development. This may require building community acceptance by educating residents on the
City’s obligation to provide multi-family options, associated benefits it can bring, and
broadening perspectives to lessen negative perceptions of higher-density residential.

Business Districts

North Mankato is served by several business districts that meet a variety of community needs. Land use
in these districts should be frequently reviewed through updates to small area plans to ensure the
highest and best uses of land are being considered and areas are on course to thrive. More information
on North Mankato business districts is included in Chapter 9: Business District Redevelopment.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT KEY LAND USE ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES
13



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

A. Central Business District (CBD)

Downtowns have made a comeback as cities realize the value they provide in creating identity
and sense of community. Although not the geographic center of the City, the CBD has many
attributes of a traditional, “Main Street” downtown. It is pedestrian oriented in nature with
greater commercial and residential densities and some buildings built to the sidewalk. It serves
as a premier gathering place for community events throughout the year such as Blues on
Belgrade, Bells on Belgrade, and Bier on Belgrade. Parking for area uses and events is typically
on-street, in the rear of buildings, shared among several users, or in nearby public parking lots.
Access to Highway 169 and a bridge connection to Mankato also make the CBD one of the main
gateways into the City.

Since the 2015 Comprehensive Plan, infill development and site redevelopment identified in the
Belgrade Avenue Master Plan has occurred, shifting the character of the downtown closer to a
shared community vision of the area. The City should continue to focus on improvements to the
CBD that optimize the pedestrian environment, including encouraging a mix of uses such as
small shops, restaurants, office, and service uses, and higher housing densities. This, combined
with streetscaping improvements such as improved lighting, facade improvements, trees and
other vegetation, outdoor seating, traffic calming lane configurations, and additional public art
will enhance downtown vibrancy. Buildings should be built no more than ten feet from front lot
lines and parking should be in the rear of buildings where possible. Long and narrow lots should
be preserved to encourage smaller store fronts. The City should also continue efforts begun with
the establishment of design guidelines to preserve many of the existing buildings that give the
downtown its cherished character.

B. Commerce Drive Business District

The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan identifies a vision for Commerce Drive that
includes streetscaping and redevelopment options that would make the business district more
of a destination. A 2019 road resurfacing project improved the pedestrian realm by widening
sidewalks to multi-use paths, realigning property access for traffic safety, and creating seating
nodes and public art sculptures. The City should continue to look for opportunities for
redevelopment that would expand commercial and even residential uses in the area, making it
more of a destination. This may include encouraging or incentivizing some more industrial-type
uses to relocate to the Northport Industrial Park to open options for commercial-retail
development and other mixed-use type development.

C. Lookout Drive Business District

The Lookout Drive Business District is located near the Lookout Drive/Marie Lane intersection.
This location is situated close to South Central College and many residential neighborhoods. The
business district is very auto oriented. Properties in the district have large parking lots and
Lookout Drive through this area is five lanes with center turn-lane. The Lookout Drive Corridor
Study and Lookout Drive Area Plan provide a vision for the district and broader corridor that the
City can begin initiating. Improvements are aimed at creating a more inviting, walkable
environment that is safer for all modes of traffic and has increased commercial and residential
development.

Vacant land nearby is zoned R-4 Multiple Dwelling which could accommodate multi-family
development to increase supply of affordable housing and provide student housing options. The
2015 Future Land Use Plan identifies general commercial development along Lookout Drive,

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT KEY LAND USE ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES
14



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

stemming from this intersection. The City should look for opportunities to expand
commercial/residential development here as land becomes available.

D. Webster Avenue Business District

The area surrounding Webster Avenue contains many uses including commercial, light
industrial, residential, institutional, and parks and open space. The Webster Avenue Area Plan
was completed in 2021 to establish a vision for the corridor. At the time of this plan, the site
previously known as the Norwood Inn was a major redevelopment opportunity as the most
prominent site in the area. In the past, the site functioned quite well as a Best Western hotel.
The City anticipates this site will continue to be commercial use, perhaps including some higher-
density residential uses mixed in. Other vacant properties in the district provide opportunities
for development also. Other redevelopment opportunities may arise as the industrial presence
is aging and lacking in quality design. Some would like to convert this area to an entertainment
district, building on the success of the Mankato Brewery that is located there.

Other opportunities include potential redevelopment of the Public Works Yard and
development and redevelopment of properties across Highway 169.

Northport Industrial Park

The City will continue to expand its industrial base in the Northport Industrial Park which has been quite
successful. Industrial businesses supply roughly 3,000 jobs in North Mankato as reported by the 2020
Decennial Census. Continuing to attract industry to this area is viewed as an opportunity that will help
ensure the long-term economic health of the community, as they tend to provide higher wage jobs than
most retail businesses.

The Northport Industrial Park is conveniently located near two interchanges with Highway 14 including
the Lookout Drive interchange and the CSAH 41 interchange which provide access to many sites that are
fully serviced and ready to build.

The Future Land Use Map shown in Figure 3-2 guides several parcels in the Northport Industrial Park for
Commercial/Industrial Mixed Use. Given prime access to Highway 14 and anticipated nearby residential
growth, these parcels may be attractive for commercial development that would fill the commercial
gaps in the community today. The City acknowledges that these sites would also be appropriate for
industrial use and believes this land use designation provides some flexibility.

Recreation Opportunities and Facilities

One of the greatest strengths of the City of North Mankato is the quality and quantity of existing park
space. The City of North Mankato currently has an extremely healthy ratio of nearly 20 acres of park
space per 1,000 residents. In addition, a wide variety of quality recreational programs are offered for
both adults and youth. Opportunities exist to strengthen North Mankato as a recreational center within
the region.

A. Athletic Complexes/Facilities

Caswell Park is one of the premier softball complexes in the nation, having hosted numerous
state, regional and national tournaments since opening in 1987. The City continues to improve
this facility to ensure continued success.

The Caswell North Soccer Complex hosts several local and state soccer tournaments and has
become the location for youth football for Greater Mankato. This complex continues to grow,
with more programs added and new fields constructed, including an artificial turf field.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT KEY LAND USE ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES
15



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The City is also targeting an indoor recreational facility on the Caswell Park site, continuing
efforts begun during the 2015 Comprehensive Plan. Many residents and sports organizations
have requested a facility for year-round activities. The indoor recreation facility would further
enhance North Mankato as a recreational destination.

B. Community/Regional Parks

The City is well served by existing park facilities. There are approximately 479 acres of Park and
Open Space uses. General guidelines for parks and open spaces suggest cities should strive for
10.5 acres of municipal, developed park land per 1,000 residents and that 90% or more of
residents should be within one-half mile of a park or protected green space.

Some key Community/Regional Parks in North Mankato include:
Benson Park

Benson Park is a natural resources themed community park and destination with habitat
restoration, natural resource education, nature-based play and water quality improvements, a
natural amphitheater, outdoor classrooms, demonstration areas, and more.

Spring Lake Park

Spring Lake Park is another significant park in the community with a variety of amenities and has
something for everyone. Continuing to maintain and strengthen these existing facilities is a
priority of the City.

As the City grows, new park and facility locations will need to be identified. Chapter 8: Parks,
Trails and Recreation provides more information on future park and recreation development.

Institutional Considerations

Independent School District (ISD) 77 owns the parcel of land just east of the Caswell North Soccer
Complex. As of January 2023, ISD 77 has plans to locate an elementary school in this location, but that
plan is not certain. The lot is currently guided as a Central Redevelopment District. The City will need to
consider how to appropriately guide the property if ISD 77 chooses not to locate the school there.

VISION FOR LAND USE

The City of North Mankato is a complete community that provides a well-balanced and wide range of
places to live, work, shop and play. Land uses make efficient use of existing infrastructure, contribute to
a strong local economy, preserve natural resources and contribute to a high quality of life.

Residential Uses

A diverse housing stock allows people at any stage in their life to be able to find a home in North
Mankato. Older housing is well maintained while new development respects the character of existing
neighborhoods.

Commercial and Industrial Uses

A significant amount of commercial and industrial uses can be found within the City that allow residents
to work in North Mankato, while also being able to meet all of their day-to-day needs. Commercial and
industrial uses are compatible with their surrounding land uses.

Public/Institutional

Public and institutional uses are viewed as valued resources to the community and contribute to making

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT VISION FOR LAND USE
16



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

North Mankato a better place to live and do business.
Parks and Open Space

Quality parks and open space are within close proximity to all residents, providing recreational
opportunities to encourage an active lifestyle. A wide variety of community facilities are provided to
serve a range of interests.

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following is the primary goal for land use followed by a series of objectives and policies intended to
influence future land use decisions in a direction that is aligned with the Vision Statement.

GOAL 1: Maximize the use of land within the City of North Mankato in a way that strengthens the
local economy, preserves natural resources, and ensures a high-quality of life for all residents.

Objective 1.1: Preserve and enhance the business environment in North Mankato business
districts.

Policy 1.1.1: Encourage and promote the renovation and rehabilitation of existing
buildings within business districts.

Policy 1.1.2: Connect businesses with facade improvement grants and loans as the City
becomes aware of new resources.

Policy 1.1.3: Make infrastructure improvements that enhance the pedestrian realm such
as lighting and seating.

Policy 1.1.4: Explore opportunities for creating a public plaza within the CBD as a central
gathering place for community activities.

Policy 1.1.5: Consider expanding parking options in the CBD through either acquiring
and converting property or constructing a multi-level parking garage.

Objective 1.2: Use land in a manner that strengthens the economy of North Mankato.

Policy 1.2.1: Expand the amount of property guided for industrial and commercial use in
the northwest portions of the City within the industrial park.

Policy 1.2.2: Continue to identify all areas prime for redevelopment and analyze the best
use for each property. Work to re-zone these properties and amend this plan as
appropriate.

Policy 1.2.3: Increase the number of residential housing units in the City to improve the
local market for commercial opportunities.

Policy 1.2.4: Target locations for medium- and high-density residential uses to resolve
deficiencies identified in the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study while providing more
affordable workforce housing options that will attract new industries.

Policy 1.4.8: Target innovative housing solutions that include characteristics and
amenities that are future-oriented to attract and retain talent.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
17



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 1.2.5: Actively work to infill vacant land.

Policy 1.2.6: Consider a new mixed-use zoning district to accommodate commercial and
industrial uses.

Objective 1.3: Protect and preserve natural resources for long term environmental sustainability
and the enjoyment of residents.

Policy 1.3.1: Work with landowners to either obtain property or ensure protection of
natural areas with high ecological value.

Policy 1.3.2: Work with the watershed district to ensure that all ground and surface
water ordinances are consistent with the recommended standards.

Policy 1.3.3: Discourage “leapfrog” patterns of development.
Objective 1.4: Use land in a manner that ensures a high quality of life for residents.

Policy 1.4.1: Target General Commercial growth that provides community-scale
commercial amenities such as large retailers as residential development continues in
North Mankato.

Policy 1.4.2: Ensure small area plans continue to be updated to ensure the highest and
best use of land is identified and considered throughout the community.

Policy 1.4.3: Maintain a ratio of 15-20 acres of park land per 1,000 residents as the City’s
population continues to grow.

Policy 1.4.4: Review and encourage methods of development which promote linkages to
recreational facilities using trails and sidewalks.

Policy 1.4.5: Evaluate land uses for compatibility with adjacent land uses by ensuring
controls are in place that protect against negative impacts to neighboring property.

Policy 1.4.6: Consider options for preserving older housing stock and features that
support a small-town feel.

Policy 1.4.7: Develop an orderly annexation agreement with Belgrade Township.

Policy 1.4.8: Gage community interest in establishing community gardens on publicly
owned green space with plots that can be rented by residents lacking space on personal
property.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
18



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

LAND USE PLAN

The land use plan provides the framework for the growth and development of the City. The land use
plan serves as a guide for the character and intensity of development and will be supported by other

land use controls and public actions taken pursuant to the Comprehensive Plan.

The land use map appears in Figure 3-2: Future Land Use. The plan illustrated by this map evolved from
inputs and evaluations received through the planning process completed in 2023. The Plan builds on the
existing community pattern to achieve the desired vision for the future of North Mankato. Where the
Future Land Use map guides property for something different than the existing zoning, zoning approvals
such as variances and conditional use permits should not be considered inconsistent with the

comprehensive plan if otherwise deemed appropriate.

Table 3-2. Summary of Future Land Use 2023

Existing Land Use m Net Percent of City

Low Density Residential 2,521 36.4%
Low Density Small Lot Residential 183 2.6%
Medium Density Residential 151 2.2%
High Density Residential 88 1.3%
Neighborhood Commercial 19 0.3%
General Commercial 166 2.4%
Central Business District 20 0.3%
Central Redevelopment District 62 0.9%
Commercial/Industrial Mixed Use 325 4.7%
Light Industrial 81 1.2%
Heavy Industrial 1,622 23.4%
Institutional 209 3.0%
Open Space/Park 1,484 21.4%

Total 6,931 100%

*Gross acres determined by City staff based on Nicollet County parcel data and North Mankato land use

designations.

Low Density Residential

The land use in this category is single-family
detached homes. The City anticipates, and
trends suggest, this is where the majority of
new housing units will be added over the next
20 years. One of the biggest strengths of the
City of North Mankato is its attractiveness to
young families. Part of this attraction is due to
the amount of quality single-family homes.
Continuing to add new housing units will
provide more opportunities for all

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT

LAND USE PLAN
19






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

families to locate in North Mankato, while making older housing more affordable. Several areas in Upper
North are expected to see new low-density residential development. Densities targeted in this category
are 1 to 5 dwelling units per acre with an overall average of 3.5 dwelling units per acre. However, an
important policy of this Plan is that the allowable density of each neighborhood will be based on the
desired character of the neighborhood. The primary zoning district that would generally correspond to
this land use designation would be the R-1 One Family Dwelling District. As shown on Figure 3-2, most
areas guided for residential development outside the current City limits are shown as low density
residential. Should it be determined in the future that any area guided for low density residential is
better suited for medium or high-density residential development, the Planning Commission and City
Council will openly consider amendments to the Future Land Use Map.

Low Density Small Lot Residential

The land use in this category is single-family detached
dwellings on smaller lots with smaller side yard setbacks as
those used in the Low-Density Residential land use areas.
Densities targeted in this category average 1 to 8 per acre.
The only zoning district that would correspond to this land use
designation is the R-1S, One-Family Dwelling, Small Lot
District. It is expected that single-family development in this
category will offer entry level housing opportunities.

Medium Density Residential

Medium density residential uses are typically in the form of townhomes, duplexes, and small-scale
apartment and condo buildings. Advantages of these types of housing are that less property
maintenance may be required since yards are smaller and some medium density developments may
have associations that handle lawn care and snow removal. As a result, these types of housing tend to
be very attractive to seniors. As part of the community engagement process, some residents felt there
was a shortage of quality medium density housing. Providing enough medium density housing options
helps residents stay within the City of North Mankato as they age to different stages in their lives. As a
result of the Northwest Growth Area
Plan, the City is targeting property
adjacent to CSAH 6 for medium
density residential. Densities targeted
in this category are over 5 dwelling
units and up to 10 dwelling units per
acre. The primary zoning districts that
would generally correspond to this
land use designation would be the R-2
One- and Two-Family Dwelling District
and the R-3A Medium Density
Residential District.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
21



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

High Density Residential

The High-Density Residential land use category consists of multiple family attached housing oriented in a
vertical fashion, more commonly referred to as apartments and condominiums. Housing units may be
owner or renter occupied. High density housing is an efficient land use because it contains more
dwelling units per acre than other residential uses.

High density residential uses are located in places with compatible adjacent land uses and where the
local street system will accommodate the traffic. Ideally, they are located near commercial uses or
employment centers to maximize the number of people who can walk or use alternative modes of
transportation. Residential areas near the downtown suitable for redevelopment may be prime
locations for new high-density housing.

Because high density housing is generally associated with renting, it may be a very attractive option for
recent graduates looking to live in North Mankato. Providing enough quality high density residential
housing is essential for providing a diverse housing stock and the City will need to prioritize this in the
future. The densities targeted in this category are over 10 dwelling units per acre. The primary zoning
districts that would generally correspond to this land use designation would be the R-3 Limited Multiple
Dwelling District and the R-4 Multiple Dwelling District.

Commercial
A. Neighborhood Commercial

Areas guided for Neighborhood Commercial are those intended to serve the nearby surrounding
area. Neighborhood commercial uses are small scale businesses that are generally compatible
with residential uses. These uses may include bakeries, drug stores, coffee shops, banks, small
offices and similar uses. Residential properties suitable for redevelopment should be analyzed as
potential neighborhood commercial uses. Single family homes located in and adjacent to the
CBD may be especially well suited for this.

B. General Commercial

General Commercial land uses are those that may have a wider draw beyond the nearby
surrounding area. They are larger in size than Neighborhood Commercial uses and are intended
to serve the entire community and potentially adjacent communities as well. They are generally
clustered together and situated along arterial roadways. North Mankato has traditionally been
underserved with these types of commercial uses but may create demand for some additional
general commercial uses as the population continues to grow. Because residents in the northern
parts of the city are generally farthest from the City of Mankato, it is anticipated that there will
be demand for additional commercial uses as this area continues to grow and develop.

Properties at all corners, except for the northwest corner of the intersection of Lor Ray Drive
and Howard Drive have been guided for General Commercial use despite having a different
existing land use. The City values these existing uses and will wait to rezone these properties
until the current property owners are prepared to sell or redevelop the sites so as to not make
these uses non-conforming. In the case of the existing industrial businesses at this intersection,
the City may consider negotiating a land swap for property in the Northport Industrial Park. The
City views General Commercial as the best use for these sites long term.

The City anticipates redevelopment opportunities east and west of Lookout Drive between Carol
Court and Commerce Drive. Redevelopment of this area could incorporate new General
Commercial uses in the future. See Chapter 5: Economic Development for more details.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
22



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The property at the northeast corner of Pleasant View Drive and CSAH 41, adjacent to the
Highway 14 interchange, is guided for future commercial development based on its proximity to
Highway 14 and the Pleasant View Drive roundabout. In addition to existing city regulations,
commercial signage and lighting proposals for commercial uses on the site should minimize the
effect of their presence on the surrounding residential neighborhood. In addition, the use of
landscaping berms and trees should be incorporated along the east side of the property and the
south side from Raymond Drive to the east property line. In an attempt to direct commercial
traffic to the Pleasant View Drive roundabout, appropriate signage will be installed by the City.

C. Central Business District

The Central Business District is generally the
property adjacent to Belgrade Avenue
between Highway 169 and property just west
of Center Street. This land use category is a
mixed-use district for a combination of
residential and commercial uses. It has
historically served as the City’s Central
Business District and, ideally, will contain a
wide mix of commercial uses which bring
people to the area for a variety of different
reasons. Although a number of single-family
homes currently exist in the Central Business
District, new residential development should
be consistent with medium or high-density
districts. Increasing the residential population
in the downtown will help support a healthy business environment and allow more people to be
able to walk to their destinations.

Buildings should be located close to the street and parking should be located in the rear or side
of properties. Streetscape improvements that enhance the pedestrian realm, such as street
trees, outdoor seating, public art, street lighting, should be prioritized here. The City should
continue to work with business owners and encourage facade improvements by connecting
them to grant and funding opportunities.

A number of the community’s small businesses are located here. It is also the location for
several community events throughout the year. Rather than guiding individual parcels for a
specific use, this district provides flexibility in that it envisions commercial, residential, or a
combination of both.

Industrial
A. Light Industrial

Light Industrial uses include all forms of businesses with manufacturing, distribution,
warehousing or other industrial uses that are less intense and may have fewer of the negative
impacts to surrounding properties generally associated with industrial uses such as noise, odor,
dust or low-quality aesthetics. As a result, these uses can be in closer proximity to residential,
commercial, park and open space uses, without causing as many negative impacts as might
occur with Heavy Industrial uses.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
23



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

B. Heavy Industrial

Heavy Industrial uses also

include manufacturing,

distribution, warehousing or

other industrial uses;

however, these uses are

generally more intensive than

light industrial uses. This

means that the nature of

activity typically requires

more land, generates more

noise and truck traffic, and

may involve outdoor storage.

Areas guided as new Heavy

Industrial are located in the

Northport Industrial Park,

located north of US Highway

14 and near Lookout Drive.

The new interchange at CSAH 41 and US Highway 14 improves access to other sites and
minimizes the number of semi-trucks on arterial roadways. In addition, there is a significant
amount of undeveloped land to the northwest that is currently outside the City limits, which
could be added in the future.

C. Commercial/Industrial Mixed Use

This land use designation is intended to provide flexibility in that it allows for commercial or
industrial uses. There are many uses already in the City of North Mankato that may be
appropriate in either an industrial or commercial zoning district. This plan calls for the creation
of a new zoning district that accommodates this existing mix and provides flexibility depending
on market demand by allowing for a wider variety of uses. There are two key areas guided for
this land use designation: north of the interchange at Highway 14 and CSAH 41 in Northport
Industrial Park and along the north side of Commerce Drive between Lor Ray Drive and Lookout
Drive.

Despite much of the surrounding area being guided for Heavy Industrial, the Commercial/
Industrial Mixed-Use area north of the interchange at Highway 14 and CSAH 41 is intended to
accommodate commercial uses that may also wish to locate in this area due to the proximity of
the interchange. There are few other parcels north of Highway 14 that are guided for
commercial use on the Future Land Use Map. Therefore, this area provides an opportunity to
provide additional commercial uses where they may be underserved. For the
Commercial/Industrial Mixed-Use area along Commerce Drive, this designation is intended to
accommodate the existing mix of uses that may be appropriate in either a commercial or
industrial zoning district and supports a continuation of these types of uses.

In developing a new commercial/industrial mixed use zoning district, the City must determine
the types of commercial and industrial uses that can easily coexist. Therefore, any permitted
industrial uses should be those more closely associated with light industrial uses; those being
uses that are cleaner from an aesthetic standpoint and have fewer impacts to adjacent
properties. Due to the location of these mixed-use areas along key roadways with high visibility,

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
24



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

commercial uses envisioned would be those more closely aligned with General Commercial
uses. These types of uses have a wider draw than Neighborhood Commercial uses, may be
larger in scale, and generate higher traffic volumes.

Central Redevelopment District

This specialized land use designation applies
specifically to the property located on the west side
of Lor Ray Drive between Howard Drive and Carlson
Drive. This site currently contains Camelot Park, a
manufactured home community. The manufactured
home community is an asset to the broader
community in that it is well maintained and provides
an affordable housing option for residents. The City
supports the continuation of this use until the
property owner chooses to redevelop. Should this
occur, the City views the redevelopment of this
property as a significant opportunity due to the key
location of the property. In the event of
redevelopment, a mix of uses is envisioned, including
a combination of park, regional multi- sport facilities,
institutional, residential, and commercial land uses.
The exact layout and quantity of each type of use is
not known at this time and a future planning study
should be performed prior to site redevelopment.
Redevelopment of this area could be a great
opportunity for a public/private partnership between
the City, school district, and private developers.

Park and Open Space

This land use category includes all City parks, as well as natural preserve areas such as woods and
wetlands. As new residential subdivisions develop, sufficient park and open space should be added to
serve new residents.

The property located at 1955 Howard Drive West, West Central International is currently used and
guided for industrial purposes. The northernmost portion of the property is currently undeveloped. In
the future, if the property owner were interested in subdividing the property, the City may be interested
in acquiring this property for additional park land space to contribute to the Caswell Park regional park
area; however, the City also supports a continuation of industrial uses at the site should the property
owner desire to do so.

Required Zoning Changes

The City has adopted zoning regulations for the purpose of carrying out the policies and goals of the land
use plan element of the Comprehensive Plan. The application of zoning districts and the specific
regulations should support the objectives of the Plan. As a result, an outcome of adopting the plan will
be the review and modification of the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map as necessary.

The land use plan provides the basis for guiding zoning decisions that will be made by the City and
private property owners. Minnesota Statutes Section 462.357 states that “...the planning agency shall
study and propose to the governing body reasonable and practical means for putting the plan into

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
25



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

effect. Subject to the limitations of the following sections, such means include, but not limited to, zoning
regulations, for the subdivision of land, an official map...”

This statute anticipates that the zoning regulations will be reviewed and updated to ensure
implementation of the land use plan. In a broad sense, this review of the zoning ordinance should
examine the following:

The regulations for each zoning district should be reviewed to determine if they fit with the intent of the
Comprehensive Plan.

Zoning districts should be examined in relationship to the land use designation. Changes in zoning
districts may be needed to match zoning with land use.

The City will need to thoroughly review and update its Ordinances to address inconsistencies and
conflicts to integrate the concepts described in this Comprehensive Plan. Updating the Zoning Ordinance
will be a large undertaking that will require significant input, time and energy.

One of the policy decisions the City will need to make is how to implement the land use plan through
the zoning map. Unlike the Metropolitan Land Planning Act (Minnesota Statutes Section 473), which
requires consistency between the land use plan and zoning in cities within the Twin Cities metropolitan
area, North Mankato may choose to take a number of implementation strategies. Each has varying
implications for existing property uses and current zoning. The strategies include, but are not limited to,
the following:

e Keep current zoning in place until such time as the use terminates or redevelopment is initiated.

e Rezone property to a zoning district compatible with a land use plan category.

e Develop an interim strategy to address current use situations as they relate to long term
objectives.

CHAPTER 3: LAND USE & GROWTH MANAGEMENT LAND USE PLAN
26



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 4: Housing

INTRODUCTION

Housing is an important component of all communities. Not only do the quality, availability,
affordability, and diversity of housing enhance the quality of life in a city, it also supports economic
development and contributes to a community’s sense of place.

Housing is not a single, one size fits all, commodity. Personal housing needs change as life passes from
young, single adults to family, to elderly. This chapter provides an inventory and analysis of North
Mankato’s existing housing and paints a broad picture of future residential development.

PREVIOUS AND ONGOING HOUSING RELATED PLANS
North Mankato Rental Density Study and Ordinance (2016)

The North Mankato Rental Density Study explored the effects of
properties within the community and provided revisions to Chapter
151, Section 18 of the North Mankato City Code to address the
increasing conversion of single-family, owner-occupied,
residential homes in low-density residential districts to
multi-family.

North Mankato Housing Study (2021)

The City studied its residential housing
stock to identify needs and set targets for
various types of housing options including
single-family detached, single-family
attached, and multi-family including
apartments and senior living facilities. Findings
from the Study are incorporated as necessary to
help shape North Mankato housing goals,
objectives, and policies.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INTRODUCTION
27



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

2021 NORTH MANKATO HOUSING STUDY
The following are key highlights from the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study:

Finding
North Mankato is
a Growing
Community:
Housing Unit
Demand Exists in
All Categories:

Home Ownership
Housing is in
Demand:

Rental Housing
Needed:

Senior Housing
Demand is Low:

DEETS
North Mankato’s population is growing.
In 2020, it was up 1,085 (8.1%) from
2010.

City Targets
Target an additional 1,600-2,255
(1.1%- 1.6%) population growth by
2030

The City added approximately 50
households annually from 2010-2020.

Target housing unit increase to 74
units per year to spur population
growth.

e Age groups inclined to purchase
homes are increasing (i.e. Ages 33-44
and 65+)

¢ Single-family are most constructed

Target 49-50 owner-occupied,
single-family homes per year

¢ Very low vacancy on all rental types
(i.e. market rate, tax credit, subsidized
units).

Target 25 units per year

¢ Unused capacity in Greater Mankato
e Growth in 65+ will increase demand

Re-evaluate needs in the future as

65+ population increases

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

The 2015 Comprehensive Plan examined estimates of housing unit supply and characteristics provided
by the U.S. Census Bureau’s American Community Survey (ACS). While Census data is generally
acceptable when observing a community’s big picture, it’s estimates contain margins of error that can
skew that picture. In 2021, the city of North Mankato completed a housing study which takes a deeper
dive into housing unit construction from 2011-2020. Data from both sources is integrated into this
chapter as appropriate to provide the most accurate “snapshot” of current housing trends in the City
during the development of this plan.

Housing Supply
A. Quantity and Types of Housing Units

Table 4-1 shows data from the 2000-2020 ACS regarding the quantity and types of housing units in
North Mankato compared to Nicollet County and the state of MN. The ACS estimates that in 2020
there were 6,015 housing units in North Mankato, which is 283 more units than identified in 2010.
Roughly 63.7% of those were single-family detached houses, which is lower than the county (67.8%)
and the state (67.0%). Roughly 6.2% were single-family attached units (townhouses), which is
slightly higher than the county (5.8%) but lower than the state (7.4%). The City had a slightly higher
percentage of multi-family housing than the county (and a slightly lower percentage than the state.
There was no data available for the Mankato Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA).

According to the 2020 ACS, there were decreases in the number of single-family attached, 2—4-unit
multi-family, and mobile homes. As noted in Table 4-1, a decrease in the number of units is unlikely.
Based on known trends in the community, the decrease shown in the data is likely due to the margin
of error occurring ACS statistics. Also, ACS data estimates are conservative, showing only 283
additional units in the City over the 2010-2020 timeframe.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

28



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 4-1. Housing Supply by Type - 2000 - 2020

2020

. ) 2020
Housing Type Nicollet State %
County %

Single-Family Detached | 3,066 64.5% 3,430 59.8% 3,831 63.7% 67.8% 67.0%
Single-Family Attached 252 5.3% 380 6.6% 372 6.2% 5.8% 7.4%
2-4 Unit Multi-Family 459 9.7% 597 10.4% 426 7.1% 5.8% 4.1%
5+ Unit Multi-Family 728 15.3% 931 16.2% 1,104 18.4% 14.9% 18.2%
Mobile Home 247 5.2% 394 6.9% 282 4.7% 5.3% 3.2%
Total Units 4,752 100% 5,732 100% 6,015 100% 100% 100%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2000-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates
Note: Its unlikely that estimates for 2020 Single-Family Attached or 2-4 Unit Multi-Family homes would have decreased within the 2010 to 2020

timeframe. This decrease is likely due to high margins of error in the ACS calculations.
Building permit data from the City of North Mankato (referenced from the 2021 Housing Study)
shows the construction of 527 housing units over the period from 2010 through 2020 which is
significantly higher than those estimated in the ACS. Data indicates that over that period, the City
constructed 279 (53%) single-family detached, 113 (21%) single-family attached, and 135 (26%)
multi-family housing units.
Despite the differences between the ACS and City data, the ACS reported that the period from 2000
to 2010 exhibited substantially more housing unit construction than the period from 2010 to 2020
with an estimated 980 units vs. 283 units respectively over the 10-year periods (Figure 4-1).

Source: US Census Bureau, 2000-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.

B. Characteristics of Household Type

Table 4-2 compares the distribution of family and non-family households in North Mankato, the
county, the MSA, and the state in 2010 and 2020. North Mankato’s family households did not
exhibit the same increase as comparison geographies from 2010 to 2020. North Mankato family
households increased by 2.9%, which is similar to the state (3.4%), but lower than the county
(5.5%) and the MSA (8.9%) over the decade.

The number of households reported by the ACS is somewhat conservative compared to 2020
data used in the 2021 Housing Study reported by Esri (Environmental Systems Research
Institute) which shows that there was 8.9% growth over the period from 2010 to 2020.
Regardless of this, data show that the number of households continues to grow, but at a
decreasing rate as shown in Figure 4.1.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
29



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 4-2. Household Type Distribution - 2010 - 2020
2010 Change #/%

North |Nicollet

Household [North

Total  fe 102112,150 36,039 |2,085,917|5,705 | 12,821 39,211 | 2,207,988 303 | 671 | 3,172 |122,071
Households: (5.6%) | (5.5%) | (8.8%) | (5.9%)
Total Familyl, /ol g 018 |21,020(1,358,178]3,556| 8,457 | 23,861 1,404,708] 100 | 439 | 1,941 146,620
Households: (2.9%) | (5.5%) | (8.9%) | (3.4%)
ToFta”'\llon_ 1,946| 4132 |14.119| 727,739 |2,149| 4,364 |15350| 803,190 | 203 | 232 | L2311 75451

amity 1% ' ' ' ' ' ' ' (10.4%) | (5.6%) | (8.7%) | (10.4%)
Households:

Married I, oc9l 6,530 |17,673 1,082,905]2,759 | 6,764 |18,433|1,110,550] 190 | 234 | 760 [27,645

Couple: (-3.5%) | (3.6%) | (4.3%) | (2.6%)

Male
Household, |\ /o | 458 | 1340 | 82,987 | 273 | 610 | 2,096 | 95422 | 130 | 182 | 756 | 12435

no Wife (90.9%) | (42.5%) | (56.4%)| (15%)
Present:

Female
Household, | /) | 1 060 | 2,007 | 192,286 | 524 | 1,083 | 3332 | 198,826 | 7° 23 425 1 6,540
no Husband (15.4%) | (2.2%) | (14.6%)| (3.4%)
Present:

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

C. Comparison of Owner-Occupied and Renter-Occupied Units

It is important for communities to have a mixture of both owner-occupied and renter-occupied
units. In general, many communities strive to have roughly 65-70% of their housing units owner-
occupied. In 2020, approximately 72.6% of the housing units in North Mankato were owner-
occupied, which is less than the county (73.5%) but higher than the MSA and the state (71.9%).

Refer to Tables 4-3 and 4-4, for additional information.

In the past, it was becoming increasingly common for the city of North Mankato to have owner-
occupied, single-family homes sold and converted to rentals. While conversion of some owner-
occupied homes to rental housing is necessary to accommodate market forces and provide

housing choices, too much turnover within established neighborhoods can have a detrimental
impact.

The City completed the Rental Density Study in 2016 to identify issues related to the increasing
conversion of single-family and two-family, owner-occupied, residential homes to renter-
occupied homes in R-A, R-1, R-1S, and R-2 residential zoning districts. The study findings
informed revisions to Chapter 151, Section 18 of the North Mankato City Code to place a cap on
the number of rental licenses that can be issued to dwelling units in these zoning districts.

Table 4-3. Owner- Vs. Renter-Occupied Housing Tenure - 2020

Occupied Units

Owner-Occupied Units

Renter-Occupied Units

North Mankato 5,705 4,139 72.6% 1,566 27.4%
Nicollet County 12,821 9,420 73.5% 3,401 26.5%
MSA 40,715 27,828 68.3% 12,887 31.7%

State| 2,207,988 1,588,611 71.9% 619,377 28.1%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

30



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 4-4. Housing Tenure by Type - 2020
Owner-Occupied Renter-Occupied

UnitsPer | North Mankato | | North Mankato |

;‘:ti';zm”y 3,450 | 84.4% | 87.2% | 85.7% | 85.3% | 212 |13.5% | 17.5% | 17.7% | 19.2%
Single-Family

Attached 279 | 6.8% | 5.0% | 42% | 78% | 93 | 59% | 9.1% | 10.1% | 8.3%
2-4 Unit Multi-

Family 62 | 1.5% | 08% | 08% | 1.2% | 355 | 22.7% | 19.1% | 17.2% | 11.7%
5+ Unit Multi-

Family 31 08% | 03% | 1.6% | 2.7% | 892 |57.0% | 53.0% | 53.1% | 59.3%
Mobile Home 268 | 6.6% | 66% | 7.7% | 3.0% | 14 | 09% | 1.4% | 1.9% | 1.5%
Total Units 4,090 | 100% | 100% | 100% | 100% | 1,566 | 100% | 100% | 100% | 100%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Since the adoption of the revised Code, the City has limited the number of rental licenses issued to
10% of properties per block which has limited the conversion of homes to rentals throughout the
city, thus preserving the community’s residential character.

D. Vacancies

Today, the city of North Mankato has an overall housing vacancy rate of 4.4%, which is 0.4% lower
than the vacancy rate for the county, nearly 2% lower than the MSA, and almost 5% lower than the
state. North Mankato had a lower vacancy rate than comparison geographies in 2010 also. Vacancy
rates for all comparison geographies have decreased across the board with the City and County
decreasing approximately 0.4% and the state decreasing by 1.8%. Low vacancy rates indicate a need
for more housing units and data from this and the 2021 Housing Study show there is a shortage of
options in all housing categories.

Table 4-5. Vacant Housing - 2020

North Mankato | County | MsA | state |
# % % % %

Year
%
2000 302 6.0% 5.3% N/A 8.3%
2010 284 | 4.8% | 5.2% N/A | 11.1%
2020 270 44% | 4.8% | 6.2% | 9.3%
Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year
Estimates

E. Value of Housing

The median value of owner-occupied housing units in North Mankato in 2020 was $207,600 — up
23.4% (or $39,300) from the median value in 2010 of $168,300. Housing valued in the range of
$200,000 to $299,000 is the largest concentration of owner-occupied housing using units in North
Mankato, consisting of 38% of total owner-occupied units. The 2015 Comprehensive Plan suggested
there was a relatively small choice of higher valued housing units in North Mankato in 2012, as
92.8% of housing is valued below $300,000. This percentage has since decreased, with roughly 85%
of housing valued below $300,000 in 2020.

The 2020 median values of owner-occupied housing in the county, the MSA, and the state were
$205,000, $198,100 and $235,700 respectively. Refer to Table 4-6 for additional information.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
31



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

F.

Table 4-6. Owner-Occupied Housing by Value - 2020

Nicollet

North Mankato i MSA State of MN
Owner-Occupied Units 4,139 100.0% 9,363 25,321 1,551,290
Less than $50,000 343 8.3% 7.0% 7.5% 5.1%
$50,000 to $99,999 95 2.3% 6.7% 7.2% 8.5%
$100,000 to $149,999 541 13.1% 17.5% 19.2% 13.8%
$150,000 to $199,999 974 23.5% 28.0% 25.7% 18.9%
$200,000 to $299,999 1,571 38.0% 27.0% 25.5% 27.0%
$300,000 to $499,999 456 11.0% 11.6% 12.0% 19.4%
$500,000 to $999,999 110 2.7% 1.8% 2.5% 6.2%
$1,000,000 or more 49 1.2% 0.4% 0.4% 1.1%
Median (dollars) 5$207,600 $205,000 | $198,100 | $235,700

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Owner monthly Costs as Percentage of Household Income

Housing decisions should not be based solely on the value of housing, but also the cost of
housing expenses in relation to household income. In general, housing costs (taxes, insurance,
principal, interest, etc.) should not exceed 30% of total household income.

The North Mankato Housing Study references data from the ACS which indicates that North
Mankato exhibited a substantial increase of 21.4% in median household income over the period
from 2015 to 2019. In 2019, median income was $67,278, which was the highest increase
among geographies examined. 64% of households in North Mankato had incomes greater than
$50,000 which was lower than the MSA but higher than the county and the state at the time.

In 2020, 21.4% of homeowners (with a mortgage) in North Mankato had monthly costs that
were 30% or more of their household income, compared to 23% in the county and 22.2% in the
MSA, and 21.6% in the state. This is a 7% decrease from the 28.1% of homeowners in 2012
(from the 2015 North Mankato Comprehensive Plan) spending more than 30% on housing costs.
Refer to Table: 4-7. These figures suggest that housing was generally equally affordable

Table 4-7. Owner Monthly Costs as Percent of Household Income - 2020*
North Mankato

# of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units

Total (# of Units) 2,781 100.0% 100% 100% 100%
Less than 20% 1,437 51.7% 52.0% 52.2% 51.8%
20%to 24.9% 450 16.2% 14.5% 16.1% 16.3%
25%t0 29.9% 299 10.8% 10.5% 9.5% 10.2%
30% to 34.9% 71 2.6% 4.4% 5.8% 6.2%
35% or more 524 18.8% 18.5% 16.4% 15.4%
Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

* Housing Units with a Mortgage

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING

32



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

compared to the comparison geographies. They also suggest that about one out of five
homeowners in North Mankato may find it difficult to make their mortgage payments.

Consequently, some may default on their loans and others may find it difficult to keep up with
household maintenance and repairs.

G. Contract Rent

The 2015 Comprehensive Plan reported that in 2012, rental housing units accounted for roughly
26.9% of the occupied housing units in North Mankato. As of 2020, the number of renter-
occupied units has increased to 28.9%.

In 2012, roughly 82.6% of the renter-occupied units had a monthly rent of $500 or more. This

has increased to nearly 93%, which is higher than all other geographies by a margin of 9.5% to
12.5%.

The percentage of those paying more than $500 for rent in the county, MSA, and state were
83.4%, 83.1%, and 80.4% respectively. Refer to Table 4-8 for additional information. Figure 4-2
shows the significant rent increase that occurred from 2000 to 2020.

Table 4-8. Renter-Occupied Housing Units by Gross Rent - 2020

- North Mankato | coumty | wsa | ostate

| #ofunits | %ofunits | %ofunits [ %ofunits | %ofunits |

Total Units Paying Rent 1,566 100.0% 3,401 13,621 619,377
Less than $200 0 0.0% 3.0% 1.7% 2.7%
$200-$299 9 0.6% 2.8% 2.8% 4.5%
$300-5499 84 5.4% 8.5% 9.1% 8.3%
$500-5749 640 40.9% 31.5% 28.9% 16.8%
$750-5999 525 33.5% 31.6% 25.0% 23.4%
$1,000 to $1,499 174 11.1% 14.2% 21.7% 27.1%
$1,500 or more 116 7.4% 6.0% 7.5% 13.1%
Median (Dollars) 818 - 836 857 944
No Rent Paid 18 1.1% 2.3% 3.2% 4.1%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

The 2021 North Mankato Housing Study reports that, while there was a 12.2% increase in
homeowner income since 2010 (2019 ACS estimates), renter income exhibited little to no increase
(less than 0.3%). This proves homeowners are positioned to absorb increased housing costs while

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

33



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

renters are not, justifying the need for more affordable housing options in the City.

H. Renter Monthly Costs as Percentage of Household Income

J.

In 2020, 39.6% of renters Table 4-9. Gross Rent as Percent of Household Income - 2020

paid over 30% of their North Manlato | County | Msa_ | State _
household incore in rent ot Unt o s f nis ot Units [ f Unis

(Table 4-9). This is a slight
decrease from the 40.2% Total Specified Units | 1,593 100.0% | 100.0% | 100.0% 100.0%

0, 0, 0, 0, 0,
recorded in the 2012 ACS Less than 15% 255 15.3% 14.8% 13.2% 13.0%
15% to 19.9% 191 11.5% 16.8% 12.1% 12.9%

(2015 Comprehensive

Plan). This is slightly higher 20% to 24.9% 279 16.8% 14.8% 12.2% 13.0%
than the county (38%) but 25% 10 29.9% 209 12.6% 11.4% 10.6% 11.6%
significantly lower than the 30% to 34.9% 85 5.1% 7.1% 9.0% 8.8%
MSA (46.2%) and the state 35% or more 574 34.5% 30.8% ‘ 37.2% 35.2%
(44%), Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year

. Estimates
Age and Maintenance of

Housing Stock

In 2020, roughly 48.5%
(2,891 units)gofythe Citoy’s Table 4-10. Year Structure Built
S using uni North Mankato | County | MsaA | state |
housing units were Year Built _
constructed before 1980. m

Just 14.2% of the housing  Built 2010 or Later 527 8.8% 5.0% 7.6% 5.7%
units in North Mankato Built 2000 to 2009 793 13.3% | 183% | 16.1% | 13.7%
were built before 1940. Built 1990 to 1999 823 13.8% | 13.8% | 11.9% | 13.5%
The number of new Built 1980 to 1989 931 15.6% | 115% | 102% | 12.6%
housing units builtsince g i1+ 1970 t0 1979 669 | 11.2% | 12.8% | 13.3% | 14.8%
o)
2010 (8.8%) {S}?e;e:\;iyp‘ Built 1960 to 1969 574 9.6% | 104% | 9.5% 9.4%
(C;’gi/'s)tznt :\V_'th t fh Built 1950 to 1959 451 7.6% 7.6% 8.1% 9.7%
. u | er an

° s Built 1940 to 1949 347 5.8% 4.2% 4.3% 4.5%
the county (5.0%) and the | ’ - . - .
state (5.7%) (Table 4-10). Built 1939 or Earlier 850 14.2% 16.4% 18.9% 16.1%

Totals 5,965 100% 13,600 ‘ 42,391 |2,458,030

Residential Construction Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year

Estimates; City of North Mankato Building Permit Data ( City of North Mankato
building permit data was used for calculating the total units from 1990 to 2020. The
total number of units and percentages have been modified from the ACS dataset to
reflect this change ).

527 new housing units
were added in North
Mankato between 2010
and 2020. This includes
135 multi-family units and 392 single-family homes. Single-family units include all single-family
detached (single dwelling per lot) and single-family attached (townhomes, duplexes, etc.). More
information on housing types can be referenced in the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study.
Single-family home construction averaged about 25.4 homes per year during that timeframe.
The first four years of this decade (2010-2013) have averaged lower numbers at about 24 homes
per year. Single-family home construction peaked during the last decade in 2017, with
construction of 54 single-family homes and 32 multi-family homes that year.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

34



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Data shown in Table 4-11 and Figure 4-3 is derived from City records referenced in the 2021
North Mankato Housing Study. The City used the Housing Study to determine North Mankato’s
performance in the Greater Mankato (herein defined as Mankato, North Mankato, Eagle Lake)
housing market to ensure it maintains its share based on population proportion. At the time of
the study, North Mankato'’s

population made up 23% of the Table 4-11. North Mankato Housing Construction Activity
Greater Mankato area. 2010 to 2020

According to the Housing Study, Single-Family | Multi-family :
. Year . . Total Units
North Mankato remains strong Units Units
23 0 23

in the single-family detached

housing market, exceeding its 2010

share while capturing 32% of 2011 19 10 29
the market over the 2010-2020 2012 39 8 47
period. However, North 2013 41 17 58
Mankato captured only 15% of 2014 40 16 56
the market for single-family 2015 60 12 72
attached housing stock and 6% 2016 21 8 29
of multi-family units, indicating 2017 54 32 86
the City should diversify 2018 34 8 42
housing stock, increasing those 2019 24 3 32
housing types. 2020 37 16 53
Overall, the Housing Study Totals 392 135 527

suggests that North Mankato is
capturing only 18-19% of the

Source: City Records

Source: City of North Mankato Records

market area housing unit construction and while targeting 23%. The City hopes to construct
more housing to spur population growth and fill any housing option gaps that exist. The City can
accomplish capturing 23% of the market by constructing 74 housing units annually including 35
single-family detached units, 14 single-family attached units, and 25 multi-family units per year.
Refer to the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study for more information.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
35



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

K. Plumbing, Kitchen, and Telephone

The ACS identified that of the 5,705 occupied housing units in North Mankato in 2020 and
estimated that 94 lacked complete plumbing facilities, 65 lacked complete kitchen facilities, and
102 had no telephone service. The City maintains that, while data from the ACS is reliable, there
is a margin of error to take into account that may skew estimations. While it may be likely that
telephone service is down due to increased cellular usage and a decreasing need for a land line,
it is unlikely from the City’s view and knowledge of housing that the estimated lack of plumbing
and kitchen facilities are accurate. High margins of error support the City’s point of view.

L. Tenure by Age of Householder

Table 4-12 and Figure 4 show the distribution of the owner-occupied and renter-occupied
housing units in North Mankato in the year 2020. The figures break down the number of units
by the age cohort, as housing needs tend to differ at key stages of a person’s life. The figures
also show the gradual change in the rate of homeownership within the City.

Rental housing is generally most popular with young adults (35 and under) as well as older
seniors (75+) in the State of Minnesota. The same is true in North Mankato as there is a lower
ownership percentage for younger and older age groups in comparison to those that are more
middle aged. With the low cost generally associated with the cost of renting as well as the
flexibility in housing situations, young households typically find renting as the preferred housing
option. Increased burdens of home maintenance can make rental housing a desirable
alternative for seniors.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
36



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 4-12. Household Tenure by Age of Householder - 2020

North Mankato County MSA m

# of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units

Household (HH) Age

Owner HHs
15-24 87 2.1% 1.2% 1.5% 1.1%
25-34 552 13.3% 12.4% 13.7% 11.7%
35-44 802 19.4% 18.1% 17.7% 17.4%
45-54 784 18.9% 19.3% 18.0% 19.5%
55-64 928 22.4% 22.4% 21.5% 22.9%
65-74 623 15.1% 17.6% 16.9% 16.5%
75+ 363 8.8% 9.1% 10.7% 11.0%
Total Owner HHs 4,139 100% 100% 100% 100%
North Mankato
# of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units
Renter HHs
15-24 149 9.5% 10.3% 32.3% 12.1%
25-34 516 33.0% 29.5% 24.9% 27.4%
35-44 260 16.6% 14.4% 11.6% 16.5%
45-54 122 7.8% 10.1% 9.6% 12.4%
55-64 137 8.7% 10.6% 8.5% 12.2%
65-74 85 5.4% 6.6% 4.5% 7.9%
75+ 297 19.0% 18.5% 8.6% 11.4%
Total Renter HHs 1,566 100% 100% 100% 100%
North Mankato
# of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units % of Units
Total HHs

15-24 236 4.1% 3.6% 12.2% 4.2%
25-34 1,068 18.7% 16.9% 17.6% 16.1%
35-44 1,062 18.6% 17.1% 15.6% 17.1%
45-54 906 15.9% 16.9% 15.1% 17.5%
55-64 1,065 18.7% 19.3% 16.9% 19.9%
65-74 708 12.4% 14.7% 12.6% 14.1%
75+ 660 11.6% 11.6% 10.0% 11.1%
Total Households 5,705 100% 100% 100% 100%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
37



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Life-Cycle Housing and Profile of Households

The housing needs of a community relate to the demographic profile of the household. Typically,
households move through several life-cycle stages; including entry-level households, first time
homeowners, move-up buyers, empty nesters/young seniors, and older seniors.

The following describes each of these household types and the effect that they have on housing
demands in North Mankato.

A. Entry-Level Households

People in the 19- to 24-year-old age group typically leave their childhood home and establish
their own household. They often rent a house or an apartment because they generally do not
have the income and savings needed to buy a home. In addition, many people in this age group
move frequently, so they are hesitant to buy a house. They are also more apt to share housing
with other unrelated people of similar age.

The entry-level household population in North Mankato will fluctuate annually. Many North
Mankato residents that graduate from high school move to other communities to attend a
university or to pursue other job opportunities. In the long term, unless current conditions and
trends change, North Mankato will not see significant increase in the 19- to 24-year-old age

group.
B. First Time Homeowners

First time homeowners are typically in their 20s and 30s. They are usually “move-up” renters,
meaning they “move up” from an apartment to a home. They are often married with young
children and prone to moving within a few years of buying their first home for several reasons;
including, increased salaries allowing them to move to more expensive housing, an increased
number of children may require larger housing, and job opportunities may require that they
move to another community.

C. Move-Up Buyers

Move-up buyers are typically in their 30s and 40s. They move up from the smaller, less
expensive house that they had purchased earlier. From an economic growth perspective, this is
an important age group of people. Typically, move-up buyers have children in school and an
established job. They are less apt to move to another community and start over. Also,
professionals who are moving to a community to advance their career are generally looking to
move to a more expensive house than what they had in their previous community. North
Mankato should continue to ensure that it has adequate choices for those who are looking for
move-up housing that will satisfy their needs until they are in their late 50s and beyond.

D. Empty Nesters and Young Seniors

Empty nesters and young seniors are generally in their 50s and 60s. Often, their children have
moved out of their house and left them with a larger house than needed. Empty nesters and
young seniors often want to live in a smaller house, like a townhouse, that has less
maintenance.

As the baby boom generation moves into this age group, this population will likely increase in
North Mankato and there may also be a shift in this population group from

their homes into apartments. There has already been a notable increase in apartment rentals in

North Mankato by members of the baby boom generation.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
38



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

E. Old Seniors

Those in their 80s and older are often looking for low maintenance or assisted living housing.
Senior living community options in North Mankato include the Oak Terrace Senior Retirement
Community, Koppen Gardens, and Monarch Meadows. As the population ages, North Mankato
should continually ensure that it has adequate housing to meet the needs of seniors.

F. Special Needs

Housing for those with special needs includes housing for those with mental and/or physical
disabilities or health issues and those who are in need of temporary or transitional housing. The
number of people with special housing needs is expected to increase as the population of North
Mankato continues to age. Currently, Monarch Meadows, Oak Terrace Senior Retirement
Community, and Birchwood Cottages offer assisted living units and existing housing for those
with Alzheimer’s or dementia to help meet some of the special housing needs in North
Mankato.

Affordable Housing

The United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) generally defines housing as
affordable if it costs less than thirty (30) percent of a household’s income. However, HUD’s Section 8
Income Guidelines are the basis for most affordable housing programs. Section 8 guidelines define low
and moderate incomes on a sliding scale, depending on the number of persons in the family. For
example, a four-person household is considered “moderate income” if their family income is eighty (80)
percent of the area’s median family income.

It is noted most housing affordability programs and data place emphasis on creating owner- occupied
units at eighty (80) percent of the median family income (moderate income) and rental units at fifty (50)
percent of the median family income (low income). Since low-income persons are typically renters, the
definition of “low income” is tied to the number of persons in each unit. This plan identifies “affordable
Owner-Occupied units” as those affordable for moderate income families (eighty (80) percent of median
income). Affordable rental units are based on fifty (50) percent of the median income and reflected on a
per capita and per family basis.

As mentioned previously, homeowner incomes have generally increased while renter’s have not. At the
time of this Comprehensive Plan update, market rate multi-family units dominate the rental inventory
and vacancy rates are low (0-1.5%) which means costs are high and availability is low. According to the
Housing Study, the City contained 185 tax credit units and 73 subsidized units in 2019, among which
vacancy rates were 0.7% and 2.7% respectively. Many sources indicate that a 5.0% vacancy rate is ideal
as it allows for normal turnover and an adequate supply of options for prospectives renters. The limited
availability means there are often waiting lists for prospective tenants. During this process, the need for
more affordable housing in the Greater Mankato area was significant and at the top of priority lists for
local agencies.

Income by Age of Householder

Looking at income data is also important when predicting future housing demands in the city of North
Mankato. In 2012 (data used in the 2015 Comprehensive Plan), the median household income was
$60,836 and the largest employment industries were educational, health and social services,
manufacturing, and retail trade. By 2020, the median household income increased to $71,023 and the
top employment industries were the same. The total population in 2020 age 16 and over was
approximately 10,603, of which approximately 75.3% were considered to be in the labor force. The

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
39



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

unemployment rate in the city of North Mankato in 2020 was approximately 3.7%. During this same
time, Minnesota had an unemployment rate of about 4.6%.

Table 4-13. Household Income by Age of Householder

2544 | 4564 | 65+ |
# % # % # #

Income # %

Less than $10,000 10 4% 42 2% 13 1% 43 3%
$10,000 to $14,999 0 0% 86 4% 116 6% 125 9%
$15,000 to $19,999 0 0% 141 7% 8 0% 37 3%
$20,000 to $24,999 49 21% 66 3% 27 1% 67 5%
$25,000 to $29,999 0 0% 28 1% 58 3% 98 7%
$30,000 to $34,999 45 19% 146 7% 72 4% 113 8%
$35,000 to $39,999 2 1% 24 1% 66 3% 62 5%
$40,000 to $44,999 20 8% 141 7% 38 2% 78 6%
$45,000 to $49,999 0 0% 110 5% 49 2% 62 5%
$50,000 to $59,999 42 18% 200 9% 61 3% 107 8%
$60,000 to $74,999 15 6% 181 8% 230 12% 132 10%
$75,000 to $99,999 21 9% 330 15% 274 14% 174 13%

$100,000 to $124,999 0 0% 275 13% 391 20% 95 7%

$125,000 to $149,999 0 0% 129 6% 137 7% 44 3%

$150,000 to $199,999 32 14% 144 7% 192 10% 35 3%

$200,000 or more 0 0% 87 4% 239 12% 96 7%
Total HHs 236 100% | 2130 | 100% | 1971 | 100% | 1368 \ 100%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Table 4-14. North Mankato Household Income - 2020

Income distributions as reported by the U.S. Census
Bureau can be compared to affordability standards

to determine how many households and families in
the city of North Mankato may require affordable

housing. Table 4-14 depicts the number of

households that may require affordable housing
(based on family income) as shown in the shaded
area. An estimated 2,329 households (41%) have
annual household incomes of less than 80% of the

median household income reported by the

American Community Survey in 2020.

#of HHs in
Income % of Total
Category
Less than $10,000 108 1.9%
$10,000 to $14,999 327 5.7%
$15,000 to $24,999 395 6.9%
$25,000 to $34,999 560 9.8%
$35,000 to $49,999 652 11.4%
$50,000 to $59,999 410 7.2%
$60,000 to $74,999 558 9.8%
$75,000 to $99,999 799 14.0%
$100,000 to $149,999 1,071 18.8%
$150,000 to $199,999 403 7.1%
$200,000 or more 422 7.4%
Total HHs 5,705 100.0%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community

Survey 5-Year Estimates

Table 4-15. Median Household and Family Income - 2020

North Mankato | Nicollet County| ___ MSA | __ State |

Median Household Income $71,023

$69,174

$63,288

$73,382

Median Family Income $96,558

$88,651

$83,590

$92,692

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010-2020 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

40



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

FUTURE POPULATION AND PROJECTIONS

The future housing projections assume a continued rate of 69 housing units constructed per year, which
has been the average number of units constructed over the past 25 years since 1995. This annual rate is
approaching the City’s construction target of 74 units per year to get back to historic levels of 1.6%
annual growth.

The following future population projections were developed by multiplying the number of future
housing units by the existing ratio of residents per household (2.42). Therefore, these projections
assume a continued rate of housing development of 69 units constructed per year and a constant ratio
of residents per household of 2.42. The City recognizes that there are many factors and demographic
trends that influence the number of housing units constructed and household size and that these
numbers will likely change from year to year.

Table 4-16. Future Population and Housing Projections

North Mankato Population | 14,275 | 15,07 | 15939 | 16,771 | 17,603 | 18,435 | 19,267 |
North Mankato Housing Units | 6,015 | 6,359 | 6,703 | 7,046 | 7,390 | 7,734 | 8,078 |

Source: City Records, US Census Bureau; *2020 population from 2020 US Census Bureau 2020 Decennial Census
HOUSING PROGRAMS AND ORGANIZATIONS

Many municipal powers related to housing come from the housing and redevelopment authority statues
as outlined in Minnesota Statutes, Section §469.001 to §469.047. The Housing and Redevelopment
Authority (HRA) Act lists the following activities as public purposes:

e To provide a sufficient supply to adequate, safe, and sanitary dwellings in order to protect the
health, safety, morals, and welfare of the citizens of the state;

e Toclear and redevelop blighted areas;

e To perform those duties according to comprehensive plans;

e Toremedy the shortage of housing for low- and moderate-income residents, and to redevelop
blighted areas, in situations in which private enterprises would not act without government
participation or subsidies; and

e In cities of the first class, to provide housing for persons of all incomes.

The city of North Mankato can partner or coordinate with various housing programs and organizations
that can help address the City’s housing needs. The following provides a brief overview of key housing
programs and organizations. However, many other government and non-government organizations can
help the City address its housing needs as well.

Minnesota Housing Finance Agency

Minnesota Housing has worked for over 40 years to provide access to safe, decent and affordable
housing across the state. The agency finances affordable housing for low- and moderate- income
individuals and has a national reputation as one of the finest housing agencies in the country. Minnesota
housing partners with for-profit, non-profit and government sectors to achieve its mission. Products and
services are provided to help Minnesotans buy and fix up their homes, for the purpose of stabilizing
neighborhoods, communities and families. Minnesota Housing also works to support the development
and preservation of affordable rental housing through both financing and long-term asset management.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING FUTURE POPULATION AND PROJECTIONS
41



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

On an annual basis, the City applies for MHFA funds to assist first time homebuyers.
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)

Operating as a department of the Federal Government, HUD awards grants and financing for a wide
variety of housing initiatives including housing development, home buying, rental assistance, avoiding
foreclosure and more. For a complete overview of programs visit the department’s website at
http://portal.hud.gov/ hudportal/HUD . As a HUD Entitlement Community, the city of North Mankato
receives an annual allocation of CDBG funds through HUD.

CommonBond Communities

CommonBond Communities is a Minnesota-based non-profit that provides affordable housing
throughout the Midwest. The organization develops, owns and manages affordable rental apartments
and townhomes for low income and disabled individuals and families. CommonBond operates within 50
cities in Minnesota, Wisconsin and lowa and serves over 5,400 housing units for over 8,500 people.

Northside Revivals

Northside Revivals is a home improvement program which offers incentives to homeowners completing
major remodeling projects valued at $20,000 or more. Financial incentives include a grant up to $3,000
and a 50% rebate on your building permit fees. Properties must be homesteaded, owner-occupied
homes at least 50 years old. There are no income or housing value limits for participants of this
program. Some eligible improvements include:

e Facade Improvements

e Building an addition

e Building a sunroom

e Finishing previously
unfinished space

e Constructing a covered
front porch

e Converting an attached
garage into livable space

As the grant and rebate offered will only cover a small portion of your project, a low-interest loan of up
to $25,000 is available at an interest rate of Prime +1%. Homeowners may borrow up to 100% of the
improved value of the property and take up to 20 years to repay.

VISION FOR HOUSING

The city of North Mankato has a high-quality housing stock and variety of options that allow residents to
find housing at all stages of life. Quality housing is available for all income and age ranges. Existing
homes have been well maintained and renovated, as the unique character of each neighborhood is
preserved. The City is open to creatively seeking opportunities to meet our housing needs and
responsibly providing our share of affordable housing. Housing in North Mankato continues to be a
strength in attracting young families to the area.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING VISION FOR HOUSING
42



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for housing, followed by a series of objectives and
policies intended to influence future housing development to align with the community visions in this
plan.

GOAL 1: Allow all people the opportunity to call North Mankato their home.
Objective 1.1: Accommodate a variety of housing options to ensure a diverse housing stock.

Policy 1.1.1: Update the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study every five years to re-
evaluate community housing needs and to gage if the City is achieving targeted housing
unit growth.

Policy 1.1.2: Attract a variety of residential developers to ensure a diversity of housing
styles, layouts and costs.

Policy 1.1.3: Provide a variety of different residential zoning districts that have varying
regulations with regard to setbacks, height, density, and lot coverage.

Policy 1.1.4: Ensure that land is available in applicable zoning districts to allow for senior
and assisted living facilities.

Policy 1.1.5: Target development of patio-type homes for “empty-nesters” age 55+
looking to downsize.

Objective 1.2: Provide quality and sufficient affordable housing that meets the area’s demand.
Policy 1.2.1: Work with developers on providing affordable market rate housing.

Policy 1.2.2: Explore opportunities for providing tax credit and subsidized housing units
for low-income individuals and families in North Mankato to meet the needs identified
in the 2021 North Mankato Housing Study.

Policy 1.2.3: Work with South Central College to understand the need for student
housing.

GOAL 2: Provide attractive and desirable residential properties.

Objective 2.1: Maintain residential properties to a high standard while encouraging
redevelopment opportunities.

Policy 2.1.1: Consider amendments to the zoning code that promote redevelopment
activities and allow residents to make reasonable additions to their homes.

Policy 2.1.2: Monitor “at risk” or “blighted” properties or areas and connect property
owners to housing improvement programs, loans and assistance opportunities for
rehabilitation.

Policy 2.1.3: Regularly analyze existing ordinances to ensure reasonable maintenance is
required to all residential property and make amendments as necessary. Proactively
address any properties where compliance is not being met.

Policy 2.1.4: Work with the North Mankato Port Authority to purchase blighted or
vacant homes for demolition.

Policy 2.1.5: Revisit the 2016 Rental Density Study to gage its effectiveness in minimizing
the turnover of owner-occupied single-family homes to rental units within established

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
43



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

neighborhoods. Explore outcomes and update section 151.18 of the North Mankato City
Code as necessary.

Policy 2.1.6: Maintain a rental licensing program that allows the City to enforce
compliance with existing codes and minimum standards.

Objective 2.2: Provide residential neighborhoods that are well designed.

Policy 2.2.1: For new development or redevelopment, consider streetscape
improvements such as attractive street lighting, boulevards, sidewalks on at least one
side of the street, landscaping and vegetation, and other amenities that enhance the
visual appearance of neighborhoods. Consider similar opportunities in existing
neighborhoods as street reconstruction projects occur.

Policy 2.2.2: Seek opportunities to provide additional green space and recreation
amenities in residential areas that may be lacking them.

Policy 2.2.3: Promote moderate and higher density housing in areas where appropriate,
such as within and near downtown, commercial areas, and along arterial roadways.
Promote development practices that result in low traffic volumes near low density
residential areas.

Policy 2.2.4: Promote residential development that occurs in an orderly manner
consistent with the future land use plan and that makes efficient and responsible use of
municipal utilities and infrastructure expansion.

CHAPTER 4: HOUSING GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
44



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 5: Economic Development

INTRODUCTION

A strong business community is the cornerstone of a vibrant city. Economic development encompasses
the policies and activities that improve the long term economic and social wellbeing of the community.
Communities with strong economies have financial resources to support the levels of service that their
residents need and desire. Successful communities realize that economic development is about bringing
together social, natural, infrastructure, and economic assets in the community to sustain the “whole”
community.

The City experienced much success after

completing the first Comprehensive Plan in 2015.

Following the recommendations from that Plan,

the City completed several small area plans and

studies to assess the potential for economic

development throughout the community. These

plans include the Belgrade Avenue Master Plan,

Commerce Drive Area Development Plan, the

Northwest Growth Area Plan, the Webster

Avenue Area Plan, and the Lookout Drive Area

Plan. These have resulted in targeted efforts to

promote investment in the community by the

City and private developers. For instance, since Figure 5-1. Infill development on the 200 Block of
the development of the Belgrade Avenue Master Belgrade Avenue.

Plan, major development has taken place on both

the north and south sides of the 200 Block of Belgrade Avenue which opened up other opportunities in
the downtown for redevelopment and economic impact. The City plans to continue proactively planning
for economic development into the future.

PREVIOUS AND ONGOING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING

Several past and ongoing efforts focused on economic development in North Mankato have been
reviewed as part of developing this chapter. Some of these efforts remain more relevant than others
and all have contributed to economic development efforts in the City.

Previous studies and materials that focus on economic development in the area and guide the
recommendations in this chapter include:

Envision 2020 (2006)

This document was a long-range regional community plan involving over 200 community stakeholders in
2006. The plan included an economic development vision which supported a “high quality of life for all
its citizens” and advocated for progress in several areas. A 2014 progress report highlighted some of the
successes due to the Envision 2020 visioning process including the establishment of the regional
Chamber of Commerce and Economic Development Organization (Greater Mankato Growth or “GMG”),
the creation of the Regional Economic Development Alliance (REDA), and the designation of the Greater
Mankato area as a Metropolitan Statistical Area. This effort has concluded, and agencies are no longer
meeting. Preliminary discussions with regional institutions indicate another broad planning effort may

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INTRODUCTION
45



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

emerge in the next five years. Should progress occur, North Mankato will participate and include any
relevant recommendations in amendments to the updated plan.

North Mankato Port Authority

The North Mankato Port Authority Commission was created by an act of the legislature in 1985 and
began operations in 1986. Throughout its existence, the Port Authority has undertaken many initiatives
such as the construction of new industrial buildings, building additions, building upgrades, facade
improvements, removal of blighted properties and housing opportunities. In 1993, the Port Authority
began the development of the North Port Industrial Park to accommodate new industrial development.
To date there are 25 industrial buildings within the industrial park providing over 1,300 jobs.

Mankato/North Mankato Area Planning Organization (MAPO)

The Mankato/North Mankato Area Planning Organization (MAPQ) was established in 2012 in response
to the 2010 U.S. Census which designated the Mankato/North Mankato area as an urbanized area
requiring the formation of a metropolitan planning agency under 23 USC 134 and 49 USC 5303. The
2020 Planning Work Program for the Mankato/North Mankato Area Planning Organization provides for
the consideration and implementation of projects, strategies, and services that will promote consistency
between transportation improvements and State and local planned growth and economic development
patterns. Economic development and transportation are intrinsically linked and state funding for
economic development is often tied to transportation projects. Policies and programs initiated and
executed by the MAPO must work in conjunction with North Mankato’s overall economic development
initiatives.

Belgrade Avenue Master Plan (2016)

The purpose of this document is to establish a framework for redevelopment, develop a plan for
Investment in the Central Business District (CBD) by the City of North Mankato, and achieve a shared
vision of the future of the CBD by the city, citizens, and property owners in the downtown area.
Belgrade Avenue serves as a gateway to North Mankato and is a critical part of the community. A report
outlining a plan for the build-out of the 200 block of Belgrade Avenue was developed in 2011. The
Belgrade Avenue Master Plan was informed by that effort, expanding the study area through the 500
block of Belgrade Avenue (the western extent of the CBD) for a broader look at redevelopment
opportunities throughout the CBD.

Caswell Sports Operations Review and Economic Impact Analysis (2016) and Project
Background & Financial Feasibility Report for Proposed Caswell Fieldhouse 2019

The purpose of this study is to quantify the regional economic impact of the Caswell Sports Complex,
provide an operational overview of the agency, explain the growth of the event coordination service
with local partners, and setting future parameters for projecting the impact of expanding Caswell Sports
in the future to accommodate more sports such as ice hockey and other facilities expected for a growing
community. A record number of spectators, participants, tournaments, and events were held at Caswell
Park in 2019, producing an estimated $8,165,621 in regional economic impact. The park hosted twenty-
two tournaments consisting of fifty days of tournament play. Tournaments brought in 716 total teams,
with 325 of those teams being from out of town, defined as any team outside a 75-mile radius of North
Mankato. The estimated total visitors were 34,498 with 11,860 of those estimated to be out of town
visitors.

Market Demand Study for a Proposed 70-Room Limited-Service Hotel (2018)

This analysis provided insight into potential market demand for a 70-room limited-service hotel to be

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PREVIOUS AND ONGOING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING
46



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

located in North Mankato. The market study concludes that the development of the proposed midscale
or upper midscale, limited-service hotel is market justified and would be well suited for the North
Mankato market. This study observed five potential sites in which to locate the hotel including (1)
Rockford Road and US 14, (2) NE Quadrant of Lookout Drive and Carlson Drive, (3) Commerce Drive, (4)
Caswell Sports, and (5) Vacant Residential Property on Lor Ray Drive, south of Walgreens.

Commerce Drive Area Development Plan (2018)

Completed in 2018, the Commerce Drive Area Development Plan outlines a business and streetscaping
improvement plan for the business district at the heart of North Mankato’s major employment area. The
vision for Commerce Drive includes fostering a greater diversity of businesses along and around the
corridor, activating a business association, emphasizing the importance of the corridor for the city,
increasing walkability through streetscaping and land use density, and establishing Commerce Drive as
an attractive destination.

Northwest Growth Area Plan (2020)

The Northwest Growth Area is located adjacent to the Trunk Highway (TH) 14/County State Aid Highway
(CSAH) 41 interchange northwest of existing City of North Mankato limits. This is the one of three areas
of growth for the City bordering the growing Northport Industrial Area and close to developing
recreational, residential, and commercial zones. The area is primarily agricultural land guided for future
industrial, general commercial, park, and commercial/industrial mixed-use development according to
the City’s Future Land Use Plan for property located North of Highway 14. Area’s south of Highway 14
and guided for general commercial, recreation, and housing development. The Plan provides a guide for
development in the area to ensure the right mix of uses is planned and integrated in a way that
complements those already being developed and at a capacity that the area can support.

Webster Avenue Area Study (2021)

This study examines Webster Avenue from Lake Street to U.S. Trunk Highway (TH) 169 as well as River
Drive, east of the Webster Avenue/TH 169 intersection to define a future vision for that area. This area
provides one of several commercial/industrial areas in the community and is situated in close proximity
to a major highway interchange making it regionally connected. The area includes a mix of uses
containing park, institutional, single-family residential, and light industrial. Businesses surrounding
Webster Avenue are reliant on Highway 169 and Highway 14 for truck deliveries and servicing. The plan
identifies existing issues and concerns related to transportation, recreation, and land use and identifies
potential opportunities for redevelopment and revitalization in the area.

Lookout Drive Area Plan (2022)

This plan was developed in conjunction with the Lookout Drive Corridor study to examine the area
surrounding Lookout Drive to understand potential redevelopment and other opportunities. This plan
considered the future development of vacant land south of Highway 14 where portions are guided for
commercial uses, potential development that may occur on/near the South Central College campus, as
well as industrial/commercial development north of the highway.

Greater Mankato 2040: Transforming Tomorrow Together (2023)

As mentioned, GMG began the Greater Mankato 2040 (GM2040) planning and visioning project aimed
at exploring the future strategic positioning of the Greater Mankato region in a fast-changing world.
Talent creation and retention, investment courage, shifting priorities of the workforce, next generation
livability, and increased demand for societal innovation were identified as Key Drivers for transformation
related to economic development.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PREVIOUS AND ONGOING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING
47



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

Existing Characteristics of the Economy

Retaining and attracting jobs is an ongoing objective for the City of North Mankato. The MN Department

of Revenue City/Town Property Tax Data! indicates that, in 2021, commercial and industrial properties
made up 30 percent of the tax base in North Mankato at 15% each. Estimates from the MN Office of

Employment and Economic Development’s Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages? indicate there
were 307 businesses employing nearly 6,801 employees in North Mankato in 2020.

The MnDEED Local Area Unemployment Statistics (LAUS)® estimates that, in December 2021, the
unemployment rate in North Mankato was at 2 percent, which is lower than Nicollet County (2.1
percent) and the state (2.7 percent). Compared to the total population, there is a 0.48

employment/population ratio; which means there is about 1 job per every two residents in the

community.

Table 5-1 shows the employment and business profile of North Mankato classified by the North

American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes. The highest employment industry is

manufacturing which provides 42.2 percent of all jobs in North Mankato. Trade, Transportation, and
Utilities is the second highest employment industry at 19.2 percent.

Table 5-1. Business Summary

North Mankato

Area: 6.01 square miles
Total Business Establishments: 307
Total Employees: 6,801
Total Residential Population (2020): 14,275
Employee/Residential Population Ratio 0.48
Employees Establishments
by NAICS Codes
Number Percent Number Percent
Construction 141 2.10% 29 9.40%
Manufacturing 2,868 42.20% 26 8.50%
Trade, Transportation and Utilities 1,306 19.20% 60 19.50%
Wholesale Trade 349 5.10% 22 7.20%
Retail Trade 545 8.00% 24 7.80%
Health & Personal Care Stores 23 0.30% 3 1.00%
Gasoline Stations 68 1.00% 3 1.00%
Transportation & Warehousing 411 6.00% 14 4.60%
Transit and Ground Passenger Transportation 11 0.20% 4 1.30%
Postal Service 1 0.00% 1 0.30%
Couriers and Messengers 149 2.20% 4 1.30%

1 MN Department of Revenue, City/Town Property Tax Data (2021):
https://www.mndor.state.mn.us/ReportServer/Pages/ReportViewer.aspx?/Property%20Tax/Property Tax Info Ci

ties

2 MN Department of Employment and Economic Development (MnDEED), Quarterly Census of Employment and

Wages (QCEW): https://mn.gov/deed/data/current-econ-highlights/gcew-econ-highlights.jsp

3 MN Department of Employment and Economic Development (MnDEED), Local Area Unemployment Statistics

(LAUS): https://apps.deed.state.mn.us/Imi/laus/CurrentStats.aspx

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS

48



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 5-1. Business Summary Continued

Employees Establishments
by NAICS Codes

Number Percent Number Percent

Information 267 3.90% 8 2.60%
Financial Activities 105 1.50% 33 10.70%
Finance and Insurance 83 1.20% 21 6.80%
Real Estate, Rental & Leasing 22 0.30% 12 3.90%
Professional and Business Services 670 9.90% 38 12.40%
Professional, Scientific & Tech Services 78 1.10% 15 4.90%
Management of Companies & Enterprises 353 5.20% 5 1.60%
Administrative & Support & Waste Management & Remediation 239 3.50% 18 5.90%
Education and Health Services 865 12.70% 53 17.30%
Leisure and Hospitality 305 4.50% 25 8.10%
Arts, Entertainment & Recreation 48 0.70% 5 1.60%
Accommodation & Food Services 258 3.80% 20 6.50%
Other Services (except Public Administration) 115 1.70% 30 9.80%
Repair & Maintenance 44 0.60% 10 3.30%
Public Administration 159 2.30% 5 1.60%
Total 6,801 100% 307 100%

Source: MN Office of Employment and Economic Development's Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages: M N State (2020 Data);
Population Data from U.S. 2020 Decennial Census

Date Note:Dataclassification is derived from the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS).

Northport Industrial Park

Northport Industrial Park is owned by the North Mankato Port Authority Commission in partnership with
BENCO Electric. Lots in the Industrial Park are eligible for development incentives to qualifying
businesses. The Port Authority also provides Tax Increment Financing and operates a revolving loan fund
available to qualifying businesses.

Completion of an interchange in 2013 at Highway 14 and CSAH 41 provides additional access to the
Industrial Park. The City anticipates that the majority of future economic development will occur in the
Northport Industrial Park. The Future Land Use plan guides this area to include a mix of industrial as well
as commercial uses and bring a variety of different jobs to North Mankato. As of 2021, there are 66
acres of land owned by the Port Authority for sale and well over 300 acres of developable property
guided for expansion of the Northport Industrial Park. Industrial development remains a top priority for
City officials and the Port Authority to create job opportunities for residents and to balance the impact
of property taxes between residents and businesses.

Commuting

The 2015-2019 ACS estimates over 82 percent of residents drove alone in their commutes to work. A
little over seven percent carpooled, almost four percent walked, and roughly four percent worked from
home. The Census Bureau reported that less than one percent of residents commuted by public
transportation and about half a percent by other means. Table 5-2 shows statistics from the Census
regarding modes of transportation used by residents for commuting to work. Many of the residents
commute a little over seventeen minutes each day, as depicted by Figure 5-1.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
49



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 5-2: Commute Modes of Transportation

Car, Truck, or Van - Drove Alone 82.20%
Car, Truck, or Van - Carpooled 7.20%
Public transportation (excluding taxicabs) 0.60%
Walked 3.90%
Bicycle 0.90%
Taxicab, Motorcycle, or other means 1.40%
Worked at home 3.90%
Mean travel time to work (minutes) 17

Source: US.Census Bureau, Commuting Characteristics by Sex, 2019 American Community
Survey 5-Year Estimates

Figure 5-2: Commute Times
35.0%
30.6%
30.0%
°262%

.5 25.0% 24.0%
©
=]
S 20.0%
o
° 15.0%
C
3
5 10.0%
e 4.9% . 5.3%

5 0% o 3.9%

.0% 2.4% 1.9%
= B -
0.0% o TR
Lessthan 10to 14 15to 19 20to24 25t029 30to 34 35to44 45to59 60or
10 minutes minutes minutes minutes minutes minutes minutes more
minutes minutes

Source: American Fact Finder, Commuting Characteristics by Sex, U.S. Census Bureau, 2019 American
Community Survey (ACS) 5-Year Estimates

A. Employment Inflow/Outflow Analysis

Not all employees in North Mankato live in the City. Alternatively, not all who live in the City and
are employed work in the City. Figure 5-3 illustrates the 2017 employment inflow and outflow
for North Mankato. This data is derived from the U.S. Census Bureau, Center for Economic
Studies. The U.S. Census Bureau estimated there were a total of 7,832 individuals employed in
the city in 2017* with a total of 1,382 (17.6%) employees living and working in the City and 6,450
(82.4%) working in the City but living elsewhere. While 6,450 are coming into the City for work,
5,867 residents are working elsewhere. This data may indicate that, while there are many jobs in

4 This data is derived from the US Census Bureau’s “On the Map” tool from the US Census Bureau’s Center for
Economic Studies. These employment estimates from the US Census vary from MnDEED QCEW estimates but do
provide a close representation of inflow/outflow of employees in the City. The MnDEED QCEW should be
considered where more accurate employment statistics are required.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
50



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

North Mankato, there may not be adequate housing stock for the workforce including entry
level homes and affordable housing options. The 2022 Housing Study supports the need for
these and other forms of housing to support the growing workforce in the City as well.

Figure 5-3. US Census Bureau, Center from Economic Studies “On The Map” Employment Inflow/Outflow
Analysis for the City of North Mankato. Source: https://onthemap.ces.census.qov,

Analysis of Local Supply and Demand

Table 5.3 summarizes a consumer spending and retail demand outlook for North Mankato, providing a
snapshot of consumer spending today and a forecast of 2027 demand. Esri forecasts a 14.6% increase in
consumer spending for 2027. For each product or consumer behavior, a Spending Potential Index (SPI) is
provided which represents the amount spent in the area relative to a national average of 100.

Consumer spending in North Mankato was highest in Shelter (Housing), Health Care, and Food.
Generally, consumer spending behaviors hovered around the national average of 100, with some at or
above. Those at or above include entertainment & recreation, health care, household furnishings and
equipment, personal care products & services, support payments/cash contributions/gifts in kind, and
vehicle maintenance & repairs. The increased spending on these products/behaviors may indicate that
the City can support more businesses providing them

However, North Mankato’s proximity and ease of access to the much larger City of Mankato means that
it may not be lacking in any categories. It is not unusual in regions like the Mankato-North Mankato MSA
for communities like North Mankato to rely, to varying degrees, on a larger principal city to meet
commercial needs. The City’s proximity to the neighboring larger City of Mankato results in many
commercial needs being conveniently offered and met by Mankato businesses. That said, North
Mankato should continue to explore new and unique commercial opportunities to meet local and
regional needs. Through further analysis of regional economics, North Mankato should identify gaps in
regional commercial supply and create a strategy for targeting commercial offerings.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
51



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

For the greatest chance of successful economic growth, any economic development effort should be
targeted in and around existing commercial districts (outlined below), while supporting concepts of
diverse, walkable commercial centers and destinations. There are numerous factors that contribute to
successful economic development, and careful consideration should be given to North Mankato’s
economic development.

Table 5.3 - Consumer Spending & Retail Demand Outlook

Product/Consumer 2022 Consumer 2027 Forecasted Projected Average Spent |Spending Potential
Behavior* Spending Demand** Spending Grow (HH Annual) Index (SPI***)

Apparel and Services (Men's,

Women's, Children's, Footwear, $14,032,851 $16,062,750 $2,029,899 $2,396 99
etc.)

Education $10,383,298 $11,885,277 $1,501,979 $1,773 90
Entertainment & Recreation

(Admissions, TV, Pets, Games, $21,404,497 $24,500,729 $3,096,232 $3,654 100
Rec. Vehicles, Sports, etc.)

Food at Home $35,545,788 $40,687,606 $5,141,818 $6,068 98
Food Away from Home $24,870,682 $28,468,310 $3,597,628 $4,246 98

Health Care (Prescription, Non-
prescription Drugs, Eyeglasses)
Household Furnishings and
Equipment (Furniture, $15,093,859 $17,277,236 $2,183,377 $2,577 101
Appliances, Housewares, etc.)
Personal Care Products &

$42,154,998 $48,252,860 $6,097,862 $7,196 102

. $5,971,975 $6,835,841 $863,866 $1,019 100
Services
Shelter $129,032,383 $147,697,350 $18,664,967 $22,027 9
Support Payments/Cash

16,239,321 18,588,393 2,349,072 2,772 102

Contributions/Gifts in Kind 4 ? ? »
Travel (Air Fairs, Lodging, Auto $16,563,270 $18,959,203 $2,395,933 $2,827 98
Rental, etc.)
Vehicle Maintenance & Repairs $7,541,190 $8,632,048 $1,090,858 $1,287 102

*Consumer spending shows the amount spent on a variety of goods and services by households that reside in the area. Expenditures are shown by broad budget
categories that are not mutually exclusive. Consumer spending does not equal business revenue. Total and Average Amount Spent Per Household represent annual
figures. Source: Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2018 and 2019 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Esri.

**Source: Esri forecasts for 2022 and 2027; Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2018 and 2019 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor
Statistics.

***The Spending Potential Index represents the amount spent in the area relative to a national average of 100.

Development, Redevelopment, & Revitalization

The roots of development are inherently tied to local economic factors. Limitations on income equates
to a lack of disposable income needed to reinvest in property. Over time, the lack of investment leads to
a deterioration of property. These conditions of blight often spread to adjacent properties.

Redevelopment will become an increasingly important community development issue for North
Mankato. Several factors define the need for city action:

e Redevelopment becomes a public issue because market forces are not likely to solve the
problem. While North Mankato has the ability to expand, development demand can bypass
redevelopment parcels and seek out vacant land. There is little or no incentive to correct the
problems on blighted parcels. Vacant land avoids many of the barriers of redevelopment
sites.

e Redevelopment property is often more expensive. Acquisition includes both land and
buildings. Redevelopment often requires the assembly of smaller parcels into a larger site.
Multiple property owners with differing interests compound the complexity of land
acquisition.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
52



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

e Redevelopment sites have more site preparation costs.

e Redevelopment may face the need and cost of environmental remediation. Old buildings
may have asbestos or other hazardous materials that require special treatment. Certain
commercial and industrial uses may have allowed pollutants to enter the soil.

All of these factors combine to create significant economic barriers to redevelopment. Removal of these
barriers is a primary focus of city actions related to redevelopment.

A. New Development

The City of North Mankato is a growing community with much agricultural and vacant land
bordering city limits, especially in the northwest. This land is optimal for city expansion, but the
City needs to carefully plan how expansion will occur in a sustainable manner that serves the
needs of the community while enhancing quality of life.

Northwest Growth Area

The Northwest Growth Area encompasses approximately 620 acres north and south of US Trunk
Highway 14, west of Lookout Drive, all the way to the Highway 14 & County State Aid Highway
(CSAH) 6 convergence. The growth area represents the newest development opportunity for
North Mankato including a significant increase in land allowance to its industrial base and
potential opportunities for additional commercial retail and high-density residential uses. In
January 2020, a technical evaluation was completed, outlining a framework for future site
development.

Multi-Family Residential Development as a Catalyst for New Commercial-Retail Development

When planning for new commercial-retail development, the City must consider if an area can
support that additional development. Many factors will contribute to the success of
development including proximity to a critical mass of residents expected to use it for everyday
services. A multi-family (high-density) residential complex creates a new mass of people in need
of services. Residents occupying multi-family complexes are more likely to utilize nearby
commercial retail uses for convenience. Multi-family complexes provide affordable workforce
housing, which is always needed in North Mankato. In this light, the City should consider
additional multi-family housing complexes as a catalyst for additional commercial-retail
development. The 2022 North Mankato Housing Study confirms the City’s need for increased
multi-family housing options.

B. Redevelopment & Revitalization

The City of North Mankato has
several areas which developed
over a wide range of different
time periods. As such, there are
several older areas that
developed at a time when there
was a stronger need for
particular uses than there may
be today. These areas may have
become somewhat blighted or
under-utilized. In addition, there

may be alternative uses that Figure 5-4. Redevelopment of a former gas station site to a
new Frandsen Bank & Trust facility.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
53



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

would improve the quality of life for residents in the surrounding area. Based on the City’s goals
identified in this plan, several areas have been identified for potential redevelopment. It is not
the intention of the City to discontinue the existing uses within the areas identified; rather it is
an opportunity to plan for these areas should an opportunity for them to redevelop arise.

Commerce Drive

Commerce drive is a primary business district within North Mankato that contains an array of
land uses. The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan aims to diversify businesses, increase
walkability, and establish the area as an attractive destination. To attain this vision, the City
intends to attract mixed-use development, particularly within underutilized or infill locations;
consider opportunities for residential uses while improving physical connectivity to surrounding
residential districts; and promote investment and economic activity without compromising
existing businesses or community objectives.

Belgrade Avenue (Downtown CBD)

Belgrade Avenue is a central corridor through the City’s original CBD. It provides the major
gateway between North Mankato, and the City of Mankato. A 2017 Master Plan, and supportive
Corridor Study, identify a community vision of Belgrade Ave as a vibrant destination that builds
on the area’s existing character. The Belgrade Avenue Master Plan sets forth a vision and
implementation plan for redevelopment to create a high-quality business district on a block-by-
block basis.

Highway 169 and Webster Avenue

The area surrounding Webster Avenue is one of the first areas people see as they come into
North Mankato from the north and provides visitors with their first impression of the
community. Area development will likely remain commercial/industrial uses but should have
greater consideration for their appearance and design. In addition, uses which draw people into
the community should be encouraged. The Webster Avenue Area Study identifies potential
redevelopment/revitalization that could provide improvements the area needs to become an
attractive gateway to the City.

Intersection of Lor Ray Drive and Howard Drive

Properties at the northeast, southeast, and southwest corners of the intersection of Lor Ray
Drive and Howard Drive have been guided for general commercial use despite having a different
existing land use. The City values these existing uses and will wait to rezone these properties
until the current property owners are prepared to sell or redevelop the sites so as to not make
these uses non-conforming. In the case of the existing industrial businesses at this intersection,
the City may consider negotiating a land swap for property in the Northport Industrial Park. The
City views general commercial as the best use for these sites long term.

Lookout Drive and Marie Lane

Currently this block contains a laundromat, auto repair, a gas station/convenience store, an
apparel store, and a dentist. Although all are desired uses within the community, these could be
augmented with additional retail or other commercial uses. Located along Lookout Drive, this
business district serves numerous residents living in the western half of the City, as well as those
traveling to and from Northport Industrial Park and South Central College. There are very few
commercial land uses located in the western half of the City to serve these residents.
Redevelopment of this block could include a denser, multi-unit commercial building that might

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS
54



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

include a restaurant, coffee shop, bakery, retail store, etc. Potential uses that take the most
advantage of the number of drivers along Lookout Drive should be encouraged.

Camelot Park

Currently Camelot Park, a manufactured home community, exists at the northwest corner of Lor
Ray Drive and Howard Drive. The manufactured home community is an asset to the community
in that it is well maintained and provides an affordable housing option for residents. In 2015,
this site was being considered as a significant redevelopment opportunity site. In 2020, the
property was acquired by a national mobile home manufacturing chain who is revitalizing the
park with plans for to stay for the long-term. The City supports a continuation of this use. Should
the property owner choose to redevelop, the City envisions a mix of uses including a
combination of park, regional multi-sport facilities, institutional, residential, and commercial
land uses. A future planning study should be performed prior to site redevelopment.

FINANCE TOOLS

Community development actions require a framework for financial decision-making. The investment of
public dollars to achieve community development objectives should be guided by several key principles:

e Financial resources are limited. The city has limited funding to apply to community
development initiatives, so the use of resources must be targeted to achieve the greatest
effect on community needs.

e Financial decisions require a long-term perspective. The current use of financial resources
may reduce monies available in the future. In evaluating short-term opportunities, it is
important to question the long-term impact on community development.

e Public funds should lead to private investment. While this section focuses on public finance
actions, the Comprehensive Plan cannot become reality without private investment. The use
of public funds should be targeted to actions that encourage private investment in North
Mankato.

Tax Increment Financing

Tax increment financing (TIF) is the primary development finance tool available to Minnesota cities
(Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.174 through 469.179). TIF is simple in concept, but complex in its
application. Through tax increment financing, the property taxes created by new development (or
redevelopment) are captured and used to finance activities needed to encourage the development. The
challenge in using TIF lies with the complex and ever- changing statutory limitations.

Tax Abatement

Tax abatement acts like a simpler and less powerful version of tax increment financing. With TIF, the
city controls the entire property tax revenue from new development. Under the abatement statute
(Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.1812 through 469.1815), the city, county and school district have
independent authority to grant tax abatement.

Special Assessments

Public improvements are often financed using the power to levy special assessments (Minnesota
Statutes Chapter 429). A special assessment is a means for benefiting properties to pay for all or part of
the costs associated with improvements, and to spread the impact over a period of years. This tool can
be applied to both the construction of new improvements and the rehabilitation of existing
improvements.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FINANCE TOOLS
55



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Utility Revenues

The city operates three municipal utilities: water, sanitary sewer and storm water. The revenues from
the operation of these utilities are available to pay for capital improvements in support of community
development initiatives. State Law (Minnesota Statutes, Section 444.075) gives the authority to pledge
these revenues to general obligation bonds for utility system improvements.

Capital Improvement Bonds

Cities may issue capital improvement bonds (Minnesota Statute, Section 475.521) for specific purposes.
It is essential that cities follow statutory procedures (such as providing notice and a public hearing)
when issuing this, or any, type of bond. In this context, “capital improvement” means acquisition or
betterment of public lands, buildings, or other improvements for the purpose of a city hall, town hall,
library, public safety facility, and public works facility. An improvement must have an expected useful
life of five years or more to qualify. Three-fifths of the members of a five-member governing body must
vote to approve the bonds. In the case of a governing body having more or less than five members, at
least two-thirds of the council must vote to approve them. Capital improvement does not include light
rail transit or any activity related to it, or a park, road, or bridge. City halls or town halls qualify as capital
improvements as well as the land for any of these public facilities. These bonds are not subject to a vote
unless voters petition for a reverse referendum.

Grant and Loan Programs

Cities can leverage funding from various grant programs to help take on economic development
initiatives. There are numerous grant programs available to cities provided by various state and federal
agencies related to economic development and downtown redevelopment:

e The Community Development Block Grant program (CDBG) administered by the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) provides grants on an annual basis
to states and eligible local governments for community development activities. In some
cases, communities may choose to use these dollars for business retention and job growth
activities. The City should also explore the use of these dollars for downtown
redevelopment.

e The Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development (DEED) is another
agency with financial assistance available to local governments for business development,
infrastructure, community development and site cleanup and redevelopment.

e Many other funding sources exist, and city staff should monitor and pursue these
opportunities when appropriate. The City of North Mankato Port Authority previously had
its own redevelopment grant and loan program for the Central Business District. Funds were
allocated mainly towards building rehab and infrastructure costs. The City should revisit the
idea of bringing this program back for downtown redevelopment purposes.

VISION FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

The City of North Mankato will remain focused on retaining a high quality of life, while at the same time
working to encourage and facilitate job growth in its commercial and industrial sectors.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT VISION FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
56



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for economic development, followed by a series of
objectives and policies intended to influence future economic development efforts that align with the
community visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Encourage economic growth to meet the demand for industrial development.
Objective 1.1: Develop and expand North Port Industrial Park.

Policy 1.1.1: Strive to maximize the community’s strategic location as a valuable
resource.

Policy 1.1.2: Actively target companies, both large and small, that offer good
employment prospects, draw from the local labor pool, and are good corporate citizens.

Policy 1.1.3: Work to maintain a labor force in the immediate area that supports the
growth of business and industry in the North Port Industrial Park.

Policy 1.1.4: Encourage continuation of communication and coordination of planning
between the Port Authority, Planning Commission, and City Council.

Policy 1.1.5: Follow the recommendations of the Northwest Growth Area Study.
GOAL 2: Support redevelopment and infill development throughout the City.
Objective 2.1: Continue and expand redevelopment efforts.

Policy 2.1.1: Address unique development challenges including the reuse and
redevelopment of vacant buildings.

Policy 2.1.2: Foster private investment and economic activity without compromising
community objectives to maintain and enhance North Mankato’s environment.

Policy 2.1.3: Encourage landowners in areas guided for redevelopment to consolidate
land and develop a master plan for future development rather than piecemeal
development.

Policy 2.1.4: Monitor the status of vacant commercial buildings in order to encourage
and facilitate redevelopment of underutilized or distressed properties into viable
commercial, industrial and retail developments by working with property owners and
interested developers.

GOAL 3: Maintain North Mankato’s reputation as a resource for new businesses and business
expansion.

Objective 3.1: Retain and support local business and industry.

Policy 3.1.1: Set attracting new, and retention of existing, businesses and industries as a
priority of the City’s economic development plan.

Policy 3.1.2: Continue outreach by City Staff and Elected Officials whereby the City
representatives meet periodically on an individual basis with businesses and industries
to listen to concerns and discuss opportunities for success. During these meetings,
identify any perceived or real barriers or obstacles (such as overly restrictive ordinances)
that the City could potentially remove or minimize to help industries and businesses
prosper, while still protecting the overall health, safety and welfare of the community.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
57



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 3.1.3: Coordinate with Greater Mankato Growth, higher education institutions,
the School District, and others in their efforts to promote training opportunities that can
help businesses and industries prosper. If appropriate, co-sponsor and/or offer City
facilities and/or meeting space for employee training programs.

Policy 3.1.4: Continue to promote North Mankato’s high quality of life as a means to
help attract new businesses and industries.

Policy 3.1.5: Continue to work with local businesses and industries to ensure needs for
expansion and development are adequately met.

Policy 3.1.6: Pursue ways to streamline the development approval process while still
maintaining high quality development standards.

Policy 3.1.7: Periodically review economic development incentive programs such as Tax
Increment Financing (TIF), Tax Abatement and other regional and state incentive
programs.

GOAL 4: Understand links between increased multi-family housing options and economic
development opportunities.

Objective 4.1: Work with developers to strategically locate multi-family housing facilities in
areas that can support new commercial-retail development.

Policy 4.1.1: Follow recommendations of North Mankato Housing Study.

Policy 4.1.2: Identify optimal locations for new commercial-retail options to serve a
critical mass.

CHAPTER 5: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
58



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 6: Transportation

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of the

Transportation chapter of the

Comprehensive Plan is to

provide guidance to the City of

North Mankato, as well as

existing and future landowners in preparing for

future growth and development. As such, whether an

existing roadway is proposed for upgrading or a land use change is proposed on a property, this Plan
provides the framework for decisions regarding the nature of roadway infrastructure improvements
necessary to achieve safety, adequate access, mobility, and performance of the existing and future
transportation system. The primary goal of this Plan is to establish local policies, standards, and
guidelines to guide major transportation investments and policy decisions.

To accomplish these objectives, the Transportation Plan provides information about:

e Previous planning through the Mankato/North Mankato Planning Organization’s (MAPQ) 2045
Long Range Transportation Plan (2020) which identified existing and potential deficiencies of the
existing arterial-collector street system.

e The functional hierarchy of streets and roads related to access and capacity requirements.

e Access management policies and intersection controls.

e  Existing sidewalk facilities and associated potential improvements.

e Freight and transit network information and plans.

e The City’s local planning efforts that identify roadway needs to serve new
development/redevelopment efforts.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION INTRODUCTION
59



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS

The transportation system principles and standards included in this Plan create the foundation for
developing the transportation system, evaluating its effectiveness, determining future system needs,
and implementing strategies to fulfill the goals and objectives identified.

Functional Classification

MnDOT defines functional classification as the grouping of streets and highways into classes or systems
according to the character of service they are intended to provide. Basic to this process is the
recognition that most travel involves movement through a network of roads. Functional classification
defines the role that any road or street plays in serving the flow of trips through a network.
Understanding the function of a roadway is critical in determining its design features such as street
widths, speed, and intersection control.

The functional classification system typically consists of five major classes of roadways: Principal
Arterials, Minor Arterials, Major Collectors, Minor Collectors and Local Streets. Roadways are classified
based on several criteria including (but not limited to) geographic units connected, types of streets
connected, length of trip served, distance between streets of the same classification, volume of traffic
carried by the facility, speed limit and design (right-of-way width and access provisions).

The existing roadway classifications in North Mankato are described below.
A. Principal Arterials

Principal Arterials typically connect large urban areas to other large urban areas, or they connect
metro centers to regional business concentrations via a continuous roadway without stub
connections. They are designed to accommodate the longest trips. Their emphasis is focused on
mobility rather than access. They connect only with other Principal Arterials, interstate
freeways, and select Minor Arterials and Collector Streets. There are two Principal Arterial
roadways in the City of North Mankato, HIGHWAY 14 and HIGHWAY 169/MN 60. HIGHWAY 14
provides east-west connectivity across the southern portion of the state of Minnesota.
HIGHWAY 169/MN 60 runs north-south with connections into lowa on the south and to the
Twin Cities metropolitan area and beyond on the north. The MAPO 2045 Long-Range
Transportation Plan identifies the transition of Highway 14 traveling west and Highway 169/MN
60 traveling north from Principal Arterial to Principal Arterial Freeway/Expressway in the future.
However, recommended improvements from the Highway 169 Corridor Study identify at-grade
roundabouts or traffic signals at the highway’s intersections with Webster Avenue in North
Mankato and River Lane in Mankato. Implementation of these traffic controls would prevent
this highway section’s conversion to a freeway for the long term.

B. Minor Arterials

Minor Arterials typically link urban areas and rural Principal Arterials to larger towns and other
major traffic generators capable of attracting trips over similarly long distances. Minor Arterials
service medium length trips, and their emphasis is on mobility as opposed to access in urban
areas. They connect with Principal Arterials, other Minor Arterials, and Collector Streets.
Connections to Local Streets should be avoided if possible. Minor Arterials are responsible for
accommodating thru-trips, as well as trips beginning or ending outside the North Mankato area.
Minor Arterial roadways are typically spaced approximately % to 1 mile in developed areas and
approximately 1 to 2 miles in developing areas. All or portions of Lookout Drive, Lor Ray Drive,
Lee Boulevard and Belgrade Avenue are identified as Minor Arterial roadways in North Mankato.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
60



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

C. Major Collectors

Major Collectors typically link neighborhoods together within a city or they link neighborhoods
to business concentrations. In highly urban areas, they also provide connectivity between major
traffic generators. A trip length of less than 5 miles is most common for Major Collector
roadways. A balance between mobility and access is desired. Major Collectors generally connect
to Minor Arterials, but they can be connected to any of the other four roadway functional
classes. Local access to Major Collectors should be provided via public streets and individual
property access should be avoided. Generally, Major Collector streets are predominantly
responsible for providing circulation within a city. However, the natural features associated with
wetland and drainage complexes and parks, and location of principal arterials through the
community results in circulation within North Mankato being reliant on a combination of the
Minor Arterial and Major Collector roadways. Major Collectors are typically spaced
approximately % to % mile in developed areas and approximately % to 1 mile in developing
areas. All or portions of County State Aid Highway (CSAH) 13 (north of Lookout Drive), Rockford
Road (CSAH 41), Howard Drive, Commerce Drive, Lee Boulevard, Lor Ray Drive, CSAH 6, and
Range Street are functionally classified as Major Collector roadways in the North Mankato area.

D. Minor Collectors

Minor Collectors typically include city streets and rural township roadways, which facilitate the
collection of local traffic and convey it to Major Collectors and Minor Arterials. Minor Collector
streets serve short trips at relatively low speeds. Their emphasis is focused on access rather than
mobility. Minor Collectors are responsible for providing connections between neighborhoods
and the Major Collector/Minor Arterial roadways. These roadways should be designed to
discourage short-cut trips through the neighborhood by creating jogs in the roadway (i.e. not
direct, through routes). All or portions of Rockford Road (CSAH 41), Howard Drive, Pleasant View
Drive, Carlson Drive, Timm Road, Lor Ray Drive, Lake Street, Webster Avenue, and Center Street
are classified as a Minor Collectors. With the recent improvements to Benson Park, continued
residential development north of the park, and development in Northport and NW Growth
areas, portions of Timm Road, Carlson Drive, and Lor Ray Drive may become Minor Collector
roadways.

E. Local Streets

Roadways in this classification typically include city streets and rural township roadways, which
facilitate the collection of local traffic and convey it to Collectors and Minor Arterials. Their
function is to provide direct property access.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
61






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Roadway Capacity

Capacities of roadway systems vary based on the roadway’s functional classification. Based on accepted
standards, roadway capacity per lane for divided arterials is 700 to 1,000 vehicles per hour and 600 to
900 vehicles per hour for undivided arterials. These values tend to be around 10% of the daily physical
roadway capacity.

A. Principal and Minor Arterials

Based on the Table 6-A: Typical Traffic Capacity by Roadway Type/Configuration

per lane Facility Type
capacity figures

cited above, a Minor Collector Street Up to 1,000
two-lane Urban 2-Lane 7,500 - 12,000
arterial Urban 3-Lane or 2-Lane Divided 12,000 - 18,000
roadway hasa  Urban 4-Lane Undivided Up to 20,000
daily capacity of  Urban 4-Lane Divided 28,000 - 40,000
12,000 to 4-Lane Freeway Up to 70,000

18,000 vehicles

per day, a four-lane divided arterial street has a daily capacity of 28,000 to 40,000 vehicles per
day, and a four-lane freeway has a daily capacity of approximately 70,000 vehicles per day. The
variability in capacities is directly related to many roadway characteristics including access
spacing, traffic control, adjacent land uses, as well as traffic flow characteristics, such as
percentage of trucks and number of turning vehicles. Therefore, it is important that the peak
hour conditions are reviewed to determine the actual volume-to-capacity on roadway segments
with average daily traffic volumes approaching these capacity values.

B. Major Collectors and Minor Collector Streets

Major Collector and Minor Collector streets have physical capacities similar to those of a two-
lane arterial street, however the acceptable level of traffic on a residential street is typically
significantly less than the street’s physical capacity. The acceptable level of traffic volumes on
Major Collectors and Minor Collector streets vary based on housing densities and setbacks,
locations of parks and schools, and overall resident perceptions. Typically, traffic levels on Major
Collector streets in residential/educational areas are acceptable when they are at or below 50%
of the roadway’s physical capacity, resulting in an acceptable capacity of 6,000 to 9,000 vehicles
per day. Acceptable traffic levels on Minor Collector streets are considerably less. Typically, a
daily traffic volume of 1,000 to 1,500 vehicles per day is acceptable on Minor Collector streets in
residential areas.

The capacity of a transportation facility reflects its ability to accommodate a moving stream of
people or vehicles. It is a measure of a supply side of transportation facilities. Level of Service
(LOS) is a measure of the quality of flow. The concept of LOS uses qualitative measures that
characterize operational conditions with a traffic stream and their perception by motorists. Six
LOS are defined for roadways. They are LOS A, B, C, D, E, and F. LOS A represents the best

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
63



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

operating conditions Table 6-B: Highway Level of Service

and LOS F represents m Two-Lane

the worst. The LOS of v/c Ratio Avg. Travel Speed (mph)
a multilane roadway

can be dictated by its A <0.28 >55
volume-to-capacity B >0.28-0.45 >50-55

(v/c) ratio. The LOS of C >0.45-0.65 >45-50

a two-lane roadway D >0.65-0.86 >40-45

is defined in terms of E >0.86 —1.00 <

both percent time- F >1.00 v/c>1.00

spent-following and
average travel speed. LOS F is determined when v/c ratio is over 1.00. The criteria for LOS and
general v/c ratio for multilane highways and speed for two-lane highways are provided in Table
6-B.

For roadways in urban sections, the urban street class and average travel speed determine the
LOS. This is generally similar to the LOS for two-lane highways but takes into account the free
flow speed of the facility (average speed achieved with no other vehicles present on roadway)
and the addition of traffic control. These criteria are established in Table 6-C below:

Table 6-C: Urban Street Level of Service

Ran f Free-Fl
ge of Free-Flow 350 30
Speed

LOS Avg. Travel Speed (mph)
A >42 >35 >30 >25
B >34-42 >28-35 >24-30 >19-25
C >27-34 >22-28 >18-24 >13-19
D >21-27 >17-22 >14-18 >0-13
E >16-21 >13-17 >10-14 >7-9
F < < < <

Generally, the City of North Mankato should consider capacity improvements on roadways with
a LOS D or worse and volume-to-capacity ratios over 0.75 during the peak hours.

Access Management Guidelines

Access management guidelines are developed to maintain traffic flow on the network so each roadway
can provide its functional duties, while providing adequate access for private properties to the
transportation network. This harmonization of access and mobility is the keystone to effective access
management.

Mobility, as defined for this Transportation Plan, is the ability to move people, goods, and services via a
transportation system component from one place to another. The degree of mobility depends on a
number of factors, including the ability of the roadway system to perform its functional duty, the
capacity of the roadway, and the operational level of service on the roadway system.

Access, as applied to the roadway system in North Mankato, is the relationship between local land use

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
64



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

and the transportation system. There is an inverse relationship between the amount of access provided
and the ability to move through- traffic on a roadway. As higher levels of access are provided, the ability
to move traffic is reduced. The graphic below illustrates the relationship between access and mobility.

Each access location (i.e. driveway and/or
intersection) creates a potential point of
conflict between vehicles moving through
an area and vehicles entering and exiting
the roadway. These conflicts can result
from the slowing effects of merging and
weaving that takes place as vehicles
accelerate from a stop turning onto the
roadway, or deceleration to make a turn
to leave the roadway. At signalized
intersections, the potential for conflicts
between vehicles is increased, because
through-vehicles are required to stop at
the signals. If the amount of traffic
moving through an area on the roadway
is high and/or the speed of traffic on the
roadway is high, the number and nature
of vehicle conflicts are also increased.

Accordingly, the safe speed of a road, the

ability to move traffic on that road, and
safe access to cross streets and Figure 6-2. Access vs. Mobility Dynamic. Source: Nicollet

. . County Comprehensive Plan.
properties adjacent to the roadway all ¥ P

diminish as the number of access points increase along a specific segment of roadway. Because of these
effects, there must be a balance between the level of access provided and the desired function of the
roadway.

In North Mankato, access standards and spacing guidelines are recommended as a strategy to
effectively manage existing ingress/egress onto City streets and to provide access controls for new
development and redevelopment. The proposed access standards (driveway dimensions) are based on
MnDOT State-Aid design standards. Tables 6-D and 6-E present the proposed access standards and
access spacing for the North Mankato roadway network:

Table 6-D: Roadway Access Standards
Maximum Curb Cut
(W EEHELE

Maximum Number of | Minimum Distance | Minimum Side Yard

X Curb Cuts Between Curb Cuts| Driveway Setback
Property Line)

Single Family Interior Lot 24 feet 1 20feet 10feet
Single Family Corner Lot 24 feet 1 20feet 10feet
Single Family C Lot

|ng 'e aml y ornfar ° 14 feet 2 20feet 10feet
utilizing circular drive
Single Family Cul-de-Sac Lot 24 feet 1 20feet 10feet
Multi-Family (2-8 Units) 24 feet 1 20feet 10feet
Multi-Family (Over 8 Units) 24 feet 2 20feet 10feet
Commercial/Business 36feet 2 20feet 10feet
Industrial 50feet 4 20feet 10feet
CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS

65



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 6-E: Access Spacing Guidelines for Collector Roadways in North Mankato (1) (2)
Minor Arterial/Major

Type of Access by L Use Type Minor Collector

Collector

Low & Medium Density Residential
Private Access Not Permitted (3) As Needed (4)
Minimum Corner Clearance from a
Collector Street

660’ 300°

Commercial, Industrial or High Density Residential
Private Access Not Permitted (3) As Needed (4)
Minimum Corner Clearance from a
Collector Street

660’ 660’

(1) Some existing City streets that are currently functionally classified as Minor Arterial, Major Collector, or Minor Collector
do not meet these criteria. These guidelines should be used for new streets and roadways that will functionally classify as
Minor Arterial, Major Collector, or Minor Collector

(2) These guidelines apply to City streets only. Nicollet County and MnDOT have access authority for roadways under their
jurisdiction.

(3) Access to Minor Arterials and Major Collectors should be limited to public street access. Steps should be taken to redirect
private accesses on Major Collectors to other local streets. New private access to Major Collectors is not permitted unless
deemed necessary.

(4) Private access to Minor Collectors is to be evaluated by other factors. Whenever possible, residential access should be
directed to non-continuous streets rather than Minor Collector roadways. Commercial/Industrial properties are encouraged
to provide common accesses with adjacent properties when access is located on the Minor Collector system. Cross-traffic
between adjacent compatible properties is to be accommodated when feasible. A minimum spacing between accesses of
660’ in commercial, industrial, or high-density residential areas is encouraged for the development of turn lanes and driver
decision reaction areas.

Right-of-Way Width

Right-of-way width is directly related to the roadway’s width and its ability to carry vehicular and
pedestrian traffic in a safe and efficient manner. For Minor Collector streets in residential areas, a
minimum right-of-way width of 80 feet is recommended for the added roadway width, as well as to
provide added setback distance between the roadway and homes along the roadway. Right-of-way
widths of 80 feet to greater than 100 feet may be required on Minor Arterials and Major Collector
roadways within commercial areas to accommodate the potential for higher traffic volumes and the
need for additional lanes.

For the City of North Mankato, geometric design standards for the reconstruction or construction of
new Minor Arterial, Major Collector, and Minor Collector Streets will be based on MnDOT State-Aid
standards.

A. Geometric Design Standards

Geometric design standards are directly related to a roadway’s functional classification and the
amount of traffic that the roadway is designed to carry. The following is a discussion of various
geometric design elements and how each element relates to a particular roadway’s ability to
perform its function in the roadway network.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
66



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Roadway Width

Roadway and travel lane widths are directly associated with a roadway’s ability to carry vehicular traffic.
On Minor Arterial roadways, Major Collector roadways, Minor Collector streets and local streets, a 12-
foot lane is required for each direction of travel. The 24-foot total travel width is needed to
accommodate anticipated two-way traffic volumes without delay. In addition to the travel width,
minimum shoulder/parking lane widths are also required to accommodate parked or stalled vehicles.
Roadway widths not meeting the Geometric Design Standards will result in decreased performance of
the particular roadway and additional travel demand on the adjacent roadway network components.
For example, a substandard Major Collector roadway may result in additional travel demand on an
adjacent Minor Collector street resulting in an overburden for adjacent landowners. Similarly, additional
local circulation may result on an adjacent Minor Arterial resulting in reduced mobility for regional trips.

Sidewalk/Trail

Sidewalks and/or trails are recommended to be adjacent to all Minor Arterial, Major Collector and
Minor Collector roadways within North Mankato to accommodate pedestrian, bicycle, and other non-
motorized travel in a safe and comfortable manner. These roadways are expected to carry a significant
amount of vehicular traffic and separation of travel modes is necessary. In commercial and industrial
areas, the requirements for trails and sidewalks may vary to accommodate additional pedestrian and
bicycle traffic.

Along Minor Arterials and Major Collector roadways, an 8-foot-wide bituminous or concrete trail and/or
6-foot-wide concrete sidewalk is recommended on either side of the roadway to accommaodate local
pedestrian and bicycle travel. The pedestrian facilities on both sides of these roadways allow for
pedestrian travel within the corridor without introducing excessive crossing demand on Minor Arterials
and Major Collectors. A sidewalk and trail will accommodate pedestrian and bicycle travel along the
corridor, as well as provide a safe, comfortable link between lower volume residential streets and the
other pedestrian and trail facilities within the community. A 10-foot-wide trail would be more desirable
as the 10-foot width would better accommodate two-way bicycle traffic. The City of North Mankato’s
comprehensive trail plan will be utilized to determine where bike trails are required.

Along Minor Collector roadways, a 5-foot-wide concrete sidewalk is recommended on at least one side
of the roadway, both sides being preferred. With the anticipated vehicular volumes on Minor Collector
streets, pedestrians can safely cross the roadway, however, pedestrian travel along the roadway may
become uncomfortable.

Design Speed

The design speed of a roadway is directly related to the roadway’s function in the roadway system. The
focus of Minor Arterial roadways is mobility; therefore, these roadways should be designed to
accommodate higher travel speeds. Likewise, Minor Collector roadways are more focused on
accessibility and should be designed to accommodate lower travel speeds. The function of Major
Table 6-F: Roadway Design Speed Guidelines

Functional Classification Design Speed (1)

Minor Collector Street 30 mph
Major Collector Roadway 35—-40 mph
Minor Arterial Roadway 45—-55 mph

(1)At the discretion of the City Engineer for City roadways, with approval by the City Council

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
67



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Collectors is balanced between mobility and accessibility; therefore, these roadways should be designed
accordingly. Table 6-F below presents the recommended design speed for the North Mankato roadway
network.

Roadway Jurisdiction

Roadway jurisdiction directly relates to functional classification of roadways. Generally, roadways with
higher mobility functions (such as arterials) should fall under the jurisdiction of a regional level of
government. Recognizing that these roadways serve greater areas resulting in longer trips and higher
volumes, jurisdiction of Principal Arterial and Minor Arterial roadways should fall under the jurisdiction
of the state and county, respectively. Similarly, roadways with more emphasis on local circulation and
access (such as collectors) should fall under the jurisdiction of the local government unit. These
roadways serve more localized areas and result in shorter trip lengths and lower volumes. Major
Collector and Minor Collector roadways should fall under the jurisdiction of the City of North Mankato.

As roadway segments are considered for turn-back to the City, efforts will be taken to evaluate the
roadway features for conformance to current standards, structural integrity, and safety. This effort will
help the City develop short and long-range programs to assume the responsibilities of jurisdictional
authority.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS
68



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION

Transportation Planning Efforts Since the 2015 North Mankato Comprehensive Plan

Several past and ongoing efforts focused on transportation in North Mankato and the surrounding
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) have been reviewed as part of developing this chapter. Some of
these efforts are more relevant than others but all have contributed to the transportation network of
the City. Planning efforts since 2015 that focus on transportation in the area and guide the
recommendations in this chapter include:

A. MAPO 2045 Long Range Transportation Plan (2015; Updated in 2020)

The Mankato/North Mankato Area Planning Organization’s (MAPQO) Long Range Transportation
Plan (LRTP) coordinates and prioritizes improvements to the interconnected regional
Transportation network with mobility, safety, freight, and congestion mitigation to
accommodate planed growth in the area.

e Advises MAPO policymakers about the metropolitan area’s major transportation assets

e Presents key technical findings that inform policy discussion

e Provides data on the multimodal improvements needed to maintain and upgrade the
transportation infrastructure

e Provides a fiscally constrained program of projects for future public investments.

MAPO is a Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) designated because the Mankato/North
Mankato urbanized area is now larger than 50,000 population. It is charged with carrying out
the 3-C metropolitan transportation planning process (continuing, cooperative, and
comprehensive). MAPO is comprised of Blue Earth and Nicollet counties; the cities of Mankato,
North Mankato, Eagle Lake, and Skyline along with the townships of Belgrade, Lime, South Bend,
LeRay and Mankato. All Plan elements were coordinated with MAPO member jurisdictions and
the Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT).

B. Safe Routes to School Plan (2015)

Safe Routes to School (SRTS) is a national program which assists communities and school
districts in enabling and encouraging children to walk and bike to school and making it a safer,
healthier, and more appealing transportation option. The program facilitates the planning,
development, and implementation of projects and activities that improve safety, and reduce
traffic, fuel consumption, and air pollution near schools. The planning process identified various
pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure improvements surrounding Monroe, Garfield (now
Bridges), and Hoover Elementary Schools and Dakota Meadows Middle School in North
Mankato. The City has leveraged the SRTS Plan to obtain federal funding for infrastructure
improvements surrounding each school and continues to leverage the plan to identify other
needed improvements.

C. Sidewalk Maintenance and Installation Policy (2016)

This policy, in addition to existing provisions in the city code and plans adopted by the city of
North Mankato outline the installation, replacement, and maintenance policy for public
sidewalks in the City. It includes a map of existing, proposed, and SRTS planned additions to the
sidewalk system.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
69



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

D. Complete Streets Plan and Policy (2016)

Complete Streets are streets and sidewalks that are designed and constructed to accommodate
all modes of transportation serving pedestrians, bicyclists, and drivers. They consider the
transportation needs of all people, including children, older adults, and people with disabilities
or impaired mobility. As state and local governments have worked to improve the road network,
they have primarily focused on efficiency, making the flow of traffic better for drivers, to the
detriment of pedestrians. The emphasis on improving the efficiency of vehicle traffic has in
many cases created streets that are unfriendly to pedestrians and bicyclists creating an
increasing need to drive. Complete Streets policies and projects are aimed at changing streets
from places where vehicles dominate to places where all users are accommodated.

E. Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study (2017)

MAPO and the City of North Mankato, in partnership with MnDOT, completed this study to
identify a long-term vision for multimodal improvements on Belgrade Avenue in North Mankato.
The study extent includes Belgrade Avenue from Lee Boulevard on the west to the Veteran’s
Memorial Bridge on the east. The Belgrade Avenue corridor has served the City of North
Mankato as the central corridor of the downtown business district since before the City was
incorporated in 1899. It provides the gateway to the City from US Trunk Highway (TH) 169 and
the City of Mankato to the east. The City has demonstrated a commitment to enhancing the
quality of downtown through planning efforts and public outreach. The most recent effort, the
Belgrade Avenue Master Plan, ran concurrently with this effort and is described in the Economic
Development chapter of this Comprehensive Plan document.

F. Updated Pavement Management Report (2019)

This report is an update of the Pavement Management System Report (2014). The goal of the
earlier report was to assist the City with understanding the condition of the bituminous
pavement system and provide recommendations for pavement management going forward. The
report update outlined successes in improved condition ratings of the roadway inventory and
maps future improvement projects.

G. North Mankato ADA Transition Plan (2019)

The North Mankato ADA Transition Plan is part of the larger MAPO Mankato/North Mankato
Area Planning Organization (MAPQO) — ADA Transition Plan & Inventory for Public Rights-of-Way
completed in 2019 for the cities of Mankato, North Mankato, Eagle Lake, and Skyline, along with
the counties of Blue Earth and Nicollet. The Plan fulfills the requirement for all cities in MN
evaluate services, policies and practices and the effects thereof that do not meet the
requirements set forth in the ADA and provide and implementation plan for remediation. An
ADA transition plan is required for a city to obtain funding through various state and federal
grant programs.

H. North Mankato Area Transit Study (2020)

The City examined local transit to understand the existing and future needs of transit in the
community including busing and dial-a-ride services. The study provides recommendations for
shifting the frequency and routing of fixed route service and curb-to-curb dial-a-ride transit
services.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
70



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

I.  Nicollet County Comprehensive Plan (2020)

The Nicollet County Comprehensive Plan identifies potential jurisdictional transfers and a
potential future roadway extension of CSAH 41, north of the Northport Industrial Park. The Plan
also outlines a future Nicollet County Transportation Plan that will provide a comprehensive
assessment of highway system characteristics and plan to maintain the highway system in a
state of good repair.

J.  Northwest Growth Area Plan (2021)

This plan guides residential, commercial, and industrial growth areas surrounding CSAH 41
(Rockford Road)/CSAH 13. The results of this effort helped guide the Future Land Use Map in
this Comprehensive Plan and have also assisted with forecasting for future transportation trips
in the Lookout Drive Corridor Study.

K. Webster Avenue Area Plan (2021)

This plan examined transportation improvements to the Webster Avenue intersections with US
Highway 169/MN 60 and Range Street to ensure future access to the City from the major
highway system. This effort informed the development of the US Highway 169 Corridor Study
(2022).

L. North Mankato Capital Improvements Plan (2021)

This plan lays out transportation projects planned for completion in the City within the 2023-
2026 timeframe.

M. Highway 169 Corridor Study (2022)

This Study examined intersection and roadway improvements along Highway 169/MN 60 from
Lake Street (north of the Highway 14 interchange) south to the Highway 169/MN 60 split. The
Northern Subarea of the Study identified improvements to the Highway 169/MN 60 intersection
with Webster Avenue. Two options were supported by the City including constructing a
roundabout at that location or maintaining a signal for traffic control. Options were also
identified for intersections north of Webster including the closure of Lind Street and conversion
of the River Lane intersection to full access. While these intersections are north of City limits,
they have potential to impact North Mankato as well. The study concluded in early 2022.

N. Future Transportation Preparedness Study (2022)

The City collaborated with the Urban and Regional Studies Institute (URSI) at Minnesota State
University (MSU), Mankato to research trends in transportation and how the City can be
prepared as technology shifts. The study reviewed trends in autonomous vehicles, electric
vehicles, e-bikes, and e-scooters to guide City transportation infrastructure and policy planning
for these technologies.

O. Lookout Drive Corridor Study (2022)

The Lookout Drive Corridor Study examined Lookout Drive from its southern intersection with
Lee Boulevard to its intersection with 512" Street (Somerset Lane). The project identified an
ultimate vision for the corridor through public and agency consensus ultimately providing an
implementation plan for safety and mobility improvements.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
71



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

P. Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study (2022)

North Mankato has identified the need for better north/south trail connections in Upper North
Mankato in several planning documents. The Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study
examined the feasibility of installing a grade-separated pedestrian/bicycle bridge over Highway
14 spanning from properties on the north side of Commerce Drive to the Caswell Park Sports
Complex. A bridge addition at this location would enhance that connection, providing a safe
alternative to using the interchanges at Lookout Drive and Lor Ray Drive to cross the highway.
This planning initiative was recommended through the MAPO 2045 LRTP process.

Q. HIGHWAY 169 and Belgrade Avenue Study (2022)

MnDOT identified the pending 2025 rehabilitation of the Veteran’s Memorial Bridge as an
opportunity to further evaluate the ramp intersections of Highway 169 with Belgrade Avenue.
The Belgrade Corridor Study and other City efforts identified intersection treatments for the
southbound intersection in the past. MnDOT considered findings and recommendations from
those efforts to define intersection improvements at the ramps that will best serve existing and
future vehicle traffic.

Roadway Projects Completed Since the 2015 North Mankato Comprehensive Plan

Since the development of the 2015 Comprehensive Plan, there have been several roadway
infrastructure projects completed. Table 6-G outlines these projects.

Table 6-G. Completed Projects: 2015-2022

vear | Projet |

2015 Lookout Dr Reconstruction
Carlson Dr Extension
Roe Crest Dr Reconstruction

2016

Jefferson Ave Reconstruction

Marie Ln Reconstruction

Tyler Ave Reconstruction

Commerce Dr Reconstruction

Howard Dr (Dakota Meadows Middle School) Safe Routes to School Pedestrian Improvements
2020 Monroe Ave Reconstruction

Countryside Dr Reconstruction

Harrison Ave Reconstruction

Cliff Court Reconstruction

McKinley Ave Reconstruction

Lor Ray Drive Reconstruct (Rural to Urban) from White Oak Drive to Somerset Lane

2018

2019

2021

2022

Existing Traffic Conditions

Among the several planning efforts have been completed to inform this chapter, the MAPO 2045 LRTP
provides much of the following analysis of the existing transportation system in the City of North
Mankato. The City of North Mankato’s participation in that effort was substantial. The City will continue
to have both technical and policy board representation in iterations of the MAPO Long Range
Transportation planning processes.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
72



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

A. Traffic Operations
Traffic Volumes

Existing traffic volumes were
collected through the MAPO
2045 LRTP and are depicted in
Figure 6-3. As Principal Arterial
roadways, Highway 14 and
Highway 169 carry significant
volumes of vehicle and freight
traffic through the City of North
Mankato. Other important
roadways carrying significant
vehicle traffic include Lee
Boulevard (hill) from Lookout
Drive to Lor Ray Drive (12,600),
Commerce Drive from Tower
Boulevard to Lor Ray Drive
(11,500), and Lor Ray Drive from
James Drive to Howard Drive
(14,800). Lookout Drive is
another roadway carrying
significant traffic volumes
providing access to the
Northport Industrial Area and
providing connections between
Highway 14 and Highway 169.

Capacity

The MAPO 2045 LRTP found no
existing roadway capacity issues
within North Mankato meaning
there are no congested roadway
segments.

B. Traffic Safety
Vehicle Crashes

Figure 6-4 shows crash severity
throughout North Mankato
using MnDOT data from 2014
through 2018. There were no
fatal vehicle crashes during this
period in the City. Serious injury
crashes did occur on Range
Street, Webster Avenue, and
James Drive during this period.
Various minor injury crashes and

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION

Figure 6-3. Most recent Average Annual Daily Traffic Volumes using
MnDOT Data. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP.

Figure 6-4. Vehicle Crash Severity. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP

EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
73



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

possible injury crashes did occur in several locations throughout the City. There were no
locations of high crash occurrence reported in the MAPO 2045 LRTP. However, the following
crash concerns were identified through other planning processes as follows:

e Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study (2017) — The intersection of Belgrade Avenue and
Sherman Street showed serious injury crashes outside of the normal range for similar
intersections in the state.

o  Webster Avenue Area
Development Plan
(2021) — Webster
Avenue/Range Street
intersection showed
crash frequency above
the critical rate for
similar type intersections
in the state making this a
candidate for further
study.

Pedestrian & Bicycle Crashes

Figure 6-5 shows crash severity
for the period from 2014 to
2018. During this period, there
were no fatal pedestrian and
bicycle crashes in the City. There
was only one serious injury crash
reported on Range Street near
its approach to Webster Avenue.
Some minor injury crashes did Figure 6-5. Pedestrian/Bicycle Crash Severity. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP
occur along Belgrade Avenue.
While not identified as a major
crash area of concern, Belgrade
Ave does show elevated
frequency of crashes when
compared to other areas in the
City (Figure 6-6). Minor injury
crashes did occur at the junction
of Lee Boulevard and Lor Ray
Drive and also at the northbound
ramp of the Lor Ray
Drive/Highway 14 Interchange.

C. Multi-modal
Pedestrian & Bicycle

The North Mankato Sidewalk
Maintenance and Installation
Policy along with the City’s

Figure 6-6. High Frequency Pedestrian/Bicycle Crash Locations. Source:
MAPO 2045 LRTP.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
74



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Complete Streets Plan and Policy both identify various gaps in the City’s sidewalk system that
will need to be addressed with future infrastructure projects. The Complete Streets policy
suggests that, whenever feasible, residential, commercial, and industrial development should
accommodate varying modes of transportation.

Some plans take a more granular look at gaps and deficiencies in pedestrian and bicycle facilities
in the City. The Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study identifies a gap in connectivity on Belgrade
Avenue between its intersections with Lake Street and Nicollet Avenue. The Plan also identifies
a lack of safe pedestrian crossings in the 200 Block of Belgrade Avenue where demand exists
and pedestrians are crossing four lanes of traffic without safe facilities in place.

The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan identifies the need for a more defined,
continuous, north/south pedestrian and bicycle connection in Upper North Mankato including
the City’s desire to incorporate a grade-separated bridge crossing of Highway 14 to complete
this connection.

The Webster Avenue Area Plan identifies perceptions of area residents that on-street bicycle
trail facilities along the roadway are unsafe as they conflict with heavy truck traffic. In that same
vicinity, the Highway 169 Corridor Study identifies the need for safer pedestrian/bicycle
crossings of Highway 169 for trail users accessing the area and trails east of the highway from
along Webster Avenue.

Lookout Drive poses another set of issues for pedestrians and bicyclists. Participants in the
public engagement process for the Lookout Drive Corridor Study repeatedly stated that
pedestrian crossings are unsafe in this location and are generally lacking. Participants also would
like to see a dedicated multi-use path along Lookout Drive from Lee Boulevard at the bottom of
the hill, northwest to Claire Drive on the hill; a connection the City has examined numerous
times in the past.

As with any City, sidewalk and trail infrastructure ages and winter weather cycles take their toll.
To meet requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the City completed the ADA
Transition Plan & Inventory for Public Rights-of-Way. This plan identifies significant ADA
deficiencies throughout the community and provides an implementation plan to bring existing
facilities into ADA compliance within the next 30 years.

Transit

The City of North Mankato examined transit service in 2020 for improvements to the system.
This included a review of the fixed route system, mobility service, and general service
paratransit. In the past, the City has seen several changes to fixed service routes and continues
to have one route available. Fixed transit Route 5 is depicted in Figure 6-7. The North Mankato
Route 5 operates from 6:05 a.m. to 8:35 a.m. and 3:05 p.m. to 5:05 p.m. Monday through
Friday. Kato Flex provides on-demand service in the Mankato Area Monday through Friday and
requires a reservation. A paratransit mobility bus operates seven days a week and requires a
reservation.

During this Comprehensive Plan Update, the City of Mankato was updating the Mankato Transit
Development Plan to guide changes for a more efficient system. North Mankato was a partner
in that process to identify existing and future system needs.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
75



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The City has been
exploring ways to
improve transit services
in the community as
existing frequency and
routing of the North
Mankato Route 5 are not
aligned well with work
shift times or customer
interest in a travel time
competitive option. Also,
same-day/real-time
reservations for curb-to-
curb pick up are not
currently available but Figure 6-7. Mankato Area Bus Route 5. Source: City of Mankato

could improve transit (https://www.mankatomn.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/1704/63782434
availability in the future.  6751530000).

Better scheduling in paratransit and mobility services is also needed.
Freight

The following roadways are significant freight corridors within the MAPO area due to their
importance to the regional and state economies:

e TH 169 from Mankato/North Mankato to the Twin Cities
e HIGHWAY 14 from South Dakota to I-35 and Rochester
e MN 60 from lowa to Mankato/North Mankato (for ethanol plants and shuttle elevators)

Specifically, TH 169 is the primary transportation corridor for funneling freight into the Twin
Cities from the Mankato/North Mankato region and southern Minnesota. This area produces
almost half of Minnesota’s corn, soybeans and ethanol, making Minnesota third in the nation for
production among all states. Other major commodities moving along this corridor include
aggregates, clay and sand, hogs, manufactured goods and food products.

Highway 14 and Highway 169 are on the National Truck Network which includes highways
designated for larger commercial trucks. Highway 14 carries the highest number of heavy
commercial vehicles in the MAPO planning area with up to 2,600 trucks per day on some
segments.

Roadway Jurisdiction

Table 6-H outlines existing Table 6-H. Roadway Jurisdiction
jurisdiction within city limits.
State 9.5

Figl:jre 6-§ dfe[:(;i.cts. exi.sting X County 35
roadway jurisdiction in Nort Municipal 717
Mankato. -

Private, Ramp, or Other 12.3

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION

76



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

F. Pavement Condition

The MAPO 2045 LRTP identifies
several roadways exhibiting poor
pavement condition. While the
City’s Pavement Management
Plan needs updating, the issues
identified in the MAPO 2045
LRTP have been remedied in
recent years following projects
have occurred:

) Howard Dr
e Cliff Court: Reconstructed
e  Cliff Drive (segment):
Overlaid
e Marvin Boulevard: Overlaid
e Garfield Avenue: Overlaid
G. Lane Configuration
Through several past planning Figure 6-8. Roadway Jurisdiction. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP

efforts, the City has examined

the current number of lanes of certain roadways to gauge if configurations are necessary to
carry existing and forecasted traffic volumes. A roadway with several lanes of traffic may pose
issues to safe and efficient pedestrian and bicycle movement along a corridor or create an
environment that encourages higher traffic speeds in roadway segments where safety for all
users is jeopardized.

The Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study identifies three-lane options for the current four-lane
configuration that would provide two thru-traffic lanes with a center turn-lane with the aim to
slow traffic, provide wider sidewalks, and accommodate pedestrians with a mid-block crossing.
These options have been examined several times by the City to identify what will work best but
nothing has been decided on.

In 2022, MnDOT performed the HIGHWAY 169 and Belgrade Avenue Study to begin planning for
the 2025 rehabilitation of Bridge No. 52009 and the Veteran’s Memorial Bridge spanning over
Highway 169 and the Minnesota River into Mankato. This Study examined options to improve
the functionality of the Highway 169 ramp intersection with Belgrade Avenue to solve any
deficiencies at that location. Options for the intersection considered three- and four-lane
configurations of Belgrade Avenue to keep options open in the event the City pursues lane
reduction.

The Lookout Drive Corridor Study (2022) considered alternatives to the five-lane roadway
extending from Marie Lane to Highway 14. Pedestrian crossings along this section are perceived
as unsafe which prevents pedestrians and bicyclists from choosing to cross the roadway. Also,
the current five-lane configuration is unnecessary to accommodate existing and future
forecasted traffic volumes. Options included in the plan consider various lane-reduction
scenarios.

Existing transportation conditions and observed concerns throughout the system are
summarized in Table 6-1 below.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
77



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 6-1: Summary of Existing Transportation System Conditions & Issues Identification

Topic

Traffic
Operations

Plan Referenced
MAPO 2045 LRTP*

Webster Ave. Area

Devel. Plan

Belgrade Ave.
Corridor Study

Existing Conditions/Issues Identification

¢ No issues with roadway congestion currently exist in North Mankato.

* Traffic back-ups identified extending from the Webster Ave/Highway 169
intersection past the Webster Ave/Range St intersection and on Range St
approaching Webster Ave.

* Property Access between Webster Ave and Highway 169 can be problematic.

¢ |dentified delay on Belgrade Ave for westbound traffic entering Lee Blvd.

* |dentified backups at Belgrade Ave/Range Street intersection during PM peak hour.
¢ High traffic speeds concerning on 200 Block of Belgrade Ave.

Safety - Vehicle

MAPO 2045 LRTP*

* No fatal crashes identified in North Mankato.

e Serious injury crashes occurred on Range St, Webster Ave (western), and James Dr.
¢ Various minor injury crashes and possible injury crashes occurred throughout the
City.

* No locations of high crash occurrence were reported.

Crashes**
Webster Ave. Area | Crash concerns identified at the Webster Ave/Range St intersection.
Devel. Plan
Belgrade Ave. ¢ |dentified serious injury crashes outside normal range at the Belgrade
Corridor Study Ave/Sherman St.
¢ No fatal crashes identified in North Mankato.
Safety - ® One serious injury crash reported on Range St approaching Webster Ave.
Pedestrian/Bicyc | MAPQO 2045 LRTP* |e Minor injury crashes occurred along Belgrade Ave.

le Crashes**

e Minor injury crashes occurred at the junction of Lee Blvd and Lor Ray Dr and also at
a Highway 14 ramp interchange with Lor Ray Dr.

Multi-Modal

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION

Sidewalk
Maintenance and
Installation Policy
North Mankato
Complete Streets
Plan and Policy

¢ Various locations throughout the City lack sidewalk continuity; Many have been
completed since the adoption of this policy but some remain.

¢ Residential, commercial, and industrial developments need to accommodate
varying modes of transportation.

North Mankato
ADA Transition Plan

Belgrade Ave.
Corridor Study

Commerce Dr Area

¢ |dentifies extensive ADA deficiencies throughout the sidewalk and trail system in
the City. An implementation plan is provided to bring existing facilities into
compliance over a 30-year period working within funding constraints.

¢ |dentified gap in the bicycle network connecting Lake St to Nicollet Ave.

¢ |dentified pedestrian bicycle crashes.

e Lack of marked pedestrian crossings on 200 Block of Belgrade Ave where demand
exists.

¢ |dentifies need for a continuous north/south pedestrian/bicycle connection in

Devel. Plan Upper North Mankato.
Webster Ave. Area | * Perceptions of unsafe on-street bicycle facilities with the presence of heavy truck
Devel. Plan traffic.

EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
78



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 6-1 Continued

Plan Referenced Existing Conditions/Issues Identification Summary

Transit

Highway 169 ¢ |dentified need for safer pedestrian/bicycle crossings over Highway 169.
Corridor Study
Lookout Dr ¢ Pedestrian crossings perceived as unsafe and generally lacking.
. ’ e Lack of pedestrian facilities on Lookout Dr between Lee Blvd (south intersection)
Corridor Study ]
and Claire Ct.
e Existing frequency and routing of the fixed transit route are not aligned with work
2020 North shift times or customer interest in a travel time competitive option.

Mankato Area
Transit Study

e Same-day and real-time reservations for curb-to-curb pick up are not currently
available but would improve transit availability in the future.
e Better scheduling in paratransit and mobility services is needed.

Freight

MAPO 2045 LRTP

¢ Highway 14 and Highway 169 are on the National Truck Network.
¢ Highway 14 carries the highest number of heavy commercial vehicles in the MAPO
planning area.

Lookout Drive
Corridor Study

e There is a desire among residents to reroute truck traffic from Lookout to Highway
14 and Highway 169 for safety and reduction in noise complaints from J-breaking.
Lookout Drive provides a connection between Highway 14 and Highway 169 used
often by heavy commercial vehicles.

Jurisdictional

Nicollet County
Comprehensive

¢ |dentifies the transfer of the following roadways from Nicollet County to the City of
North Mankato:
°CSAH 6 from CSAH 13 to CSAH 41

Transfer .
Plan °CSAH 13 from Howard Drive to CSAH 6
°CSAH 13 from CSAH 6 to CSAH 41
Paver'n'ent MAPO 2045 LRTP* ¢ North Mankato P-avement Management Plan needs to be updated to identify
Condition current pavement issues.
* Bridge No. 52009 (Veteran's Memorial Bridge) in disrepair and planned for
MnDOT US 169 and |rehabilitation project in 2025 spurring redesign of the intersection at Belgrade Ave
Belgrade Ave. Study |and Highway 169 Ramp. Options explored for 3- and 4-lane configurations of
Lane Belgrade Ave.

Configuration

Belgrade Ave. e Current 4-lane configuration of Belgrade Ave in 200 Block poses issues for
Corridor Study pedestrian crossings and invites speeding traffic.

Lookout Dr. e Current 4-lane configuration unnecessary to accommodate current and future
Corridor Study traffic volumes.

New
Technologies

2022 Future
Transportation
Preparedness Study
(2022)

 The City will need to consider private sector infrastructure when considering
funding the installation of future public infrastructure.

e The City will need to understand implications for vehicle storage and usage of
electric bicycles and electric scooters on the transportation system.

e The City will need to understand changes to roadway infrastructure needed to
accommodate semi- and fully-autonomous vehicle technologies in the future.

*The MAPO 2045 LRTP examined all arterial and collector roadways and a small subset of local roadways
**The MAPO 2045 LRTP examined crash data from the Minnesota Crash Mapping Analysis Tool (MnCMAT) for the period from 2014 to 2018.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION

EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM EVALUATION
79



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM

The 2015 North Mankato Comprehensive Plan did not include analysis of the City’s future transportation
needs. As discussed, several planning efforts have analyzed the transportation system and provide the
necessary analysis of future system needs. The primary source of system-wide information is the MAPO
2045 LRTP which leads the following discussion. Other planning efforts are corridor specific and are
integrated into the discussion as necessary.

Roadway Projects Planned for North Mankato for the 2023-2026 Timeframe

The City has several projects planned for completion within the 2023-2026 timeframe referenced from
the Capital Improvements Plan (CIP). Those projects are listed in Table 6-J.

Table 6-J. Planned Projects: 2023-2026
Year Project

Howard Dr/Lor Ray Drive Intersection Improvements

Somerset Drive Reconstruct (Rural to Urban) from Lookout Drive to Lexington Lane
2024  |Somerset Drive Reconstruct (Rural to Urban) from Lookout Drive to Lexington Lane

Garfield Ave Infrastructure

Cross St Infrastructure

Sherman Street Infrastructure

2026 Page Ave Infrastructure

Wheeler Ave Infrastructure

2023

2025

Future Traffic Operations
A. Forecasted Traffic Volumes

The MAPO 2045 LRTP used the
volume data from 2014-2018 to
forecast future traffic volumes
throughout the MAPO planning
area. Updated growth rates
were calculated and assessed to
identify short-term and long-
term trends. More information
on how traffic volume forecasts
were generated can be found in
the MAPO 2045 LRTP at
https://mnmapo.org/Irtp/.

Traffic volume forecasts

developed through the MAPO

2045 LRTP are depicted in Figure

6-10. Traffic volumes are

forecasted to increase

significantly on Highway 14, - B
increasing from 15,200 just Figure 6-10. Forecast Traffic Volumes. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP

north of Commerce Drive and

27,000 east of Lor Ray Drive to 25,000 and 39,000 respectively by 2045. Volumes passing
through the Commerce Drive business district are anticipated to grow from 11,500 today to

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
80



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

13,000 in that same timeframe. Lee Boulevard from Lookout Drive to Lor Ray Drive is
anticipated to nearly double, from 12,600 currently to 20,300. Highway 169 is anticipated to
carry 32,000 in 2045, an increase of 5,500 vehicles per day.

The Lookout Drive Corridor Study forecasts increased volumes throughout the corridor. Just
north of Highway 14, traffic is anticipated to increase from 8,800 in 2021 to 14,000 in 2045.
Similarly, segments of the corridor south of Highway 14 are anticipated to increase from roughly
8,500 to 13,600+. Directly south of Highway 14, near the ramps, volumes are anticipated to
increase from 11,300 to 13,900 by 2045.

Of course, the nature and intensity of industrial, commercial, and residential development
surrounding Lookout Drive will ultimately determine traffic growth. The Northport Industrial
Park continues to grow North of Highway 14 and there is some opportunity south of the
highway for additional residential/commercial/industrial growth as well.

B. Forecasted Capacity: Congested Roadway Segments

Figure 6-11 identifies future
roadway congestion. Roadways
nearing congestion, operating at
LOS D by 2045 include:

e Lor Ray Drive from Lee
Boulevard to Highway 14

e Commerce Drive from Tower
Boulevard to Lor Ray Drive

e Lookout Drive from Marie
Lane to Lee Boulevard
(southeast intersection)

e Belgrade Avenue from Lee
Boulevard to Range Street.

e Highway 169 from Webster
Avenue north to Highway 14
is anticipated to operate at
LOS E by 2045.

Perhaps the most significant
forecasted congestion is Lee
Boulevard from Belgrade Avenue to Lor Ray Drive, which is forecasted to exceed capacity by
2045, operating at LOS F. This signals that roadway capacity improvements may be needed.

Figure 6-11. Future Roadway Congestion. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP

C. Future Roadway Functional Classification

The MAPO 2045 LRTP calls for the following roadway segments to transition functional
classification from local roadway to Minor Collector roadway by 2045:

e Carlson Drive (east of CSAH 13 to CSAH 41)

e Timm Road (west of CSAH 13 to Lor Ray Drive)

e Lor Ray Drive (north of Timm Road to 512" Street)

e 512™ Street (east of Lor Ray Drive to CSAH 13)

e A potential future extension of CSAH 41 (Rockford Road) would be a Minor Collector if
constructed.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
81



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

e Portions of both Highway
169 and Highway 14 are
anticipated to transition
from Principal Arterial —
Other Freeways and
Expressways to Principal
Arterials — Other.

These changes are reflected in
Figure 6-12.

D. Jurisdictional Transfers

Several Nicollet County

roadways are located at the

periphery of North Mankato and

have potential for transfer of

ownership from county to city

jurisdiction in the future as the

City continues to develop. The

Nicollet County Comprehensive Figure 6-12. Future Functional Classification. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP
Plan (2020) identifies

recommended jurisdictional transfers to the City as opportunities arise. This includes:

e CSAH 6 from CSAH 13 to CSAH 41
e (CSAH 13 from Howard Drive to CSAH 6
e CSAH 13 from CSAH 6 to CSAH 41 (potential future connection)

The MAPO 2045 LRTP identifies these roadways but also includes Judson Bottom Road from
North Mankato City Limits to

CSAH 41. Future Roadway

Jurisdiction can be seen in Figure

6-13.

E. Future Pedestrian and Bicycle
System

Pedestrian and bicycle system
improvements are at the
forefront of every plan
completed by or for the City of
North Mankato. The City
consistently looks for state and
federal funding opportunities to
fund safe routes to school
initiatives and additional
sidewalk and trail along new
roadway construction. Per the
City’s Complete Streets Plan and
Policy, bicycle and pedestrian Figure 6-13. Future Roadway Jurisdiction. Source: MAPO 2045 LRTP
design will be considered in all

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
82



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

street construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, and pavement maintenance conducted by or
on behalf of the City, as appropriate, subject to some exceptions. Also, the City shall plan,
design, build and maintain all bicycle and pedestrian facilities in accordance with acceptable
federal, state and local standards and guidelines, but will consider innovative and/or non-
traditional design options as appropriate. This suggests that any new development will need to
incorporate sidewalk and trail on new streets where feasible.

The North Mankato American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Transition Plan and Inventory
developed in 2019 identifies improvements to curb ramp and sidewalk locations that are not
compliant. Existing facilities are brought into compliance as they are reconstructed during street
improvement projects. The City should continue to explore grant funding opportunities to
increase implementation of compliant facilities.

Discussed in the Chapter 8 — Parks and Trails, the City has enhanced its trail system with
wayfinding signage which ties North Mankato trails into the larger Greater Mankato Trail
Systems. This system improvement should aid in increased bicycle usage in the community and
signal to cyclists that the area is a destination for cycling. It may also strengthen the City’s
position to obtain state and federal grant funding assistance to make improvements to areas of
the system in need.

Consistent with other North Mankato planning documents, the 2045 LRTP identifies a grade-
separated north-south trail crossing of Highway 14 at Caswell Park as a key improvement in the
Future Pedestrian and Bicycle System Plan. MAPO and the City of North Mankato completed the
Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study (2022) to understand any barriers to bridge
construction. A bridge over Highway 14 in this location will add a safer connection for recreation
and safe routes to school for all users in the community. The City is planning to pursue grant
funding opportunities in the coming years to assist with costs of bridge implementation.

New Technologies — Electric and Autonomous Vehicles
Electric and Autonomous Vehicles

A group of students from Minnesota State University, Mankato assisted the City with
development of the Future Transportation Preparedness Study. This study not only considered
E-bikes and E-scooters, but also electric and autonomous vehicles.

In terms of electric vehicles, the City is preparing for new locations for charging infrastructure
and there is uncertainty regarding how the private sector will provide chargers in the future for
business vehicle fleets or patrons during business hours. The City has received funding
assistance from electric utility companies and

private donors to construct E-vehicle chargers at

three locations in the City including Caswell North

Soccer Complex (top right image), Caswell Park

Sports Complex (middle right image), and the

MGM Strip Mall on Commerce Drive (bottom right

image). The City will need to consider private

sector infrastructure investment when considering

funding the installation of new public charging

infrastructure in the future.

The City will also need to understand changes to

. Figure 6-14. Caswell North Soccer Complex Electric
roadway infrastructure needed to accommodate

Vehicle Charger.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM

83



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

semi- and fully autonomous vehicle technologies in the future.

Figure 6-16. MGM parking lot Electric Vehicle
Charger on Commerce Drive.

Figure 6-15. Caswell Park Sports Complex Electric
Vehicle Charger.

E-bikes and E-Scooters

E-bikes and E-Scooters are quickly integrating into daily life as an option for short trips in fair
weather. An E-Scooter program has operated on the Minnesota State University, Mankato
campus for the last couple of years and it is only a matter of time before they make their way
down into Mankato and across the river to North Mankato. This may be in the form of share
programs where E-bikes and E-scooters are available from various docking stations around the
area or are left at random locations where users leave them until another user chooses to ride.
E-bike and E-scooter usage will require action on the part of the City to understand implications
for vehicle storage and usage of E-bikes and E-scooters on the transportation system.

Future Rehabilitation, Capacity Expansion, and Intersection Safety and Expansion Projects

Several transportation-focused projects resulted from the MAPO 2045 LRTP process that were identified
through various local plans. The following tables provide a summary of all projects along with project
description, cost, and timeframe. The City should revisit this list when considering which projects to
incorporate into the CIP.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
84



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Pleasant View

Location/Termini

Peregrine Lane (E.int.) to

Table 6-H. MAPO 2045 LRTP - Major Rehabilitation and Reconstruction Projects

Project Description

Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal

Distance
(Miles)

Y.O.E.
Estimated
Cost
(Based on
Timeframe)

2020 LRTP
Fiscally
Constrained
Priority
Timeframe

Lead
Agency
Cost
(Y.O.E.)

Partner
Agency 1
Cost
(Y.O.E.)

R10 - . . MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato 0.25 $ 688,000 Short $ 688,000 N/A
Drive North Ridge Drive Improvements Mankato
Somerset Lane | Lookout Driveto Lor Ray |Two-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimodal North
R14 (522th Street) Drive Improvements MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato M ankato 0.24 $ 1101000 Short $ 1,101,000 N/A
R | VebSter Lake Street to US 169 Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato | ot 064 $ 2,47,000 Mid 1 $ 2,147,000 N/A
Avenue Improvements M ankato
R21 Lee Boulevard |Lookout Drive to Belgrade | Three-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato North 00 $ 679,000 Mid 2 $ 679,000 N/A
(lower) Avenue Improvements Mankato
Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal .
R46 Belgrade Lee Boulevard to Range Improvements (improvements per the Belgrade Avenue Belgrade Avenue Corridor North Mankato North 0.93 $ 3,396,000 Mid 2 $ 3,396,000 N/A
Avenue Street ) Study Mankato
Corridor Study)
’ Three-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal ’
R47 Belgrade Range Street to Nicollet Improvements (improvements per the Belgrade Avenue Belgrade Avenue Corridor North M ankato North 0.10 $ 1,342,000 Mid 1 $ 1342,000 N/A
Avenue Avenue ) Study Mankato
Corridor Study)
R60 | Howard Drive Eor;';o utDriveto LorRay |10 | 2ne Urban Reconstruct MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato :‘A"a:zato 0.79 $ 4,163,000 Long $ 4,163,000 N/A
R62 | Lake Street Belgrade Avenue to Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato North 0.80 $ 3,506,000 Long $ 3,506,000 N/A
Webster Avenue M ankato
R63 Lee Boulevard Lolokout Driveto LorRay |Two-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimodal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato North 079 $ 4,153,000 Long $ 4,163,000 N/A
(upper) Drive Improvements M ankato
R64|Lor RayDrive | HowardDriveto Carlson | Three-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato | o™t 052 $ 2,629,000 Long $ 2,629,000 N/A
Drive Improvements M ankato
R69 PIgasantVlew CSAH 41.t0 Peregrine Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato North 071 $ 2,887,000 Mid 2 $ 2,887,000 N/A
Drive Lane (W.int.) Improvements Mankato
R78| Carlson Drive | -00koutDriveto LorRay | Three-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimodal MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | Mo 075 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Drive Improvements Mankato
R79| Center Street | US 19 o Webster Two-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | o 095 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Avenue Improvements M ankato
R83 |Howard Drive |CSAH 41to Lookout Drive | Two-Lane Urban Reconstruct MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato :\\‘A(;::Eato 0.74 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
R84|LorRayDrive | CaSonDrivetoTimm |Three.Lane Urban Reconstructand Muttimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato | ot 039 $ 975,000 Long $ 975,000 N/A
Road Improvements M ankato
R85 Lor RayDrive | e Boulevardto Three-Lane Urban Reconstruct and Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | ot 039 N/A lllustrative N/A N/A
Commerce Drive Improvements Mankato
R87|LorRayDrive |COMmerce Driveto Four-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | o't 045 N/A lllustrative N/A N/A
Howard Drive Improvements Mankato
R88 |Range Street | BE19rade Avenue to Two-Lane Urban Reconstructand Multimo dal MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | oM 057 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Webster Avenue Improvements Mankato
CSAH 13 . S .
R92| (Lookout 506th Ave to Howard Drive | | V0~ 21d Three- Major Rehabiltation (pavement or MAPO 2045 LRTP Nicollet Co,North |\ et co | 240 $ 3,681000 Long $2,761000 | $ 920,000
Drive) concrete overlay), Safety, and M ultimodal Inprovements | Update Mankato
. . |Three-and Five- Lane Urban Major Rehabilitation
R93|Lookout Drive Commerce Drive to Marie (pavement or concrete overlay), Safety, and M ultimodal MAPO2045LRTP North Mankato North 0.60 $ 4,820,000 Long $ 4,820,000 N/A
Lane Update Mankato
Improvements
. Three-and Five- Lane Urban Major Rehabilitation
R95 | Lookout Drive Marie Lane to Lee (pavement or concrete overlay), Safety, and M ultimodal MAPO2045LRTP North Mankato North 120 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Boulevard (lower) Update Mankato

Improvements

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION

FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
85



E2

E7

CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Lor Ray Drive

Lee Boulevard
(lower)

Location/Termini

Timm Road to Somerset

Lane

Lor Ray Drive to Belgrade

Avenue

Project Description

Construct Three-Lane Urban Roadwayand
M ultimodal Improvements

Construct Four-Lane Urban Roadwayand
M ultimodal Improvements

MAPO 2045 LRTP

MAPO 2045 LRTP

North Mankato

North Mankato

Table 6-1. MAPO 2045 LRTP - Corridor Capacity Expansion Projects

Mankato
North
Mankato

Distance
(Miles)

Y.O.E.
Estimated
Cost
(Based on
Timeframe)

$ 3,212,000

N/A

2020 LRTP
Fiscally
Constrained
Priority
Timeframe

Short

lllustrative

Lead
Agency
Cost
(Y.O.E.)

$ 3,212,000

N/A

Partner
Agency 1
Cost
(Y.O.E.)

N/A

N/A

Table 6-J. MAPO 2045 LRTP - Intersection Capacity Expansion Projects

Y.©Q.[E,

2020 LRTP

. E Lead Partner
Lead Distance SoAnetce PIECELY Agenc Agency 1
Location/Termini Project Description Agency . Cost Constrained 9 y g y
Agency (Miles) . Cost Cost
(Based on Priority (Y.O.E) (Y.O.E)
Timeframe) | Timeframe e e
I3 |LorRayDrive |Howard Drive Single-lane Roundabout (ICE Completed) ICE Report 2018 North Mankato EZ:Eato N/A $ 1,950,000 Short $ 1950,000 N/A
I7 |LeeBoulevard |Belgrade Avenue Single-lane Roundabout (ICE Completed) Belgrade Corridor Study | North Mankato moarr:Eato N/A $ 2,547,000 Mid 2 $ 2,547,000 N/A
Lookout Drive . . MAPO 2045 LRTP Nicollet Co,North | . .
120 (CSAH B) Carlson Drive Traffic Control Improvement (ICE Needed) Update M ankato Nicollet Co N/A N/A lllustrative N/A N/A
Lookout Drive . . MAPO 2045 LRTP Nicollet Co,North | . .
121 (CSAH B) Timm Road Traffic Control Improvement (ICE Needed) Update M ankato Nicollet Co N/A N/A lllustrative N/A N/A

Table 6-K. MAPO 2045 LRTP - Safety Projects

Y.O.E.

2020 LRTP

. . Lead Partner
Distance Souneice FEEELY Agenc Agency 1
Location/Termini Project Description R Cost Constrained 9 y 9 y
(Miles) . Cost Cost
(Based on Priority (Y.0.E) (Y.0.E)
Timeframe) | Timeframe e e
S1 |LorRayDrive |Carlson Drive Construct Mini-Roundabout (ICE Completed) ICE Report 2017 North Mankato ;Z:Eato N/A $ 2,013,000 Mid 1 $ 2,013,000 N/A
S4 |LorRayDrive |Carlson Drive Remove sight distance obstructions near intersection MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato ;Z:Eato N/A $ 7,000 Short $ 7,000 N/A

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION

FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM
86



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 6-L. MAPO 2045 LRTP - Pedestrian & Bicycle Projects
Y.O.E. 2020 LRTP

: . L P
Estimated Fiscally 2ee A

Agency Agency 1

(Miles) . Cost Cost
(Based on Priority (Y.0.E) (Y.0.E)

Timeframe) | Timeframe

Distance

Location/Termini Project Description Cost Constrained

p1 |CSAHBG20N | o)1 4116 400th Avenue | NewTrail MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato, 100 $ 6,000 Short $ 6,000 N/A
Street) Update Nicollet Co Mankato
Judson ) N.Mankato Proposed North
P2 Bottom Road Lookout Drive to CSAH 41 | NewOn-Street Route Bike Trails/Routes Plan North Mankato M ankato 280 $ 401,000 Short $ 401000 N/A
P9 | Lookout Drive | MarieLaneto Commerce | SRTS Infrastructure Improvements MAPO 2045 LRTP NorthMankato | ot 065 $ 537,000 Mid 1 $ 537,000 N/A
Drive (New Trail and Improved Crossings) Mankato
P2 |LorRayDrive |-c¢BoulevardtoHoward | o MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato | ot 043 $ 287,000 Short $ 287,000 N/A
Drive Mankato
Lookout Drive to Roe
P14 |MarieLane  |Crest SRTS Infrastructure Improvements N.Mankato Proposed |, ) pankato | NOT ; $ 2,000 Short $ 2,000 N/A
Drive (New Trail and Improved Crossings) Bike Trails/Routes Plan M ankato
P15 [Range Street |\ CONICtAvenue to Webster| o o sireet Route N.Mankato Proposed |\ ), yankate [NO 082 $ 2,000 Short $ 2,000 N/A
Avenue Bike Trails/Routes Plan M ankato
Tower Commerce Drive to M arie N.Mankato Proposed North .
P16 Boulevard Lane New On-Street Route Bike Trails/Routes Plan North Mankato M ankato 0.64 $ 1000 Mid 1 $ 1,000 N/A
Webster Ave/N.
PT |River Center Streetto the Rex |\ o o street Route N.Mankato Proposed | ) vankato | VO 040 $ 537,000 Mid 1 $ 537,000 N/A
Macbeth River Trail Bike Trails/Routes Plan M ankato
Dr/Pauley Way
CSAH 41to Timm Road
pig | Future Carlson | oo\, New Trail N.Mankato Proposed |0 ) yanae | VO 060 $ 604,000 Mid 1 $ 604,000 N/A
Drive 6) Bike Trails/Routes Plan Mankato
Lookout Drive | Carlson Drive to 512th . North M ankato Trail North Mankato, North .
P30 (CSAH B) Street New Trail Plan Nicollet Co M ankato 110 $ 2,684,000 Mid 1 $ 2,684,000 N/A
Howard Drive to Caswell Grade-separated pedestrian and MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato, |North
I e Park bicycle crossing Update MnDOT Mankato ) $ 701000 Long $ 701000 N/A
Timm Road . North M ankato Trail North Mankato, North .
P32 (CSAH 6) CSAH 41to 405th Avenue | New Trail Plan Nicollet Co M ankato 0.80 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Lookout Drive to Lor Ray North
P59 |Lee Boulevard |Drive New Trail MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato M ankato 0.63 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
(hill segment)
Lee Boulevard (lower) to North
P60 |Lookout Drive |Marie New Trail MAPO 2045 LRTP North Mankato M ankato 110 N/A llustrative N/A N/A
Lane
US 169 to existing trail 600"
P62 WLind Street | N. New Trai N.Mankato Proposed |, ) yanato | NN 030 N/A N/A NIA N/A
) Bike Trails/Routes Plan Mankato
of Lind St
CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION FUTURE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM

87



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for the transportation system followed by a series of
objectives and policies intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community
visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Participate in the preparation of future updates to the Mankato/North Mankato Area
Planning Organization (MAPO) Long-Range Transportation Plan (LRTP).

Objective 1.1: Continue to provide representation on behalf of the City of North Mankato
throughout the LRTP preparation process.

Policy 1.1.1: The Community Development Director and City Engineer, as MAPO
Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) members, will represent the interests of the City of
North Mankato throughout the LRTP preparation process.

Policy 1.1.2.: The City Councilperson designated as the MAPO Policy Board member, will
represent the interests of the City of North Mankato throughout the LRTP preparation
process.

Objective 1.2: Provide information, input and feedback relative to the City of North Mankato’s
transportation system throughout the LRTP preparation process.

Policy 1.2.1: The MAPO TAC members and Policy Board Representative will promptly
provide the technical information requested throughout the preparation of the LRTP,
utilizing other City staff members and other resources as required.

Policy 1.2.2: The City’s TAC representatives and Policy Board representative will
periodically update the City Council on the progress of the LRTP preparation.

Policy 1.2.3: The City’s TAC representatives and Policy Board representative will seek
input from the City Council on decisions impacting the City of North Mankato’s
transportation system and communicate such input as appropriate during the LRTP
preparation process.

Policy 1.2.4: Continue to support options for the TH 169/TH 14 interchange and adjacent
TH 169 corridor to the south that will maintain full access conditions at the TH 169/
Webster Avenue intersection.

GOAL 2: Implement and enforce standards for new streets and roadways within identified growth

areas.

Objective 2.1: Assign appropriate functional classification to existing and new streets and
roadways.

Policy 2.1.1: Community Development Director and City Engineer will provide the MAPO
TAC and Policy Board with recommendations regarding functional classification of new
streets and roadways.

Policy 2.1.2: Community Development Director and City Engineer will monitor traffic
and other transportation characteristics of existing streets and roadways and make

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

88



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

recommendations regarding changes to the functional classification of the existing
streets and roadways.

Objective 2.2: Implement and enforce standards for existing and new streets and roadways.

Policy 2.2.1: Incorporate standards related to access management standards and
geometric design standards as outlined herein and as developed in the LRTP into the
City’s zoning ordinances related to new streets and roadways.

Policy 2.2.2: Monitor opportunities to incorporate standards related to access
management standards and geometric design standards as outlined herein and as
developed in the LRTP into the reconstruction of existing streets and roadways and
implement to the extent practical.

GOAL 3: Accommodate new technologies in North Mankato’s transportation system.

Objective 3.1: Implement and enforce standards for new transportation technologies as they
integrate into the transportation system.

Policy 3.1.1: Incorporate appropriate regulations into the City of North Mankato Code of
Ordinances to ensure new technologies such as electric and autonomous vehicles are
operating safely and efficiently within the transportation system.

Policy 3.1.2: Encourage private sector installation of electric vehicle charging
infrastructure to serve vehicle fleets and patrons visiting businesses.

GOAL 4: Establish Highway 169 Corridor as a major gateway into the Greater Mankato Area.

Objective 4.1: Ensure the reconstruction of Highway 169 from north of Highway 14, south to the
Veteran’s Memorial Bridge includes elements that make an attractive gateway into the Greater
Mankato Area.

Policy 4.1.1: Work with the City of Mankato and MnDOT to incorporate beautification
elements such as lighting, structures, signage, and other elements into roadway design.

CHAPTER 6: TRANSPORTATION TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
89



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

CHAPTER 7: Public Utilities
INTRODUCTION

The City of North Mankato has a significant investment in its existing public utilities systems (water,
wastewater, and stormwater). The continued expansion and development within the growth areas
identified in this Comprehensive Plan will require the extension of public utilities into those areas. In
general, the existing infrastructure system is well-positioned and of adequate size to support the
required expansion into the growth areas. However, coordination will be required between community
development and the required expansion of the utility system. In some cases, the cost of providing
utility service may dictate where and when future growth will occur.

The following sections provide a general description of the existing water system, wastewater system
and storm drainage system within the City of North Mankato. This Chapter is not intended to be a
detailed infrastructure master plan, but rather a source of information that will assist stakeholders
(citizens, City staff, and potential developers) with the information about these systems and factors that
may impact decision-making regarding development strategies.

PREVIOUS AND ONGOING PLANNING INITIATIVES
Water Supply Plan (2017)

Public water suppliers serving more than 1,000 people are required to prepare and submit a water
supply plan. The goal of the WSP is to help water suppliers implement long-term water sustainability
and conservation measures, develop critical emergency preparedness measures. A water crisis or
emergency can be avoided or mitigated if the long-term sustainability measures of a WSP are
implemented.

Wellhead Protection Plan (2017)

This plan identifies the land area around the wellhead infrastructure, the vulnerability of the land to
contamination, impact of land and water use changes on the water supply wells, and a contingency
strategy to address a water supply interruption.

WATER SYSTEM

Existing Systems

The City of North Mankato operates an extensive water treatment and supply system, serving
residential, commercial, and industrial users in two pressure zones: the upper system and the lower
system.

Under normal circumstances, the two systems operate independently, each with their own supply,
treatment, storage, and distribution systems. However, there is a connection between the two systems
to facilitate the transfer of water between systems in the event of an emergency.

Water supply in the lower system is provided by two groundwater wells, Well No. 5 and Well No. 6, both
located near Water Treatment Plant No. 1 at the intersection of Belgrade Avenue and Nicollet Avenue.
Both Wells and No.5 and No.6 as shown in Table 7-A below, are multi-aquifer wells. Minnesota
Department of Health (MDH) requires any multi-aquifer well to be converted to a single aquifer well if
and when the well undergoes a major rehabilitation (pump replacement is exempted). Converting wells
5 and 6 to single aquifer wells will significantly reduce the pumping capacity of these wells. Therefore,

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES INTRODUCTION
90



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

the city needs to have a long-term plan with respect to future of Wells No. 5 and No. 6 and the Water
Treatment Plant No.1. This is briefly discussed under Future Improvement section below. The upper
system is currently provided by three groundwater wells, Well No. 7, Well No. 8. and Well 9. Well No. 7
is located within the Water Treatment Plant No. 2 on Howard Drive. Well No. 8 is located in the Caswell
Park complex, just east of Water Treatment Plant No. 2. A third well, Well No. 9, is located east of the
Water Treatment Plant No.2 and south of the volleyball courts.

Table 7-A below shows a summary of the well characteristics:

Table 7-A: Well Data

cOnZEiLted 1950 | 1959 1975 1986 - 2015
Year Last Rehab 2020 2021 2016 2018

Well Depth (ft) 680 687 860 845 845
Casing Diameter

(in) 16 24/20 24/20 30/24/18 30/24/18

Water Bearing |lronton / Galesville :lronton / Galesville Franconia / Mt.

Foundation / Mt. Simon / Mt. Simon Simon Mt. Simon Mt. Simon

Pump Type Vertical Turbine Vertical Turbine Vertical Turbine Vertical Turbine Vertical Turbine
Capacity 1000 | 1440 1100 | 1100 ? 1100
(gal/min) ;

As mentioned previously, two water treatment plants treat the well water before it is pumped into the
distribution system. Treated water for the lower system is provided by Water Treatment Plant No. 1,
located at the intersection of Belgrade Avenue and Nicollet Avenue. This facility was initially constructed
in 1959 with rehabilitation work completed most recently in 2017. The facility consists of a steel gravity
filter which treats the raw water for iron and manganese and has a capacity of 1440 gallons per minute
(gpm). The Water Treatment Plant No.1 is operated at flow rate of 1300 gpm. Treated water for the
upper system is provided by Water Treatment Plant No. 2, located on Howard Drive just east of the
Caswell Park athletic complex. This facility was constructed in 1975 and expanded in 2001 to increase
the treatment capacity to 2,200 gpm.

The existing treated water storage for the City of North Mankato consists of five reservoirs. Three
ground- level storage reservoirs provide a total of 750,000 gallons of water storage for the lower system.
One of the ground storage reservoirs (500,000 gallons) is located at Water Treatment Plant No. 1. The
other two reservoirs for the lower system with a combined capacity of 250,000 gallons are located in the
hillside bluff overlooking the lower North Mankato area and thus act as elevated reservoirs for the lower
system. The upper system is served by two 500,000-gallon elevated water towers, one located on Tower
Drive, constructed in 2011 and one located on Carlson Drive, constructed in 1993. In addition, a
750,000-gallon ground storage reservoir is located adjacent to Water Treatment Plant No. 2.

High service pumps are utilized to pump water from the two ground storage reservoirs located at the
water treatment plants. Two high service pumps at Water Treatment Plant No. 1 are capable of
pumping 1,200 gpm each and approximately 2,000 gpm when operating together. In addition, the
pumps at this plant are capable of transferring water from the lower system to the upper system at a
rate of approximately 1,000 gpm. All high service pumps at Water Treatment Plant No. 2 are provided

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WATER SYSTEM
91



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

with variable speed drives and are capable of delivering 2,200 gpm from the ground storage reservoir at
Water Treatment Plant No. 2. Each high service pump at this location is capable of delivering up to 1,100
gpm to the distribution system.

The existing water distribution system consists of 4-inch diameter through 16-inch diameter mains. The
oldest watermains are in the lower North Mankato area. Those that have not been replaced with ductile
iron or polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe within the past 20 to 25 years are cast iron pipe. Most of the upper
system is ductile iron or PVC pipe. Dead end mains have, in general, been minimized, which provides for
adequate circulation and very few areas of stagnant water throughout the lower and upper systems.
The City’s water department staff flushes the system on a regular basis in order to clean sediment and
rust from the system. Numerous reconstruction projects over the past 25 to 30 years, primarily in the
lower system, have greatly improved the water supply and pressure, and have increased the reliability
of the system.

The existing water system in North Mankato is shown on Figure 7-1.
Future Improvements

The following table shows the current and projected water usage demands for the City of North
Mankato:

Table 7-B: Water Usage
Lower System Upper System Overall System
Peak Day Water Use | Annual | Peak Day Water Use | Annual | Peak Day Water Use

without Water without with Water without with
flushing Use flushing flushing Use flushing | flushing

2000 | 123 06 09 351 1.7 18 474 22 23
2025 123 06 09 366 1.8 1.9 123.9 2.3 2.4
,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 2030 | 123 06 0.3 377 1.9 20 1233 24 2.5
2040 | 123 06 09 400 2.0 21 1239 25 26

Since the water used for watermain flushing can significantly impact the pumping rates for the wells and
the water treatment plants, Table 7-B shows the actual peak daily water use during flushing and
estimates of the peak daily water usage with no flushing.

Firm peak day capacity, calculated over 24 hours with the largest well in each system out of service is 1.4
million gallons per day (mgd) in the lower system and 3.2 mgd in the upper system. With the addition of
the new Well No. 9 in the upper system in 2015, the well capacity is adequate to meet the projected
water demands throughout the planning period. The City will continue to implement an on-going well
maintenance program in order to maximize the useful lives of the well casings, pumps, piping and
equipment. Periodic repairs and replacements will be performed as required.

The capacity of the water treatment plants and high service pumping should equal the maximum day
demands for the planning period. The projected future peak day demands for the planning period are
0.9 mgd in the lower system and 2.1 mgd in the upper system. Treatment capacity of Plant No. 1is 1.8
mgd and the treatment capacity of Plant No. 2 is 2.6 mgd. Since the capacity of each treatment plant

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WATER SYSTEM
92



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WATER SYSTEM
93



2_11x17.mxd | Date Saved: 8/3/2022 8:10:17 AM

Water_Towers_202.

Map Document: \\arcserver1\GIS\NMAN\_Basemap\ESRI\Maps\2022\Comprehensive_Plans\Nman_Comp_Plan

Date Saved: 8/3/2022 8:10:17 AM

2022 Comprehensive Plan Update Figure 7.1 Existing Water System
City of North Mankato, Minnesota August 2022

e — |

L [ T 1

Legend 6

o Existing Wells

a/
M

e Existing Resevoir

AL

e Existing Tower

LT S ——_ |

Existing Watermain

o —

S City Limits

E Parcels

Source: Nicollet County, MNDNR

E—
[_‘ nCRA3ILOOKQUT4DRI==25
L . .

k
uUs 14 ‘
| ..ﬁ
: \
é
City of
Hiniker Mankato
Pond
\
‘ mhr A
i %
% AT i — RN
k b SESES s
4 : =5 £ e \
] @ | W ‘ é \ti E]ng’ E'll % \x“
‘ I J T Spri E = SN 1
e pring  =[THH] \
A <2>EEEEEEEE . | — @ Lake = M|l i \-
- Park g ‘
[ @ .!
B\ A %‘% ;
L] L-EE‘BL—V ] i
| L‘E > [RRRR= (A ] i
= i T i
[ — 2 x
e\ | H mﬂ%ﬁ z
< B H ‘ MHWTV (oi? ]
/l . = ;
| = ! O WT\H \‘ \‘\‘J‘Jﬁﬂﬂ% > “I
| - e il Hmﬂwmumﬂ! -~
O janil i “"
" ' LOOKOUT DR. ‘ - "“’
“N\,\-ﬂ' ~ r~'~ ** *
; River L Lookout O P See. ~ __‘a“’
Minnesota "
-l_ll_ll-lI-II-II-l.-..-.. —— v .
-—--—--—--—--— - L LT H: 8 -‘,“l C”:y of
han &fﬁ‘ Man katO







CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

exceeds the projected peak day demand for each facility, the capacity of both plants is adequate for the
planning period. Water Treatment Plant No. 1 was refurbished most recently in 2017 and is good
condition. Water Treatment Plant No. 2 is scheduled for a rehabilitation project in 2022, but no further
expansion of treatment capacity is proposed with that project. After the rehabilitation project on Water
Treatment Plant No. 2, is completed, water treatment facilities will be adequate in capacity and
condition for the foreseeable future.

Water storage for the City of North Mankato is located in both the upper and lower distribution zones.
Storage adequacy can be assessed in several ways. The recommended water storage volume is based on
fire demand, emergency reserve and equalization. Based on average day demand, a worst case fire
event, and equalization volume equal to 20 percent of the average daily flow, an analysis indicates that
the water storage provided in the upper area by the ground storage/high service pumps and the two
elevated water towers is adequate to meet the projected storage requirements through the planning
period. A similar analysis indicates that the lower system is currently deficient in storage by
approximately 200,000 gallons. Since water demand in the lower system is not expected to increase
significantly during the planning period, the lower system will be approximately 200,000 deficient in
storage at the end of the planning period. However, water from the upper system can be diverted to
the lower system without limiting services in the upper system, so the need to add storage in the lower
system is not anticipated. The two hillside ground storage reservoirs in the lower system were
rehabilitated in 2019. The Carlson Drive water tower on the upper system received an interior re-
painting/rehabilitation in 2013 and exterior repainting/rehabilitation in 2020. The Tower Boulevard
water tower on the upper system received an exterior repainting/rehabilitation in 2020. It is anticipated
that both elevated water towers will require interior repainting/rehabilitation within the planning
period. It is recommended that the reservoirs continue to be drained, inspected and maintained every 3
to 5 years.

The adequacy of the City’s water supply, treatment and storage systems throughout the planning period
assumes that industrial development in undeveloped areas within the current City limits and industrial
development within the projected growth areas will continue to have relatively low water demands.
Future industrial developments having high water usage may require that the capacity of the water
supply, treatment and/or storage be increased, either by adding new facilities or expanding existing
facilities.

If industrial development with high water usage in the upper system requires the city to expand the
supply (wells) and the treatment capacity in the upper system, then City should consider abandoning
Wells No.5 and No.6 and Water Treatment Plant No.1 and move the entire water treatment to the
upper system. Abandoning Well No.5 and No.6 will make obtaining the required Minnesota Department
of Natural Resources (DNR) and MDH permits to drill two new wells in the Mt. Simon aquifer much
easier. Since the peak day demand for the for the Water Treatment Plant No.1 is only 0.9 mgd, any new
treatment facility proposed for industrial development could be expanded to include this demand very
cost effectively.

In general, the water distribution system for the City of North Mankato is well maintained and well
managed. Although much of the old cast iron watermain system has been replaced through numerous
reconstruction projects in the lower system in recent years, portions of the old system still remain.
These segments should be replaced and, where required, increased in size as street construction
projects are implemented. As previously noted, most of the upper system is much newer (relatively
speaking) than the lower system and consists primarily of ductile iron and cast-iron pipe. As with the
lower area, the existing watermain system in the upper system should be evaluated for improvement
and/or replacement when the City is contemplating street reconstruction projects.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WATER SYSTEM
96



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Most of the water system improvements in the upper area will be driven by residential, commercial
and/or industrial development in the undeveloped areas within the City limits and the projected growth
areas beyond the City limits. A system of trunk watermains ranging in size from 10 to 16 inches in
diameter will be extended into these growth areas as they develop.

WATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for the water system followed by a series of objectives
and policies intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community visions in
this plan.

GOAL 1: Expand existing water system infrastructure to meet the demands generated by continued
development.

Objective 1.1: Expand the trunk watermain system into future growth areas.

Policy 1.1.1: Implement the expansion of the trunk watermain system as areas outside the limits
of the existing water distribution system are developed.

Policy 1.1.2: The trunk watermain system within the future growth areas will be based on the
type, location, configuration and sequence of the future development. Final trunk watermain
sizes and locations should be based on detailed engineering studies as more information
regarding future development becomes available.

Policy 1.1.3.: Develop a financing strategy for funding the expansion of the trunk watermain
system.

Objective 1.2: Expand the water supply, water treatment, and water storage systems as
required to accommodate future development demands.

Policy 1.2.1: As future development occurs, detailed engineering studies should be
performed to evaluate the capacity of the existing water supply, water treatment, and
water storage systems considering new water demands and to determine required
improvements.

Policy 1.2.2.: Develop a financing strategy for funding the expansion of the trunk
watermain system.

GOAL 2: Monitor, evaluate and improve the condition of the City’s existing water system
infrastructure.

Objective 2.1: Replace aging water distribution system infrastructure.

Policy 2.1.1: Prepare a study to document the condition of deficient watermains based
on age, materials and history of breaks, leaks, freezing and other deficiencies.

Policy 2.1.2: Utilize the information from the watermain condition study, in conjunction
with the condition information for other infrastructure elements, to develop, expand
and prioritize projects to be included in the capital improvements.

Objective 2.2: Monitor the condition of existing water supply, treatment, and storage
infrastructure and replace as required.

Policy 2.2.1: Monitor changes in drinking water quality standards and identify possible
changes to the treatment processes currently utilized by the City’s two water treatment
facilities.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
97



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 2.2.4: Monitor the condition of the existing wells and related equipment and
continue with regular inspections, maintenance and miscellaneous equipment
replacement as required.

Policy 2.2.5: Monitor the condition of the water storage facilities and related equipment
and continue with regular inspections, maintenance and miscellaneous equipment
replacement as required.

WASTEWATER SYSTEM

Existing Systems

The existing wastewater collection system within the City of North Mankato consists of a network of
sanitary sewers ranging in size from 8 inches to 24 inches in diameter. There are also 12 lift stations
located throughout the City that collect and pump the wastewater from those areas which cannot be
served by gravity sewers. The sanitary sewers and lift stations throughout the City collect into four main
trunk sewers. Most of the trunk sewers flow to the City’s Main Lift Station complex (Lift Station No. 1
and Lift Station No. 2) located on the east side of Trunk Highway (T.H.) 169 at Pierce Avenue. The two lift
stations making up the Main Lift Station complex operate in tandem to pump all of the wastewater
generated within the City North Mankato, across the Minnesota River to the City of Mankato’s
wastewater treatment facility. The following Table provides a summary of the existing trunk sanitary
sewers within the City.

Figure No. 7-2 shows the three trunk sewers as well as with the areas served by each.

Table 7-C: Existing Trunk Sanitary Sewers

Trunk Service Area . Year(s)
. . Pipe
Sanitary Pipe Constructe

i Pumpsto | _. Materia
e Area Service Y size(s) | d/
Designation Se.rv.ed Gz Al Replaced
(Existing) | Developed?
Main Lift
Trunk Sanitary Lowerand } 12"to 1950's,
Sewer 1 Upper Area 1240 ves _ Station 18" GV PVC 000, 2010%
~_Complex :
. 7 ~ MainLift -
Trunk Sanitary Lowerand 1360 Yes ~ Staton 18"  Clay,PVC  1970's, 2000's
Sewer 2 Upper Area : : : : :
PP : - Complex :
. Main Lift
T'“Q:j:::ary U‘;ﬁ:;g‘:;th 1250 No Station 27" PVC 1990's
Complex [

The existing trunk sewer that runs along Cross Street and Pierce Avenue is a clay pipe that ranges in size
from 24 inches to 27 inches in diameter that was constructed in the 1950’s. This trunk sewer collects
wastewater from most of the lower North Mankato area and transports the wastewater across Highway
169 at Pierce Avenue to the Main Lift Station complex. One of the manholes on this trunk sewer
experienced a failure during the extreme high-water condition in the Minnesota River in 2019, resulting
in the pipe being plugged with sand and causing back-ups in portions of the sanitary sewer system. This
problem area was repaired, and the trunk sewer resumed functioning adequately. Considering the age
of the pipe, it is generally good condition, but it is recommended that the sewer be rehabilitated by re-
lining within the next several years.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WASTEWATER SYSTEM
98



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WASTEWATER SYSTEM
99



2022 Comprehensive Plan Update Figure 7.2 Existing Sanitary Trunk Sewer & Service Areas
City of North Mankato August 2022

s_11x17.mxd | Date Saved: 8/3/2022 8:08:25 AM

Trunk_Sewer_and_Service_Area

Sanitary_System_

-

B
.
4 |

p_Plan

Plans\Nman_Com

Map Document: \\arcserver1\GIS\NMAN\_Basemap\E SRI\Maps\2022\Comprehensive

% 3
T E
! g
J :
‘ 5 @ RAMP US 14
; TEU :
l.! _J % NIGQ!TS'DR - .
': o : : %ﬁ s
> z = .
fAMP Us 14 T —RINGHOFER DR~ LANCE PRIVATERD7§ 5 < 4 H Clty of
HE e i in Mankato
A\ i Hiniker
- H iliis ! Pond
) KINGSWA | 1
)'% i E : i
{OWARDD|
B N i MAIN LIFT
S T
— 1
Legend N L STATION
E 1&2
Sanitary Service Areas vsie RAMP s )
@ a
Service Area 1 il %MCK. ey A
EFFERSON AVE.
Service Area 2 , EjjthR:AvE P
=——JAMESDR \
HARRISON-AVE, | “
Service Area 3 =i SeEnad 1}
=] o H H
. . . & LAKEVIEW. A\/EIE% %% %g%@ !
Existing Lift Stations I, g @%&Hﬂﬁﬁg@d}; 8 gz i
Pt N TS . . GAR 5 z H
o ) 3 <J EE BLYD % E%%: :I
—P=— Existing Trunk Sanitary Sewer dih @ [EunIS AL ES i
Y : $ o i = o = o A
o 'K WHEELER AVE i
QL L PARKAVE. | L o !
|:| North Mankato Parcels "III e o /WW%WL %%Hiﬂ%w% g
m ! gl E% %ﬁ% i
il o]
E Parcels i Q% Mol e ar 5 R
<% % R
' ~ i imi ﬁ % SOUTHAVE @ e
nr City Limits \ /f T L
Q| N/, I
L ’(O“‘\/M;‘l n,neSfO ta R v er."\. ,u/“’
et ot ‘~., o
0 2,000 L ) w2 & e R
BN reet City of
Source: Nicollet County, MNDNR vw Mankato







CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The capacity of the existing wastewater collection system is controlled, for the most part, by the
capacity of the existing lift stations and trunk sewers. The sanitary sewer system and the lift stations
within the City of North Mankato are well maintained and well managed. The sanitary sewers are
cleaned and televised on a regular basis, and the lift stations are also inspected and maintained
regularly. Although much of the old clay sanitary sewer systems in the lower North Mankato area have
been replaced through numerous reconstruction projects in recent years, portions of the old system still
remain. These segments should be replaced as street construction projects are implemented using
newer materials less susceptible to inflow and infiltration of ground water and surface water into the
system. Most of the sanitary sewer system in the upper North Mankato area is newer and consists
primarily of plastic pipe. However, as with the lower area, the existing sanitary sewers in the upper
system should also be evaluated for improvement and/or replacement when the City is contemplating
street reconstruction projects.

The City will continue to implement an on-going maintenance and equipment replacement program to
maximize the useful lives of the lift stations. Periodic repairs and replacements will be performed as
required.

Future Improvements
Table 7-D shows the current and projected wastewater flows from the City of North Mankato:

The average daily wastewater flow is the Table 7-D: Current and Projected Wastewater Flows

total annual volume of wastewater Total Projected Total Projected
collected within the City of North Average Daily Average Wet Weather

Wastewater Wastewater Flow
Flow (mgd) (mgd)

Mankato and pumped to the Mankato
Wastewater Treatment Plant divided by

365 days. The average wet weather 2020 1.50 1.86
wastewater flow is average daily flow for 2025 1.54 1.90
the 30 consecutive days that have the 2030 158 194
highest total flow during that 30-day 5040 16e 0%

period in each year.

The City completed a major rehabilitation project on Lift Station No.1 in 2015. With this improvement,
the wastewater collection system has adequate capacity to accommodate the projected wastewater
flows from residential, commercial and industrial development within a 20-year planning period. Most
of the areas projected for future development are located within or adjacent to the existing city limits in
the upper North Mankato area. The trunk sewer line on Carlson Drive and Countryside Drive will serve
these future development areas. This trunk sewer line and Lift Station No. 2 were constructed in the
mid-1990’s and have capacity for the projected wastewater flows within the planning period of this
Comprehensive Plan.

A system of sanitary sewers will be extended from the trunk sewers into the development areas in the
upper north Mankato area. These sewers will range in size from 8 inches to 15 inches in diameter. The
exact size and configuration of the sanitary sewer system will be dependent on the type and density of
development, existing and proposed topography, and in the case of commercial and industrial areas, the
extent of water usage/wastewater discharged. As the development expands beyond the limits of gravity
sanitary sewer service, additional lift stations will need to be added to the system. Figure 7-3 shows the
limits of the existing trunk sewer and lift station service areas, as well as the service areas to be served
by future lift stations.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WASTEWATER SYSTEM
102



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Page intentionally left blank

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WASTEWATER SYSTEM
103



2022 Comprehensive Plan Update

Figure 7.3 Future Trunk Sanitary Sewer and Lift Station Areas

City of North Mankato

August 2022

11x17.mxd | Date Saved: 8/2/2022 8:48:12 AM

Trunk_Sewer_and_Service_Areas,

p_Plan_Future_Sanitary_System_

Plans\Nman_Com

N

-

= H R —

i

RAMP Us 14

F

Legend

Future Sanitary Lift Station

®

7 : , , ,
m Future Sanitary Lift Station Service Area

Sanitary Service Areas
Service Area 1

Service Area 2
Service Area 3

Existing Lift Stations

—P=—> Existing Trunk Sanitary Sewer

2
.,,"';ﬁ City Limits

0 2,000
BN jreet

Source: Nicollet County, MNDNR

CSAHA1:

2

Map Document: \\arcserver1\GIS\NMAN\_Basemap\E SRI\Maps\2022\Comprehensive

COUNTY

XX

ROAD

“’

City of
Mankato

2
&
=
3
2 < RAMP US 14
Hit NIGHTS DR =7
5 7 %
§ ‘ (RES D i ' sl %
3 ;i.% STLE,DR Y K i .
& EFm, | . 7 £
[—RINGHOFER DR PRIVATE RD— 3 WEE—@% —— i C|ty Of
SE® S H .
EEE RS 2 Hiniker Mankato
H iiiiy i Pond
KINGSWA - L s I
% ﬁL % =H i
JOWARD'DR .
& 0 : \ e X [MAIN LIFT
— 'I \
- I 3
= (- STATION
['4
ah [ 1&2
RAMPUS 14 5
. o
< MCK INLEY-AVE
. EFFERSON AVE
B spring =TT
. TYLERAVE .
==JAMESDR Lake d 1
Park HARRISON AVE .Eu ‘-‘-
g *E%jﬁﬁz < MONROE AVE H
8 o —NORTHWAY-DR = @ il H
2 1% £ == i
@ @ & LAKEVIEWAVE =< z 7w H
& QAL g 2 ”‘% %m %“%4 i
TGS : : S ity SR i i
9% ;\\‘/g"e"'ﬂI =}’ f & | ‘EEBLVD é GARFIELD AVE_— L E% %ﬁ I
I o = e + i
“‘ﬁ’? 3 o Co Q 2MHAC 1AL % %%D]ID i
z E% S QWPAFE‘J\E]%% WHEELER AVE ':
E y S EIIE ; g I
ER\ 7 N ey §ﬂm‘¥ = %%? Eﬂ%'ﬁ% F g
= T e s
= E NICOLLET, \‘/‘E %g% \© s’
= T A
=7 g wmt L A e e
RAMP US 169 ’."'
% a=-Ri o
s o annesota—Rive,, -
50ur by 50‘39“\ P .. P
3\)95/2" . Pt e~ -







CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

WASTEWATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for the wastewater system followed by a series of
objectives and policies intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community
visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Expand existing wastewater system infrastructure to meet the demands generated by
continued development.

Objective 1.1: Expand the trunk wastewater system into future growth areas.

Policy 1.1.1: Implement the expansion of the trunk sanitary sewer system as areas
outside the limits of the sanitary sewer collection system are developed. Final trunk
sanitary sewer sizes, locations, and depths should be based on detailed engineering
studies as more information regarding future development becomes available.

Policy 1.1.2: Construct new lift stations as areas outside the limits of the existing lift
station service areas are developed. Final lift station sizes, locations, and depths should
be based on detailed engineering studies as more information regarding future
development becomes available.

Policy 1.1.3.: Develop a financing strategy for funding the expansion of the trunk
sanitary sewer system and lift stations.

GOAL 2: Monitor, evaluate and improve the condition of the City’s existing wastewater system
infrastructure.

Objective 2.1: Replace aging sanitary sewer system infrastructure.

Policy 2.1.1: Prepare a study to document the condition of deficient sanitary sewers and
collection system lift stations based on age, materials and deficiencies identified in
sewer televising reports.

Policy 2.1.2: Utilize the information from the sanitary sewer condition study, in
conjunction with the condition information for other infrastructure elements, to
develop, expand and prioritize projects to be included in the capital improvements.

Objective 2.2: Monitor the condition of existing wastewater pumping and treatment
infrastructure and replace as required

Policy 2.2.1: Monitor changes wastewater quality standards and identify possible
changes to the treatment processes currently utilized by the City of Mankato’s
wastewater treatment facility and potential impacts to the treatment costs paid by the
City of North Mankato.

Policy 2.2.2: Monitor the condition of the City’s two main lift stations (Lift Station No. 1
and Lift Station No. 2) continue with regular inspections, maintenance and
miscellaneous equipment replacement as required.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES WASTEWATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
106



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STORMWATER SYSTEM

General

The goal of the plan is to maintain and improve surface water quality and minimize the impacts of
increased water quantity through appropriate planning, policy enforcement, and capital improvement
projects.

Most Minnesota cities have existing pipe networks that were designed to relieve ponding within the
original platted city limits. When these systems were designed, the concern for the downstream
properties was not a consideration. The goal was the efficient and cost-effective removal of stormwater
runoff from developed areas. In North Mankato’s case, this meant the construction of direct pipelines
to the Minnesota River.

Since 2007, the City of North Mankato has been required to obtain a permit for its Minnesota Small
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems General Permit (MS4). The MS4 permit is renewed every 5
years and the permit rules continue to evolve. The MS4 and the Minnesota Construction Stormwater
General Permit (CSW) require consideration of the impacts to downstream properties of rate and
volume increases due to development as well as the water quality of stormwater runoff leaving the City.

Development and redevelopment construction projects are required to provide for to volume reduction
when the amount of impervious in the project is 1.0 or more acres. Stormwater conveyance systems
are recommended to be designed to handle the 10-year 24-hour storm event. Stormwater treatment
facilities such as basins are recommended to be designed to handle the 100-year 24-hour storm and
have engineered overflow spillway routes to prevent property damage for larger storms.

In addition to rate and volume standards, the City of North Mankato is required to meet water quality
requirements. The City has been assigned waste load allocations (WLAs) that are based on adopted
standards for the Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) for regional watersheds.

One of the best methods of mitigating the effects of growth is through the construction of stormwater
treatment facilities. These facilities are designed to encourage volume reduction through infiltration and
provide water quality treatment and discharge rate control.

Stormwater treatment facilities require ongoing maintenance to function efficiently. Typically, the most
efficient and economical option is to construct regional facilities instead of several smaller localized
options throughout the City. Regional ponds cannot be located in an existing wetland without the costly
mitigation of the impacted wetland. They are also not recommended in floodplains. This
comprehensive plan considers these factors when recommending Best Management Practices (BMPs).
It also considers information from residents of North Mankato and City staff regarding the observation
of the natural ponding associated with heavy rainfalls when siting regional basins.

One drawback associated with regional stormwater treatment planning is finding a funding mechanism
to purchase the land needed and finding ways to have new development assist in their construction.
Ideally, the costs to construct and maintain stormwater facilities should be paid using funds generated
by area charges and stormwater utility fees for the area being served by the facilities. Two challenges
are that the stormwater treatment facilities typically must be completed before the area served is fully
developed and high area charges and stormwater utility fees may be a concern when trying to attract
new businesses and development to the area.

Construction projects that include the construction or reconstruction of 1.0-acre or more of impervious
surfacing must take all appropriate measures to reduce the additional runoff volume created by the
impervious surfaces (roofs and pavement).

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
107



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Typically the most cost-effective way of accomplishing the required volume reduction is through
infiltration or rainwater harvesting. Infiltration practices reduce runoff volumes by taking a portion of
the runoff and recharging the groundwater. As such, they are often touted by surface water
management agencies and review authorities. However, they must also be strategically placed to
prevent the potential for contamination of drinking water wells. Infiltration practices within the drinking
water wellhead protection area or well capture zone require a higher level of engineering review and
may only be constructed if the review shows that the treatment system does not pose a risk for adverse
impacts to groundwater.

Filtration practices, such as filtration basins, biofilters, iron-infused sand filters, etc., are similar to the
more common infiltration practices but are designed so that the stormwater filters through plants and
filter media before draining into a storm sewer. Filtration basins are recommended to manage
stormwater runoff and improve water quality within the 1-year Wellhead Protection Area (WHPA)
where infiltration methods are not advised. Filtration basins are recommended wherever they will fit
into the designs and should be encouraged wherever local private property owners might request
retrofitting them into their landscaping. Any private filtration basins that are installed will help lessen
the load on the existing storm sewer system, reduce regional pond maintenance costs, and improve
water quality.

Lower North Mankato is conducive to infiltration because the underlying soils are predominately sandy.
Upper North Mankato soils are predominately clay soils that are not conducive to infiltration. The city
may need to consider planning additional infiltration opportunities in lower North Mankato to account
for the general inability for infiltration in upper North Mankato.

Rainwater harvesting is the storing and use of rainwater for irrigation or other non-potable uses.
Rainwater harvesting should be encouraged wherever practicable.

Because of water quality regulations, it may be advantageous to plan regional ponds for flood
prevention associated with extreme rainfall events, while planning smaller water quality BMPs on a
neighborhood or individual development scale.

As part of the ongoing MS4 permit requirements, the City will need to consider new opportunities to
retrofit water quality measures associated with its reconstruction projects. Because retrofitting to add
water infiltration on linear projects such as street reconstructions is often more difficult, the MS4 permit
requires less water volume to be infiltrated than is required for new projects.

Wetlands

In 1991, the Minnesota Legislature passed the Wetlands Conservation Act (WCA). The WCA is
administered according to Minnesota Rules Chapter 8420 to implement the purpose of the Act, which is
to:

1. Achieve no net loss in the quantity, quality, and biological diversity of Minnesota’s existing
wetlands;

2. Increase the quantity, quality, and biological diversity of Minnesota wetlands by restoring or
enhancing diminished or drained wetlands;

3. Avoid direct and indirect impacts from activities that destroy or diminish the quantity,
quality, or biological diversity of wetlands;

4. Replace wetland values where avoidance of activities is not feasible and prudent.

Pretreatment of all stormwater from new developments is required before discharge into any wetlands.
Wetlands may be and are currently being used for stormwater storage for larger rainfall events. They

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
108



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

may continue to be used for this purpose even after upstream development, provided that:

1. There is acceptable Best Management Practice pretreatment of the runoff as required by the
CSW and MS4 permits, and
2. The bounce from the normal water level to the high water level does not exceed two feet.

The Minnesota Wetland Conservation Act (WCA) requires the designated Local Governmental Unit (LGU)
in charge of administering the WCA to generate a Notice of Wetland Conservation Act Decision for any
impact on wetlands. The designated LGU for projects located within the City of North Mankato is the
City of North Mankato.

In all but minor decisions, the LGU will call for a Technical Evaluation Panel (TEP) review of the
application or impact before issuing a decision. The LGU must give notice of proposed actions affecting
wetlands to all of the following:

1. The Minnesota Board of Water and Soil Resources

2. The Soil and Water Conservation District

3. The Minnesota Department of Natural Resources

4. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

5. Interested citizens requesting notification of such actions

If a TEP meeting is required, all listed parties are invited to review the proposed action. However, it is
not uncommon for a TEP meeting to consist of only a small contingent of this list, as some invitees may
have no jurisdiction over the proposed action.

NPDES Phase Il Considerations
G. General City Permits

In 1987, the US Congress amended the Clean Water Act to include stormwater pollution and
directed the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to initiate rulemaking. The first round of
EPA rules was implemented in 1991 when NPDES Phase | permits were required for all cities
exceeding 100,000 in population. Phase Il was implemented in 2003 and targeted all cities with
populations exceeding 10,000. In 2008, the Phase Il rulemaking expanded the list of targeted
cities to include cities with populations exceeding 5,000 and that discharge into impaired
waters. The Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) assumed responsibility for
implementing the rules and issuing all Phase Il permits. The NPDES Phase Il rules apply to all
construction disturbances of 1.0- acres or more.

The City of North Mankato has been assigned WLAs for impaired waters like the Minnesota
River that have approved TMDLs. The City is required by federal and state regulations to
facilitate correcting the impairments by implementing water quality standards to meet the
assigned WLAs.

The primary targets of TMDL requirements are urban runoff and construction runoff. This is
because urban runoff carries pollutants from cars, lawn fertilizers, pesticide spills, and other
contaminants into our lakes, wetlands, and streams without entering wastewater treatment
systems. Construction runoff is often laden with sediment caused by large areas of open,
exposed soil that is loosened by excavation and grading.

The federal mandates are intended to regulate these sources of continued environmental
degradation. New developments have become increasingly targeted. All new developments,
creating more than one acre of impervious surfacing, are required to have some form of
stormwater treatment. In general, this need can be satisfied by properly designed stormwater

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
109



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

treatment facilities.

The following is a listing of the available stormwater quality and quantity systems currently
being designed to handle the water quality/quantity issue:

Regional Wet Retention Basins

Numerous studies have been done on the water quality treatment afforded by wet retention
basins, most notably one by William Walker Jr. for the Vadnais Lake Area Water Management
Area (1987). The Walker study found that properly sized wet retention basins can effectively
remove pollutants through sediment removal. When properly sized, these ponds can
significantly reduce the contaminant levels, including phosphorus, commonly found in urban
stormwater runoff. According to the MPCA’s Stormwater Manual, on average wet retention
basins can remove 84% of suspended solids, 50% of total phosphorus, and 30% of total nitrogen.
Wet retention basins also provide flood storage. Wet retention basins are also well known for
their stormwater quantity handling capabilities and work well for areas with Hydrologic Soil
Group Type D (clay) soils.

Bioretention Systems

Another method of managing stormwater runoff is to install bioretention practices in strategic
locations where stormwater will be collected and allowed to filtrate through the planting media
or be taken up by vegetation before entering the storm sewer.

Infiltration/Filtration Bioretention Basins

According to the MPCA’s Stormwater Manual, bioretention facilities capture rainwater runoff to
be filtered through a prepared soil medium. Pollutants are removed by several processes
including adsorption, filtration, volatilization, ion exchange, and decomposition (Prince George's
County, MD, 1993). Filtered runoff from bioretention basins can either be allowed to infiltrate
into the surrounding soil (functioning as an infiltration basin or rainwater garden) or be
collected by an under-drain system and discharged to the storm sewer system or directly to
receiving waters (“filtration only” bioretention basin). Due to the groundwater vulnerability and
the WHPA covering a portion of lower North Mankato, lined filtration basins are recommended
for the areas of North Mankato within the 1-year WHPA. Runoff from larger storms is generally
allowed to bypass the filled bioretention basin and flow directly to the storm drain system.
Infiltration/filtration basins are typically designed for treating the water quality and not for the
water quantity of urban stormwater runoff. That is, the MPCA requirement for water quality is
to treat the first 1 inch of runoff from a site (water quality volume). This is in contrast to the
larger amount of runoff that may be leaving the site for a 3 to 6-inch rainfall (water quantity).
Because stormwater quality has become a greater issue, bioretention basins have become a
significant design tool for municipal stormwater systems. Bioretention basins can remove 85%
of suspended solids, 100% of total phosphorus, and 50% of total nitrogen.

NPDES/SDS Construction Stormwater General Permit

A State construction permit is required for any disturbance of 1.0-acres or more. This permit is
in addition to any permits required by the City of North Mankato. The permit process is best
summarized in the following table:

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
110



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 7-E - Construction Stormwater Permit Requirements

Agency

Requirement

MN Pollution Control Agency (MPCA)

Disturbance Triggering a permit

1.0-acres or more

Connected actions

(i.e. new homes)

Smaller construction sites, such as a single-family home,
require a permit if they are part of a larger development
that is 1.0-acres or more.

Application Process

1. Application is made online to the MPCA. There is a
permit fee set by MPCA that must be paid to obtain a
permit. A properly designed Construction
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan is required to
apply for a permit.

Permittee

The property owner and the construction contractor are
joint permittees.

Responsibility for compliance

All permittees are responsible for compliance.

1. Inspection reports and certifications are required.

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)

As an MS4, the City must review the SWPPP for any project that is 1.0-acres or more to ensure it
meets the requirements detailed in the CSW.

Permanent Stormwater BMPs

If 1.0-acres or more of impervious surface is constructed, then permanent stormwater BMPs are
required. If the filtration or infiltration alternatives listed above are not possible, a permanent
wet retention basin is the most utilized method of meeting the requirements.

The stormwater volume reduction requirements are:

1. For construction activity (excluding linear projects):

The water quality volume must be calculated as one (1) inch times the sum of the new
and the fully reconstructed impervious surface.

2. For linear projects:

The water quality volume must be calculated as the larger of one (1) inch times the new
impervious surface or one-half (0.5) inch times the sum of the new and the fully
reconstructed impervious surface. Where the entire water quality volume cannot be
treated within the existing right-of-way, a reasonable attempt to obtain additional right-
of-way, easement, or other permission to treat the stormwater during the project

planning process must be made.

Volume reduction practices must be considered first when designing the permanent
BMPs. The CSW does not consider wet sedimentation basins and filtration systems to be
volume reduction practices. If the General Permit prohibits infiltration or other volume
reduction practices, a wet sedimentation basin, or filtration basin may be considered.

Offsite permanent stormwater BMPs must be selected in the following order of preference:

1. Locations that yield benefits to the same receiving water that receives runoff from
the original construction activity;

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES

STORMWATER SYSTEM
111



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

locations within the same Department of Natural Resource (DNR) catchment area as the
original construction activity;

locations in the next adjacent DNR catchment area up-stream; or
locations anywhere within the permittee's jurisdiction.

All permanent stormwater BMPs must be constructed in compliance with the requirements
outlined in CSW and have maintenance access.

Regional Pond Considerations
An area regional pond may be used provided that:

1. Theregional pond is not a wetland.
2.  Must be designed to meet the treatment pond criteria for all impervious surfaces.

3. Theregional pond owner’s authorization must be secured as part of the permitting
process.

Municipally Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4)

The City of North Mankato is a Municipally Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4). The City of
North Mankato ultimately drains to the Minnesota River. The City of North Mankato operates an
extensive stormwater treatment system, serving residential, commercial, and industrial users in
two zones: the upper system and the lower system. Several ravines drain water from the upper
system. Spring Lake, in the lower system, receives stormwater from North Mankato, and it is not
impaired water. There are also several stormwater ponds in the City’s stormwater system. The
majority of stormwater ponds are in the upper system, as that area was developed later when
stormwater treatment was required and there was more space and flexibility to incorporate
stormwater ponds into the development plans. There is also a difference in soils between the
upper and lower systems; generally, the lower system has soils that have higher infiltration rates
and the upper system has soils that have lower infiltration rates.

All areas served by public ditches are subject to the rules governed by Minnesota Statute 103E
and under the governance of Nicollet County. Minnesota Statute 103E states that all connections
to the ditch, or in this case, the County Tile, must be petitioned to the County Auditor.

There is no other record that the City has entered into any water resource management-related
agreements with its neighboring cities, the county, watershed district, lake associations, or the
state of Minnesota. The City of North Mankato has been responsible for construction,
maintenance, and other projects in or along the City's stormwater collection systems outside of
the mainline County ditch and tile systems.

Total Maximum Daily Load Limits (TMDL)
The current 303d list of impaired waters on the MPCA website shows the following:

1. The Minnesota River is the ultimate receiving water for both the upper and lower
stormwater systems. Two segments of the river receive stormwater from the City of North
Mankato. Both the Minnesota River segment 07020007-504 (upstream of the confluence
with the Blue Earth River) and segment 07020007-502 (downstream of the confluence with
the Blue Earth River) are impaired and have a US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
112



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

approved Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) for Mercury in Fish Tissue. These river
segments require a TMDL plan to be written for:

a. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) in Fish Tissue
b. Turbidity

These impairments affect Aquatic Consumption and Aquatic Life.

2.  North Mankato is subject to the established Lower Minnesota River’s Dissolved Oxygen
TMDL, which has a waste load allocation of 30.5 Ibs/day or a 30% reduction in phosphorus
loading from the City’s existing impervious surfacing as of the year 2000. This level is finite,
meaning that, if the City grows, the impervious area grows as well, but the level of
phosphorus loading is not allowed to increase.

To meet this requirement, the City has had P8 phosphorus modeling performed to establish the
baseline phosphorus loading in the year 2000 and the current phosphorus loading associated
with the current development conditions. The MPCA and the model also considered the
phosphorus removal rates of its existing BMPs to determine the level of retrofitting needed to
meet the TMDL requirements.

The City has a list of recommended retrofitting projects that will help it meet the TMDL
requirements. In addition, volume reduction through infiltration as required by the CSW also
results in phosphorus reduction.

Additional TMDL restrictions can be may anticipated in the future as the Minnesota River is
tested for other impairments. It is hoped that the measures taken to limit turbidity and
phosphorus will automatically remove other impairments as well.

Future Improvements

Generally, the City will work to ensure erosion control and surface water quality standards are
met through enforcement of the City’s permitting requirements and implementation of Best
Management Practices (BMPs) such as regional stormwater ponds. The City will ensure
compliance with the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Phase Il permits
for municipal operations and construction activity greater than 1 acre. City cooperation with the
Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA) and Nicollet County is key to maintaining the
relevance of the City’s plan.

This comprehensive plan covers several growth areas. Stormwater treatment facilities and new
storm sewer pipes will be provided in these areas as they develop. The storm sewer system and
stormwater treatment systems will be based on the type, location, configuration, and sequence
of the future development. The sizes and locations of storm sewer and stormwater treatment
facilities within the growth areas should be based on detailed engineering studies as more
information regarding future development becomes available. In addition to those BMPs, the City
of North Mankato will implement stormwater treatment BMPs within the existing developed
portion of the City as opportunities arise. These will comply with the MPCA’s requirements for
stormwater treatment at the time they are constructed.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM
113



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STORMWATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for the stormwater system followed by a series of
objectives and policies intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community
visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Expand existing stormwater management system infrastructure to meet the demands
generated by continued development.

Objective 1.1: Expand the stormwater collection, treatment, and outfall system into future
growth areas.

Policy 1.1.1: Implement the expansion of the stormwater collection, treatment, and outfall
system as areas outside the limits of the existing stormwater collection system
are developed, with a focus on regional stormwater ponds, where possible.

Policy 1.1.2: The stormwater collection, treatment, and outfall system within the future
growth areas will be based on the type, location, configuration, and sequence
of the future development. The sizes and location of the final storm sewer and
stormwater treatment facilities should be based on detailed engineering
studies as more information regarding future development becomes available.

Policy 1.1.3.:  Develop a financing strategy for funding the expansion of the stormwater
collection, treatment and outfall system.

GOAL 2: Monitor, evaluate and improve the condition of the City’s existing stormwater system
infrastructure.

Objective 2.1: Replace aging storm sewer system infrastructure.

Policy 2.1.1: Prepare a study to document the condition of deficient storm sewers and
ponds based on age, materials, and other known deficiencies.

Policy 2.1.2: Utilize the information from the storm sewer condition study, in conjunction
with the condition information for other infrastructure elements, to develop,
expand and prioritize projects to be included in the capital improvements.

Objective 2.2: Address sedimentation issues in the City’s existing stormwater treatment ponds.

Policy 2.2.1: Develop a study to determine the levels and characteristics of sediment in the
City’s existing stormwater ponds.

Policy 2.2.2: Develop a plan for cleaning sediment from ponds and for disposal of sediment.
Objective 2.3: Incorporate BMPs to Meet TMDL Limits.

Policy 2.3.1 Implement the recommended retrofitting projects that will help it meet the
TMDL requirements, targeting the current phosphorus TMDL and the future
turbidity removal needs.

Policy 2.3.2 Develop a BMP strategy for undeveloped areas that are based on existing area
soils and targets the current phosphorus TMDL and the future turbidity
removal needs.

CHAPTER 7: PUBLIC UTILITIES STORMWATER SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
114



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 8: Parks, Trails, and Recreation

INTRODUCTION

The North Mankato park and recreation

system is a foundational element of the

community and the City is committed to

providing outstanding park and recreation

assets. This commitment began with the vision of

one of the City’s previous administrators, Bob

Ringhoffer. His leadership and enthusiasm for the outdoors led to the establishment and enhancement
of some of the finest recreational features in the region including the Spring Lake Park Swim Facility, the
Caswell Park Sports Complex, North Links Golf Course and several neighborhood and community parks.
Referring to them as the “crown jewels” of the community, Mr. Ringhoffer ensured as the community
grew in population every neighborhood was served by a park or greenspace. This resulted in North
Mankato having nearly 20 acres of park per 1,000 residents which is above the national average of 9.5
acres per 1,000 residents. It also resulted in some of the best neighborhoods in Southern Minnesota and
a fine quality of life for residents. Lastly, his work cemented North Mankato’s continued support of
parks and recreational amenities for continued generations of residents. In honor of his legacy and
commitment to parks and recreation for the benefit of all, the parks and recreation chapter of the
Comprehensive Land Use plan outlines the communities vision, guidelines, criteria, and standards for
future development and enhancement of these amenities in the City of North Mankato.

The existing park system was initially developed with a strong emphasis and need placed on youth
recreation opportunities. Most parks have children play structures and ball fields for youth sports.
However, park amenities have increasingly included accommodations for adult and/or family focused
recreation uses as well. Many parks have added volleyball courts, pavilions, scenic overlooks and high-
quality trails that can be used by the whole family, not just youth.

A robust sidewalk network is provided throughout community neighborhoods and the City has placed
high priority on the conversion of sidewalk to multi-use trails in key locations throughout the community
(i.e. approaching schools, commercial areas, etc.) The current sidewalk and trails system needs a
stronger north and south connection over Highway 14 and another east and west connection over the
Minnesota River to enhance system continuity and regional connectivity. Alternative transportation

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION INTRODUCTION
115



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

through the use of trails should
continue to be expanded and
enhanced. Recreation programming
opportunities are currently offered
through city programming, the local
YMCA, the Taylor Library, the Parks
Department, and the Community
Education Department of the
Mankato Area Public Schools.

GUIDING ASSUMPTIONS

e The City’s population is projected to
increase. Interest in trails, passive parks,
cultural and fine arts programs, and indoor
year-round recreation and programming has been, and is
anticipated to, continue to increase.

e Exercise and health will continue to be an integral part of the lives of the people of North
Mankato. A comprehensive trail system would help meet these demands. A trail loop network
with connections to key local destinations and to regional and state trails is needed to meet
recreation, active living and non-vehicular transportation needs. A City and regional trail system
would attract both residents and visitors alike.

e Parks, trails, and open space play an important role in attracting tourism, and for neighborhood
and community quality of life.

e Maintenance, cleanliness and safety of parks and recreation facilities are a key factor in
satisfaction with the park system.

e Partnerships for park and recreation facility development and operation will continue to
increase in importance. Enhancement of those partnerships and expansion of other
partnerships will help provide the best and most efficient system.

The purpose of the Parks, Trails, and Recreation section of the Comprehensive Plan is to:

e Address the community’s desire to create year-round recreation programming and facilities.

e Guide development of new bike routes, grade-separated crossings, and off-street trails.

e Guide the City in acquiring land for new parks and trail corridors.

e Assist with leveraging grant funding for system improvements.

e Guide continued maintenance and enhancement of existing park, trail, and recreational assets

e Commit to opening greenspace access and trail system expansion in tandem with ravine and
bluff improvement projects.

VISION FOR PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION

To provide a comprehensive and balanced system of parks, greenways, trails, and support for providers
of recreation-orientated activities and programs for City residents in a cost-effective manner that
continues North Mankato’s commitment to outstanding recreational assets.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION GUIDING ASSUMPTIONS
116



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

PREVIOUS PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION PLANNING EFFORTS

Several planning efforts and studies focused on parks, trails, and recreation in North Mankato have been
reviewed as part of developing this chapter. Some of these efforts remain more relevant than others
and all have contributed to planning efforts in the City. Previous studies, initiatives, and materials that
focus on parks, trails, and recreation in the area guide the recommendations in this chapter including:

Benson Park Plan (2009)

The purpose of this plan was to create a concept for future development of the park. Founded in 1997,
the 69-acre park began as a mostly undeveloped space with a few trails, benches, and a drinking
fountain. The preferred concept for development includes an additional entry drive and parking
lot/drop-off area from Timm Road, a main shelter and a water feature, and areas with restored habitats
consisting of native species. Much of this has been constructed since 2015.

Parks Plan (2015)

The purpose of this plan is to advance a commitment to parks and outdoor recreation in North Mankato
to enhance the quality of life for residents. The plan serves as an organizing document for current park
inventory and future park development, makes the costs of maintaining and improving the park system
easily accessible to the public, and advances a shared vision for the future of the park system within
North Mankato.

Public Art Ideas Plan (2017)

The goal of this plan is to highlight the importance of public art and how it can be used by the city as a
guide to integrate public art into existing and future planning initiatives and identify those areas that
could be enhanced by public art. It lays out what public art is, why it should be invested in, and creates a
reference guide/idea bank of public art ideas for specific locations.

North Mankato Swim Facility Assessment (2017)

This assessment examined the physical state of the swim pond infrastructure of Spring Lake Park and
recommended upgrades to improve the efficiency and attractiveness of the swim pond. These
recommendations included replacing piping, pumps, and valves with larger equipment designed for
longer lifespans, replacement of the liner and pond bottom as both had exceeded their lifespans,
improve accessibility for those in need of assistance, and the addition of play features and amenities.
The facility was reconstructed in 2019 incorporating recommended improvements from that
assessment.

Parks & Amenities Update (2018)

This report begins with North Mankato parks of the past, outlines an inventory of existing parks by
decade of construction, and proposed renovations to existing parks.

Walter S. Farm Conceptual Master Plan (2018)

A map of possible amenity upgrades that could be incorporated into Walter S. Farm Park. These include
the addition of north-south trails through the park connecting Countryside Drive on the north to La Mar
Drive on the south, picnic shelter pavilions, baseball field and hockey rink, and a small parking lot in the
northwest corner.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION  PREVIOUS PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION PLANNING
EFFORTS
117



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Bluff Park Master Plan (2018)

A map of possible amenity upgrades to be incorporated into Bluff Park. These include the addition of an
educational overlook built around existing mature trees, an enlarged gazebo/picnic area, ornamental
tree/orchard/arboretum, park entrance landscaping, and additional paved trails. Many of these
improvements, as well as a major prairie restoration project have been constructed since 2015.

Caswell Report (2020)

This report outlines the number of spectators, participants, tournaments, and events that took place at
Caswell Park in 2020. The 2020 season began later than normal due to the Covid-19 Pandemic and the
number of tournaments and visitors decreased due to this along with the overall economic impact when
compared to previous years. Still, there were 14 tournaments over 30 days with 573 teams participating,
with 64 of the teams coming from beyond the 75-mile radius of the City where those within the radius
are considered “day visitors”. This equates to 13,867 day visitors and 6,472 overnight visitors accounting
for an estimated 5,994 hotel room nights. This resulted in an estimated economic impact of $4,346,476.
This is compared to 2019 where the park hosted 22 events with 716 total teams, 325 of those being
teams staying overnight, and 34,498 total visitors accounting for $8,165,621 of economic impact to the
region.

Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study (2022)

North Mankato has identified the need for better north/south trail connections in Upper North Mankato
in several planning documents. The Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study examined the
feasibility of installing a grade-separated pedestrian/bicycle bridge over Highway 14 spanning from
properties on the north side of Commerce Drive to the Caswell Park Sports Complex. A bridge addition
at this location would enhance that connection, providing a safe alternative to using the interchanges at
Lookout Drive and Lor Ray Drive to cross the highway. This planning initiative was recommended
through the Mankato/North Mankato 2045 Long-Range Transportation Plan (MAPO 2045 LRTP) process.

North Mankato Splash Pad (2022)

The construction of a splashpad in the Caswell Park Sports Complex was completed in 2022 on the
property north of Fallenstein Park and Miracle Field.

North Mankato Indoor Recreation Facility (2022)

In 2021-2022, the City of North Mankato submitted a state bonding request for $8.5 million to help fund
the design and construction of the North Mankato Indoor Recreational Facility on the Caswell Park
Sports Complex. The facility is planned to be 115,000 square feet at a cost of nearly $20 million. Bonding
was not obtained at the time this Plan was adopted. The City plans to continue its pursuit of funding
opportunities to make this a reality. The facility will include eight basketball courts that convert to
pickleball and six tennis courts.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION
118



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM

Park and Greenway Classifications

The system plan consists of a variety of parks and open spaces defined under various classifications.
Each classification serves a particular purpose in meeting local park and recreation needs. Although
some flexibility is warranted, classifying parks is necessary to ensure a well-balanced system and that all
recreational needs are effectively and efficiently met.

The classifications applied to North Mankato are based on guidelines recommended in the National
Parks, Recreation, Open Space and Greenways Guidelines (National Recreation and Parks Association,
1996) and Planning and Urban Design Standards (American Planning Association, 2006), albeit expanded
or modified to address circumstances unique to the city. The following table provides an overview of
each classification used in North Mankato. (Each of the classifications is further expanded upon later in

this section.)

Neighborhood Park
(and
MiniNeighborhood/
Pocket Park)

Table 8-A. North Mankato Park Types

Common Guidelines Application to North Mankato

Neighborhood parks are the basic units of the park
system and serve a recreational and social purpose.
Focus is on informal active and passive recreation.
Neighborhood parks are typically 5 acres or more,
with 8 to 10 acres preferred for new parks. Mini-
neighborhood parks, which are used only on a
limited basis when securing more land is
impractical, are 1 to 3 acres of developable land.
Service area is %-mile radius for mini parks and up
to a %-mile for a typical neighborhood park,
uninterrupted by major roads and other physical
barriers.

Neighborhood parks remain a basic unit of the park
system in North Mankato. In areas with urban densities,
a service area of %- to Y-mile radius remains
appropriate. When new parks are connected with
greenway-based trails, service areas can be expanded to
%-mile radius or slightly more since trails and open
space become part of the park experience. 5 acres* is
typically adequate for new parks if the park is
integrated into larger greenway system.

Community/ Regional
Park

Community parks serve a broader purpose than
neighborhood parks. Focus is on meeting
communitybased recreational needs, that may also
provide amenities that have a regional draw, as well
as preserving unique landscapes and open spaces.
Size varies, depending on function. 20 acres
minimum preferred, with 40 or more acres optimal.
Service area can be community-wide, several
neighborhoods in a given area of the city, or a larger
regional area.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION

The community has a long tradition of setting aside land
for Community and Regional Parks like Spring Lake,
Wheeler, and Benson. As additional land develops this
tradition should be continued.

NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM
119



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Classification

Regional Athletic
Complex/Facility

Table 8-A. North Mankato Park Types Continued

Common Guidelines

Consolidates programmed adult and youth
athletic fields and associated facilities to a
limited number of sites. Tournament level
facilities are appropriate. Size varies, with 20
acres or more desirable, but not absolute. 40
to 80 acres is optimal. These complexes serve
both the community as well as a regional area.

Application to North Mankato

This classification has application to North
Mankato to meet local and regional needs for
athletic facilities (in concert with school sites.) As
a growing community with families, facility
demand will continue to grow in sync with age-
group population growth.

Greenway/ Natural
Open Space/
Conservation Areas

Lands set aside for preserving natural
resources, remnant landscapes, and open
space, and providing visual
aesthetics/buffering. Also provides passive
use opportunities. Ecological resource
stewardship and wildlife protection are high
priorities. Suitable for trail corridors. Overall
land area varies depending on opportunity
and general character of natural systems
within a city.

Within the city proper, the potential for
establishing greenways and preserving open
space is limited. This reinforces the importance of
working closely with landowners and developers
in growth areas to set aside land for greenways
and interconnected trails systems.

Special Use Covers a broad range of parks and recreation |The use of this classification will be limited in
facilities oriented toward single-purpose uses |North Mankato, primarily the open space and
—such as a nature center, historicsites, plazas, |plaza areas in the downtown area.
urban squares, aquatic centers, campgrounds,
golf courses, etc. Overall size varies,
depending on need.

School Site Covers school sites that are used in concert Continuing the established relationship between

with, orinlieu of, city parks to meet
community recreation needs. School sites
often provide the majority of indoor
recreational facilities within a community.
Size varies, depending on specific site
opportunities.

the School District and the City is vital to
successfully meeting the longterm demand for
athletic facilities in a cost-effective manner.

* Neighborhood park size note: The recommended minimum 5 acre size for new neighborhood parks may be modified at the City’s
discretion if the park is part of an overall public amenity package associated with a given development area. This might include, for
example, providing enhanced streetscapes and public squares that add value to the public realm and complement neighborhood park
features. Note, however, that the essential value of a neighborhood park should be retained to ensure that 1) the recreational needs of
local residents are adequately meet, and 2) the City does not accept a series of smaller mini-parks in lieu of a neighborhood park,
which is inefficient and inconsistent with the system plan as defined in this section.

Cumulative Park System Acreage Standards

The current national guidelines are for each community to evaluate and determine its own park and
open space needs and desired level of service through local public process, then, if necessary, compare
that evaluation against similar situations within the region. North Mankato’s system plan falls within
standard practices and compares favorably to other communities in terms of public land area and park
distribution to service community needs. General guidelines for parks and open spaces suggest there are
at least 7 acres of municipal park land per 1,000 residents and that 90% or more of residents are within
one-half mile of a park or protected green space.

Nuances with North Mankato’s system include the opportunity for an extensive natural greenway/open

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION

NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM
120



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

space system surrounding the city and along the riverfront. This is a unique opportunity that sets North
Mankato apart from many communities of similar size. However, due to the floodwalls along the river it
is recognized that challenges do exist when attempting to create recreational opportunities along the
river.

Park Inventory & Analysis

Although the greenway and park system functions as a cohesive whole, individual parks will continue to
have a significant and defined purpose consistent with their classifications. Figure 8-1 illustrates the
location and name of each park within the system, and the general proposed areas where new parks will
be needed as development occurs. The following table provides an overview of the total number of
parks under each classification (existing and proposed future), along with the approximate number of
total acres.

Note: Park acreage and designations remain unchanged since the development of the 2015 North
Mankato Comprehensive Plan.

Table 8-B. Park Inventory

Park Classification Existing Parks Proposed Parks

Neighborhood Parks 12 42.5 1 2.7%
Community Regional Parks 3 138.5 1 2.7
Athletic Complex / Facility 2 47.8 1 7

Special-Use Parks 2 8.6 0 0
Open Space Parks 2 40.3 0 0
Totals 21 277.7 3 12.4

*Contingent on extent of future residential development and annexation; based on 5 acres per site and a
Y%-mile service area radius. Note : Greenways are not included in the table.

A. Neighborhood Parks

Neighborhood parks are the basic unit of the park system and serve a recreation and social
purpose. Development focuses on informal recreation. Programmed activities are typically
limited to youth sports practices and very occasionally, games. There are 12 existing parks
within the North Mankato system that serve neighborhood uses, including:

* Roe Crest Park

¢ South Avenue Playlot
e Storybook Park

e Tower Park

e Walter S. Farm Park
e Wallyn Park

¢ Forest Heights Park
e King Arthur Park

¢ Langness Playground
¢ North Ridge Park

* Pleasant View Park

® Reserve Park

In general, the existing parks are capable of meeting the primary needs of the neighborhoods
they serve and, collectively, meet acceptable standards for neighborhood parks. Placement of
the parks and the areas they serve are also well-distributed throughout the city.

B. Community/Regional Parks

Community/Regional parks typically serve a broader and more specialized purpose than
neighborhood parks and are sometimes referred to as community and/or regional parks. Their

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM

121



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

focus is on meeting community-based recreational needs, regional-based recreational needs, as
well as preserving unique landscapes and open spaces. The general palette of amenities typically
found within this class of park includes:

e Amenities common to a neighborhood park, albeit at a larger scale
e Llarger group picnic facilities

e More extensive looped trail systems

e Open maintained green space for passive and active use

e Winter activities, such as ice skating, sledding, and skiing

e Event space

e Special use facilities having a community appeal

In addition to specific amenities, community/regional parks also often serve an important
aesthetic role by providing green space and buffering, along with creating an appealing sense of
place that helps define the essential

character of the community.

As illustrated on Figure 8-1, there are
three parks that fall under the
community/regional park
classification.

e Benson Park
e Spring Lake Park
e Wheeler Park
C. Regional Athletic Complexes/Facilities

The Parks Plan includes athletic facilities in a number

of parks for varying levels of programmed uses. City-provided

facilities are also complemented by the local schools, colleges, and neighboring communities’
athletic facilities. There are currently three defined parks for regional programmed athletics,
which include:

e Caswell Park Softball Complex
e Caswell North Soccer Complex
e  Webster Ball Diamonds

Extension of the local sales and use tax in 2016 by voters and 2018 by the Minnesota State
Legislature included language allowing the use of funding for indoor recreational amenities. The
City of North Mankato has approved a facility assessment and operating documents for a future
115,000 square foot indoor sports facility that will provide a recreational asset to the
community that will host tennis, pickleball, basketball, and volleyball tournaments. Continued
work on design and eventual construction of this amenity will continue throughout the life of
this plan. As mentioned, state bonding was received to assist with constructing the new facility.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM
122



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

D.

E.

F.

Special-Use Parks

In addition to the parks and athletic facilities previously defined, a number of special-use
facilities and amenities are also part of the system plan, including the following parks:

e Centennial Park

e Riverview Park
Open Space

e Bluff Park

e Lee Boulevard Park
Schools/Colleges

e South Central College

e Dakota Meadows Middle School

e Hoover Elementary

e Monroe Elementary

e Bridges Community Elementary

Recently Constructed, Planned, And Proposed Improvements To North Mankato Parks And
Recreation

Caswell Park: Fallenstein Playground — The Fallenstein Playground is an inclusive playground
built in 2018 to accommodate users of all abilities. Fallenstein Playground is located adjacent to
Miracle Field in Caswell Park.

Benson Park — In line with the Benson Park Master Plan, recent improvements have included a
new parking lot on the north side of the park along Timm Road and restroom facilities. This was
completed in 2020.

Bluff Park — In line with the Bluff Park Master Plan, recent improvements include a new
educational overlook with views of the valley and Hiniker Pond. Completed in 2020.

Caswell Park Indoor Recreation Facility — North Mankato citizens have expressed interest in
continued development and expansion of the Caswell Sports Complex to include an indoor
recreation facility for year-round athletic use. The City continues to pursue funding to construct
this.

Splash Pad - This amenity has been desired by residents for some time and locating it next to the
Fallenstein Playground and future indoor recreational facility would provide a fine recreational
asset to the community.

Walking trails accompanying ravine improvement projects will enhance the trail system and
livability of neighborhoods.

Potential for a new neighborhood park in the Waters North Subdivision.

Improvements to the trail connecting Spring Lake Park and Mary Circle.

Potential expansion of the Taylor library.

Continued use of public art in parks for beautification.

Any enhancements referred to in the Parks and Greenways Enhancement Plan.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM

123



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 8-C. North Mankato Park Facilities

X - Included

P - Proposed

O - Open Skating
H - Hockey

S - Shelters

L - Lighted
Benson Park Blue
2000 Carlson Drive Gills
Bluff Park

194 Mary Circle

Caswell Park 625-3621
1875 Howard Drive
Caswell North Soccer
1875 Carlson Drive
Centennial Park

840 Belgrade Ave

Forest Heights Park

401 Marie Lane

King Arthur Park

1580 Sharon Drive
Langness Playground
355 Carol Court

Lee Boulevard Rest Area
1500 Lee Bivd

North Ridge Park

1720 Quail Roost Drive

Water Fountains
Basketball Court
Tennis Court
Sand Volleyball
Horseshoe Court
Playground Area
Trails* Distance
Soccer Fields
Ice Skating
Warming House
X Country Skiing
ife/Nature
Dump Station
Lake Depth
ADA Inclusive Play
Equipment
Scenic Overview
Park Size (Acres)

© %)
E
o | 2
c| %
I )
a | x

Swimming

Ball Fields

>
S
>
x
x
=
+

©
x
o
©
=3

69.12

>
=<
=
N
>
>
>

30.01

X XX 4 L6 | X X 25.00

X | X X7+ 17.00

X 1.00

X X | X |L2 1] X (0] X 5.00

X X X X 1.10
X 1.20

X XX 11X (0] X 6.50

Pleasant View Park X X | X 1|X 0] X 7.79

2215 Pleasant View Drive

Reserve Park

1902 Lexington Lane

Riverview Park

900 North River Drive

Roe Crest Park

2214 Clare Drive

South Avenue Playlot

937 South Avenue

Spring Lake Park . 112
S5 X | X | X 4 3] X]0.8 X | H|X X | X Crappies 52.00

641 Webster Avenue

Tower Park

1525 Tower Boulevard

Walter S. Farm Park

1601 Countryside Drive

Wallyn Park

201 Pierce Avenue

Webster Ball Diamonds

640 Webster Avenue

Wheeler Park 387-5187

402 Page Avenue

South Central College

(Leased April-August)

*Trails Distance in Miles

S1 X | X X X 5.39

X | X X X | X | X 6.20

X X 1] X (0] X 3.80

X X 0.75

X L2 3.00

X 11X X 2.30

2 0.3 X | X 6.50

S2| X | X | X]2 12| 1| X O | X X 12.50

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO PARK SYSTEM
124



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

NEW PARK FACILITIES

As the City grows and more families begin to call North Mankato their home, the need to expand the
parks system will grow as well. Figure 8-2 identifies new park target zones identifying potential locations
for new parks in the future serving areas where residential areas are anticipated. To identify potential
new park target zones, park service areas (Figure 8-1) were examined from the 2015 Parks Plan to
identify gaps in the system where residential uses exist or are anticipated to exist in the future. Park
service areas include the area within % mile of existing Neighborhood Parks, % mile of existing
Neighborhood Mini-Parks, % mile from Athletic Complexes, and 1 % miles from Community Parks. An
area extending %-mile from the edge of existing park service areas was identified to ensure the %-mile
service area is maintained for new parks °. This area was then reduced to only those areas with potential
to be future residential uses and those served by existing or planned sanitary sewer services areas
within %-mile of the existing park service areas. Exact locations of new parks will be determined as
needed during residential development site design.

Figure 8-1. Park Service Areas referenced from the 2015 North Mankato Parks Plan.

5 For the purposes of locating new park areas for new residential neighborhoods, existing “Community Parks” were
given a service area of %-mile despite having an identified service area of 1 % miles in the 2015 Parks Plan. This is
necessary to ensure new neighborhoods are within a %-mile of neighborhood style park amenities, which are
included in both Community Parks in the system.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NEW PARK FACILITIES
125






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

PARK GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for parks followed by a series of objectives and policies
intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Plan for a sustainable park system.
Objective 1.1: Plan and design parks in a way that ensures their long-term viability.

Policy 1.1.1: All park properties that are set aside (and/or are proposed in the future)
must take into account the long-term commitments required to develop, operate, and
maintain across their lifecycles.

Policy 1.1.2: Balance maintained turf areas with natural areas to add aesthetic appeal,
control maintenance costs, infiltrate stormwater, provide wildlife habitat, and reduce
carbon emissions.

Policy 1.1.3: Update the parks plan every 5-10 years depending on the amount of
change and development within the city.

Policy 1.1.4: Explore alternative methods for parkland dedication that will assure
sufficient park facilities well into the future.

Objective 1.2: Understand current trends and community issues, opportunities, and needs
related to parks within the city.

Policy 1.2.2: Master plans should be prepared for each park prior to their development
to ensure that the right mix of amenities are provided, and the park’s design is cohesive
and complementary to the design for other parks and public spaces.

Policy 1.2.3: Ensure public participation in the master planning process is included for
each park development project.

Policy 1.2.4: Analyze the placement and use of “nature play” equipment in existing and
proposed parks.

Policy 1.2.5: Provide all users an opportunity to participate in park activities by ensuring
trails, buildings, fountains, etc. are ADA compliant and playgrounds include inclusive
play equipment where feasible.

GOAL 2: Provide additional park and recreation opportunities in areas of new development
throughout the city.

Objective 2.1: Service local park and recreation needs by providing neighborhood and
community parks as residential growth occurs.

Policy 2.1.1: Consider constructing neighborhood parks where as is necessary to
maintain a half-mile park service area for all new and existing residential development.

Policy 2.1.2: Explore the possibility of including a community park in appropriate areas
of the City.

Policy 2.1.3: Locate new parks based on how they can be best integrated with the new
development that the park will serve.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION PARK GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
127



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

GOAL 3: Adhere to Park Master Planning and Facility Design Quality / Development Standards.

Objective 3.1: Ensure the quality standard for built features within the park system is consistent
with industry standards for safety, durability, and accessibility.

Policy 3.1.1: Periodically inspect and repair all parks, trails, and recreation facilities for
hazardous conditions, including unsafe play equipment, fallen vegetation, etc.

Policy 3.1.2: The design of individual parks should be of a consistent quality.

GOAL 4: Ensure North Mankato’s parks meet the diverse interests and recreation needs of the
community.
Objective 4.1: Partner with the relevant organizations and others that cannot be met exclusively
by the city.
Policy 4.1.1: Coordinate with relevant local organizations to address park and recreation

issues during the creation of the Parks, Trails, and Open Space System Plan.

Objective 4.2: Consider the desire of the community to construct a multi-use, indoor athletic
facility for residents and to attract regional tournaments and events.
Policy 4.2.1: Explore the impacts of developing such facilities, including impacts to
adjacent neighborhoods.

Policy 4.2.2: New facilities should provide year-round activities and programs for all age
groups, abilities, and all income levels.

GOAL 5: Create a comprehensive signage program for park facilities.

Objective 5.1: Provide a consistent message and information to park visitors through the use of
a uniform sign style and program throughout the city.
Policy 5.1.1: Identify the information to be included on the signage. Typically, this
includes: park names, direction to features, general information and rules, and
ecological stewardship program and interpretive information.

Policy 5.1.2: Ensure the program remains an ongoing priority by providing an annual
investment in a sighage program.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION PARK GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
128



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM

Trail System Inventory & Analysis

North Mankato’s trail system primarily parallels
major vehicular routes throughout the City with
some internal trail loops within the community
parks, and a section of trail that follows the
river. There are many gaps within the City and
opportunities to cross major barriers such as
Highway 14, Highway 169, and the Minnesota
River are limited as indicated in the existing
trail system plan. There is a great trail system
surrounding North Mankato and it was verified
in the community process that safer and easier
connections are desired. Figure 8-2 shows the plan
for trails within the City of North Mankato.

Recently Constructed, Planned, And Proposed North Mankato Trails

Many of the following trail connections have been constructed since the 2015 Comprehensive Plan was
adopted. Trail additions have been spurred by recommendations from the North Mankato Trails Plan
and the City’s ability to obtain federal funding through roadway improvements and safe routes to school

sources.

A. Commerce Drive

South side multi-use trail from Lookout Drive to Lor Ray Drive Completed in 2019.

B. Dakota Meadows Middle School Safe Routes to School (SRTS)

North side trail addition along Howard Drive from Lookout Drive to Lor Ray Drive and an off-

street trail from Howard Drive to Carlson Drive Completed in 2020.

C. Hoover Elementary School SRTS

Trail upgrade on east side of Lookout Drive from Commerce Drive .to Marie Ln. as well as on
Marie Ln. from Lookout Drive to Roe Crest Drive Planned for construction in 2024.

D. Potential TH 14 Pedestrian Bridge Crossing

This pedestrian crossing over Highway 14 would provide a connection from Tower Boulevard on
the south side of the highway to Caswell Park on the north side of the highway near Fallenstein
Miracle Field and Playground. The pedestrian bridge is identified in the Commerce Drive Area
Development Plan, the Lookout Drive Area Plan, and other city documents. The proposed bridge
would facilitate recreational trail expansion and provide safer routes to area schools. The city
aims to pursue funding opportunities to construct the overpass in the coming years.

Potential Belgrade Avenue/Roe Crest Drive Connector Trail

The city aims to improve the trail connection extending from the western end of Belgrade
Avenue to Roe Crest Drive through a wooded ravine setting where city utilities have been put in
place and a wood chip trail has been installed. Improvements would include applying asphalt

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM

129



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

pavement.
F. Mary Lane to Spring Lake Park (Lake Street)

Through development of the City
Trail System Plan, some expressed
interest in revitalizing the trail
connection from Lake Street in
Lower North Mankato to Mary
Lane. The trail was paved in

its entirety in 2022.

G. Planned On-Street Facilities

Several on-street facilities are

planned throughout the

system that will occur in the

short term. These include Howard

Drive east of Lor Ray Drive, Range Street,
Tower Boulevard, and Countryside Drive.

Redefining the Trail System
A. Trail Loop System

The trail system in North Mankato has grown to the point where a new type of trail
identification seems appropriate to guide users through the system. In 2021, the North Mankato
Bicycle Commission was reconvened to provide input on the status of the North Mankato trail
system. A series of trail loops were identified to redefine the system and provide guidance on
trail locations, potential future facilities, and

existing trail amenities. Figure 8-3 illustrates

these loops along with key trails, identified for

their connections to destinations throughout

the City and/or expected use. The following

loops and key trails have been identified in

the City of North Mankato:

Gran Fondo (12.5 miles)

A Grand Fondo is a type of long-distance road
cycling ride originating in Italy in 1970, and
roughly translates into English as “Big Ride”
(Source: Wikipedia). While this trail loop
doesn’t provide the typical 75 miles
considered the norm for a Gran Fondo in Italy,
it does traverse the entire periphery of the
City of North Mankato. It utilizes on- and off-
road trails taking users from the top of the
bluff in Upper North to the valley in Lower
North.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM
130



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Prairie Loop (6.4 miles)

This loop provides connections to parks, schools, and area commercial businesses and
amenities.

Brickyard Trail Loop (4.4 miles)

This trail passes the original brickyard locations in and around Wheeler Park in Lower North
Mankato. This loop utilizes on-street trails providing connections between Lower North parks,
lakes, schools, and commercial areas including the Central Business District.

North Ridge Loop (1.4 miles)

This trail provides a short, family-friendly loop through the quiet North Ridge neighborhood with
access to North Ridge Park.

Dakota Chaku Trail (0.5 Miles)

This translates to “Dakota Road”. This trail’s proximity to Dakota Meadows Middle School makes
this name quite appropriate and provides perhaps an inspirational opportunity for education on
Dakota heritage. This trail has potential for future expansion to the south as the City pursues
funding for a pedestrian bridge crossing Highway 14.

Commerce Trail (1 mile)

The Commerce Trail was constructed in 2019 and provides a connection between Lor Ray Drive
and Lookout Drive. Users can access the Commerce Drive Commercial District on the eastern
portion of the trail.

B. Agency Coordination: Greater Mankato Trails Systems

In 2021-2022, the Greater Mankato Bicycle Task Force consisting of
representatives from North Mankato, Mankato, Blue Earth County,
Nicollet County, Visit Mankato, Greater Mankato Bike & Walk
Advocates (GMBWA), Mankato Area Mountain Bikers (MAMB), and
the Statewide Health Improvement Partnership (SHIP) began a
process to establish the Greater Mankato Trail Systems branding.
Efforts included establishing a cohesive brand to be included on
wayfinding signage and information kiosks throughout trails in the
systems. Agencies anticipate a boost in “cyclo-tourism” in the area
as branding will create awareness of the Greater Mankato area as a
cycling destination for tourists. Signage for North Mankato was
developed during the same period and kiosks were produced that include the Greater Mankato
Trail Systems Map showing how North Mankato’s trail system integrates into the regional
system.

Figure 8-3. Greater Mankato
Trail Systems logo developed
through the branding effort.

Regional & State Trails

These regional and state trails provide commuting and recreational value to the area. Providing
connections to these trails from North Mankato should be a high priority for the City.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM
131



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table 8-D. Regional & State Trails

Trail Name Length (miles) Termini Surface Type

North Minnesota River Trail 4.8 US 14 and North Riverfront Drive to Sibley Parkway Asphalt

Red Jacket Trail 13 North Minn_esota River Trail under Highway 169 to Huffy Asphalt
Lane in Rapidan, MN
North Riverfront Drive and Highway 14 to State Route 21 in

Sakatah Singing Hills State Trail 39 . & y Asphalt
Faribault, MN

South Route Trail 8.3 County Road 69 to State Route 22 and County Road 90 Asphalt

Trail User Group Guidelines

The proposed trail system plan is consistent with MN DNR’s Trail Planning, Design, and Development
Guidelines (2007) for designing and developing sustainable trails. The DNR guidelines are recognized as
the most comprehensive standards for trails and address trail planning, design, and development. All
trail development should be consistent with these guidelines as applicable to the classifications used in
North Mankato.

A key concept of the trail guidelines is maximizing the value of trails to local residents. The values
ascribed to trails are important because they are at the core of why a person uses a particular trail on a
repeat basis. Studies clearly indicate that trail users make a distinction between trails based on their
perception of value, as the figure below illustrates.

Figure 8-4. User pércepfioris of Trail Value.

As the graphic illustrates, safety and convenience are base-line determinants for whether a person will
even use a trail irrespective of its quality. Once these two values are perceived as being acceptable, then
the personal values will be given more consideration by a trail user. The following considers each of
these values in greater detail.

A. Safety

A sense of physical and personal safety is the most important trail value in that without it people
are disinclined to use a trail irrespective of how many other values it might provide. Physical
safety can be relatively assured through good trail design. Personal safety, which relates to a
sense of well-being while using a trail, is a less tangible yet still important factor that cannot be
taken lightly.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM
132



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

B.

C.

D.

E.

Convenience

Convenience is important to day-to-day use of a trail. Studies have shown that the vast majority
of shared- use paved trails are used by those living within a few miles of the trail they use most
frequently.

Although convenience is important, its influence is still tempered by recreational value. No
matter how convenient, a poorly designed trail in an uninteresting setting will have limited
recreational value. Alternatively, a well-designed trail in an interesting setting might draw users
from some distance. The point is that trails should be located where they are both convenient
and offer the recreational amenities that users are seeking.

Recreation

Of all the values ascribed to a trail, its recreational value is the most important in terms of
predicting its level of use, assuming that safety and convenience are not issues. In general, trails
offering a high-quality recreational experience are those that:

e Are scenic and located in a pleasant park-like setting, natural open space, or linear
corridor away from traffic and the built environment

e Provide a continuous and varying experience that takes visitors to a variety of
destinations and is a destination unto itself

e Offer continuity with limited interruptions and impediments to travel

This underscores that trail planning must be based on criteria that go beyond simply providing
miles of trail — with considerable emphasis on the quality of the trail experience as much or
more than quantity.

In North Mankato, creating trails with high recreational value inherently affects community
planning and development. Planning for trails that follow greenways that seamlessly traverse
public open spaces and private developments alike is considerably different than planning for
trails that follow road rights-of-way. While greenway- based trails often pose more challenges to
plan and implement, the

value of these trails to the community has proven to be very high and worth the investment.
Cities that have successfully integrated these types of trails often highlight them as key aspects
of the community’s quality of life.

Fitness

Fitness is a growing value that cannot be overlooked. Fortunately, this value is generally
achieved if safety, convenience, recreational, and transportation values are met. Most critical to
accommodating this value is developing an interlinking trail system that provides numerous
route options with trail lengths necessary for the types of uses envisioned.

Transportation (Commuting)

The transportation (commuting) aspect of trails is valuable to a growing subset of the user
population. This is especially the case with shared-use paved trails, where bicycling, in-line
skating, and walking are viable means of transportation, especially for people in urban and
suburban settings.

On-road bikeway facilities are also viable and important means of transportation if developed to
acceptable standards. Importantly, promoting the use of trails and on-road bikeways for

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM

133



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

transportation will only be successful if the system is perceived as safe and convenient relative
to a user’s skill level. Without such a system, residents would simply use their vehicle.

F. Trail Classifications

The proposed trail connections indicated in the comprehensive plan are a baseline to continue
to add to. It is recommended the city complete a multi-modal system plan study to identify
additional key connections throughout the city.

Understanding the different classifications of trails appeal to different users is critical to the
success over the overall system. Each classification serves a particular purpose in meeting local
trail needs. The distinction between trail types is important due to the variability in their
recreational value, which greatly affects the value of the system to residents and the degree to
which a trail or system of trails will be used.

Table 8-E provides an overview of the classifications for trails North Mankato should consider.

Destination Trails

Table 8-E. North Mankato Trail Classifications & Guidelines

Classifications Common Guidelines Applications to North Mankato

Destination trails are paved trails for walking,
jogging, bicycling, and in-line skating located
within a greenway, open space, park,
parkway, or designated trail corridor.

Destination trails will be the backbone of the
greenway-based trail system that loops the
city and connects to adjoining communities
and college campuses.

Linking trails emphasize safe travel for
walking, jogging, bicycling, and in-line
skating to/from parks and around the

Linking trails will be primarily used as a
means to connect neighborhoods and

Linking Trails . L . S :
community. Linking trails are most often developed areas to the destination trail
located within road rights-of-way or utility  |system and provide safe routes to schools.
easements.

Sidewalks emphasize safe travel for walking

and jogging within residential areas and

business districts and to/ from parks and Sidewalks work in concert with linking trails
around the community. Although biking and |and are primarily used as a means to connect

Sidewalks in-line skating are allowed on sidewalks, the |neighborhoods and developed areas

Nature Trails

On-Road Bikeways

narrower width and concrete surface limit
their use for this purpose. Sidewalks are
most often located within road rights-of-way
of a

Nature trails are commonly used in areas
where natural tread is desired and harmony
with the natural environment is emphasized.
Use is limited to hikers and joggers in North
Mankato.

Bike routes and lanes are on-road facilities
that primarily serve fitness and
transportation bicyclists and in-line skaters,
as well as recreationalists with a higher skill
and comfort level being around automobiles.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION

together and to the destination trail system,
as well as provide safe routes to schools.

Natural trails will be primarily used in nature
areas and as secondary connections to the
destination trail system, especially within a
preserved natural area or conservation
easement.

Bikeways augment, but do not take the place
of, the trail and sidewalk system.

NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM
134



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

G. Character and Value Comparison between Trail Classifications

Each of the trail classifications defined above:

e Accommodate sp

e Provide a certain

ecific types of trail users

type of recreational experience and value to pedestrians, bicyclists, in-

line skaters, and wheelchair users

e Arelocated in a specific type of setting appropriate for the activity

e Follow design guidelines that allow for a safe and enjoyable use of the facility

Table 8-F considers the expectations of the most common types of trail users in North Mankato,
and the values and preferences that are likely to be of most importance.

Family Group — Various
Modes

Table 8-F. Trail User Types
Value and Preferences

Safety and convenience are top priorities, followed by a pleasant
recreational experience. Controlled, traffic-free access to sidewalks
and trails is preferred. Length of trail is less important than quality
of experience. Will typically only use low-volume residential
streets when biking or skating, and rarely busy streets even with
bike lanes or routes.

Recreational Walker,
Bicyclists, and In- Line
Skater

Same as family user group, with trail continuity and length also
being important for repeated use. 20 miles of connected trails are
needed for bicyclists, at a minimum. This user group is also more
comfortable with street crossings. Bicyclists and in-line skaters will
use roads that are not too busy. Loops are preferred over out-and-
back routes for variety.

Fitness Walker/ Jogger,
Bicyclists, and In-Line Skater

Length of trail and continuity are most important, although an
appealing setting is also desired. Bikers are reasonably comfortable
on busier roads, but prefer bike lanes/routes to provide separation
from vehicles. Bikers will often use a combination of roads and
trails to create a desirable loop, which is much preferred over out-
and-back routes.

Transportation Walker,
Bicyclists, and In-Line Skater

Directness of route is important. Will use a combination of
sidewalks, trails, residential streets, and roads that are relatively
safe, convenient, and direct. Bike lanes/routes are preferred on
busy roads to improve safety. Bicyclists are not overly dependent
on trails, but will use them if convenient and not too heavily used
by families and recreational users, who tend to slow them down.
Walkers need a trail or sidewalk.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO TRAIL SYSTEM

135






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

TRAIL SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for trails followed by a series of objectives and policies

intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community visions in this plan.

GOAL 1: Expand on the existing interlinking system of trails throughout the City that connect with
adjoining communities, regional, and state trails.
Objective 1.1: Continue to maintain the trail system plan for the City to better understand
community needs and desires.
Policy 1.1.1: Ensure the quality standard for trails within the system is consistent with
industry standards for safety, durability, and access.
Policy 1.1.2: Continue to create a comprehensive signage program for trail facilities.
Policy 1.1.3: Integrate new residential, commercial, and industrial development into the
existing and expanding trail system when possible.
Policy 1.1.4: Include the development of trails in North Mankato’s Capital Improvements
Plan.
Policy 1.1.5: During the planning process for major street and utility improvements,
evaluate the appropriateness of developing community and neighborhood trails with
the proposed improvements, even if the Trail System Master Plan does not show
proposed trails associated with the areas to be improved.
Policy 1.1.6: Incorporate trails into ravine restoration or improvement when practical
and feasible.
Objective 1.2: Strengthen east and west connections over the Minnesota River to enhance
system continuity and regional connectivity.
Policy 1.2.1: Explore the feasibility of, and options for, the construction of a dedicated
pedestrian/bicycle bridge over the Minnesota River from North Mankato to Mankato
and the regional trail system.
GOAL 2: Strengthen trail connectivity within City limits
Objective 2.1: Create a stronger north and south connection over Highway 14 in Upper North
Mankato
Policy 2.1.1: Construct proposed on-street and multi-use trails as identified in the City
Trail System Master Plan.
Policy 2.1.2: Pursue grant funding opportunities identified in the Highway 14 Pedestrian
Bridge Feasibility Study to construct a pedestrian/bicycle bridge over Highway 14 that
will connect the Commerce Drive Trail and planned on-street trail facilities on Tower
Boulevard to the Caswell Sports Complex and trails north.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION TRAIL SYSTEM GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
137



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

RECREATION PROGRAMS

Current Programming Opportunities

Currently, many of the recreation opportunities are administered by the City of North Mankato. Other
opportunities are offered by the Mankato Area Public Schools Community Education and Recreation
Program, YMCA, YWCA, and MSU-Mankato.

There are also many organized sports groups for soccer, baseball, softball, hockey, figure skating,
basketball, lacrosse, swimming etc. that offer their own programming opportunities for league play.

Regarding the arts, most programs and events are run by Twin Rivers Council for the Arts (TRCA), which
is a non-profit organization devoted to promoting arts and culture in Greater Mankato. TRCA serves as a
great resource for information related to the arts and cultural events. The City of North Mankato
recognizes the importance of arts and culture and its contribution to quality of life. The City will support
the use of parks and other public spaces for cultural and art related events and activities.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION RECREATION PROGRAMS
138



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

NORTH MANKATO GREENWAY SYSTEM

Greenway System Definition & Characteristics

The Greenway Corridor System protects, preserves, and enhances natural areas and open spaces, and
maintains connections among these areas. The Greenway System is designed to grow with local
communities and provide connections to neighboring communities and nearby natural and cultural
resources.

The City’s Northwest Growth Study identifies western expansion of City limits which includes additions
to the greenway system. Figure 8-6 identifies the Greenway System and indicates that the system
includes broad “green” loops. A long-term vision for a Greenway System should include a system that
protects natural resource areas as the community grows and provides recreation opportunities for area
residents.

Wildlife Management in the Greenway System

The Greenway System in North Mankato not only provides opportunities for recreation, but also
significant wildlife habitat. Many in the community welcome wildlife, such as deer, rabbits, and geese.
However, wildlife in an urban environment where there are no natural predators and ample food can
become problematic if left unchecked.

While there are many that welcome wildlife, there are also many that have experienced significant
damage to landscaping and other vegetation on private properties. This has resulted in City staff
working with the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MNDNR) to identify appropriate steps
the City should take to effectively manage wildlife. That process was in progress during the development
of this Plan.

GREENWAY GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following section outlines the primary goals for greenways followed by a series of objectives and
policies intended to influence future development efforts that align with the community visions in this
plan.

GOAL 1: Create a greenway system that provides recreational opportunities, protects and enhances
natural resources, is valued by the community, and can be maintained long-term by the City.

Objective 1.1: Complete an action plan that further defines the limits and opportunities of the
greenway corridors and includes strategies, timelines, and costs for implementing the system.

Policy 1.1.1: Develop an operations and maintenance strategy for each greenway to
assure the public that the City has the capacity to meet these responsibilities.

Policy 1.1.2: Clearly define how improvements will be funded, and the potential costs to
the average homeowner in the City, to avoid any uncertainties in this regard.

Policy 1.1.3: Make strategic prioritized investments toward the greenway system that
will continue to expand their role as defining elements in the City’s infrastructure and
enhance the region’s economic prospects by attracting new residents and supporting
robust levels of tourism.

Policy 1.1.4: During platting of development, ravines and greenways will be either
dedicated to the City or covered by conservation easement allowing continued

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION NORTH MANKATO GREENWAY SYSTEM
139



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

protection against erosion and other degrading activities (i.e. sump pumps, dumping
brush and grass, clear cutting, and other personal property).

Objective 1.2: Effectively manage wildlife within City limits to minimize impacts to personal and
publicly owned property.

Policy 1.2.1: Investigate the scale of wildlife impacts on the Greenway System and
private properties.

Policy 1.2.2: Seek guidance from the MNDNR and other MN State agencies on wildlife
management best management practices (BMPs).

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION GREENWAY GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
140






CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES FOR PARKS, TRAILS, AND GREENWAYS

The availability of funding for implementing the park, open space and trail system initiatives will have
direct impacts on the timing of implementing the plan. The following table provides a brief overview of
the funding sources typically available to local governments. It also provides an overview of a strategic
approach to implementing the System Plan.

Important underpinnings to consider for further developing the implementation strategy in the Parks,
Trails, and Open Space System Plan include:

Understanding that the opportunities to enhance the park and trail system are substantial and diverse

Recognizing that the magnitude of investments needed to achieve full plan implementation presents a
major challenge and will require the community to set priorities that respond to public will and realistic
limitations of resources

With this in mind, the underlying strategy for implementing this plan is to undertake initiatives that best
respond to the prioritization criteria set forth in this section. By making strategic, prioritized
investments, the city’s parks and trails will continue to expand their role as defining elements in the
city’s infrastructure and enhance the region’s economic prospects by attracting new residents and
supporting robust levels of tourism.

Note that each of the non-local funding sources requires an application process that includes an action
plan and description of funding requirements. All of these funding sources are competitive and/or
require political action, local funding commitments.

Table 8-G. Trail Funding Sources
Funding Source Description / Overview Probability

State Outdoor The State of Minnesota annually allocates funds for park Very competitive, especially with very

Recreation, acquisition and development projects which meet tight public funding available at all levels.
LCCMR, Legacy recreational needs identified by the State Comprehensive |Most promising might be Legacy

Fund, and Similar |Outdoor Recreation Plan. In recent years, Legacy Amendment Funds, especially for parks or
Grants Amendment Fund has emerged as a legitimate potential  trails of regional significance.

funding source for projects of regional or state-wide
significance. Whatever the program, the grants are
competitive and awarded according to project merits.

Land and Water |The federal government allocates monies each year to Funding availability through this program
Conservation states for public acquisition and development projects. The has been limited in recent years.
Fund State of Minnesota Administers these grants through the

Department of Natural Resources.
Federal The federal government allocates monies each year for Funding availability through this program
Transportation |alternative forms of transportation, which includes bicycle 'has been significant in past years. The
Funds (T-21, RTP, |trails that focus on transportation. potential for receiving funding for local
etc.) trails is relatively good.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES FOR PARKS, TRAILS, AND

GREENWAYS
142



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Funding Source

Fees/ Enterprise
Funds

Partnerships

Park Dedication
Fees

Donations

Table 8-G Cont'd. Trail Funding Sources

Description / Overview

Minnesota statute allows cities to prescribe and provide for
the collection of fees for the use of any city park or other
unit of the city park system or any facilities,
accommodations, or services provided for public use
therein.

Relates to partnerships formed with adjacent cities, the
county, and school districts to develop, maintain, and
operate parks and recreational facilities on a joint-use
basis.

The park dedication fund provides funding for parks as long
as community development continues to occur. Any
controls imposed on the extent (i.e., total number of units)
or rate of development (i.e., number of units per year)
allowed within the city will limit the revenue generated
under this fund. The City will need to ensure the fees
imposed are consistent with current state statutes.
Donations related to cash donations, gifts, volunteerism,
and professional services donated to the park for planning,
acquisition, or development purposes.

Probability

Becoming a much more relied upon
funding source, especially for singular use
facilities ranging from ballfields to hockey
arenas.

Although limited public funding availability
is an issue at all levels, forming
partnerships to spread the cost of
providing a specific type of service or
facility still has merit whenever there is an
opportunity.

Even with periodic adjustments, park
dedication fees alone will not be adequate
to fund the system plan to an optimal
level.

Limited potential from a cash perspective,
but important with respect to the use of
volunteers to offset some program costs.

CHAPTER 8: PARKS, TRAILS, AND RECREATION POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES FOR PARKS, TRAILS, AND

GREENWAYS
143



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 9: Business District Redevelopment
INTRODUCTION

The City of North Mankato has several business districts in the community as depicted in Figure 9-1.
While all districts provide important retail and service amenities for residents and visitors, the most
prominent are the Central Business District (CBD), or downtown, and the Commerce Drive Business
District. These business districts provide the main locations for retail and service amenities in Lower and
Upper North Mankato respectively.

Figure 9-1. North Mankato Business Distric.

The initial 2015 Comprehensive Plan provided a chapter on Downtown Redevelopment, looking only at
the CBD and efforts completed to strengthen and guide that location. However, all business districts
require planning and have been added to this discussion.

This chapter discusses redevelopment/revitalization opportunities for each district. It also considers
locations where future business districts are anticipated to grow in the future.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT INTRODUCTION
144



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT (CBD)

North Mankato’s CBD is a vital
community asset with
combined elements of a
traditional, historic downtown
and some more modern
architecture. The CBD is in the
southeast part of the City along
Belgrade Avenue extending
from Highway 169 to
properties on the west side of
Center Street. Belgrade Avenue
has been a key commercial
corridor within the City for
many years. There are
numerous established
businesses that serve the
commercial needs of area
residents, as well as a variety of
housing densities. The higher
density nature of the CBD
provides for a more naturally
walkable environment by
having numerous residents and
businesses within close
proximity. The CBD serves as a
gathering place for annual
community events such as Figure 9-2. 200 Block of Belgrade Avenue in the Central Business District.
Blues on Belgrade, Bier on
Belgrade, Bells on Belgrade, Oktoberfest, and the CityArt Walking Sculpture Tour among others.

As a major gateway to North Mankato, Belgrade Avenue provides visitors with a first impression of the
community. Therefore, a healthy downtown is critical for developing a successful image of the city, as
well as a strong sense of place. The future downtown should be memorable, vibrant, attractive and
welcoming to pedestrians.

Previous Planning for the CBD

There has been significant redevelopment in the CBD since the adoption of the 2015 Comprehensive
Plan undoubtedly spurred by the Plan and subsequent planning efforts focused on downtown
redevelopment and revitalization and traffic improvements. Through these efforts, the City can confirm
that North Mankato residents share a vision for a memorable, vibrant, attractive, and welcoming
downtown as mentioned. The City will need to revise and update these plans as redevelopment/
revitalization takes place in the CBD.

The ideas expressed in this chapter apply to the area identified on Figure 3-2: Future Land Use Map
designated as the Central Business District.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT CENTRAL BUSINESS DIsTRICT (CBD)
145



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

A. Downtown Planning Study (2012)

This Plan provided a vision for downtown and a framework for the future buildout of the CBD,
offering design concepts, fagcade and streetscape improvements, and parking enhancements.
This Plan provided a beginning framework for the Belgrade Avenue Master Plan.

B. Belgrade Avenue Master Plan (2016)

The Belgrade Avenue Master Plan process examined major issues and themes occurring in the
CBD and also provided a 5-, 10-, and 20-year outlook for redevelopment/revitalization along the
corridor. Design guidelines were also part of the Belgrade Avenue Master Plan process. This
updated Comprehensive Plan aims to emphasize the themes that evolved from that Plan and
other public processes completed for the downtown (Figure 9-3).

Figure 9-3. CBD Implementation Plan for 5, 10, and 20 years referenced from the Belgrade Avenue Master Plan
(2016).

C. Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study (2017)

The City of North Mankato and the Mankato/North Mankato Area Planning Organization
(MAPQ), in partnership with MnDOT, completed the Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study to identify
a long-term vision for Belgrade Avenue including initial and long-term recommendations for
changes to the transportation infrastructure. The City continues to explore options for
implementing improvement recommendations from that plan.

D. Public Art Ideas Plan (2017)

This Plan provides a public ideas bank that can be used by the City as a guide to integrate public
art into downtown planning initiatives. This Plan defines policy and procedure around current
public art projects and assets.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT CENTRAL BUSINESS DIsTRICT (CBD)
146



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

CBD Existing Conditions

The CBD is mostly one- and two-story buildings, many of which date back to the early part of the 20th
century which are in various states of physical condition. Some can accommodate modern uses while
others remain vacant and may require redevelopment and/or revitalization to enhance commercial and
residential presence of the CBD. Several modern buildings are also mixed within. The downtown
currently has a very healthy mixture of neighborhood serving uses including restaurants, drinking
establishments, offices, retail stores, service businesses, and both single- and multi-family residential
uses.

The 200 block of Belgrade Avenue contains the highest concentration of businesses and is
predominantly commercial on both sides of the street, although upper levels of some buildings are used
as apartments. The 300 and 400 blocks contain more single-family homes, apartments, and some larger
commercial uses. As the CBD has grown, numerous single-family homes along Belgrade Avenue have
been converted for commercial use.

The development pattern and many of the existing buildings provide a sense of community, which
residents value. Most buildings are built close to the street or sidewalk and have parking located in the
rear or side of the building. Throughout the downtown sidewalks are provided on both sides of the
street. These qualities contribute to making the downtown pedestrian friendly and could be
incorporated in new development to maintain the existing downtown character. Some existing
characteristics such as large storefront windows, awnings, facade details and unique signage also
contribute to an engaging pedestrian atmosphere.

Key Issues and Opportunities

The following provides an overview of the key issues and opportunities pertaining to the CBD.

A. Attractive Pedestrian Realm

An attractive, safe, and walkable downtown is a key element for any community and is desired
by residents in North Mankato. Elements of an inviting downtown include various streetscape
features such as boulevard trees and plantings, outdoor seating and gathering areas, plazas,
signage, fountains, decorative lighting, wide sidewalks, safe pedestrian crossings, sidewalk
pavers, and other pedestrian amenities. Planning efforts such as the Belgrade Avenue Master
Plan, Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study, and Public Art Ideas Plan provide streetscape design and
art recommendations that can be implemented.

Where possible in the CBD, sidewalks should be widened to accommodate pedestrian flow. The
sidewalk should be kept free of potential barriers such as utility poles or street signs. Through
previous planning efforts, residents have stated that pedestrian crossing of Belgrade Avenue are
seen as lacking or unsafe, specifically in the 200 Block. The Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study
considered options for lane reduction in the 200 Block of Belgrade in the CBD from four lanes to
three with a center turn lane and mid-block crossing. This type of improvement has potential to
improve pedestrian movement and increase safety along and across Belgrade Avenue in the
heart of the CBD. The City continues to explore options for lane-reduction based on this
planning effort.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT CENTRAL BUSINESS DIsTRICT (CBD)
147



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The City should continue to work with businesses in the CBD and future developers to
encourage attractive storefronts, ground level facades, and appropriate public art pieces that
attract and engage pedestrians. Design guidelines were developed through the Belgrade Avenue
Master Plan that have given the City a tool to encourage attractive and cohesive development in
the CBD, a trend that should continue. The City should also continue to work with property
owners of older buildings to ensure their upkeep and prevent any deterioration.

Belgrade Avenue is a major gateway into the community that provides a first impression to
visitors. Therefore, the importance of the appearance and impression of Belgrade Avenue
should not be understated. An attractive and unified public realm can enhance the branding for
North Mankato, making it memorable and reflecting a positive image for the City.

B. Business Mix

The CBD provides area residents with a variety of businesses that serve many daily needs. This is
desirable and allows residents the opportunity to meet different commercial needs near one
another. It is also desired that new businesses will locate in the CBD to increase the area’s draw,
including both neighborhood serving and destination type businesses. Making the downtown
desirable to potential businesses will depend on several factors, including zoning, upkeep and
appearance of surrounding buildings and the streetscape, and available parking, which are all
addressed in this chapter and other portions of this plan.

The physical state or conditions of some buildings in the downtown may result in those buildings
no longer being desirable to potential commercial tenants. The City will need to continue to
explore where redevelopment should occur by updating planning efforts such as the Belgrade
Avenue Master Plan. For cases of redevelopment, mixed use buildings are encouraged to
support an increase in the downtown residential population, while also providing additional
commercial opportunities; however, standalone residential or commercial uses are also
supported. Older buildings that are in good condition and remain desirable for commercial use
should be preserved to maintain some of the historic feel to the downtown.

The 200 Block of Belgrade tends to be the focus of most developer interest. This is likely due to
its characteristics as a more traditional “Main Street” downtown with buildings fronting the
street and density of businesses. However, residents have expressed a desire for some
redevelopment to be focused on the 300, 400, and 500 Blocks of Belgrade throughout the
extent of the CBD. The City should encourage such redevelopment as stated in the Belgrade
Avenue Master Plan moving forward.

As the economy changes and new types of businesses are created, it is important to review
existing zoning standards and regularly update the zoning code. The list of permitted and
conditional uses should be updated to include any desirable uses that may not currently be
permitted. In addition, the list of performance standards should be regularly reviewed to ensure
that businesses are not unnecessarily constrained by zoning requirements. An up-to-date zoning
code can have a significant impact on the development potential of a community.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT CENTRAL BUSINESS DIsTRICT (CBD)
148



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

C. Parking

Development patterns typical of most downtowns tend to provide mixed opinions about the
availability of parking. In many downtowns, it is typical to incorporate a variety of different
parking strategies to achieve an adequate supply of parking such as on-street parking, shared
parking and municipal lots. Several businesses currently have parking in the rear or side of their
property. On-street parking is currently allowed along most of Belgrade Avenue throughout the
downtown, with the exception of the north side of the 200 block.

CBD planning studies have found that, although there is a perceived shortage of parking, the
supply is generally sufficient for the existing uses during most times of the day. However, some
of the available parking may be perceived as inconvenient and may lack visibility. Improved way-
finding signage could help visitors and residents make better use of the existing parking supply.

Parking supply will need to increase as new businesses and residential units are added. This will
likely occur through a combination of parking provided on-site, on-street parking and shared
parking lots. The City has purchased and converted several lots to public parking and has plans
for expansion as the need arises.

However, as the downtown grows and new businesses and residential units are added, the
parking supply will also need to increase. The City should look to identify property that could be
developed for future parking

lots specifically designated for

downtown businesses.

Vision for the CBD

The North Mankato Central Business District is a growing
and safe district characterized by cohesive architectural
design, pedestrian friendly streetscapes, and new
destinations all contributing to a beautiful, thriving, and
inviting area serving as the core for community convention.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT CENTRAL BUSINESS DIsTRICT (CBD)
149



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

COMMERCE DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT

The Commerce Drive Business
District provides a key retail and
service district for residents in
Upper North Mankato. With
commercial and industrial
development beginning around
Commerce Drive in the 1970’s, the
Commerce Drive Business District
differs from the CBD in Lower
North. Where portions of the CBD
have characteristics of a traditional
downtown with dense structures in
a mostly walkable environment,
Commerce Drive has been
developed to be more auto oriented
with large lots and ample parking.
The District is also not designated in
the City’s Zoning Map or land use
map as a special or “Central”
business district like the CBD.
Nonetheless, it serves that role for
Upper North Mankato.

Figure 9-4. Commerce Drive Business District.

Previous Planning for the Commerce Drive Business District
A. Commerce Drive Area Development Plan (2018)

The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan was developed as a precursor to the 2019-20
resurfacing of Commerce Drive. This improvement provided an opportunity for the City to
rethink the streetscape and implement improvements that promote vehicle and pedestrian
safety and area beautification. Through the Commerce Drive Area Development Plan, residents
expressed the desire to re-envision this core business district as a community destination with
an enhanced business presence, improved transportation facilities, and enhanced area design.

The Plan succeeded in laying the framework for many initiatives that were completed in
concurrence with the resurfacing project including conversion of a narrow sidewalk to a multi-
use path, property access re-alignment for improved traffic flow, safer pedestrian crossings, and
seating nodes infused with public art. This Plan also recommends redevelopment alternatives
that could be considered in the future as opportunities arise.

Another Plan initiative included the encouragement of businesses to develop a business
association. The Connecting Commerce Business Association was created shortly after the
planning process and has brought together businesses to host area events and provide customer
incentives that benefit and strengthen the district as a destination.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT COMMERCE DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT
150



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

B. Highway 14 Pedestrian Bridge Feasibility Study (2022)

This study focused on developing alternatives for a safe and efficient pedestrian crossing of U.S.
Highway 14 in upper North Mankato. The study was developed from guidance and collaboration
between the MAPO, the City of North Mankato, and MnDOT. The study team looked at previous
planning efforts associated with enhancing multimodal opportunities in upper North Mankato to
gage what’s been done and understand needs and concerns of the public.

Commerce Drive Business District Existing Conditions

The Commerce Drive Business District is located on the eastern end of Commerce Drive surrounding its
intersection with Lor Ray Drive. It includes a mix of area serving retail amenities including a drug store,
various restaurant type establishments, two gas stations, a hotel, banks, two gas station/convenience
stores, and a lumber yard, among other businesses.

New businesses have come to the area in the past few years, strengthening the district’s commercial
offerings including new restaurants and coffee shops. Properties seen as not serving their highest and
best use have been recently redeveloped, which were identified as opportunities in previous planning
efforts. The City should continue to look for redevelopment opportunities in the future as properties
come up for sale and redevelopment recommendations identified in previous planning efforts can be
revisited and potentially implemented.

Key Issues and Opportunities

The following provides an overview of the key issues and opportunities pertaining to the Commerce
Drive Business District.

A. Pedestrian and Bicycle Connections

Improvements stemming from the Commerce Drive Area Development Plan have improved
pedestrian safety and area connections. This includes the multi-use sidewalk on the south side
of the roadway and improved pedestrian crossings stemming from the Plan and implemented
through the resurfacing project in 2019-2020. The new trail addition connects to the Bluff Valley
Trail in the northeast quadrant of the Commerce Drive/Lor Ray Drive intersection, trail and
sidewalk on Lookout Drive, and area on-street facilities.

The City may consider constructing a pedestrian bridge over Highway 14 to enhance the
connection from Commerce Drive to the Caswell Sports Complex where many regional softball
tournaments are held. There are also plans for an indoor recreational facility that will serve the
area at the Complex. This bridge will provide a needed north/south pedestrian/bicycle
connection in Upper North Mankato. The City should continue to seek funding to implement this
connection.

B. Redevelopment Opportunities

The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan recognizes that all the businesses currently

located along Commerce Drive are valued contributors to the local economy and overall corridor
vitality. It is anticipated, however, that there will be changes over time that create additional
opportunities for redevelopment that could increase the potential for additional retail uses to
locate in the district. After significant discussion with property owners, a conceptual

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT COMMERCE DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT
151



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

redevelopment vision was created and included in the Plan. The City should revisit Plan
initiatives and keep open dialog with property owners to continue to guide the district.

Figure 9-5. Commerce Drive Improvements Conceptual Plan. Source: Commerce Drive Area Development Plan
(2018).

C. Housing

The Commerce Drive Business District borders higher-density housing east of Lor Ray Drive.
However, there is currently no housing among the businesses in the district. The Commerce
Drive Area Development Plan identifies goals for incorporating housing options in mixed-use
redevelopment along with targeting more commercial uses to serve potential residents. The City
should revisit these goals as redevelopment opportunities present themselves in the future.

D. Area Design

Commerce Drive is often viewed as an area lacking design consistency. Participants in the
visioning process for the Commerce Drive Area Development Plan expressed that the corridor
could offer much more than it does today and asked what options exist to enhance buildings
and the streetscape. Commerce Drive is not a downtown “Main Street” environment and wasn’t
planned to be, given the aforementioned “auto-oriented” design with large lots with ample
parking and on-site vehicle circulation. However, residents would like to improve the character
of the corridor by creating a more cohesive, themed design. The streetscape has improved
significantly since the 2019 resurfacing project; however the City should consider methods for
encouraging private investment in the business facades in the district and design guidance for
any new buildings constructed through redevelopment.

Vision for Commerce Drive Business District Redevelopment

The Commerce Drive Business District is a growing and diverse community destination supporting many
uses that provide livability for area residents and a major employment sector for North Mankato’s
workforce, while also providing a safe and efficient vehicle and pedestrian environment including
connections to area recreation facilities.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT COMMERCE DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT
152



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

WEBSTER AVENUE BUSINESS DISTRICT

The Webster Avenue Business District includes businesses surrounding the intersection of Webster
Avenue with Highway 169. This is a much smaller business district with limited existing amenities.
However, it does have significant potential for future redevelopment given its proximity to the highway,
regional recreation amenities, and major redevelopment occurring just to the north in Mankato, along
with its position as one of the major gateways into North Mankato.

Figure 9-6. Webster Avenue Revitalization Plan. Source: Webster Avenue Area Plan (2021).

Previous Planning for the Webster Avenue Business District
A. Webster Avenue Area Plan (2021)

The Webster Avenue Area Plan was developed to supplement the Highway 169 Corridor Study
being undertaken by the MAPO and its partners. The study examined land uses surrounding
Webster Avenue and identified redevelopment and revitalization opportunities while defining a
shared vision for the area.

B. Highway 169 Corridor Study (2022)

This study was undertaken by the MAPO and its partners in conjunction with MnDOT who
examined Highway 169 traffic and developed improvement options. The ultimate
recommendations from the study support the continuation of the Webster Avenue/Highway
169 intersection as an “at-grade”, full access intersection. The findings removed uncertainties
surrounding the future of the intersection and the future of businesses relying on the access to
the highway. This assurance has high potential to spur redevelopment.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT WEBSTER AVENUE BUSINESS DISTRICT
153



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Webster Avenue Business District Existing Conditions

The Webster Avenue Business District’s proximity to a major highway interchange combined with its
access to downtown North Mankato makes this a prime location for businesses. The small business
district extends both east and west of Highway 169. West of the highway uses include small-scale
commercial, a restaurant, a gas station, a liquor store, and a hotel adjacent to light industrial uses that
are oriented heavily around trucking, shipping, and vehicle repairs. Present commercial uses provide
some services to the low-density single-family residential neighborhood in Lower North Mankato. East
of the highway uses include some restaurant type uses, and car sales. Both east and west have vacant
properties.

Key Issues and Opportunities

The following provides an overview of the key issues and opportunities pertaining to redevelopment
opportunities in the Webster Avenue Business District.

A. The Norwood Inn (former Best Western Hotel)

At the time of this Comprehensive Plan update, the structure formally known as the Norwood
Inn (previously Best Western) was under the ownership of the North Mankato Port Authority.
The City was leasing the facility to HyLife Foods; owners of a pork processing plant in Windom,
MN who used the facility to house migrant workers. The City took ownership of the hotel and
entered into a two-year agreement with the company after previous ownership allowed the
building to go into disrepair. This was a strategic move by the City to remove previous
ownership and use the two-year timeframe to formulate a strategy for the structure moving
forward.

This location is the most prominent site in the district with high visibility from the highway and
significant space onsite. The structure functioned quite well in the past as a Best Western,
offering a good hospitality experience, a popular function hall, and pool facility used not only by
visitors, but area residents alike. The building will need significant renovation to bring it back to
that level of functional state.

The property just north of this was also vacant at the time of this Plan update. A market analysis
completed as part of the Webster Avenue Area Plan included the results of interviews with
developers asking if they had interest in the locations as redevelopment opportunities. Many
stated that the uncertainty of the future of the Webster Avenue intersection was a barrier to
investment in the properties and that, once removed, the area would be more appealing for
long-term redevelopment decisions.

Since the adoption of both the Webster Avenue Area Plan and the Highway 169 Corridor Study,
the City has been speaking with interested developers to gage interest in redevelopment at this
location. The City should continue to actively pursue redevelopment of this location, or
refranchising of the hotel, and consider offering incentives to developers to build interest.

B. Vacant Properties

As mentioned, the property north of the Norwood Inn was vacant at the time of this Plan
update. If the hotel is refranchised and this property is not included in a larger redevelopment
project, the City should continue to actively seek interested developers to develop.

One other property located on the east side of Highway 169 remains vacant after containing a

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT WEBSTER AVENUE BUSINESS DISTRICT
154



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

landscaping company for some years. This is also an opportunity for future development that
the City should steer development toward.

C. Area Design and Revitalization

Many participants in the public process for the Webster Avenue Area Plan stated that the
structures in the Webster Avenue Business District could benefit highly from revitalization as
many are lacking cohesive architectural design and desirable aesthetics. To grow its tax base and
promote infill development, the city should coordinate opportunities for revitalizing existing
buildings, look for incentives, and attract new commercial businesses along Webster Avenue.

Vision for Webster Avenue Business District Redevelopment

The Webster Avenue Business District contains a variety of businesses that serve the needs of local
residents and visitors with retail and hospitality amenities.

LOOKOUT DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT

The Lookout Drive Business District is located primarily at the intersection of Lookout Drive and Marie
Lane in Upper North Mankato. This is a small district, and, like the Commerce Drive and Webster Avenue
business districts, there is no special zoning designation delineating the district. This area is centrally
located along Lookout Drive with no immediate access to a major highway. However, there is
anticipated growth near this location and plans that provide a revisioning of how Lookout Drive serves
the community. These factors may influence the future of this district.

Previous Planning for the Commerce Drive Business District
A. Lookout Drive Area Plan (2022)

The Lookout Drive Area Plan was completed in conjunction with the Lookout Drive Corridor
Study to inform future roadway improvements. Area businesses and residents were engaged to
help develop a vision for future area development.

B. Lookout Drive Corridor Study (2022)

This study was undertaken by the MAPO and its partners who examined Lookout Drive traffic
and developed alternative options for lane configuration and intersection control with a focus
on improved pedestrian movements along and across Lookout Drive. Study recommendations
serve as guidance for the City to effectively plan for the future of the roadway as needs and
opportunities arise with any development/redevelopment.

Lookout Drive Business District Existing Conditions

The Lookout Drive Business District includes a gas station/convenience store, some financial planning
businesses, an auto repair shop, a dentist, a health clinic, a laundromat, and a clothing apparel store.
The district is in close proximity to a substantial number of low- and medium-density residential
neighborhoods as well as the South Central College Campus and the Hoover Elementary School. This is
an auto-oriented district on a five-lane roadway; this is not a walkable business district environment.

Key Issues and Opportunities

The following provides an overview of the key issues and opportunities pertaining to redevelopment
opportunities in the Lookout Drive Business District.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT LookouT DRIVE BUSINESS DISTRICT
155



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

A. Development of Vacant Properties

There are two large vacant properties in the northeast quadrant of the intersection. The
southernmost is zoned R-4 Multiple Dwelling and the northern is zoned I-1 Planned Industrial.
South Central College is also nearby. The possibility of new multi-family residential uses
occupying the area may open up opportunities for increased retail and service amenities in a
mixed-use development. The City’s future land use plan (seen in Figure 3-2) identifies the
conversion of a portion of the vacant property and residences adjacent to Lookout Drive on the
east side to commercial uses in the future. The City will need to monitor development in this
location to ensure it meets the vision set forth in the Lookout Drive Area Plan as opportunities
arise and developers gain interest.

B. Redevelopment

Several houses north of the intersection of Lookout Drive and Marie Lane are guided for future
commercial development. These properties are currently zoned I-1 Planned Industrial.

C. Walkability

The Corridor Study found that the five-lane configuration of Lookout Drive in this location is
problematic for pedestrians wishing to cross the roadway. Improvements to crossings of
Lookout Drive will be necessary if a walkable business district is desired in the future.

Vision for Lookout Drive Business District Redevelopment

The Lookout Drive business district provides area serving commercial-retail amenities and innovative
housing options in an area that is inviting and creatively designed.

PLANNING FOR FUTURE BUSINESS DISTRICTS

Trends show that the City of North Mankato will continue to grow which inevitably will require careful
planning for new business districts to serve newly developed areas. The City has attempted to stay
ahead of this with planning efforts such as the Northwest Growth Area Study and the Future Land Use
Plan seen in Figure 3-2. These plans suggest that commercial development is guided for much of the
area surrounding the Highway 14/CSAH 41 interchange, which is a likely location given highway access.

Participants in the public process for previous planning efforts have repeatedly requested the addition
of additional retail amenities in Upper North Mankato, specifically a grocery store and more hotels. A
market analysis completed as part of the Northwest Growth Area Study concluded that the area could
support a small grocery store currently. The City has also been able to attract a hotel in Upper North
along Commerce Drive.

The City will continue to work with developers to target locations for additional amenities as
opportunities arise in the future, using the findings and recommendations from previous planning
efforts to guide those discussions.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENT PLANNING FOR FUTURE BUSINESS DISTRICTS
156



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

BUSINESS DISTRICT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following is a series of goals for all business districts followed by a series of objectives and policies
intended to influence future land use decisions in a direction that is aligned with Vision Statements.

GOAL 1: Expand the number and variety of businesses and residential varieties in all business districts
where possible.

Objective 1.1: Redevelop underutilized parcels or outdated and deteriorating buildings.
Policy 1.1.1: Work with property owners and businesses to determine which buildings

are no longer well suited or marketable for commercial use to identify redevelopment
areas.

Policy 1.1.2: Actively recruit and match entrepreneurial start-up businesses with
underutilized buildings.

Policy 1.1.3: Pursue state and federal grants which aid in the revitalization of business
districts.

Policy 1.1.4: Assess the potential for creating tax increment financing (TIF) districts to
aid in business district revitalization.

Policy 1.1.5: Work with property owners and explore “outside-the-box” solutions for
accommodating businesses that wish to expand their business.

Policy 1.1.6: Work with property owners that have deteriorating buildings and connect
them to resources for making improvements.

Objective 1.2: Increase the number of businesses and residents in business districts.

Policy 1.2.1: Update market studies to determine commercial and residential needs,
existing capacity and areas for growth within business districts.

Policy 1.2.2: Incorporate principles that support a “live, work, play” mentality for all
business districts as applicable.

Policy 1.2.3: Identify locations for small public spaces which will attract residents and
provide greater visibility for businesses.

Policy 1.2.4: Explore opportunities for new events and festivals to expand the branding
of North Mankato business districts and increase awareness of businesses in each
district.

Policy 1.2.5: Regularly review the list of permitted and conditional uses for business
districts to ensure that an ideal mix and type of uses are allowed.

Policy 1.2.6: Review the list of performance standards for business districts and remove
any standards that may unnecessarily constrain existing or potential future businesses.

Policy 1.2.7: Support the transition of residential homes to commercial uses along
Belgrade Avenue and Lookout Drive.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENTBUSINESS DISTRICT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
157



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Objective 1.3: Ensure adequate parking for all businesses.

Policy 1.3.1: Assess and where necessary amend the parking requirements for
commercial uses in business districts.

Policy 1.3.2: Consider establishing parking districts to create a revenue source for future
parking improvements.

GOAL 2: Create a safe and inviting pedestrian realm.
Objective 2.1: Improve safety for pedestrians

Policy 2.1.1: Pursue intersection improvements recommended in district-relevant plans
and studies where conditions may be dangerous for pedestrians crossing the street and
implement improvements at those intersections.

Policy 2.1.2: Provide adequate pedestrian facility lighting in all business districts at night.

Policy 2.1.3: Adhere to the implementation plan identified in the North Mankato
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Transition Plan for the removal of obstructive
barriers from the pedestrian realm.

Policy 2.1.4: Incorporate wide sidewalks where possible.
Objective 2.2: Improve the appearance of the streetscape and facades in business districts.

Policy 2.2.1: Implement streetscape policies consistent with the improvements called for
in district-relevant plans and studies.

Policy 2.2.2: Encourage and work with businesses to allow them to place items in the
pedestrian realm that enhance their storefronts such as planter boxes, seating, public
art, sandwich board signs, etc.

Policy 2.2.3: Using district-relevant Design Guidelines, encourage fagade characteristics
that enhance the pedestrian realm such as large storefront windows, awnings,
architectural detail at the ground level, and interesting signage.

Policy 2.2.4: Develop a streetscape plan to promote a positive and unified image for
business districts to meet their respective Vision Statements.

Policy 2.2.5: Consider implementing design standards for business districts outside of
the CBD.

Objective 2.3: Pursue key trail construction that will connect businesses districts to other
destinations in the community.

Policy 2.3.1: Secure funding from local, state, and federal sources to construct trail
facilities that will bring pedestrians and bicyclists to North Mankato business districts
such as the Highway 14 from Commerce Drive to the Caswell Sports Complex and/or a
grade-separated pedestrian/bicycle crossing of Highway 169 from Webster Avenue to
the Minnesota River.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENTBUSINESS DISTRICT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
158



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

GOAL 3: Ensure smart and effective small-area planning continues for new business districts in North
Mankato.

Objective 3.1: Proactively plan for new business districts as development occurs in North
Mankato growth areas.

Policy 3.1.1: Develop small area plans to guide new business district development in
ways that avoid issues identified in previous planning initiatives.

Policy 3.1.2: Ensure roadways are effectively planned for a walkable environment in new
business districts moving forward.

CHAPTER 9: BUSINESS DISTRICT REDEVELOPMENTBUSINESS DISTRICT GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES
159



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Chapter 10: Community Design

INTRODUCTION

Community design is about the cohesiveness of many different elements of a city, including scale,
character, mobility, and density among others. Good community design results in places that are
inviting, comfortable, and user friendly. It influences how people interact and move about within their
environment. A key component of community design is the relationship between the natural and built
environment. Development patterns such as block shape and form, the sidewalk, and landscaping are
also part of community design. Many issues and topics covered in other parts of this plan have an
influence on community design.

PREVIOUS AND ONGOING COMMUNITY DESIGN RELATED PLANS

Several past and ongoing efforts include elements of community design and have been reviewed as part
of developing this chapter. These efforts are listed below.

City of North Mankato Complete Streets Plan & Policy (2016)

The City of North Mankato adopted the Complete Streets Plan and Policy to ensure streets and
sidewalks are well designed and constructed to serve everyone — pedestrians, bicyclists, and drivers —
and they take into account the transportation needs of all people, including children, older adults, and
people with disabilities or impaired mobility. This Plan and Policy is aimed at changing streets from
places where vehicles dominate to places where all users are accommodated.

Belgrade Avenue Master Plan (2017)

The Belgrade Avenue Master Plan process included development of design guidelines for the Central

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN INTRODUCTION
160



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Business District (CBD) along Belgrade Avenue. While design guidelines are not requirements for
developers, they are meant to encourage developers to use architectural design elements in structures
that maintain cohesive area design. The City can require developers to follow design guidelines when
they are seeking financial assistance or incentives from the City to ensure projects include design
elements that fit the context of the CBD.

Belgrade Avenue Corridor Study (2017)

MAPO and the City of North Mankato, in partnership with MnDOT, completed this study to identify a
long-term vision for multimodal improvements on Belgrade Avenue in North Mankato. The Study
included streetscape design elements

that would improve vehicle and

pedestrian circulation through the

downtown.

Public Art Ideas Plan (2017)

The goal of this plan is to highlight the
importance of public art and how it can
be used by the city as a guide to
integrate it into existing and future
planning initiatives and identify those
areas that could be enhanced. It lays
out what public art is, why it should be
invested in, and creates a reference
guide/idea bank of public art ideas for
specific locations.

Commerce Drive Area Development Plan (2019)

The Commerce Drive Area Development Plan included elements of streetscape design that improved
the pedestrian realm such as seating nodes, mid-block crossing, and expanded trails and sidewalks along
Commerce Drive that connect to the larger sidewalk and trail system. Building design and architectural
cohesiveness were also part of the discussion.

Lookout Drive Area Plan (2022)

The Lookout Drive Area Plan considered locations along the corridor that could accommodate area
design in streetscaping and green spaces.

North Mankato Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Transition Plan (2019)

The North Mankato ADA Transition Plan provides a framework for fixing existing sidewalk infrastructure
ADA deficiencies and also best practices for how pedestrian facilities should be constructed to maintain
compliance.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The City of North Mankato has several areas which developed at different time periods, resulting in
different development patterns and building forms. Lower North is the older part of the city which
developed consistent with early 20th century development patterns. City blocks in Lower North are
mostly on a grid network. Most single-family homes in Lower North are older and well maintained.
Many also have detached garages in the rear yard and many blocks have alley access. Residential lots

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN EXISTING CONDITIONS
161



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

are generally smaller in Lower North than in residential areas that developed at a later time period.
Homes are also generally built with limited setbacks. Most streets have a sidewalk on both sides of the
street and trees have been well preserved.

Lower North is comprised mostly of low-density residential with parks, schools, institutional uses and
some higher density residential uses mixed in. Belgrade Avenue serves as the primary commercial
corridor in Lower North and is the City’s downtown. Many of the original buildings in the downtown
remain. These buildings are built to the sidewalk and have relatively narrow storefronts creating a
pedestrian friendly atmosphere. The combination of older houses and the downtown give Lower North
a distinguishable quaint character and small-town feel.

Upper North consists of newer development with more modern suburban style subdivisions. Residential
lots are generally bigger than those in Lower North and are not on a grid network. Most single-family
homes have driveways off the front of their lots with garages in front of the home. Commercial,
industrial and institutional uses are generally situated along arterial roadways. Sidewalks are generally
located on at least one side of the street. Several small neighborhood parks are mixed throughout
residential areas, but several larger parks attract users from a wider area. In parts of Upper North,
natural areas have been well preserved where residential subdivisions have been built around forested
areas. Some areas in Upper North, such as Commerce Drive and Northport Industrial Park are designed
with the consideration of accommodating large truck traffic in mind. Lot size, visibility, streets and
intersections are all well designed for supporting a business-friendly environment that should be
considered attractive to existing and potential businesses.

Key Issues and Opportunities

The following provides an overview of the key issues and opportunities pertaining to community design
for North Mankato.

A. Development Pattern

As mentioned previously, North Mankato developed with two different development patterns
over time. Both have value for the City by offering residents variety in neighborhood character.
Land available for future development in the City is mostly to the north and west. Growth areas
in Upper North are mostly planned for low density residential and industrial; however, the Land
Use Plan aims to mix in more commercial uses in close proximity to residential areas to minimize
the distance required to travel and allow for biking and walking. This is mostly in the form of key
commercial nodes and corridors. As such, key streets should be designed to accommodate
cyclists and pedestrians to get to their destinations. Special consideration should be given for
enhanced landscaping between residential neighborhoods and key destinations where walkers
and cyclists may go. With new subdivisions, any proposed street network should also be
analyzed for connectivity and the ability to efficiently get from one point to another.

B. Climate Sensitive Design
Designing for Weather

Being in Minnesota, special design considerations are necessary for new infrastructure to ensure
usability throughout all seasons. The winter months generally have the greatest implications for
impacting livability. Snow and ice can create a wide variety of problems for mobility and safety.
Available space for snow storage is something that should be analyzed for new developments.

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN EXISTING CONDITIONS
162



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Standards such as driveway setbacks are examples of controls that can help mitigate impacts
from snow or storm water runoff. In the public realm, streets, sidewalks and bikeways should be
designed to accommodate easy snow removal and storage and be compatible with snow
removal equipment. Space should be provided between the sidewalk and the street to allow for
snow storage. Landscaping

enhancements could also be

considered in key pedestrian areas

for wind screening.

Alternative Energy

The City should encourage the use of
solar panels (or other non-fossil fuel
sources) on new public and private
buildings.

The City should also continue to
ensure vehicles using alternative
power sources are accommodated
effectively as mentioned in Chapter
6: Transportation.

C. Public Spaces

Well-designed public spaces can be a
tremendous asset to a community.
These may be in the form of plazas,
public squares, parks, amphitheaters,
gardens or others. These spaces
provide areas for residents to spend
time outdoors and provide
opportunities for social interaction.
Much of the public space in North
Mankato is in the form of parks.
Neighborhood parks are evenly
spread throughout the community to
provide public space in close
proximity to most residents. Many of
these parks offer playground
equipment, picnic areas, and athletic
facilities for sports such as tennis,
soccer, basketball or softball. How
public spaces are designed should be
thoroughly analyzed. It is important
to not just provide public spaces, but
that they also be designed to
consider safety, comfort and
aesthetics. Elements such as lighting
and vegetation can be designed to
help improve the perception of

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN EXISTING CONDITIONS
163



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

safety at night. Any amenities that are installed such as seating should be comfortable and
attractively designed.

A public art movement has also taken

place in the Greater Mankato area and

that includes North Mankato. The City is
beginning to place emphasis on

enhancing public spaces such as space

along trails and/or sidewalks with seating
and art. The City has incorporated the

City Art sculpture walk in the CBD and

has also incorporated various public
gathering spaces, seating nodes, and

murals throughout the community. Many

of these art installations rotate in and

out on a seasonal basis, ensuring a new
sculpture every year, while others are

just one-time temporary or, alternatively, permanent installations. The City should continue to
incorporate public art as opportunities arise.

In 2022, the City Center
Partnership staged temporary
outdoor seating in North
Mankato on a portion of
sidewalk in the CBD where a
bicycle fix-it station, trail
information kiosk, and planters
were located. This was a
demonstration project to
activate the space, providing a
location for those walking the
sculpture tour, or using the trail
system to sit for a moment.
This temporary seating
arrangement can be seen in the
image to the right.

D. Architecture and Character

North Mankato contains a variety of buildings and homes with different architectural styles,
which is partly due to the varying time periods over which different areas developed. There is a
noticeable difference in architectural style between the homes in Lower North near the east end
of Belgrade Avenue, homes constructed in the 1970s, and homes built in the last ten years.
Many of the homes in Lower North were constructed in the early part of the 20th century but
have been well preserved and maintained over the years. These charming neighborhoods
provide a classic small town feel that is valued by many of the residents.

Over the years, North Mankato has continued to see an influx of new residential development.
New development has generally moved towards the north and west over time. Homes built
towards the latter half of the 20th century offer a more traditional suburban style home. Many

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN EXISTING CONDITIONS
164



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

of the homes built in the last ten
years present a more modern

architectural style. The wide range of

architectural styles of homes and
buildings is an asset to the
community because it provides a
wide range of housing options, as
some residents may prefer one style
of home over another. The City of
North Mankato will continue to
support a varying degree of
architectural styles through new
development and redevelopment of
existing areas.

E. Transportation

The ability for residents to move quickly and easily throughout the City is an important factor
that influences livability. The transportation network should be designed to efficiently and safely
accommodate all modes of travel during all seasons. Roads are designed based on the amount
of traffic and speeds they are intended to accommodate. The expected type of traffic, such as
large truck traffic, can also influence road design. This means that the location and design of
new roadways is greatly influenced by land use. For example, larger commercial uses that tend
to generate more traffic should be located adjacent to roadways that can accommodate such
traffic. Residential streets are generally narrow and may not be striped while arterial roadways
may be several lanes across. Buildings may be designed differently based on the type of
roadway they are adjacent to. For example, a commercial use adjacent to a larger roadway with
faster speeds will generally want to be setback farther from the roadway and have a wider

storefront for improved visibility.

The design of roadways should always consider the user friendliness of alternative modes of
transportation all while preserving on-street parking where

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN

feasible. This does not mean that a bike lane should be
striped on every street; however, if one is not
provided, sufficient width should be

provided to accommodate space for
cyclists with two-way traffic. In
some areas, it may be beneficial
to construct off-road trails as an
alternative to biking on the
street. Design of these trails
should be wide enough to allow
for bikes traveling in each
direction. Barriers and structures
should not be located directly
adjacent to paths or impede visibility
at intersections. Directional signage
and pavement markings can also help
with flow and safety. For pedestrians,

EXISTING CONDITIONS
165



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

sidewalks should generally be located a few feet off the street to provide some separation from
vehicles and provide space for snow storage. In key pedestrian areas, landscaping
enhancements should be considered to improve the aesthetics of the surroundings.

VISION FOR COMMUNITY DESIGN

The City of North Mankato will incorporate and support community design that enhances the livability
and quality of life for residents. Strategic improvements will enhance the functionality of the public
realm and result in a more enjoyable and aesthetically attractive environment.

GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES

The following is a series of goals for community design followed by a series of objectives and policies
intended to influence future development decisions in a direction that is aligned with the Vision
Statement above.

GOAL 1: Enhance the livability of North Mankato through quality design.
Objective 1.1: Make enhancements that improve the functionality of the public realm.

Policy 1.1.1: In the design of new infrastructure, consider designs which accommodate
seasonal variability and allow for use during all times of the year.

Policy 1.1.2: Make infrastructure and public realm improvements that complement the
surrounding land uses.

Policy 1.1.3: Where appropriate, promote features that provide a physical buffer and
transition between land uses of varying intensities, such as landscaping, fencing or
setbacks.

Policy 1.1.4: Support the development of medium and high-density housing near
commercial or high traffic areas.

Policy 1.1.5: Make improvements to public spaces that improve the comfort and
enjoyment of those areas.

Policy 1.1.6: Consider non-motorized modes of transportation in the design of new
roadways. Explore opportunities for off-road trails where appropriate.

Policy 1.1.7: For new subdivisions, promote street patterns that maximize connectivity
and efficiency of getting from one point to another.

Policy 1.1.8: Periodically update the City of North Mankato plans and policies that
include design guidance, including the North Mankato Complete Streets Plan and Policy,
the Public Arts Ideas Plan, and small area plans to ensure new development and
redevelopment incorporate up-to-date design guidance.

Policy 1.1.9: Explore opportunities for new forms of public spaces such as plazas, public
squares or outdoor performing areas.

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN VISION FOR COMMUNITY DESIGN
166



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 1.1.10: Analyze existing pedestrian areas and public spaces for lighting and make
improvements where necessary to increase safety at night.

Objective 1.2: Make decisions that enhance the appearance and attractiveness of the public
realm.

Policy 1.2.1: Promote the protection and enhancement of natural resources as a means
to maintain the integrity, heritage and local character of the community.

Policy 1.2.2: Consider landscaping improvements along key pedestrian and bike
corridors and in other public spaces.

Policy 1.2.3: Continue to incorporate public art including sculptures, decorative seating
nodes, murals, etc. throughout the community.

Policy 1.2.4: When installing amenities such as seating, trash receptacles, pedestrian
lightings, or others similar types of features, explore the feasibility of more attractive
options.

Policy 1.2.5: Encourage reuse of existing buildings where feasible.

Policy 1.2.6: Consider developing a plan or implementation tool that offers incentives
for infill development and removal of substandard buildings or consolidating of land
where feasible.

Policy 1.2.7: Consider design standards applied using overlay districts to effectively
manage structure design.

GOAL 2: Promote the use and accommodation of alternative energy sources in building and
infrastructure design.

Objective 2.1: Facilitate the use of alternative energy sources on buildings.

Policy 2.1.1: Consider city code amendments that incorporate alternative energy
sources in the construction of all new public buildings.

Policy 2.1.2: Consider retrofitting existing public buildings with alternative energy
sources.

Policy 2.1.3: Promote the use of alternative energy sources in private development.

Objective 2.2: Ensure transportation infrastructure accommodates advances in vehicles using
alternative energy sources.

Policy 2.1.1: Continue to research new trends in alternative energy usage in
transportation and how elements could or should be integrated into the North Mankato
system.

CHAPTER 10: COMMUNITY DESIGN GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND PoLICIES
167



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

MANKATO »™

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12C

Dept: Culture and Rec

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Approving Agreement with Midwest Flag Football.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Culture, Recreation, and Quality of Life Director
Heintz will be present to address any questions concerning the agreement.

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Approve Agreement with Midwest Flag Football.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay
Steiner Other (specify)
Peterson
Oachs
Whitlock
Carlson
|:|Worksh0p I:‘ Refer to:
Regular Meeting I:I Table until:
‘:] Special Meeting !:I Other:




League Agreement pfw
MIDWEST FLAG FOOTBALL Eﬁ] 21" 4

www.midwestflagfootball.com

FUOI@BALL

Caswell Sports

Attn: Katie Heintz
1001 Belgrade Ave
North Mankato, MN 56002

8/08/2023

Dear Katie Heintz,

Based on our previous discussions please see the proposal below for Midwest Flag Football to become
the official Flag Football Partner of Caswell Sports of North Mankato.
Midwest Flag Football working in collaboration with Caswell Sports would like to propose the following:

Midwest Flag Football (MFF) Obligations:

1. Midwest Flag Football would become the exclusive flag football partner for Caswell Sports during
the spring time season only.

MFF will pay Caswell Sports $25 per paid participant.

MFF will pay Caswell Sports the total participant fee by July 1st.

MFF would manage and oversee all aspects of the program.

MFF would provide every player with an NFL Jersey and flag belts to keep as a part of the
registration.

6. MFF will do background checks on all coaches along with hosting a coaches meeting/training
prior to the season.

v AN

7. All teams playing in the League will have access to play in Midwest Flag Football
tournament series.

8. MFF will provide its own liability insurance policy covering Caswell Sports as an
additional insured.

9. MFF will market the program through all digital sources including Facebook, Google, etc.

10. MFF will market the program using Yard Signs, flyers.

11. Agreement will be for the Spring 2024 season. This agreement will auto renew each
year on August 1st for the next spring season unless written notification from either
party prior to August 1st.

12. At any time if Midwest Flag Football does not fulfill its obligations as identified above,
Caswell Sports has the right to terminate the agreement.

13. MFF will provide game day officials. Each game will have 2 officials.
14. MFF will be in charge of finding, scheduling and paying officials.
15. MFF will provide a Flyer for Peach lar to send to all Mankato area schools.



-ASWELL SPORTS Obligations:

Market this program via email to the parents of the current Mankato Youth Football Program.
Provide field lining on fields for the duration of the season.

Provide use for the fields marked on the field map attached below.

Promote the program throughout the Mankato area.

Provide information about the MFF league on Caswell Sports website.

Provide access to Caswell Sports Complex.

Provide Bathrooms, concessions and field maintenance.

Non kN

Midwest Flag Football Spring 2024 season will begin on April 13th with a meet/greet practice. First
game will be on April 20th. The league will be 7 weeks long all on Saturdays from 9am - 4pm except for
tournament weekend on June 1st. If any regular season game or games need to be canceled for any
reason that game or games will be made up the next week except on tournament day.

We see this proposal as a win-win for both of our programs. We believe that we will make the Spring
League bigger and better than last season! Thank you for the opportunity to run this league!

If you find this proposal acceptable, please acknowledge below.

Acknowledgment of Acceptance:

Date: Date:
Curt Bergsholm Katie Heintz
Midwest Flag Football Caswell Sports
Curt@mwflagfootball.com kheintz@nmlibrary.org

(952) 715-1239



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

NORTH /».
MANKATO W™

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12D Dept: Administration

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Adopting Resolution Authorizing Expenditures of Public Funds for Certain

Organizational Functions and Other Public Purposes.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Administration will review the proposed Employee

Recognition Program.

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Adopt Resolution Authorizing Expenditures of Public Funds for Certain

Organizational Functions and Other Public Purposes.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay
Steiner Other (specify)
Peterson
Oachs
Whitlock
Carlson
El Workshop |:| Refer to:
Regular Meeting :] Table until:
|:|Special Meeting I:l Other:




Res. No. 59-23

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXPENDITURES OF PUBLIC FUNDS FOR CERTAIN ORGANIZATIONAL
FUNCTIONS AND OTHER PUBLIC PURPOSES

WHEREAS, expenditures by a public entity must be authorized by statute and must have a public
purpose; and

WHEREAS, the public purpose doctrine permits a governmental entity to expend public funds if the
primary purpose of the expenditure is public and expenditures relate to the governmental purposes for
which the entity was created; and

WHEREAS, the North Mankato City Council has determined it is necessary for the fulfillment of the City’s
governmental responsibilities for the City Council to authorize discretionary expenditures of public funds
for certain employee activities; and

WHEREAS, the North Mankato City Council, having reviewed and considered the proposed program
makes the following public purpose findings and determinations; and

1) Public expenditures (which do not involve direct payment of money) for appropriate City
employee recognition programs serve a public purpose because formally recognizing employees
who make significant contributions and demonstrate their commitment during the performance
of their duties results in higher morale and productivity among all City employees and, therefore
permits the Mayor and City Council to fulfill their responsibilities in an efficient and cost-effective
manner and assists the City in attracting and retaining an efficient, productive and capable
workforce.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH MANKATO:

That based on these findings, the North Mankato City Council authorizes the establishment of
the North Mankato Employee Recognition Program with the following authorizations:

1) Employee Recognition Programs. The City may pay reasonable and necessary expenses related
to employee recognition and appreciation programs, including Exceptional Service Awards and
Years of Service Awards.

2) Food and Refreshment. The City may pay reasonable and necessary food or refreshment
expenses when meals are a part of a employee recognition program for City staff or in
recognition of employees who are retiring.

Adopted by the City Council this 5" day of September 2023.

Mayor

City Clerk



EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION PROGRAM
CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

POLICY

The City has established ‘Employee Recognition Programs,” which are called “Years of Service
Awards” and “Exceptional Service Awards.” The purpose of Employee Recognition Programs are
to develop a standard of excellence within the organization as well as recognize exemplary
achievement and dedication to service. Employees who distinguish themselves by their jobs
and make extra efforts in service to the public further the City’s mission of fulfilling public trust
and going above and beyond in their work.

YEARS OF SERVICE AWARD

The City employee recognition program desires to recognize employees for their dedication and
commitment to service. The “Years of Service” award will recognize those employees who
achieve extended periods of public service with the City.

1. Eligibility
The “Years of Service” award is available to all regular, full-time employees of the City,
regardless of classification or seniority. An employee’s service period will begin on
his/her date of full-time hire and conclude upon the date of his/her separation of
employment with the City. Eligibility for recognition to an employee upon termination
will be awarded to employees who leave the City employment in good standing.

2. Criteria
The “Years of Service” award will recognize employees who have achieved the following
levels of service: five (5) years of consecutive service; ten (10) years of consecutive
service; fifteen (15) years of consecutive service; twenty (20) years of consecutive
service; twenty-five (25 ) years of consecutive service; thirty (30) years of consecutive
service; thirty-five (35) years of consecutive service; forty (40) years of consecutive
service; forty-five (45) years of consecutive service; and fifty (50) years of consecutive
service.

3. Procedure

The City Clerk will monitor employee service records and identify and recognize
employees during the City’s annual employee appreciation gathering.

ESTABLISHED BY RESOLUTION NO. 59-23



EXCEPTIONAL SERVICE AWARDS

1. Eligibility
All non-probationary employees of the City are eligible for this recognition award,
regardless of classification, seniority, or part-time/full-time status.

2. Criteria
In order for the employee to receive the “Exceptional Service” award, the employee
must achieve two (2) or more of the following:

Excels in job performance over an extended period of time.

An innovative or creative approach to a project or assignment.

Displays personal initiative or leadership in a work project.

Received recognition or commendation from the public or another department for

excellence in job performance.

E. Actions which help to eliminate waste, conserve taxpayer dollars, or improve the
financial position of the City.

F. Anidea or method that significantly increases the administrative or operational
efficiency of a work group, division, or department.

G. Exemplary professional judgment and conduct in job performance.

H. Overall display of efficiency, effectiveness, and productivity in job performance.

I.  Overall display an exemplary spirit of cooperation with co-workers and service to the

oo w®»

public.

3. Procedure
Nominations for the “Exceptional Service” award shall be made on forms provided
through the City Clerk’s office. Nominations will be taken during designated department
meetings in April and August. Any employee may nominate any other employee. The
nomination and supporting material should describe in detail the nominee’s or nominee
group’s exceptional service relative to the criteria set forth above.

Once a nomination has been received, a copy of the nomination will be sent to the
department head, if not the person nominating the employee, for review and comment.
The City Administrator shall then meet with the immediate supervisor of the nominee
and together will select or reject nominations. Awards will be announced in June and
December of each year.

AWARDS

Recipient employees, within each employee recognition program, shall receive a similar award.
Al employees recognized for any of the programs described in this section shall receive a

ESTABLISHED BY RESOLUTION NO. 59-23



“Certificate of Achievement,” a copy of which will be placed in their personnel file and
announced during the annual employee appreciation gathering.

Additional awards for each recognition program are described herein.
1. Years of Service Awards.

a. Employees with consecutive service of twenty-five (25) years or more in
increments of five (5) years will receive a plaque from the City recognizing their
service.

b. Employees with consecutive service years who have achieved five (5) years or
more in increments of five (5) years will have the option to choose an item of
tangible personal property from a specific selection of items provided by Human
Resources, the value of the item will increase with years of service and will range
between $15.00 and $150.00 in value, increasing in increments of $15.00 every 5
years.

2. Exceptional Service Awards.

a. Employees or groups of employees who receive the exceptional service award
will receive a certificate recognizing their service and an item of tangible personal
property from a specific selection of items provided by Human Resources of a
value between $5.00 and $150.00 in value.

Employee appreciation gatherings will occur in the summer and winter each year. All
employees will be invited to attend as a thank you for their work throughout the year.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE SEPARATION RECOGNITION EVENTS

Employees that are retiring, in good standing, with 10 or more years of service with the City are
eligible to receive a farewell recognition event. The City will sponsor cake and refreshments.
The Department Head, or his/her designee, is responsible for planning and hosting the event for
the retiring employee. Additional expenses may be supplemented by department
employees/coworkers on a voluntary basis. The farewell recognition event will be hosted at a
City facility and open to all City employees and the public.

Upon the retirement in good standing of a Department Head with 10 or more years of service
with the City, the City will host and pay for a public open-house farewell event for the
community and city employees to attend. The City will provide food, cake, and non-alcoholic
beverages.

An employee may decline the recognition; however, no substitute monetary payout will be
made.

ESTABLISHED BY RESOLUTION NO. 59-23



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

NORTH /s
MANKATO »

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12E

Dept: Administration

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Approving a Seasonal Skateboard Park Agreement with Circle the Earth Recreation

Organization.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Administrator McCann will review the proposed

agreement.

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Approve a Seasonal Skateboard Park Agreement with Circle the Earth

Recreation Organization.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay
Steiner Other (specify)
Peterson
Oachs
Whitlock
Carlson
I:J Workshop |:| Refer to:
Regular Meeting I:] Table until:
|:| Special Meeting I:] Other:




SEASONAL SKATEBOARD PARK AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is between the City of North Mankato (Owner) and Circle the Earth Recreation
Association non-profit corporation (Manager). The parties agree to the following:

1.

Managed Premises. Owner agrees to allow Manager to manage, and Manager agrees to manage,
pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the area North Spring Lake Park that is used in
the winter as a hockey rink. See Exhibit “A”. The manager agrees to use the area for a seasonal
skateboard park.

Term. This agreement shall commence on first day of 2023 and end on

, 20 . The Owner may, at Owner’s option, extend the terms of the Agreement
for one (1) year terms for eight (8) annual terms beginning with , 20 and extending
through . This Agreement shall be deemed extended unless Owner gives
notice of the termination as set out below.

Termination of Agreement. Owner may terminate this Agreement with or without cause upon thirty
(30) days written notice to Manager, subject to Manager being allowed to fulfill its rental obligations
that exist at the time of the notice of termination.

Management Fee. Owner shall not be required to pay Manager any fee for Management of the seasonal
skateboard park. Consideration to Manager shall be the ability to manage events in the seasonal
skateboard park.

. Use. It is understood and agreed that the Area shall be used and occupied by Manager and persons and

entities who rent the Area from Manager for use as a skateboard park during that portion of the year that
the area cannot be used as a hockey rink, and which weather permits this will typically be April 1, 2023

1 to November 30. No liens may be filed against publicly owned City property. Manager covenants that
no liens will attach to the real property as a result of Manager’s operation of the skateboard park.

The Manager agrees and understands that the Owner hosts/allows/provides the space used as a hockey
rink for an annual bike polo tournament. This event varies as to when it occurs. Manager agrees to
move all items that it has placed that interfere with this use for the period of time required for the bike
polo tournament. Owner agrees to give Manager at least thirty (30) days’ notice of when bike polo
tournament will occur and the hockey rink is needed for that event.

Seasonal Skateboard Park. Manager shall be entitled to provide the skateboard park to people and
entities for cultural, social and political events consistent with use of a skateboard. Manager shall be
responsible for all costs and expenses associated with such uses.

Assignment. Manager shall not assign or encumber its interest in this Agreement.

Signs. Manager shall not permit signs without the Owner’s written approval except on site recognition.
Any sign not approved by Owner may be removed by Owner at Manager’s expense. All signs must
comply with the provisions of the City Sign Ordinance. The manager is allowed to install signs
providing warnings and regulating the use of the facility.



9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Rules, Regulations, Ordinances. The rules, regulations and ordinances adopted by Owner are made a
part of this Agreement and Manager and Owner shall comply with them. Owner shall have the right
from time to time to promulgate amendments and additional rules, regulations and ordinances for the
safety, care and cleanliness of the city parks. Manager and Owner shall comply with the rules,
regulations and ordinances, and a violation of any of them shall constitute default under this Agreement.

Nondiscrimination. All conduct of Manager in administering its duties under this Agreement shall be
performed without discrimination based upon race, color, religion, creed, political bias, sex, age, marital
status, familial status, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation or national origin.

Utilities. Manager shall make all arrangements for and shall be responsible for the initial payment of all
connection charges of utilities and services furnished to the skateboard park, that are in addition to the
services currently provided by the city, including, without limitation, electricity, water and sewer.
Manager shall be responsible for the cost of all services and utilities furnished to the site after
installation.

Right to Enter. Owner and its authorized representatives shall have the right to enter the premises at all
reasonable times for any purposes. Owner shall not be liable in any manner for any inconvenience,
disturbance, loss of business, nuisance or the damage arising out of Owner’s entry on the premises as
provided in the paragraph.

Promotional Recognition. Manager shall include Owner in the onsite recognition.

Personal Property and Liability Risk. Owner shall not be liable to Manager, or those claiming through
or under Manager, for injury, death or property damage occurring in, on or about the skateboard park
and Manager shall indemnify Owner, hold it harmless, and defend Owner from any claim or damage
arising out of any injury, death or property damage occurring in, on or about the Hockey Rink to any
person. Without limiting Manager’s liability hereunder, Manager agrees, at its own cost and expense, to
carry in continuous effect public liability insurance protecting Owner and Manager in the amount of One
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per claim and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) in the aggregate for
personal injuries sustained by any one or more persons. All policies of insurance shall name both Owner
and manager as insured thereunder and shall protect the interests of Owner. A copy of the insurance
policy shall be provided to Owner.

Manager, at its own cost, shall keep all structures erected on the premises adequately insured for fire and
other types of property damage. The Manager shall be solely responsible for the coverage of all items,
materials and equipment that it installs. The City will be responsible for the facility that it provides.

Certificates of the insurance providing for not less than fifteen days notice to Owner prior to
cancellation shall be furnished to Owner prior to Manager taking possession of the Hockey Rink .

Notice. Any notice, communications or report required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in
writing and may be delivered by mail, e-mail or in person. Notices, communications or reports
transmitted by mail shall be deemed delivered when deposited with the United States Postal Service,
certified, return receipt requested. Failure to accept mailed notice shall not negate the effectiveness of
the notice. Notices, communications or reports transmitted by e-mail shall be deemed delivered when



reader confirmation is received. Notices, communications or reports transmitted by personal delivery
shall be deemed delivered when hand delivered to the address of the party. The addresses for delivery of
notices, communications or reports are as follows:

OWNER REPRESENTATIVE MANAGER REPRESENTATIVE
Kevin McCann

City Administrator

City of North Mankato

1001 Belgrade Avenue

North Mankato MN 56003

e-mail: KMcCann@northmankato.com

In the event a party changes its address, the party shall notify the other party. Any notice delivered to a
previous address before notice of a change of address shall be fully effective.

16. Surrender of Premises. Upon the expiration or the termination of this Agreement, Manager shall, at its
expense:
a. Remove Manager’s goods and effects and those of all persons claiming under Manager; and,

b. Surrender the North Rink to Owner.

Any property left on or around the North Rink after the expiration or termination of the term of this
Agreement shall be deemed to have been abandoned and shall become the property of Owner.

17. Hold Over. All obligations and duties imposed by this Agreement upon Owner and Manager shall
remain the same during any period of occupancy by Manager after termination of the Agreement.

18. Default. The occurrence of any of the following shall constitute a default by Manager:

a. Failure to perform any other provisions of this Agreement if the failure to perform is not cured
within thirty (30) days after notice has been given Manager. If the default cannot reasonably be
cured within thirty (30) days, Manager shall not be in default of this Agreement if Manager
commences to cure the default within thirty (30) day period and diligently and in good faith
continues to cure the default.

b. Failure to maintain any insurance coverage as required by the Agreement shall be cause for the
immediate termination of the Agreement.

Notices given under this paragraph shall specify the alleged default and the applicable Agreement
provision, and shall demand Manager perform the provisions of this Agreement, within the applicable



19.

20.

21.

period of time, or quit the premises. No such notices shall be deemed a forfeiture or a termination of this
Agreement unless Owner so elects in the notices.

Waiver of Covenants. No delay or omission in the exercise of any right or remedy of Owner on any
default by Manager shall impair such a right or remedy or be construed as a waiver. Only a written
notice from Owner to Manager shall constitute acceptance of the surrender of the premises and
accomplish a termination of this Agreement.

Owner’s consent to or approval of any act by Manager requiring Owner’s consent or approval shall not
be deemed to waive or render unnecessary Owner’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act by
Manager.

Any waiver by Owner of any default must be in writing and shall not be a waiver of any other default
concerning the same or any other provisions of this Agreement.

Remedies. In the event of a default, Owner shall give written notice of default to Manager. Manager
shall have thirty (30) days after the receipt of such notice to cure a default. No such notice shall be
deemed a forfeiture or termination of this Agreement unless Owner so elects in the notice. In the event
Manager does not cure the said default within the allowed thirty (30) day period, Owner shall have the
following remedies. These remedies are not exclusive; they are cumulative in addition to any remedies
now or later allowed by law:

a. Owner can continue this Agreement in full force and effect, and this Agreement will continue in
effect as long as Owner does not specifically elect in writing to terminate this Agreement on
account of Manager’s default.

b. Owner can terminate Manger’s right to possession of the premises at any time. No act by Owner
other than giving notice to Manager shall terminate this Agreement.

c. Owner, at any time after Manager commits a default, can cure the default at Manager’s cost. If
Owner at any time, by reason of Manager’s default, pays any sum or does any act that requires
the payment of any sum, the sum paid by Owner shall be immediately due from Manager to
Owner at the time the sum is paid, and if paid at a alter date shall bear interest at the rate of
eighteen percent (18%) per annum from the date the sum is paid by Owner until Owner is
reimbursed by Manager. The sum together with interest on it, shall be additional rent.

d. In the event of default Owner shall be entitled to recover for all amounts including attorney’s
fees, expended by Owner on account of such default.

Indemnification. Manager shall indemnify Owner against all liabilities, expenses and leases incurred by
Owner as a result of any failure of Manager to perform any covenant required to be performed by
Manager hereunder; and from failure to comply with any requirement of any governmental authority;
and from any construction lien, or security agreement, filed against the Hockey Rink, and equipment
thereon, or any material used by or in behalf of Manager in the construction or alteration of any part of
the buildings or improvements thereon. In the event of the filing of a construction lien against the
property, Manager shall use its best effort to assist Owner in obtaining removal of the construction lien.




22. Quiet Possession. Manager upon performing the covenants herein agreed by it to be performed, shall
and may peaceably and quietly have, hold, and enjoy the said premises for the term specified.

23. Binding on Assigns, Ete. All of the terms, conditions, covenants and provision of this Agreement shall
extend to and be binding upon the assigns and successors of Manager. The city must approve any
successors in interest in writing.

24. Maintenance of Skateboard Park. During the term of this Agreement, Manager shall be responsible
for:

a. Maintaining the structure and all Manager-owned equipment for safety and appearance per
Operations and Management Guidelines or manufacturer specifications.

b. Cleaning up the skateboard park and adjacent restrooms prior to and following all skateboard-
related events and Manager-sponsored events.

c. Keeping the Parks and Recreation Department notified of all events taking place at the
skateboard park.

During the term of this Agreement, Owner continues to be responsible for:
a. Maintaining the skateboard park and the surrounding area in Spring Lake Park.

b. Keeping all park furniture (i.e. Benches, tables, trash cans, etc.) in clean and safe condition. The
Owner will continue to provide park services as otherwise provided in the park, including normal
trash pick up.

25. Relationship of Owner and Manager. Nothing in this Agreement shall render Owner in any way a
partner, joint venturer or associate in any way with Manager in the operation of the skateboard park or
subject Owner to any obligation, loss, charge or expense in connection with or arising from the operation
of the Hockey Rink.

DATED this day of , 2023,

CITY OF NORTH MANAKTO CIRCLE THE EARTH RECREATION ORGANIZATION
By: By:

It’s It’s

By By

It’s It’s




xJdey}edaleyS|euoseas d1s\)edaieys|euoseas dis\sauinbujAnadoidwopuey s\3uluue|d\:z :uoyedo]

Spring Lake Park - Proposed Seasonal Skate Park

NORTH /».
MANKATO W

August 2023

MINNESOTA



CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

NORTH /».
MANKATO »

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12F

Dept: Public Works

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Receive Background Information on the Proposed Water Feature and Consider a Resolution
Authorizing Prepartions of Plans and Specifications for Project No. 23-06 Benson Park Water Recirculation and
Water Feature Project.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Public Works Director Arnold will review the
project's history and discuss options for the project.

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Provide Direction on the Project and Consider Authorizing Preparations of
Plans and Specifications for Project No. 23-06 Benson Park Water Recirculation and Water Feature Project.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay
Steiner Other (specify)
Peterson
Oachs
Whitlock
Carlson
|:|Workshop I:I Refer to:
Regular Meeting I:I Table until:
I:l Special Meeting I___’ Other:




RESOLUTION NO. 60-23

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING PREPARATION OF PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS
FOR PROJECT NO. 23-06
BENSON PARK WATER RECIRCULATION AND WATER FEATURE PROJECT

WHEREAS, it is proposed to make improvements in Benson Park and

WHEREAS, such improvements include the construction of a water recirculation system
between Lady Bug Lake and Little Lady Bug Lake, a natural water feature at the outlet of the
recirculation system into Little Lady Bug Lake and at the gravity connection between the two
lakes, trail improvements, and other related improvements.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF NORTH MANKATO, MINNESOTA, that the City Engineer shall prepare plans and
specifications for the making of such improvements.

Adopted by the City Council this the 5" day of September 2023.

Mayor
ATTEST:

City Clerk



Benson Park

* Benson Park Master Plan:

* Prepared by HKGI in 2008/2009

» Several concepts considered

 Natural Resources Park Concept Selected:
o Oak Savanna Habitat
o Woodland Habitat
o Rolling Hills Prairie Habitat
o Wetland Habitat
o Wildflower Demonstration Area

o Full master plan at: https://www.northmankato.com/citynorthmankato/benson-
park-master-plan




Concept Overview:

Overal! Park Theme

o

— Benson Pack maste




Benson Park

* Associated features that were proposed with the park master

plan:

o Parking lot (completed)

o Picnic shelter with informal lawn picnic area (completed)
o<<m61mmea\_:§moﬁ_<mn_m<mam?285338&
O

Small bridge over channel between Lady Bug Lake and Ladybug Bay
(not completed)

Fishing pier on Ladybug Lake (completed)
Larger bridge across “Long Lake” (not completed)

© O



Benson Park:

* Plans prepared in 2012 for the following improvements:

@)

O O O O O

Underground utilities (sanitary sewer, watermain and storm sewer) for
parking lot and shelter

Parking lot

Water feature/interactive play area

Small bridge over channel between Lady Bug Lake and Ladybug Bay
Fishing pier on Ladybug Lake

Miscellaneous trail and sidewalk improvements

* Project was not bid or constructed at that time



Stone Steps to water

Wier at Upper Pond













Benson Park:

 Revised plan for water feature/recirculating system

o Upper interactive water feature — would require treated water
= Upper wading pool with zero entry
= Upper small waterfall/riffle feature
= Winding river feature with shower/spray feature
= |Lower small waterfall/riffle feature
= Lower wading pool with vertical water spray/fountains

o Lower water feature/waterfall - pump from Little Ladybug Lake to Ladybug
Lake to provide waterfall and improve water quality

o New trail connection with short bridge between lower water feature and
Ladybug Lake

o Other concrete sidewalks and apron areas



Picniic TaBLes

ADA Zero ENTRY Ramp

Hanoicap ParkiNG STaLLs

Poot #1-Trearep Warer
CentraL ART/WaTeR FeaTURE

WaterraLL/RiFrLE FeaTuRE

Approx. 1.5'-2" HetaHT

SHowen/Spray Waren Feature
(3 Torar)

River SpLasH Feature

\I\“Mm_ Seace

LA ,

PICNIC SHELTER

TReATED WATER
Arprox. 5 Wipe

Linep with LimesTone Siaes ~1.5-2° Wine

WarerFau/RiFrLe Fearure

WIDE STAIRCASE FOR SEATING

Arprox. 1.5'-2" HeleHt

AccessiBLe RouTe From PaviLion To
PooL #2 & Taan

Poot #2-TreaveD WaTer

VerticaL Waren Serav/FounTains

CITY OF NORTH MANKATO NORTH /»_ BOL:
BENSON PARK WATER FEATURE - CONCEPT PLAN A MINNESOTA

Picric TasLes

Ineet, Water CircuLatep THROUGH

Trearment anp Back U 1o Pool #1 ReconriGuReD TRal CONNECTION

GuARDRAILS ALONG TrAIL ADJACENT TO
Warer Feature anp Pool #3

OuTeer, Warer From LitTLe Buc Bay
1s Pumpep Up To OuTLET AND RELEASED
inTo PooL #3

Poot #3-Unvreatep Warter CicuLaTinG
From Ponp

NaTivE LANDSCAPE TREATMENT/DISCOURAGE

INTERACTION WITH WaATER
- \’/

CascapiNG WATERFALL/RIFFLE FEATURE

Lirnie Buc Bar

]

MANKATO »~ &M

M=
20
F 4



Benson Park

e Estimated Costs

DESCRIPTION ESTIMATED COST
LOWER PONDS & WATER FEATURES $221,000
UPPER PONDS & WATER FEATURES $150,000
TRAILS & WALK $70,000
BRIDGE - LITTLE LADY BUG LAKE $80,000

BRIDGE - LONG LAKE

$250,000




Benson Park

«  Current challenges to implementation:

Pool #3 exists today but has extensive cattails and other wetland vegetation that will require the wetland to be
mitigated, per conversations with MN Department of Natural Resources staff.

* Likely 3 SF of mitigation area for every 1 SF of wetland area removed.
» Options include expanding wetlands elsewhere or using wetland credits elsewhere to mitigate.
* Process of delineating the wetlands and resolving the mitigation issues will likely push construction to 2024.

The water treatment requirement creates water supply questions and challenges.

. ._.awﬁaﬁm@ﬁ would need to be similar to a swimming pool system, so there are cost and maintenance needs to be
evaluated.

* Use of potable water to m_%wz the system could create significant impacts on the water system. The Splashpad

currently uses about 2.3 per month and this application could use more than that.

The Parks Comprehensive Plan is currently being updated, so moving this project to 2024 may allow it to be re-
evaluated alongside updated park needs in other locations. With the splashpad now operational and filling a fm@
similar use, _ﬁm.uhV Is project the best use of funds for the community or are there other more urgent or more desire
improvements?

There are other park needs that would benefit this year from re-directing the funds set aside for this project.




Benson Park

«  Other improvements in Benson Park that have been discussed:

1.

0O NoOkw N

9.

10.
11.
12.

,_Hu_m_z tall prairie grass on the edge of the trail around Ladybug Lake to deter geese from the
rai

Dredge pond to 8-foot depth to provide better water quality and greater water depths during
the summer

Widen pond to provide additional storage and provide wave activity for aeration.
Raise trail to prevent flooding.

Transplant maple trees displaced from pond widening and install two picnic tables.
Install wildlife barriers at the pond outlet.

Widen pond and relocate trail to north to provide more aesthetically enhancing views from
Carlson Drive.

Create a waterfall and stream to connect ponds.

Build bridge to shorten distance around the pond.

Construct fishing pier to provide access for kids to fish.
Remove ash trees and diversify tree replacement species.
Construct trail to connect the ponds and the interior of the park.



10

11.

12.

Plant tali prairie grass on the edge of the trail around
Ladybug Lake to deter geese from the trail.

Dredge pond to 8 foot depth to provide better water
quality and greater water depths during the summetr,

Widen pond to provide additional storage and provide
wave activity for aeration,

Raise trail to prevent flooding,

Transplant maple trees displaced from pond widening and
install two picnic tables.

Instali wildlife barriers at the pond outlet,

Widen pond and relocate trail to north to provide more
aesthetically enhancing views from Carlson Drive.

Create a waterfall and stream to connect ponds.

Build bridge to shorten distance around the pond.
Construct fishing pier to provide access for kids to fish.
Remove ash trees and diversify tree replacement species.

Construct trail to connect the ponds and the interior of
the park.




CITY OF NORTH MANKATO

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

NORTH /s

MANKATO »

MINNESOTA

Agenda Item # 12G

Dept: Public Works

Council Meeting Date: 9/5/23

TITLE OF ISSUE: Consider Resolution Accepting Bid Rehabilitation of Well No. 7.

Rehabilitation of Well No. 7.

BACKGROUND AND SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: Please review the provided memo concerning the

If additional space is required, attach a separate sheet

REQUESTED COUNCIL ACTION: Adopt Resolution Accepting Bid Rehabilitation of Well No. 7.

For Clerk's Use: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ATTACHED
Motion By: Resolution Ordinance Contract  Minutes Map
Second By:
Vote Record: Aye Nay

Steiner Other (specify)

Peterson

Oachs

Whitlock

Carlson

l:lWorkshop
Regular Meeting

|:I Special Meeting

]
[ ]

[ ]




RESOLUTION NO. 61-23

RESOLUTION ACCEPTING BID
REHABILITATION OF WELL NO. 7

WHEREAS, pursuant to a request for proposals for the Well No. 7 Rehabilitation. One
bid (s) were received, opened, and tabulated according to the law, and the following bid(s) were
received complying with the advertisement:

Base Bid Add Item No. 1 Add Item No. 2
Bergerson-Caswell, Inc. $95,440 $25,000 $47,880

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY
OF NORTH MANKATO, MINNESOTA, that the mayor and clerk are hereby authorized and
directed to enter into a contract with Bergerson-Caswell, Inc., in the name of the City of North
Mankato for the Rehabilitation of Well No. 7, accepting the Base Bid and the Add Item No. 1,
and rejecting Add Item No. 2, in accordance to the plans and specifications therefor approved by
the city council and on file in the office of the city clerk.

Adopted by the City Council this 18" day of July 2022.

Mayor

Attest:

City Clerk



1960 P ier Dri
@ EOMI-ERE Mankato,MNrgzggq-S%g

Real People. Real Solutions.

Ph: (507) 625-4171
Fax: [507) 625-4177
Bolton-Menk.com

August 30, 2023

Mr. Luke Arnold, Public Works Director
City of North Mankato

610 Webster Avenue

North Mankato, MN 56003

RE: Bid Evaluation — Rehabilitation of Well No. 7
North Mankato, Minnesota
Project No.: OM2.131111

Dear Luke,

Requests for proposals for the Well No. 7 Rehabilitation project were sent to two (2) contractors, Traut
Companies and Bergerson-Caswell, Inc. The proposal consisted of a base bid for general maintenance of
the well, alternative Add Item No. 1 for removal of sand accumulated in the well borehole, and Add Item
No. 2 for the replacement of the well pump and motor.

One bid was received from Bergerson-Caswell, Inc. Traut Companies declined to bid citing workload
issues. As shown in the attached bid, the base bid was $95,440. The price for the sand removal Add item
No. 1 was $25,000. The price for the pump and motor replacement, Add Item No. 2, was $47,880.

Well No. 7 was last rehabilitated in 2016. The city has maintained a schedule of preventive maintenance
for wells every seven years. Based on past experience, Well No. 7 most likely will require bailing of sand
accumulated in the borehole; therefore, bailing was bid on a unit price basis in Add Item No. 1. We
would recommend that the city plan to encounter some bailing cost. Add Item No. 2 is for a new well
pump and motor. The pump and motor appear to be in good condition based on current monitoring, so
it is not anticipated this option will need to be utilized. Therefore, we would not recommend the award
of this add item at this time, but the city should understand pricing is known if unexpected wear or
damage is found during the rehabilitation project.

Bergerson Caswell has completed the majority of well rehabilitation projects for the city including
previous Well No. 7 projects from 2009 and 2016. They are well qualified for this work and the most
experienced contractor for working on the city’s wells.

H:\ANMAN\OM2131111\6_Plans-Specs\C_Bids Received\2023-08-30 131111 Bid Evaluation LTR NMAN Rehab Well No 7.pdf.docx

Bolton & Menk is an equal opportunily employer



Mr. Luke Arnold, Public Works Director
City of North Mankato

August 30, 2023

Page 2

| recommend the project be awarded to Bergerson Caswell, Inc. for the base bid and Add Item No. 1
price of $120,440.00 pending availability of funds.
Sincerely,

Boiton & Menk, Inc.

%,/,Zi

Grauprnan,
Principal Enwronmental Engineer

Enclosure: Bergeson-Caswell Bid

cc: Duane Rader — City of North Mankato
Dan Sarff — Bolton & Menk, Inc.

H:A\NMAN\OM2131111\6_Plans-Specs\C_Bids Received\2023-08-30 131111 Bid Evaluation LTR NMAN Rehab Weli No 7.pdf docx

Bolton & Menk is an equal opportunity employer.



	Agenda #6. Proclamation. 
	Agenda #7. Approval of Council Minutes from August 21, 2023, Council Meeting. 
	Agenda #8. Approval of Council Work Session Minutes from August 21, 2023, Council Work Session.
	Agenda #9. Public Hearing, 7 pm to Consider an Ordinance Amending Title XV: Land Usage Chapter 156 Zoning Code.
	Agenda #11A. Bills and Appropriations.
	Agenda #11B. Consider Resolution Accepting Donations/Contributions/Grants.
	Agenda #11C. Consider Audio and Block Party Permit for Megan Alvarado Arlington Block Party on September 9, 2023, from 5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.
	Agenda #11D. Consider Approving a Cannabinoid License for 1105 Holdings LLC, DBA Range Street Liquor, located at 1105 Range Street.
	Agenda #11E. Consider Approving the Memorandum of Understanding between North Mankato and LELS Police Officers.
	Agenda #11F. Consider Approving Audio Permit for Lor Ray Live at 1516 Lor Ray Drive on September 30, 2023, from 3 p.m. to 10 p.m.
	Agenda #11G. Consider Approving the Minnesota River Valley Drug Task Force Joint Powers Agreement.
	Agenda #12A. Consider Ordinance No. 160 Fourth Series, An Ordinance Amending Title XV: Land Usage Chapter 156 Zoning Code.
	Agenda #12B. Consider Resolution Adopting the Comprehensive Plan 2023. 
	Agenda #12C. Consider Approving the Agreement with Midwest Flag Football.
	Agenda #12D. Consider Resolution Authorizing Expenditures of Public Funds for Certain Organizational Functions and Other Public Purposes.
	Agenda #12E. Consider Approving a Seasonal Skateboard Park Agreement with Circle the Earth Recreation Organization.
	Agenda #12F. Receive Background Information on the Proposed Water Feature and Consider a Resolution Authorizing Preparations of Plans and Specifications for Project No. 23-06 Benson Park Water Recirculation and Water Feature Project.
	Agenda #12G. Consider Resolution Accepting Bid Rehabilitation of Well No. 7.



